

The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable populations

Edited by Echu Liu, Keith Elder and Caress Alithia Dean

Published in Frontiers in Public Health





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-3541-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-3541-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable populations

Topic editors

Echu Liu — Saint Louis University, United States Keith Elder — Mississippi College, United States Caress Alithia Dean — Oakland University, United States

Citation

Liu, E., Elder, K., Dean, C. A., eds. (2023). *The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable populations*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-3541-7

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05 Editorial: The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable populations Echu Liu, Caress A. Dean and Keith T. Elder

08 Are immigrants more vulnerable to the socioeconomic impact of COVID-19? A cross-sectional study in Amadora Municipality, Lisbon metropolitan area Maria Rosario O. Martins, Ahmed Nabil Shaaban, Ana Abecasis,

Zelia Muggli, Regina Amado, Dora Vaz, Sara S. Dias, Antonio C. Silva and Ines Fronteira

- 18 Collateral impact of the COVID–19 pandemic on the use of healthcare resources among people with disabilities Minjeong Sohn, Heejo Koo, Heekyoung Choi, Hyunsan Cho and Euna Han
- 29 The gender peak effect: Women are most vulnerable to infections during COVID-19 peaks Cary Wu and Yue Qian
- 36 COVID-19 triggered a physically active lifestyle of people with cardiovascular diseases: Results of a small Austrian qualitative study

Eva Krczal and Walter Hyll

51 Aggressive measures, rising inequalities, and mass formation during the COVID-19 crisis: An overview and proposed way forward

Michaéla C. Schippers, John P. A. Ioannidis and Ari R. Joffe

77 Relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life in chronic patients during the COVID-19 pandemic: The role of physical exercise and health insurance Yangyang Wang, Jian Xu and Tian Xie

90 Socio-economic determinants of SARS-CoV-2 infection: Results from a population-based cross-sectional serosurvey in Geneva, Switzerland Hugo-Alejandro Santa-Ramírez, Ania Wisniak, Nick Pullen, María-Eugenia Zaballa, Francesco Pennacchio, Elsa Lorthe,

Maria-Eugenia Zaballa, Francesco Pennacchio, Elsa Lorthe, Roxane Dumont, Hélène Baysson, Idris Guessous and Silvia Stringhini on behalf of the Specchio-COVID19 study group

- Blocked by Gender: Disparities in COVID19 infection detection in Tamil Nadu, India
 Tannistha Samanta, Kaushik Gopalan and Tanmay Devi
- 103 Comorbidities, sociodemographic factors, and determinants of health on COVID-19 fatalities in the United States Jacob Gerken, Demi Zapata, Daniel Kuivinen and Isain Zapata
- 112 Poverty in old age in times of COVID-19—Empirical results from Austria

Lukas Richter and Theresa Heidinger

128 Differences in mortality in Switzerland by citizenship during the first and second COVID-19 waves: Analysis of death statistics

> Tino Plümecke, Heiner Mikosch, Steffen Mohrenberg, Linda Supik, Isabelle Bartram, Nils Ellebrecht, Andrea zur Nieden, Laura Schnieder, Hannah Schönberger, Charlotte Schulze-Marmeling and Andreas Gutzeit

135 Financial hardship and mental health among cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic: An analysis of the US COVID-19 Household Impact Survey

> Jessica Y. Islam, Kea Turner, Huda Saeb, Margaux Powell, Lorraine T. Dean and Marlene Camacho-Rivera

151 Factors associated with food insecurity among the chronically ill population during the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States

Caress A. Dean, Echu Liu, Kimberly R. Enard, Zhengmin Qian and Keith T. Elder

163 Were metabolic and other chronic diseases the driven onset epidemic forces of COVID-19 in Mexico? Gerardo Acevedo-Sánchez, Gustavo Mora-Aguilera,

Juan J. Coria-Contreras and Ikuri Álvarez-Maya

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Cyrille Delpierre, INSERM U1027 Epidémiologie et analyses en santé publique: Risques, Maladies Chroniques et Handicap, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Echu Liu 🖂 echu.liu@slu.edu

RECEIVED 27 July 2023 ACCEPTED 28 August 2023 PUBLISHED 08 September 2023

CITATION

Liu E, Dean CA and Elder KT (2023) Editorial: The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable populations. *Front. Public Health* 11:1267723. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1267723

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Liu, Dean and Elder. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable populations

Echu Liu^{1*}, Caress A. Dean² and Keith T. Elder³

¹Department of Health Management and Policy, College for Public Health and Social Justice, Saint Louis University, Saint Louis, MO, United States, ²School of Health Sciences, Oakland University, Rochester, MI, United States, ³Office of the Provost, Mississippi College, Clinton, MS, United States

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, influence, pandemic, populations, vulnerable

Editorial on the Research Topic The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable populations

Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic has been a harsh reminder of the stark health disparities in our societies. Vulnerable populations, including older adults, women, low-income communities, racial and ethnic minorities, individuals with underlying health conditions, and people without housing, have faced disproportionate challenges during this global health crisis. In this editorial, we examine *The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable populations* from a public health perspective, highlighting the need for targeted interventions and a more equitable approach to safeguarding public health. The following section lists some critical aspects of the impact and summarizes the findings of the studies on the Research Topic.

The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable populations

1. Higher Infection and Mortality Rates:

Vulnerable populations, such as older adults and individuals with underlying health conditions (e.g., diabetes, heart disease, and respiratory illnesses), lower income, or immunocompromised bodies, experienced higher COVID-19 infection, and mortality rates. These groups often have weakened immune systems or pre-existing health conditions that make them more susceptible to severe outcomes if infected. In some settings, women may have been overrepresented in healthcare and frontline jobs, putting them at higher risk of exposure to the virus. They may also have played a significant role in caregiving, professionally and within their own families, potentially increasing their risk of exposure.

Acevedo-Sánchez et al.'s findings show that age significantly predicted one's probability of being infected with COVID-19 during the first pandemic wave in Mexico. For example, older Mexicans with diabetes, hypertension, or obesity were more likely to be infected than older Mexicans without these health issues. Their study also shows that chronic illness was significantly associated with COVID-19 case mortality rates for the same period. Another critical finding is that female Mexicans with metabolic or cardiovascular diseases had a higher mortality rate due to COVID-19 than their counterparts. The analysis by Gerken et al. demonstrates that age was positively associated with COVID-19 case fatalities, whereas income was negatively associated

with COVID-19 case fatalities in the United States. Wu and Qian reviewed data collected from March 2020 to February 2022 by Canada's Public Health Agency to study the gender difference in infection rate during the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic. Their work shows that women had a steadily higher infection rate than men during the study period. According to the empirical evidence in this research, this gender disparity can be explained by women's higher share of care work during the pandemic. Santa-Ramírez et al. analyzed data collected from 2,889 participants of a 2020 population-based survey conducted in Geneva, concluding that individuals with financial hardship had higher odds of being infected with COVID-19.

2. Health Care Access Disparities:

Access to quality healthcare was a significant challenge for vulnerable populations during the pandemic. For instance, many disabled individuals, a considerable portion of the vulnerable group, rely on public transportation or specialized services for mobility. During the pandemic, lockdowns, reduced services, and safety concerns might limit their ability to access transportation, making it difficult to travel to essential places such as medical appointments. Therefore, their ability to access appropriate healthcare can be negatively impacted. In addition, individuals with underlying health conditions may have been less physically active, particularly outside their homes, due to the fear of contracting the virus. This reduction in physical activity is often associated with adverse health consequences.

Sohn et al. analyzed matched samples from the 2015 to 2020 Korean National Health Insurance's claim records to determine the influence of the pandemic on disabled individuals' healthcare use. The difference-in-differences estimates calculated in this study indicate that the pandemic significantly reduced disabled Koreans' use of medical care and that the degree of decline is positively associated with the severity of the disability. Additionally, this study shows that those with a physical disability experienced the most significant reduction compared to individuals with other disabilities. A qualitative survey by Krczal and Hyll indicates that the COVID-19 pandemic deteriorated the pattern of physical activities of Austrians with cardiovascular diseases in its initial stage. Despite all odds, this pattern did improve as the pandemic progressed.

3. Health Communication Challenges:

Public health communication efforts occasionally struggle to reach vulnerable populations effectively. Language barriers, literacy issues, and limited internet access hindered people's ability to receive accurate information about COVID-19, preventive measures, and vaccination. Significantly, the shift to online health education and virtual healthcare services during the pandemic highlighted the digital divide among vulnerable populations. Lack of access to reliable internet connections, devices, and digital literacy skills also hindered their ability to participate fully in remote activities and access essential information, potentially exacerbating existing inequities and limiting their opportunities for support and engagement. Ritcher and Heidinger's findings suggest that older Austrians in poverty were less likely to use the internet than younger and financially stable Austrians during the pandemic. Wang et al. analyzed the 2020 China Family Panel Studies cross-sectional data. They concluded that the intensity of internet use is associated with the quality of life among chronically ill Chinese during the pandemic.

4. Mental Health and Wellbeing:

The pandemic's toll on mental health has been profound, particularly among vulnerable populations. The stress and anxiety, economic hardships, and social isolation related to the virus have affected these communities disproportionately. However, mental health support and resources may not have been readily available or culturally appropriate, exacerbating the strain on their wellbeing.

Schippers et al.'s findings show that the public health measures adopted to slow the spread of COVID-19 disturbed and reduced the social connections of older adults during the pandemic. This study also shows that the public health measures worsened the pre-existing disparities in the social relationships among racial and ethnic groups. Islam et al. analyzed data from three waves from the US COVID-19 Impact Survey to identify characteristics associated with financial hardship and to evaluate the associations of final difficulty with mental health symptoms among cancer survivors during the pandemic. According to this study, minorities, younger adults, and cancer survivors with low socioeconomic status had a higher chance of financial hardship during the COVID-19 crisis, resulting in anxiety, depression, and hopelessness.

5. Social and Economic Consequences:

The socioeconomic consequences of the pandemic have been particularly devastating for vulnerable populations. Many lost their jobs or faced reduced working hours, leading to financial instability and increased vulnerability to food insecurity, homelessness, and other hardships. Dean et al. analyzed data from three US COVID-19 Impact Survey waves. They found that approximately one-third of the study sample with chronic illness experienced food shortages in the initial phase of the COVID-19 pandemic. The results from this study suggest that chronically ill Americans with lower socioeconomic status, such as those with lower income or less education, have a higher risk of food shortage.

6. Vaccination Inequities:

Vaccine distribution and accessibility have not been equitable, leading to lower vaccination rates in vulnerable communities. Issues such as vaccine hesitancy, limited access to vaccination sites, and mistrust of healthcare systems have contributed to disparities in vaccination coverage. An analysis by Ritcher and Heidinger shows that although older Austrians in poverty were significantly more likely to refuse COVID-19 vaccination, they adhered to other public health measures.

7. Systemic Inequities and Structural Racism:

COVID-19 exposed and amplified systemic inequities and structural racism, perpetuating disparities among vulnerable populations. In some regions, women faced barriers to accessing healthcare, leading to potential negative consequences for women's health during the pandemic. Moreover, racial and ethnic minorities, indigenous communities, immigrants, and refugees experienced higher infection rates, inadequate healthcare, and discriminatory treatment.

Samanta et al.'s findings suggest that women living in Tamil Nadu, India, had a lower rate of detected cases than men. In 2020, Oliveira Martins et al. surveyed a cohort of 410 households in Amadora Municipality, Lisbon Region in Spain, to examine COVID-19's socioeconomic impact on immigrants, who remain among the most vulnerable and neglected members of many societies. Their statistical analysis shows that the COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated the pre-existing socioeconomic inequalities between immigrants and non-immigrants in the area. Compared to natives, this study found that the likelihood of immigrants in the region losing jobs and being laid off was higher during the pandemic. Furthermore, immigrants' possibility of facing financial hardship, such as difficulties buying food and hygiene products and paying bills, was also higher. Plümecke et al. analyzed Swiss mortality statistics and concluded that non-Swiss citizens had higher death rate increases than Swiss citizens during the first two waves of the pandemic. This finding suggests that the Swiss healthcare system does not protect all citizens equally in a public health crisis like the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic has laid bare the urgent need to address the underlying social determinants of health and work and build toward a more equitable society.

Call to action

Addressing *The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable populations* requires a multifaceted and targeted approach. Governments, healthcare systems, and community organizations must prioritize equitable vaccine distribution, improve access to healthcare services, and ensure culturally sensitive and linguistically appropriate information dissemination. Officials should strengthen social safety nets to support those facing economic hardships, intensify efforts to bridge the digital divide and ensure mental health services are accessible and affordable for everyone. Addressing systemic inequities and racism is crucial for long-term change.

Conclusion

Ultimately, it is essential to approach the pandemic response with an equity lens to ensure that vulnerable populations are not left behind and that public health efforts are inclusive and effective for all segments of society. The COVID-19 pandemic has further exposed the vulnerabilities and disparities experienced by marginalized populations. Schippers et al. demonstrated that the crisis hit vulnerable people hardest. Therefore, we must focus on protecting and supporting vulnerable communities as we navigate the recovery phase and continue to build a more resilient and inclusive society that leaves no one behind by addressing each person's specific challenges and working toward equitable solutions. We can emerge stronger from this crisis and ensure a more equitable future through collective action and commitment to social justice.

Author contributions

EL: Writing—original draft. CD: Writing—review and editing. KE: Writing—review and editing.

Acknowledgments

We thank all reviewers for their input on the 14 articles published on this Research Topic. We also thank the editor for the valuable comments and suggestions.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Echu Liu, Saint Louis University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Mónica Rodrigues, University of Coimbra, Portugal Pedro Candeias, Universidade de Lisboa, Portugal Maria Alzira Cavacas, Egas Moniz Interdisciplinary Research Center, Portugal Nuno Mendonça, Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Portugal David Lopes, Rua do Instituto Bacteriológico, Portugal, in collaboration with reviewer NM

*CORRESPONDENCE Maria Rosario O. Martins mrfom@ihmt.unl.pt

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 14 April 2022 ACCEPTED 27 June 2022 PUBLISHED 01 August 2022

CITATION

O. Martins MR, Shaaban AN, Abecasis A, Muggli Z, Amado R, Vaz D, Dias SS, Silva AC and Fronteira I (2022) Are immigrants more vulnerable to the socioeconomic impact of COVID-19? A cross-sectional study in Amadora Municipality, Lisbon metropolitan area. *Front. Public Health* 10:920308. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.920308

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 O. Martins, Shaaban, Abecasis, Muggli, Amado, Vaz, Dias, Silva and Fronteira. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Are immigrants more vulnerable to the socioeconomic impact of COVID-19? A cross-sectional study in Amadora Municipality, Lisbon metropolitan area

Maria Rosario O. Martins^{1*}, Ahmed Nabil Shaaban¹, Ana Abecasis¹, Zelia Muggli¹, Regina Amado¹, Dora Vaz², Sara S. Dias^{3,4}, Antonio C. Silva^{5,6} and Ines Fronteira¹

¹Global Health and Tropical Medicine (GHTM), Institute of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (IHMT), NOVA University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal, ²Amadora Primary Care Health Centers Group, Regional Health Administration of Lisbon and Tagus Valley, Lisbon, Portugal, ³ciTechCare—Center for Innovative Care and Health Technology, Polytechnic of Leiria, Leiria, Portugal, ⁴School of Health Sciences, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Leiria, Portugal, ⁵Public Health Department, Regional Health Administration of Lisbon and Tagus Valley, Ministry of Health, Lisbon, Portugal, ⁶AJPAS—Associação de Intervenção Comunitária, Desenvolvimento Social e de Saúde, Amadora, Portugal

Introduction: Immigrants carry an extra burden of morbidities and mortalities since the beginning of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. Pre-existing inequalities among immigrants may threaten their economic wellbeing during the pandemic. This study analyzed the socioeconomic impact of COVID-19 on immigrants and natives living in Amadora, Metropolitan Region of Lisbon and the extent to which preexisting inequalities had been exacerbated during the pandemic.

Materials and methods: This cross-sectional study was conducted in Amadora Municipality, Lisbon Region, through phone interviews and using a structured questionnaire. Data collected in July 2020, included information on a cohort of 420 households, of which 51% were immigrants. To evaluate the socioeconomic position and economic wellbeing changes occurring during the pandemic we estimate crude and adjusted odds ratio (OR) and 95% CI, using Portuguese natives as the reference group.

Results: Overall, 287 (70%) participants responded to the questionnaire, of which 47% are immigrants. Preexisting socioeconomic inequalities were exacerbated during the pandemic. Compared with natives, immigrants were more likely to experience job loss, temporary lay-off, and income loss during the COVID-19 pandemic. Immigrants were also more likely to face several kinds of financial hardship during the pandemic, such as difficulties in buying food, hygiene products, and paying bills.

Conclusion: To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to capture the direct socioeconomic impact of COVID-19 among immigrants and natives in Portugal. It highlights the bidirectional relation between inequalities deeply rooted among immigrants and COVID-19. Socioeconomic inequalities affect local patterns of COVID-19 burden, as confirmed in previous studies, but

COVID-19 also has an impact on the economic wellbeing of Amadora immigrants during the pandemic. Urgent policies must be implemented to mitigate the economic burden of COVID-19 among immigrants, namely in Amadora, Lisbon Region.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, immigrants, socioeconomic impact, inequality, vulnerabilities, Lisbon, Portugal

Introduction

Since it was reported in December 2019, the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has spread across the globe, causing more than 490 million infections and about 6 million deaths (1). As the disease spread, immigrants have also been substantially affected by the pandemic in what seems to be a disproportional manner. COVID-19 has exacerbated vulnerabilities among immigrants, which were previously caused by long-standing limited access to healthcare, socioeconomic inequalities, and health disparities (2-5). Since the beginning of the pandemic, these preexisting inequalities have translated into higher morbidity and mortality among immigrants in Europe and the United States (5-8). Explanation of how these pre-existing conditions can affect the spread of COVID-19 among immigrants and the importance of universal and equitable access to healthcare services during and after the COVID-19 crisis has already been clarified elsewhere (4).

In Portugal, from 3 March 2020 to 8 April 2022, more than 3.6 million cases of COVID-19 have been notified with 21,851 COVID-19 deaths (9). As a result of the measures undertaken to mitigate the pandemic, such as partial and total lockdown, the unemployment rate was 8.2% in August 2020, compared to only 6% reported in May of the same year (10). In addition, the contraction in the Portuguese economy was 8.4% in 2020 due to COVID-19 (11). Moreover, the country's once-booming tourism sector, which contributed about 15% to Portugal's gross domestic product in 2018, collapsed in 2020 due to coronavirus (12, 13).

Immigrants in Portugal are less likely to access health services compared to natives (14). In an effort to improve immigrants' access to healthcare, Portugal has temporarily regularized all immigrants, including asylum seekers, who have applied for a residence permit before the declaration of the state of emergency on 18 March 2020 (15). Although this step has been appreciated at a regional and international level, it might not be enough to address preexisting conditions that are deeply rooted among immigrants in Portugal, since it is expected that the financial crisis caused by the COVID-19 pandemic will aggravate the economic situation among immigrant's populations. Lessons learned from the previous financial crisis showed that immigrants are among the first groups to be affected (16–20). Previous research shows that the social and economic consequences of the pandemic are hitting disadvantaged groups harder (21). Also, the existing evidence illustrates that COVID-19 has affected people unequally because of pre-existing unequal living and working conditions, as is the case of migrant populations. However, in this review (21), few studies are related to the EU, and no references can be found related to immigrants in Portugal. The objective of this study is to analyze the socioeconomic impact of COVID-19 on immigrants and natives living in Amadora, Metropolitan Region of Lisbon and the extent to which preexisting inequalities had been exacerbated during the pandemic.

Methods

Setting

Amadora is the most densely populated municipality in the country and the fourth most populous city in Portugal; moreover, 10% of its population has a foreign nationality, namely, from Portuguese-speaking countries (Brazil and Lusophone African countries). Census 2011 data suggest that the socioeconomic conditions of the population living in Amadora Municipality are comparable to those of the Metropolitan Region of Lisbon as a whole, except for the educational level, where Amadora is at a disadvantage. Between June and the beginning of August 2020, Amadora remained among the municipalities in Portugal with a higher incidence of SARS-CoV-2 infection and in a situation of contingency (while the remaining country was in a situation of alert). Due to this situation, and while the country was slowly deconfining, in Amadora some restrictions remained (e.g., shops closing by 8 pm, with exception of supermarkets, petrol stations, clinics, pharmacies, and gyms; restrictions on selling alcohol and limitation on social gathering to 10 persons). A special task force was created to deal with this situation that improved in August. Figure 1 shows the



location of Amadora Municipality with the Metropolitan region of Lisbon.

Design

This study is nested within the prospective cohort study of native and immigrant children and their parents/caregivers living in Amadora, Metropolitan Area of Lisbon, Portugal which started in 2019. In brief, this cohort study collects quantitative data annually coming from 3 different sources: questionnaires (face-to-face and phone interviews), health center administrative data, and hospital records and the whole information is linked in a unique data set. The first data collection corresponded to the baseline assessment and was conducted between June 2019 and the 1st week of March 2020 (before the first case of SARS-CoV-2 infection had been notified in Portugal). At the baseline, we collected information on the socioeconomic and demographic characteristics and migration history of parents/caregivers and children's health outcomes.

Participants were recruited at Amadora health centers during children's consultations. The target population includes all immigrant households with children born in 2015 (starting point of the children's cohort) and the same number of native households with children also born in 2015. Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, we concluded the recruitment 3 months earlier than foreseen, in the 1st week of March 2020, with 420 children/households enrolled with complete data (22). In the present study, the participant is one of the adults living in the household (one of the child's caregivers). At the baseline, about 51% of the 420 adults are immigrants, mainly from Cape Verde, Brazil, Angola, and Guinea-Bissau.

Participants

For the baseline study (n = 420), participants were recruited, between June 2019 and the 1st week of March 2020. Two questionnaires were implemented, face-to-face, to collect data on the main socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of the households and migration history (for immigrants).

In July 2020, 4 months after the notification of the first case in Portugal, and during the Amadora partial lockdown (23), we invited adult participants (n = 420) to answer a semistructured pilot-tested questionnaire divided into four sections: changes in employment and household income during the COVID-19 pandemic; changes in material deprivation; difficulties during the lockdown; and difficulties in accessing healthcare. Participants were contacted by phone and in absence of a response, a second and a third call were made.

Questionnaire variables

The baseline questionnaire, conducted in 2019 by faceto-face interview, explored sociodemographic, economic, and living conditions and when conducted for immigrants (born outside the EU and living in Amadora) also addressed their history of migration. Demographic variables included sex, age ($\geq 18 < 35$ or ≥ 35 years), and place of birth. Variables that measure socioeconomic status included employment status: employed, unemployed, and others (domestic, students, retired, and social integration income); family monthly income, originally measured in five categories was dichotomized into <750; ≥750 Euros, where 750 represents the lower limit of the median income class. This option was chosen due to the small number of frequencies in cross tables obtained with the original categories and n = 287. Occupations are classified according to the Portuguese Classification of Professions adapted from the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-08), categorized, for the analysis in: high-skilled occupations (managers; professionals; legislators; technicians; and armed forces occupations), and low-skilled and medium-skilled occupations (personal service workers; industrial workers; unqualified workers; and students). The level of education was measured according to the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) adopted by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), categorized into 3 classes: professional and higher education, secondary education, and less than secondary education (24).

The questionnaire on the socioeconomic impact of COVID-19 was administrated in July 2020 and included, among others, eight variables related to the impact of COVID-19 on participants' economic wellbeing, defined as follows: unemployed because of COVID-19 (no and yes), on layoff because of COVID-19 (no, yes, and not applicable), change in monthly household income due to COVID-19 (increased or remained the same, decreased), falling behind with bills (no and yes), financial difficulties in buying food (no and yes), financial difficulties in buying hygiene products (no and yes), financial difficulties to pay phone and internet (no and yes), and if kids go to school for a meal when schooling was interrupted during lockdown (no and yes).

Statistical analysis

Baseline sociodemographic characteristics (categorical variables) across immigrants and native Portuguese were compared using the x^2 -test; associations between social inequalities at the baseline were estimated using logistic regression where natives were the reference class. Logistic regression was also used to compute the odds ratio and CI95% of an immigrant being unemployed due to COVID-19, being on lay-off, having household income change, falling behind with bills, or having financial difficulties, when compared to a native, and adjusting for sex, age, education level, employment status, occupation, and family income. Statistical analyses were conducted with STATA[®], version 13 (Stata Corp LP, College Station, Texas, USA) and figures in R version 4.1.

Results

The response rate was 70% (n = 287) and did not differ by immigrant status (Natives—born in Portugal, Immigrants born abroad and outside the EU). A total of 152 (53%) participants were natives, whereas 135 (47%) were immigrants. Table 1 presents the main baseline characteristics, collected during 2019 (before the COVID-19 pandemic), according to immigrant status.

Most of the participants are women as the original cohort study focused on the caregivers and children in the household. No differences in the distribution of sex and age were found between immigrants and natives. However, immigrants were less educated (p = 0.021), and had lower monthly family income (p < 0.001) when compared to natives. Also, among immigrants, there was a lower proportion of people employed than natives, 64.4 vs. 82.2%, respectively (p = 0.001). Immigrants were more concentrated in low-skilled and medium-skilled occupations (personal service workers; industrial workers; unqualified workers) in contrast to natives, 40 vs. 18%, respectively, while natives were more concentrated in highskilled occupations (managers; professionals; legislatives; and technicians; p < 0.001). To evaluate socioeconomic inequalities between immigrants and natives at the baseline, we estimated crude and adjusted odds of having lower education, not being employed, having lower income, and always using natives as reference class.

	All $(n = 287)$		Natives $(n = 152)$		Immigrants ($n = 135$)		
	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	<i>p</i> -value
Sex $(n = 287)$							
Male	32	(11.2)	17	(11.2)	15	(11.1)	
Female	255	(88.8)	135	(88.2)	120	(88.9)	0.984
Age (<i>n</i> = 287)							
18-34	138	(48.1)	69	(45.4)	69	(51.1)	
≥35	149	(51.9)	83	(54.6)	66	(48.9)	0.333
Education ($n = 286$)							
Professional and higher education	70	(24.5)	47	(30.9)	23	(17.2)	
Secondary education	106	(37.1)	54	(35.5)	52	(38.8)	
Less than secondary education	110	(38.5)	51	(33.6)	59	(44.0)	0.021
Employment ($n = 287$)							
Employed	212	(73.9)	125	(82.2)	87	(64.4)	
Unemployed and others	75	(26.1)	27	(17.8)	48	(35.6)	0.001
Occupation ($n = 287$)							
High-skilled occupations ^a	202	(70.4)	124	(81.6)	78	(57.8)	
Low and medium skilled occupations ^b	85	(29.6)	28	(18.4)	57	(42.2)	< 0.001
Family income $(n = 272)$							
≥750 Euros	167	(61.4)	106	(73.6)	61	(47.7)	
<750 Euros	105	(38.6)	38	(26.4)	67	(52.3)	< 0.001

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the study sample by immigrant status.

Baseline assessment: 2019. n = 287. Natives—born in Portugal, Immigrants—born abroad and outside the EU.

^aManagers; professionals; legislatives; technicians; and armed forces occupations.

^bPersonal service workers; industrial workers; unqualified workers; and students.

As can be seen in Figure 2, before the pandemic and adjusting for other factors, immigrants when compared with natives were more likely to not be employed, to have low-skilled occupations and a lower monthly income.

Results from the July 2020 COVID-19 impact survey show that most of the changes in socioeconomic status were unfavorable to immigrants (Table 2). About 27% of them mentioned someone in the household became unemployed due to the COVID-19 pandemic compared to only 9.9% of natives (p < 0.001). More than 50% of immigrants were subject to temporary or partial layoff because of COVID-19 in comparison to 32.2% lay off among natives (p = 0.001) and more than twothirds of immigrants have seen their monthly household income decrease during the pandemic compared to 50% of native (p < 0.001).

A higher proportion of immigrants reported financial difficulties in paying bills (40.3%), buying food (31.5%), buying hygiene products (42.5%), and paying for phone and internet (50.4%), when compared to native Portuguese, 23.7, 25.7, 23, and 19.9%, respectively, with differences being significant (p = 0.003; p = 0.024; and p < 0.05). About 10% of immigrants reported sending their children to school to have meals compared to 3% among natives (p = 0.02).

Figure 3 presents the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on participants' economic wellbeing measured by crude and adjusted odds ratio taking natives as the reference class. Adjusting for sex, age, education level, occupation, and family income, immigrants were more likely to be unemployed due to the COVID-19 pandemic (AOR 3.54, 95% CI 1.72–7.30). In addition, immigrants were more likely to be subject to temporary or partial lay-offs because of COVID-19 (AOR 2.10, 95% 1.17–3.76), and to suffer a decrease in their monthly household income due to COVID-19 (AOR 3.21, 95% CI 1.80– 5.75). Regarding financial difficulties during the COVID-19 pandemic, immigrants were more likely to fall behind with bills (AOR 1.95, 95% CI 1.09–3.50), to find it difficult to buy hygiene products (AOR 1.95, 95% CI 1.10–3.48), paying phone and internet bills (AOR 3.02, 95% CI 1.65–5.53).

Discussion

This study aimed to examine the socioeconomic impact of COVID-19 on immigrants living in Amadora, Metropolitan Region of Lisbon and the extent to which preexisting inequalities had been exacerbated during the pandemic. First, analyses of variables that measure the participants' socioeconomic



position before the pandemic showed preexisting socioeconomic inequalities among immigrants compared to natives. In general, socioeconomic factors have been widely used to assess health in research. For example, better socioeconomic status in terms of higher education, employment, or income may translate to better living conditions, and access to information, and hence better health outcomes (25, 26). The preexisting conditions in our study translate into immigrants being less employed, underpaid, and more likely to have low-skilled occupations compared to natives. Second, our results show disparity in the socioeconomic impact of COVID-19 among immigrants and natives, which translates into an exacerbation of immigrants' lower economic wellbeing during the pandemic. This impact is more evident in immigrants' employment status, monthly income, and financial difficulties during the pandemic. As such, our results indicate that immigrants face other types of inequality besides preexisting socioeconomic and access to health inequalities, being at higher risk to suffer adverse economic outcomes due to COVID-19. These findings are consistent with other studies that found immigrants to suffer from social and economic disparities (27, 28). Moreover, the Portuguese Migration Observatory registered several disparities among immigrants in Portugal with respect to housing, access to healthcare, low wages, and the greatest exposure to social exclusion (29).

In our study, immigrants were more likely to be unemployed, on temporary lay-off, or to have lost income due to COVID-19. These findings are consistent with findings from other studies in which immigrant workers have confronted a disproportionate social and economic impact of the pandemic (21, 30). These findings are not surprising and can be explained for several reasons. First, the previous crisis showed immigrants to be the first affected by financial crises (17, 19, 20). The global financial crisis in 2008 and the following wave in TABLE 2 Socioeconomic impact of COVID-19 by immigrant status in July 2020, n = 287 (natives—born in Portugal, immigrants—born abroad and outside the EU).

	All $(n = 287)$		Natives $(n = 152)$		Immigrants ($n = 135$)		<i>p</i> -value
	N	%	n	%	n	%	
Someone in the household unemployed because of COVID-19 ($n = 287$)							
No	236	(82.2)	137	(90.1)	99	(73.3)	
Yes	51	(17.8)	15	(9.9)	36	(26.7)	< 0.001
On temporary or partial on lay-off because of COVID-19 ($n = 251$)							
No	133	(53.0)	82	(62.6)	51	(42.5)	
Yes	118	(47.0)	49	(37.4)	69	(57.5)	0.001
Household income change ($n = 285$)							
Increased or remained the same	112	(39.3)	75	(49.3)	37	(27.8)	
Decreased	173	(60.7)	77	(50.7)	96	(72.2)	< 0.001
Falling behind with bills $(n = 286)$							
No	196	(68.5)	116	(76.3)	80	(59.7)	
Yes	90	(31.5)	36	(23.7)	54	(40.3)	0.003
Financial difficulties in buying food ($n = 286$)							
No	196	(68.5)	113	(74.3)	83	(61.9)	
Yes	90	(31.5)	39	(25.7)	51	(38.1)	0.024
Financial difficulties in buying hygiene products ($n = 286$)							
No	194	(67.8)	117	(77.0)	77	(57.5)	
Yes	92	(32.2)	35	(23.0)	57	(42.5)	< 0.001
Financial difficulties to pay phone and internet $(n = 284)$							
No	187	(65.8)	121	(80.1)	66	(49.6)	
Yes	97	(34.2)	30	(19.9)	67	(50.4)	< 0.001
Kids go to school for a meal $(n = 266)$							
No	249	(93.6)	131	(97.0)	118	(90.1)	
Yes	17	(6.4)	4	(3.0)	13	(9.9)	0.02

2011, which resulted in a major recession with severe labor market depression, led to a rapid, significant increase in the immigrants' unemployment rate compared to native inhabitants (19). Second, Portugal, in 2020, has been among the most affected by any economic crisis due to COVID-19 compared to other countries (the economy contracted 16.3% in the 1st semester of 2020), given the high contribution of tourism to the Portuguese economy (31). According to the Portuguese Migration Observatory, immigrants are more likely to be employed in underpaid jobs related to the domestic services sector, construction sector, or employed in jobs linked to tourism, such as hotels, cafes, and restaurants (29). During the year 2020, about 45% of Portuguese hotels have temporarily closed or are planning to close due to the impact of the coronavirus pandemic, which kept most visitors away from our tourism-dependent country for over 9 months (32). The Portuguese Hospitality Association (AHP) estimated revenue losses of between €3.2 and €3.6 billion during 2020, and 24.8-46.4 million fewer overnight stays during the same year (33). As these sectors are among the ones strongly hitten by COVID-19 restrictions, immigrants may be the first to suffer from the economic consequences as shown in the precedent crisis, being highly represented in these sectors. For example, during the Portuguese economic recession that started in 2008 and the following financial crisis, occupations with high immigrant concentrations such as construction, accommodation, and restaurant sectors, were severely affected. Accordingly, the difference in unemployment rates between natives and immigrants had widened by 7.8% points in 2010 (34).

Our study found that immigrants living in Amadora, Lisbon Region, are more likely to face financial hardship during the pandemic, and this finding could be alarming for several reasons (35, 36). Inability to provide proper nutrition or hygiene products due to financial difficulties during the pandemic may put immigrants at higher risk of infection, especially when immigrants live in poor environmental conditions (8). In addition, over 25% of immigrants in Portugal live in overcrowded housing (29). Immigrants living in these conditions and unable to afford proper nutrition or hygiene products due to financial hardship will find themselves unable



to follow essential prevention measures that include hand hygiene, social distancing, or proper self-isolation in the case of infection. Conclusions from a UK population study go in the same direction: compared to UK-born white, British, Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic (BAME) migrants in the United Kingdom were more likely to experience job and income loss during the COVID-19 lockdown (37). Moreover, recent publications for France (38) and the United States (39) reveal an unequal burden of COVID-19 to income, race/ethnicity, and household crowding.

Historically, immigrants and ethnic minorities were among the most affected by infectious diseases during economic crises due to poor living conditions and lack of access to preventive health services and information (40, 41). All these factors can put immigrants at a higher risk of infection, especially in light of their limited ability to afford proper nutrition or hygiene products due to financial limitations (8).

To the best of our knowledge, our study is the first to capture the direct socioeconomic impact of COVID-19 among immigrants and natives in Portugal. It highlights the bidirectional relation between inequalities deeply rooted among immigrants and COVID-19. On the one hand, socioeconomic inequalities affect local patterns of COVID-19 burden, as confirmed in previous studies (2, 4, 6-8, 42, 43). On the other hand, COVID-19 affects the economic wellbeing of immigrants during the pandemic. The importance of our study lies in its ability to reveal that the current pandemic has not only exposed health disparities among immigrants but also exposed the economic vulnerability of this population during the pandemic, which is a result of long-standing structural inequalities. Moreover, our study was able to analyze preexisting socioeconomic conditions among immigrants using data from the first wave of the survey. Since the immigrant households in our study include children, special attention should be paid to the potential associated effects of this economic downturn on children, such as poor nutrition, overcrowded houses, and lack of access to technologies for online learning and during repeated lockdown periods. As Portugal ensured immigrants' access to healthcare during the pandemic, similar attention should be paid to this population's financial hardship. Inclusive policies that guarantee equal access to social security during the pandemic will be critical to protecting the immigrant population.

This study has some limitations. First, data were collected from an existing cohort study; individuals were recruited before the pandemic in a different context and the impact was measured using two sequential cross-sectional studies. However, considering the difficulty to obtain information and reaching this population during COVID-19 lockdowns, we consider they offer valuable evidence in this research area. Also, we only consider families that have at least one child. Second, we only analyzed a specific point in time (July 2020 lockdown), a period accentuated by a significant economic crisis. We implemented a similar questionnaire in January 2022, during the Omicron wave, and we believe the results will give additional and relevant insights to this study. Finally, our findings described the situation in Amadora Municipality, which cannot be assumed to represent the national reality. However, we are currently expanding the area of our study to include four other Municipalities with different socioeconomic characteristics.

Conclusion

The COVID-19 pandemic that started as a health crisis is rapidly turning into an economic crisis, especially among immigrant populations. This study urges policymakers to take urgent actions to protect immigrants from COVID-19 adverse economic impact and guarantee social equality during this unprecedented crisis.

Our results were already presented at the regional (Regional Health Administration of Lisbon and Tagus Valley) and national level (Portuguese Parliament) and are being incorporated in public health programs, namely, in Amadora. The importance of this study was recognized at the national level, with the gold medal of the 2020 Human Rights Award of the Portuguese Parliament.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Health Ethics Committee of the Regional Health Administration of Lisbon and Tagus Valley, Portugal (001/CES/INV/2019 and 9-2020/CES/2020). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

MO: conceptualization, methodology, supervision, funding, and original draft. ANS: investigation, data analysis, and original draft. AA, DV, and ACS: methodology and review. ZM and RA: data collection and analysis. SD: methodology and data analysis. IF: methodology, data analysis, data field supervision, and review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The project was funded by a grant from the Portuguese Science and Technology Foundation (FCT), RESEARCH4COVID19, reference 065, co-financed by FAMI funds reference PT/2018/FAMI/350, and by Saúde Global e Medicina Tropical, Instituto de Higiene e Medicina Tropical, Universidade NOVA de Lisboa, Portugal, ref. UID/04413/2020.

Acknowledgments

This project was made possible thanks to the enormous support of the ACES Amadora Public Health Unit and Immigrants NGO AJPAS. We would like to acknowledge the Portuguese Parliament for awarding us the gold medal for Human Rights 2020.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewers NM and DL declared a shared affiliation with the author(s) MO, ANS, AA, ZM, RA, and IF to the handling editor at the time of review.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. World Health Organzation. *Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Dashboard.* (2022). Available online at: https://covid19.who.int/? gclid=Cj0KCQiAk53-BRD0ARIsAJuNhpt3tJJyxX1PzjwuVMYuqTyDHq_ wsz9Q0FP3PojbWA33C31A6sbGDwkaAvw4EALw_wcB (accessed April 10, 2022).

2. Platt L, Warwick R. Are Some Ethnic Groups More Vulnerable to COVID-19 Than Others. London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, Nuffield Foundation (2020).

3. Guadagno L. Migrants and the COVID-19 Pandemic: An Initial Analysis. (2020). Available online at: https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/mrs-60. pdf (accessed April 10, 2022).

4. Shaaban AN, Peleteiro B, Martins MRO. The writing's on the wall: on health inequalities, migrants, and coronavirus. *Front Public Health.* (2020) 8:505. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00505

5. Burton-Jeangros C, Duvoisin A, Lachat S, Consoli L, Fakhoury J, Jackson Y. The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and the lockdown on the health and living conditions of undocumented migrants and migrants undergoing legal status regularization. *Front Public Health.* (2020) 8:940. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.596887

6. Greenaway C, Hargreaves S, Barkati S, Coyle CM, Gobbi F, Veizis A, et al. COVID-19: exposing and addressing health disparities among ethnic minorities and migrants. *J Travel Med.* (2020) 27:taaa113. doi: 10.1093/jtm/taaa113

7. Tai DBG. Shah A, Doubeni CA, Sia IG, Wieland ML. The disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on racial and ethnic minorities in the United States. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2021) 72:703–6. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa815

8. Hayward SE, Deal A, Cheng C, Crawshaw A, Orcutt M, Vandrevala TF, et al. Clinical outcomes and risk factors for COVID-19 among migrant populations in high-income countries: a systematic review. *J Migrat Health.* (2021) 3:100041. doi: 10.1016/j.jmh.2021.100041

9. World Health Organzation. *COVID-19. Portugal Situation*. Available online at: https://covid19.who.int/region/euro/country/pt (accessed April, 10, 2022).

10. Banco de Portugal. *Taxas de desemprego, estimativas mensais*. Available online at: https://bpstat.bportugal.pt/serie/5739364 (accessed May 1, 2022).

11. Pordata. *Taxa de crescimento real do PIB*. Available online at: https:// www.pordata.pt/Portugal/Taxa\$+\$de\$+\$crescimento\$+\$real\$+\$do\$+\$PIB-2298 (accessed May 1, 2022).

12. Almeida F, Oscar S. The impact of COVID-19 on tourism sustainability: evidence from Portugal. *Adv Hospital Tour Res.* (2020) 8:440–6. doi: 10.30519/ahtr.775340

13. Silva L. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on rural tourism: a case study from Portugal. *Anatolia*. (2021) 2021:1–3. doi: 10.1080/13032917.2021.1875015

14. Shaaban NA, Morais S, Peleteiro B. Healthcare services utilization among migrants in Portugal: results from the National Health Survey 2014. *J Immigrant Minority Health*. (2019) 21:219–29. doi: 10.1007/s10903-018-0744-3

15. Diário da República. Despacho n.º 3863-b/2020 - Diário da República n.º 62/2020, 3º suplemento, série II DE. (2020).

16. Herm A, Poulain M. Economic crisis and international migration. What the eu data reveal? *Revue européenne des migrations internationales.* (2012) 28:145–69. doi: 10.4000/remi.6171

17. Koser K. The Impact of Financial Crises on International Migration: Lessons Learned. Geneva: International Organization for Migration; United Nations (2009). doi: 10.18356/ead42b80-en

18. Awad I. The Global Economic Crisis and Migrant Workers: Impact and Response. No. 433612. Geneva: International Labour Organization (2009).

19. Chaloff J, Dumont JC, Liebig, T. The impact of the economic crisis on migration and labour market outcomes of immigrants in OECD countries. *CESifo DICE Report.* (2012) 10:39–47. Available online at: https://www.ifo.de/en/node/28352 (accessed April 10, 2022).

20. Papademetriou DG, Sumption M, Terrazas A. *Migration and Immigrants Two Years After the Financial Collapse: Where Do We Stand*. Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute (2010).

21. World Health Organization. COVID-19 and the Social Determinants of Health and Health Equity: Evidence Brief. Geneva: World Health Organization (2021).

22. Muggli Z, Mertens T, Sa S, Amado R, Teixeira AL, Vaz D, et al. Migration as a determinant in the development of children emotional and behavior problems: a quantitative study for Lisbon region, Portugal. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:375. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18020375

23. Republica Portuguesa. *Comunicados do Conselho de Ministros*. Available online at: https://www.portugal.gov.pt/pt/gc22/governo/comunicado-de-conselho-de-ministros?i=354 (accessed May 25, 2020).

24. United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). *International Standard Classification of Education ISCED 2011*. UNESCO Institute for Statistics Montreal (2012).

25. Cutler DM, Lleras-Muney A, Vogl T. Socioeconomic Status and Health: Dimensions and Mechanisms. Cambridge, MA: NBER (2008). doi: 10.3386/w14333

26. Lleras-Muney A. Mind the gap: a review of the health gap: the challenge of an unequal world by Sir Michael Marmot. J Econ Lit. (2018) 56:1080–101. doi: 10.1257/jel.20171383

27. Bambra C, Julia L, Smith KE. The unequal pandemic: COVID-19 and health inequalities. *Policy Press.* (2021). doi: 10.46692/9781447361251

28. OECD. What Is the Impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic on Immigrants and Their Children?[®]. OECD. (2020). Available online at: https://read.oecdilibrary.org/view/?ref=137_137245-8saheqv0k3&title=What-is-the-impact-ofthe-COVID-19-pandemic-on-immigrants-and-their-children%3F (accessed

the-COVID-19-pandemic-on-immigrants-and-their-children%3F (accessed April 10, 2022).

29. Oliveira C. *Indicadores de integração de imigrantes: Relatório estatístico annual.* (2020). Available online at: https://www.om.acm.gov.pt/ (accessed January 20, 2022).

30. Shadmi E, Chen Y, Dourado I, Faran-Perach I, Furler J, Hangoma P, et al. Health equity and COVID-19: global perspectives. *Int J Equity Health.* (2020) 19:1–16. doi: 10.1186/s12939-020-01218-z

31. Eurostat. *Gross Domestic Product*. Available online at: https://ec.europa.eu/ eurostat/databrowser/view/TEINA011__custom_2821957/default/table?lang=en (accessed May 20, 2022).

32. Thomson Reuters Corporation. *Nearly Half of Portuguese Hotels Temporarily Shut Due to COVID-19.* (2020). Available online at: https://www.reuters.com/article/health-coronavirus-portugal-tourism-idUKKBN28J2KE (accessed December 9, 2020).

33. The Portugal News. *Hospitality Industry Expects Losses in the Billions*. (2020). Available online at: https://www.theportugalnews.com/news/hospitality-industry-expects-losses-in-the-billions/54469 (accessed December 20, 2021).

34. Platonova A, Urso G. Labour Market Inclusion of the Less Skilled Migrants in the European Union. Brussels: IOM (2012).

35. Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Herd E, Morrison J. Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review the Pandemic, Socioeconomic and Health Inequalities in England. London: Institute of Health Equity (2021).

36. Shaaban AN, Peleteiro B, Martins MRO. COVID-19: what is next for Portugal? Front Public Health. (2020) 2020:392. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00392

37. Hu Y. Intersecting ethnic and native-migrant inequalities in the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in the UK. *Res Soc Stratif Mobil.* (2020) 68:100528. doi: 10.1016/j.rssm.2020.100528

38. Jannot AS, Countouris H, Van Straaten A, Burgun A, Katsahian S, Rance B. Low-income neighbourhood was a key determinant of severe COVID-19 incidence during the first wave of the epidemic in Paris. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2021) 75:1143–6. doi: 10.1136/jech-2020-216068

39. Chen JT, Krieger N. Revealing the unequal burden of COVID-19 by income, race/ethnicity, and household crowding: US county versus zip code analyses. *J Public Health Manag Practice*. (2021) 27:S43–56. doi: 10.1097/PHH.000000000001263

40. Prevention ECfD, Control. Health Inequalities, the Financial Crisis, and Infectious Disease in Europe. Stockholm: ECDC (2013).

41. Kentikelenis A, Karanikolos M, Williams G, Mladovsky P, King L, Pharris A, et al. How do economic crises affect migrants' risk of infectious disease? A systematic-narrative review. *Eur J Public Health.* (2015) 25:937–44. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckv151

42. Indseth T, Grøsland M, Arnesen T, Skyrud K, Kløvstad H, Lamprini V, et al. COVID-19 among immigrants in Norway, notified infections, related hospitalizations and associated mortality: a register-based study. *Scand J Public Health.* (2021) 49:48–56. doi: 10.1177/14034948209 84026

43. Fielding-Miller RK, Sundaram ME, Brouwer K. Social determinants of COVID-19 mortality at the county level. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0240151 doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0240151

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Echu Liu, Saint Louis University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Jitian Sheu, Chang Gung University, Taiwan Shih–Chuan Lin, Tamkang University, Taiwan Seongwon Choi, Trinity University, United States Ahreum Han, Trinity University, United States Mei–Ling Tung, Saint Louis University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Euna Han eunahan@yonsei.ac.kr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Health Policy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 17 April 2022 ACCEPTED 06 July 2022 PUBLISHED 03 August 2022

CITATION

Sohn M, Koo H, Choi H, Cho H and Han E (2022) Collateral impact of the COVID–19 pandemic on the use of healthcare resources among people with disabilities. *Front. Public Health* 10:922043. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.922043

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Sohn, Koo, Choi, Cho and Han. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Collateral impact of the COVID—19 pandemic on the use of healthcare resources among people with disabilities

Minjeong Sohn^{1†}, Heejo Koo^{1†}, Heekyoung Choi², Hyunsan Cho^{3,4} and Euna Han^{1*}

¹College of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmacy, Yonsei Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Yonsei University, Incheon, South Korea, ²Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Internal Medicine, National Health Insurance Service Ilsan Hospital, Goyang–si, South Korea, ³Institute of Human Genomic Study, Korea University Ansan Hospital, Ansan–si, South Korea, ⁴BK 21 Four R&E Center for Learning Health Systems, Korea University, Seoul, South Korea

Objective: We assessed the collateral impact of the COVID–19 pandemic on healthcare service use among people with disabilities.

Methods: We utilized the COVID–19 database from the Korean National Health Insurance Service claims from 2015 until June 2020. We included 5,850 people with disabilities and matched 5,850 without disabilities among those who were neither tested nor diagnosed with COVID–19. We used a quasi–experimental setting with a COVID–19 outbreak as an external event in a difference–difference estimation with matching controls.

Results: Participants with disabilities recorded a larger decrease in the number of claims for total services (2.1 claims per 5 months) upon the COVID–19 pandemic's onset compared to those without disabilities (1.6 claims), and the difference–in–difference estimates were statistically significant (0.46 claims). The decline was driven by outpatient and emergency visits. The extent of the decline was large for the severe disability group overall. By disability type, those with a physical disability showed a statistically significant decline in the number of claims.

Conclusion: The COVID-19 pandemic has had a collateral impact on people with disabilities' use of healthcare services. Continued assessment is needed regarding whether the collateral impact has been sustained or is following a different path.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, health services research, epidemiology, disability, healthcare use

Introduction

The novel SARS-CoV-2 and the disease COVID-19 were first reported in late 2019, and the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic on March 11, 2020 (1, 2). The number of confirmed cases worldwide surpassed 1 million on April 2, 2020, 3 months after the first case was detected in central China (3). There were 360 million confirmed cases as of January 2022 (4).

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused collateral damage to the healthcare system in many countries; for example, the use of inpatient services fell by almost one-half after the onset of the pandemic in the United States, not only for elective surgeries but also for acute illnesses, such as stroke, cirrhosis, and myocardial infarction (5-8). The use of necessary services, such as vaccination or cancer treatment, has also declined during the pandemic (9, 10). Non-COVID-19 admissions in the United States declined between 39.5% and 50.0%, being more pronounced in poor and ethnic minority neighborhoods (11). By service type, emergency service use showed the largest decrease, followed by outpatient visits (12, 13). The decline in healthcare use might be due to a lower incidence of disease and a consequent low mortality rate, as in previous economic recessions (14), but it might stem from fear of infection, reduction in access associated with lockdown, and the cancellation of some elective services (12).

Considerable attention has been paid to the collateral influence of the COVID-19 pandemic on various non-COVID health outcomes, such as suicide (15), mortality, and healthcare utilization (16). However, these studies have mostly focused on the general population of a nation or a region. People with disabilities represent approximately 15% of the global population. The COVID-19 pandemic is likely to pose more challenges for people with disabilities than for the general population (17), considering that they may have limited access to information and communication, misconceptions, or administrative difficulties due to disruptions in assistive services (18-21). These challenges may increase in difficulty as people with disabilities are likely to be socioeconomically vulnerable: they are less likely to be employed, be reemployed, and have job security (22); they have weaker social networks (21); and they have lower disposable income due to extra costs associated with their disability (23). Together, these conditions raise concerns about the decrease in healthcare service utilization that might not have been so acute otherwise.

Health disparities-defined as avoidable differences in health status or healthcare (24)-between people with disabilities and the general population are a key public health issue. People with disabilities have reported more physical and mental health issues (25) and lower satisfaction with healthcare services (26). Financial constraints, secondary to the disability itself (27), could also contribute to reduced healthcare service use during the COVID-19 pandemic. This declining healthcare service use could exacerbate health disparities. This study explores whether people with disabilities use healthcare services less overall following the outbreak of COVID-19 and whether any variation exists by disability type and severity. We used a quasi-experimental approach and examined the COVID-19 pandemic onset in an event-study framework; people without disabilities were matched to people with disabilities to establish causality in the average collateral impact of COVID-19 on healthcare utilization among the latter group.

Materials and methods

Study sample

We analyzed data from the South Korean National Health Insurance Service (NHIS) COVID-19 database (DB), a retrospective cohort that includes all COVID-19 patients and their matched controls. The NHIS is the only public health insurer to have all Koreans as compulsory beneficiaries and every healthcare provider as a mandatory participant. The NHIS claims data include both enrollees' insurance qualification information and insurance claims from healthcare providers. Disability type and severity are included in the qualification information. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Korean government publicly released the COVID-19 DB, which includes healthcare utilization data for 2020, covering medical claims from January 1, 2015, to July 31, 2020; this is the only publicly available dataset with healthcare use information from the COVID-19 pandemic period. The first diagnosis of COVID-19 in South Korea was made on January 8, 2020, so we considered 2020 as post-COVID-19 and all years up to 2019 as pre-COVID-19. Because the NHIS COVID-19 data were only compiled until July 2020, we used the 5-month data (from February to June) in each year from 2015 to 2020 for comparison.

The NHIS COVID-19 DB includes patients who were diagnosed with COVID-19 from January 1 to June 4, 2020, those who were tested for COVID-19 but not diagnosed; and those who were randomly selected to match the COVID-19 patients using a ratio of 1:15, matching by sex, age, and residential region. This study excluded COVID-19 patients and those tested for COVID-19 infection, noting that these groups might differ from the general population. The Korean government released a National Code of Conduct in March 2020 and ordered a mandatory quarantine for all confirmed cases and their close contacts, with the former being secluded in designated public hospitals with no out-of-pocket expenses (28). Therefore, we excluded the confirmed and tested cases in the study given that the healthcare use for the confirmed and test cases in the COVID-19 DB cannot be generalized, and our interest is to assess the collateral impact of the COVID-19 not the direct outcome of it.

Figure 1 presents the process of sample selection from the NHIS COVID-19 DB. Among the 351,377 individuals in the NHIS COVID DB, we identified those neither diagnosed nor tested for COVID-19 (n = 121,050) and classified them as disabled (n = 6,642) or nondisabled (n = 114,408). We matched the disabled and non-disabled groups using a 1:1 ratio, employing a propensity score matching method with age group, gender, and Charlson comorbidity index (CCI) as matching variables. Age was measured in 10-year intervals ranging from 0-9 years to 80 years or older. The CCI is a widely used composite indicator for comorbidities ranging between 0 (no



comorbidity overall) and 16 (the highest level of comorbidity) for 19 diseases, each of which is weighted from 1 to 6 by severity (29). We grouped the combined CCI scores into 0, 1, 2, and 3 or higher for this study. We used 2019 as the index year for the CCI calculation. After the matching process, data from 5,850 participants with disabilities and 5,850 participants without disabilities remained for the analysis.

Measures

The key independent variables were disability status, type, and severity. People with disabilities are required to register their physician's diagnosis with local governmental bodies to receive social welfare benefits (30). The insurance qualification database in the NHIS uses these registration data to compile disability information regarding type and severity, which is updated annually. We classified disabilities into the following categories: visual disability, hearing disability, physical disability, and others (including disability involving brain lesions; speech disability; intellectual disability; mental disorder; autistic disorder; kidney, cardiac, respiratory, or hepatic dysfunction; facial disfigurement; intestinal or urinary fistular; and epilepsy). We also used a binary classification for the presence of any disability. Disability severity is defined by the Enforcement Decree of the Act on Welfare of Persons with Disabilities, which has included two levels (mild or severe) since July 1, 2019, and included six levels (1 = most)severe to 6 = most mild) before that point (31). For data from years before 2019, we collapsed grades 1-3 into the severe group and grades 4-6 into the mild group.

The outcome variables were total healthcare utilization and utilization by service type, including inpatient, outpatient, and emergency services in the insurance claims. Healthcare service utilization was measured as the total number of claims and total medical expenditures.

The covariates included qualification type, residential region, and income level. A linear variable corresponding to each year was controlled as the time trend. The qualification of health insurance was provided as insured as an employee, self– employed, and medical aid. The qualification information is a proxy for occupational status in this study. The residence was categorized into five regions.

Analysis

We estimated a random–effects model in a difference–in– difference (DID) framework to assess COVID–19's impact on healthcare service utilization by disability status. This DID framework allowed us to compare COVID–19's effects on the dependent variables for the treatment group (people with disabilities) and the control group (people without disabilities), respectively, by controlling background changes in outcomes that occur with time (32). We used the following equation for the estimation:

$Y_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Disabled_i + \beta_2 Post_{it} + Disabled_i \times Post_{it} + \beta_4 X_{it} + \beta_5 Time_t + u_i + \varepsilon_{it}$

where *i* and *t* indicate each participant and each year, respectively. *Y* represents a series of dependent variables: healthcare utilization (medical expenditures and the number of claims) overall and by service type. If a specific service type was not used for a given observation, then the dependent variables were coded as zero. *Disabled* and *Post* are dummy variables denoting people with disabilities and the post-COVID-19 outbreak, respectively. *Time* is a linear variable that represents years, with 1 indicating the year 2015. *X* is a vector for the aforementioned confounding variables. u_i is a constant error component for each participant.

 $\beta_2 + \beta_3$ represents marginal changes in *Y* after the COVID-19 outbreak among people with disabilities compared to pre-outbreak. β_2 represents the marginal change in *Y* after the COVID-19 outbreak among people without disabilities compared to pre-outbreak. Therefore, β_3 is the DID estimate for the incremental change of *Y* after the COVID-19 outbreak among people with disabilities when the difference in *Y* between pre- and post-outbreak among people without disabilities is controlled.

We also estimated the DID after classifying disabilities as severe or mild as well as by disability type to assess variation in the COVID–19 outbreak's collateral impact by disability profile. All data extraction and statistical analyses were performed using SAS (version 9.4) and STATA (version 17).

10.3389/fpubh.2022.922043

Results

Table 1 shows the study participants' general characteristics. Almost two-thirds of participants with a disability (64.6%) had a mild disability. Physical disabilities accounted for approximately half (44.1%) of total disabilities. More than half of all participants (i.e., both groups) were aged 60 or older. There were more than four times as many medical aid recipients among participants with disabilities (18.9%) compared to those without disabilities (4.6%) (Table 1).

Figure 2 shows the unadjusted yearly trend of healthcare service utilization between 2015 and 2020 for participants with disabilities compared to controls. There was a decline of approximately 10% in the total number of claims during the COVID–19 pandemic compared to the previous 5 years. Further examination by service type indicated that this decline at the beginning of the COVID–19 pandemic occurred mainly with respect to outpatient and emergency services, whereas the level of inpatient service utilization remained stable. There were also nearly parallel trends concerning total healthcare service utilization between participants with disabilities and the corresponding controls before the COVID–19 outbreak, which supports the DID framework's validity.

Dividing participants with disabilities into two groups by severity also uncovered an immediate decline in the number of claims at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, with a larger decline for those with a mild disability compared to those with a severe disability. However, for emergency services, a sharper decrease was found among patients with severe disabilities than those with mild disabilities (Supplementary Figure 1). The yearly trends in healthcare service use by disability type also showed an approximately 10% decline in the number of claims for total, outpatient, and emergency services upon the outbreak across all disability types (Supplementary Figure 2).

Table 2 shows the results of the multivariate random-effects event analysis. To increase the analyses' efficiency within the sample, we estimated the average DID specifications for the aggregated pre-pandemic years. Participants with disabilities were estimated to have a larger decline in total healthcare service use (number of claims) upon the COVID-19 pandemic's onset compared to those without disabilities (2.1 vs. 1.6 claims per 5 months, respectively), and the difference-in-difference (0.46 claims) was statistically significant. Analyses by service type confirmed that this decline in the number of claims was driven by outpatient and emergency service use, as the DID estimate for each showed decreases of 0.56 and 0.01 claims per 5 months, respectively. Participants with disabilities also had a larger decline in medical expenditures after the outbreak compared to those without disabilities with respect to outpatient services (by KRW 69,224 and 39,501, respectively; 1 USD is approximately

TABLE 1 Summary statistics.

Total	People without disabilities N (%)	People with disabilities N (%)		
	5,850 (100.00)	5,850 (100.00)		
Severity of disability				
Severe	-	2,070 (35.4)		
Mild	-	3,780 (64.6)		
Disability type				
Physical	-	2,579 (44.1)		
Visual	-	580 (9.9)		
Hearing	-	947 (16.2)		
Other	-	1,744 (29.8)		
Gender				
Male	2,903 (49.6)	2,773 (47.4)		
Female	2,947 (50.4)	3,077 (52.6)		
Age group (years)				
0~9	14 (0.2)	14 (0.2)		
10~19	44 (0.8)	44 (0.8)		
20~29	433 (7.4)	435 (7.4)		
30~39	218 (3.7)	221 (3.8)		
40~49	397 (6.8)	405 (6.9)		
50~59	1,094 (18.7)	1,112 (19.0)		
60~69	1,703 (29.1)	1,459 (24.9)		
70~79	1,291 (22.1)	1,197 (20.5)		
80 or older	656 (11.2)	963 (16.5)		
Charlson comorbidity index				
0	3,421 (58.5)	3,466 (59.3)		
1	1,280 (21.9)	1,475 (25.2)		
2	753 (12.8)	610 (10.4)		
3 or higher	396 (6.8)	299 (5.1)		
Qualification				
Self-employed	1,659 (28.4)	1,379 (23.6)		
Salaried	3,920 (67.0)	3,361 (57.4)		
Medical aid	271 (4.6)	1,110 (18.9)		
Region				
Seoul	315 (5.4)	259 (4.4)		
Kyunggi	3,840 (65.6)	3,850 (65.8)		
Daegu	304 (5.2)	262 (4.5)		
Kyungbook	872 (14.9)	940 (16.1)		
Other	519 (8.9)	539 (9.2)		

KRW 1,200) and emergency services (by KRW 42,102 and 39,061, respectively); however, the difference-in-differences in medical expenditures were not statistically significant for either service type.

Table 3 shows the estimation results in relation to disability severity. Overall, participants with severe disabilities were



TABLE 2 Multivariate random–effects regression of the incremental change in healthcare service utilization in the early COVID–19 pandemic compared to pre–pandemic for people with disabilities, controlling for the parallel difference among people without disabilities^d.

Service type	Expenditure ^a (N = 11,700)		P-value	Number of claims ^a $(N = 11,700)$		<i>P</i> -value
	b	(Standard error)		Ь	(Standard error)	
Total ^b						
COVID-19 onset	-28,074	(46,796)	0.54	-1.6357	(0.1220)	< 0.00
Disability	861,515	(67,474)	< 0.00	2.7963	(0.2431)	< 0.00
Disability \times COVID-19 onset	-45,109	(66,179)	0.49	-0.4643	(0.1725)	0.00
Change between pre- and post-COVID-19 among nondisabled	-28,074	(46,796)	0.54	-1.6357	(0.1220)	< 0.00
Change between pre- and post-COVID-19 among disabled	-73,183	(46,385)	0.11	-2.1000	(0.1320)	< 0.00
Outpatient ^{b,c}						
COVID-19 onset	-39,501	(13,665)	0.00	-1.8152	(0.1195)	< 0.00
Disability	277,607	(30,157)	< 0.00	2.5311	(0.1976)	< 0.00
Disability \times COVID-19 onset	-29,723	(19,326)	0.12	-0.5612	(0.1494)	0.00
Change between pre- and post-COVID-19 among nondisabled before	-39,501	(13,665)	0.00	-1.8152	(0.1195)	< 0.00
Change between pre- and post-COVID-19 among disabled	-69,224	(13,085)	< 0.00	-2.3764	(0.1185)	< 0.00
Inpatient ^{b,c}						
COVID-19 onset	11,427	(44,383)	0.79	-0.0128	(0.0148)	0.38
Disability	557,402	(59,677)	< 0.00	0.2143	(0.0216)	< 0.00
Disability \times COVID-19 onset	-7,660	(62,767)	0.90	0.0104	(0.0210)	0.62
Change between pre- and post-COVID-19 among nondisabled before	11,427	(44,383)	0.79	-0.0128	(0.0168)	0.38
Change between pre- and post-COVID-19 among disabled	3,767	(44,834)	0.93	-0.0023	(0.0148)	0.87
Emergency ^{b,c}						
COVID-19 onset	-39,061	(19,463)	0.04	-0.0051	(0.0044)	0.24
Disability	53,257	(8,063)	< 0.00	0.0245	(0.0054)	< 0.00
Disability \times COVID-19 onset	-3,041	(21,780)	0.88	-0.0104	(0.0067)	0.09
Change between pre- and post-COVID-19 among nondisabled before	-39,061	(19,463)	0.04	-0.0051	(0.0064)	0.24
Change between pre- and post-COVID-19 among disabled	-42,102	(19,435)	0.03	-0.0155	(0.0044)	0.00

^aNumber of individuals with disabilities and 1:1 matched control.

^bControlled for gender, age group, residential region, insurance qualification, and Charlson comorbidity index.

^cFor each service type, no corresponding service use was coded as zero.

^dStatistically significant results at the 5% level are presented in bold.

^eThe covariates included qualification type, residential region, and income level. A linear variable corresponding to each year was controlled as the time trend.

^fDuring the study period (January 1, 2015–July 31, 2020), USD 1 was equivalent to KRW between 1,065.67 and 1,210.80.

estimated to have a larger decrease in healthcare service utilization compared to those with mild disabilities. Among participants with severe disabilities, total medical expenditures upon the onset of the COVID–19 pandemic were estimated to decline by KRW 91,534 for 5 months relative to the pre–COVID–19 period, controlling for the corresponding difference among participants without disabilities. Total medical expenditure for emergency services was also estimated to decline following the outbreak, with decreases being larger for those with severe disability relative to those with mild disability: KRW 132,054 vs. 61,340 for emergency services, respectively.

There were different healthcare service utilization outcomes by disability severity in terms of the number of claims. Participants with mild disabilities showed a decline in the number of claims for total and outpatient services (by 0.6383 and 0.6066 per 5 months per year, respectively) compared to the pre-COVID-19 period, controlling for the corresponding difference among those without disabilities. For emergency services, only participants with severe disabilities had a lower number of claims (by 0.0371 per 5 months per year) compared to the pre-COVID-19 period, controlling for the corresponding difference among those without disabilities (Table 3, right panel).

Finally, participants with physical disabilities showed a significantly different change in the number of claims compared to those with other disabilities. Participants with physical disabilities showed a decline in the number of claims for total and outpatient services (by 0.5785 and 0.5541 per 5 months per year, respectively) upon the onset of the pandemic, controlling for the pre-post difference among those without disabilities (Table 4).

TABLE 3 Multivariate random effect regression of the incremental change in healthcare service utilization in early COVID–19 pandemic compared to pre-pandemic period for people with mild and severe disabilities compared to those without disabilities^d.

Service type	Expenditures ^a (<i>N</i> = 11,700)	P-value	Number of claims ^a (<i>N</i> = 11,700)	P-value
	b		b	
	(Standard Error)		(Standard Error)	
Total ^b				
Severe disability \times COVID-19 onset	-91,534	0.02	-0.6066	0.02
	(42,552)		(0.2631)	
Mild disability \times COVID-19 onset	-74,692	0.17	-0.6383	0.00
	(46,510)		(0.2147)	
Inpatient services ^{b,c}				
Severe disability \times COVID-19 onset	-56,745	0.53	0.0009	0.97
	(91,096)		(0.0314)	
Mild disability \times COVID-19 onset	-66,926	0.36	-0.0242	0.34
	(74,335)		(0.0256)	
Outpatient services ^{b,c}				
Severe disability \times COVID-19 onset	-33,542	0.17	-0.3728	0.14
	(29,508)		(0.2575)	
Mild disability \times COVID-19 onset	-27,631	0.08	-0.6006	0.00
	(15,789)		(0.2101)	
Emergency visit ^{b,c}				
Severe disability \times COVID-19 onset	-132,054	0.00	-0.0371	< 0.00
	(44,606)		(0.0086)	
Mild disability \times COVID-19 onset	-61,340	0.09	-0.0074	0.29
	(36,398)		(0.0070)	

^aNumber of individuals with disabilities and 1:1 matched control.

^bControlled for gender, age group, residential region, insurance qualification, and Charlson comorbidity index.

^cFor each service type, no corresponding service use was coded as zero.

^dStatistically significant results at the 5% level are presented in bold.

^eThe covariates included qualification type, residential region, and income level. A linear variable corresponding to each year was controlled as the time trend.

Discussion

The study revealed significantly larger decreases in healthcare service use overall and for outpatient and emergency services, particularly upon the onset of the COVID-19 outbreak among people with disabilities compared to those without disabilities. The study further showed that the severe disability group had a larger decline in medical expenditures compared to the mild disability group, with these declines being driven by emergency service use. The number of claims was estimated to decline for overall and outpatient services in the mild disability group but emergency services in the severe disability group.

Although our findings do not account for the underlying mechanisms driving such differences, they at least highlight the need for continuous scrutiny. People with disabilities confront more challenges in situations such as the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, non-transparent masks hinder communication for people with hearing disabilities (19). Studies have also reported substantial interruption of medical follow-up and rehabilitation

during the lockdown for people with physical disabilities (33). Healthcare service disruption during the COVID-19 epidemic among people with disabilities and such disruption for chronic health conditions was also reported even in a sample with relatively higher socioeconomic status in the United States (34). Other than these administrative issues related to the pandemic, people with disabilities are more vulnerable to COVID-19 given their socioeconomic characteristics (35), which may impede the timely use of healthcare services. Social distancing during the pandemic has also led to restricted access to social welfare assistance for people with disabilities, which in turn may have reduced their utilization of routine healthcare services (17). People with disabilities are consequently likely to face increased marginalization in both routine and preventive care amid the pandemic. Thus, COVID-19's collateral impact on overall healthcare utilization could be stronger among people with disabilities. The decrease in the use of emergency services among people with severe disabilities could imply an interruption in healthcare services for those who require them most. Simultaneously, people with even mild disabilities must still be TABLE 4 Multivariate random–effects regression of the incremental change in healthcare service utilization in early COVID–19 pandemic compared to pre–pandemic period by disability type⁴.

Disability subgroup	Expenditures		P-value	Nur	P-value	
	b	(Standard error)		b	(Standard error)	
Physical disability ^{a,b,c} ($N = 5,158$)						
Total						
Disabled \times COVID-19 onset	-28,261	(80,643)	0.72	-0.5785	(0.2535)	0.02
Inpatient						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-4,276	(74,688)	0.95	-0.0248	(0.0258)	0.33
Outpatient						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-24,041	(22,011)	0.27	-0.5541	(0.2497)	0.02
Emergency						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-15,550	(37,404)	0.67	-0.0031	(0.0087)	0.72
Visual disability ^{a,b,c} (N = 1,160)						
Total						
Disabled \times COVID-19 onset	-103,720	(182,940)	0.57	0.0810	(0.5401)	0.88
Inpatient						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-63,603	(168,167)	0.70	0.0275	(0.0371)	0.45
Outpatient						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-40,369	(51,711)	0.43	0.0517	(0.5368)	0.92
Emergency						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-62,009	(61,400)	0.31	-0.0069	(0.0152)	0.65
Hearing disability ^{a,b,c} ($N = 1,894$)						
Total						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	67,211	(149,744)	0.65	-0.3062	(0.4203)	0.46
Inpatient						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	81,942	(143,871)	0.56	0.0063	(0.0464)	0.89
Outpatient						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-14,731	(31,113)	0.63	-0.3126	(0.4150)	0.45
Emergency						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-39,244	(69,719)	0.57	0.0105	(0.0139)	0.44
Other disabilities ^{a,b,c} ($N = 3,488$)						
Total						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-111,523	(157,208)	0.47	-0.5625	(0.3314)	0.08
Inpatient						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-42,713	(151,267)	0.77	0.0590	(0.0522)	0.25
Outpatient						
Disabled × COVID-19 onset	-42,726	(50,597)	0.39	-0.4931	(0.3195)	0.12
Emergency						
Disabled \times COVID-19 onset	-2,140	(57,589)	0.97	-0.0338	(0.0138)	0.01

^aNumber of individuals with each disability type and 1:1 matched control.

^bControlled for gender, age group, residential region, insurance qualification, and Charlson comorbidity index.

^cFor each service type, no corresponding service use was coded as zero.

^dStatistically significant results at the 5% level are presented in bold.

e The covariates included qualification type, residential region, and income level. A linear variable corresponding to each year was controlled as the time trend.

considered in public strategies to protect this demographic in social crises such as the COVID-19 outbreak (20, 21).

We estimated that the incremental decrease in the number of claims for overall healthcare services upon the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic was statistically significant among people with physical disabilities. There has been relatively few research on COVID-19's effect on people with disabilities (not to mention in terms of disability type) despite the significant attention paid to COVID-19's overall collateral impact (18). For example, a cross-sectional study including many US HMO patients reported that intellectual disability was the greatest risk factor for COVID-19 diagnosis and

mortality (36). Two other studies investigating people with intellectual or developmental disabilities reported similar results regarding the COVID-19 fatality (37, 38). With people with disabilities' increased overall vulnerability during the pandemic, studies have also reported that certain disabled populations, such as those with visual or hearing impairments, may be less susceptible than others requiring routine medical follow-up and rehabilitation, such as those with physical or neurological disabilities (18, 39). Studies have suggested potential problems among people with hearing or visual impairments (40-43), although some studies do not provide supportive empirical evidence (42, 43). These arguments highlight the urgent need for data-informed strategies that address the heterogeneity in COVID-19's collateral impact due to disability characteristics. Researchers should pay close attention to people with disabilities when assessing any interruption of healthcare use during the pandemic, and more specific interventions targeting people with disabilities are required.

We acknowledge that this study has several limitations. First, some information is not present in insurance claims data because these data are originally collected administratively for reimbursement purposes. For example, in place of socioeconomic status, we were forced to substitute health insurance premium level, which is approximately proportionate to household incomes and assets, and qualification information for occupational status. We also note that the unit of analysis is claims per person rather than individual visits. Second, outpatient drug costs are not available in the COVID-19 DB. Third, we extracted the disabled and non-disabled groups from those who were neither tested for nor diagnosed with COVID-19 in the database. Nevertheless, this was the only database available in South Korea that included insurance claims during the COVID-19 outbreak.

Despite some caveats, this study has several merits. A recent study in Korea estimated that people with disabilities had higher risks of major adverse outcomes from COVID-19, including admission to the intensive care unit, invasive ventilation, and mortality (44). However, the researchers focused on confirmed COVID-19 patients to assess clinical outcomes among people with disabilities. Our study expands the investigation into the pandemic's spillover effect on people with disabilities in terms of healthcare service utilization. First, the national representativeness of the data is indisputable. We explored insurance claims data from the NHIS, to which every citizen in Korea is a mandatory subscriber and every medical provider is an obligatory participant. Second, the use of a quasiexperimental setting that exploited COVID-19 onset in an event-study framework is another merit of our study. We established the pandemic's causality by controlling for parallel pre-pandemic healthcare service use with a matched nondisabled group. Third, we identified heterogeneity in the pandemic's collateral effects in terms of disability severity and

type. Additionally, we explored not only total healthcare service use but also use by service type.

Given the data's limited availability, we assessed only the immediate impact of the COVID–19 outbreak on healthcare service utilization. Whether this short-term impact will be sustained or follow a different path should be assessed further after the additional accumulation of data. Additionally, longterm studies should use more specific service characteristics for assessment—including preventive healthcare or targeted services, such as rehabilitation or assistive care—to enable more purposeful responses to similar future shocks for people with disabilities. Future studies also need to assess whether there are variations in the collateral impact of the COVID–19 pandemic on people with disabilities by socioeconomic or demographic characteristics as well as other disability profiles such as disability duration or types uninvestigated in this study.

Our findings have important implications for people with disabilities and the continuity of their care. People with disabilities used healthcare services (outpatient and emergency services, particularly) less frequently during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic relative to people without disabilities. Whether such declines stem from exacerbated access disparities during the COVID-19 outbreak and newly created disparities in health outcomes should be assessed in future work.

Data availability statement

Publicly available datasets analyzed were this study. This data can be found here: in https://nhiss.nhis.or.kr/bd/ab/bdaba000eng.do;jsessionid=EdTi A5aI1e1JP24bLXzVxDO7AasuZvIoWYvEa1306FNRmmHU75 Yx2DamU4FI8L4U.primrose2_servlet_engine10.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Yonsei Institute Review Board (7001988–202010–HR–1005–01E). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

EH conceptualized the study, designed methodology, and prepared original draft. MS wrote original draft. HK curated data, wrote original draft preparation and contributed visualization of the results. HC and HyC reviewed and revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Funding provided the National bv was Research Foundation of Korea (Grant no. 2022R1A2B5B0100125311) and the National Evidence-Based Healthcare Collaborating Agency (Grant no. HC20C0010).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.922043/full#supplementary-material

References

1. World Health Organization. Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV): Situation Report-11. World Health Organization (2020).

2. World Health Organization. *Statement on the Second Meeting of the International Health Regulations*. (2005) Emergency Committee Regarding the Outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (2019-Ncov). (2020).

3. BBC. Coronavirus: Confirmed Global Cases Pass One Million. (2020). Available online at: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-52144390 (accessed 19 July 2022).

4. World Health Organization. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. Available online at: https://covid19.who.int/ (accessed July 19, 2022).

5. De Rosa S, Spaccarotella C, Basso C, Calabrò MP, Curcio A, Filardi PP, et al. Reduction of Hospitalizations for Myocardial Infarction in Italy in the Covid-19 Era. *Eur Heart J.* (2020) 41:2083–8. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa409

6. Mahmud N, Hubbard RA, Kaplan DE, Serper M. Declining Cirrhosis hospitalizations in the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic: a national cohort study. *Gastroenterology.* (2020) 159:1134–6.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.005

7. Siegler JE, Heslin ME, Thau L, Smith A, Jovin TG. Falling stroke rates during Covid-19 pandemic at a comprehensive stroke center. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis.* (2020) 29:104953. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2020.104953

8. Solomon MD, McNulty EJ, Rana JS, Leong TK, Lee C, Sung SH, et al. The Covid-19 Pandemic and the incidence of acute myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:691–3. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2015630

9. McDonald HI, Tessier E, White JM, Woodruff M, Knowles C, Bates C, et al. Early impact of the Coronavirus Disease (Covid-19) pandemic and physical distancing measures on routine Childhood Vaccinations in England, january to april 2020. *Euro Surveill.* (2020) 25:848. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.19.2000848

10. Maringe C, Spicer J, Morris M, Purushotham A, Nolte E, Sullivan R, et al. The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on cancer deaths due to delays in diagnosis in England, UK: a national, population-based, modelling study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2020) 21:1023–34. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30388-0

11. Birkmeyer JD, Barnato A, Birkmeyer N, Bessler R, Skinner J. The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on hospital admissions in the United States. *Health Aff (Millwood).* (2020) 39:2010–7. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00980

12. Moynihan R, Sanders S, Michaleff ZA, Scott AM, Clark J, To EJ, et al. Impact of Covid-19 pandemic on utilisation of healthcare services: a systematic review. *BMJ Open*. (2021) 11:e045343. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045343

13. Feral-Pierssens AL, Claret PG, Chouihed T. Collateral damage of the Covid-19 outbreak: expression of concern. *Eur J Emerg Med.* (2020) 27:233–4. doi: 10.1097/MEJ.000000000000717

14. Ruhm C. Are recessions good for your health? Q J Econ. (2000) 115:617– 50. doi: 10.1162/003355300554872

15. Kawohl W, Nordt C. Covid-19, unemployment, and suicide. Lancet Psychiatry. (2020) 7:389-90. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30141-3

16. Ji Y, Ma Z, Peppelenbosch MP, Pan Q. Potential association between Covid-19 mortality and health-care resource availability. *Lancet Glob Health.* (2020) 8:e480. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30068-1

17. Shakespeare T, Ndagire F, Seketi QE. Triple jeopardy: disabled people and the Covid-19 pandemic. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:1331–3. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00625-5

18. Lebrasseur A, Fortin-Bédard N, Lettre J, Bussières EL, Best K, Boucher N, et al. Impact of Covid-19 on people with physical disabilities: a rapid review. *Disabil Health J.* (2021) 14:101014. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2020.101014

19. Sabatello M, Burke TB, McDonald KE, Appelbaum PS. Disability, ethics, and health care in the Covid-19 pandemic. *Am J Public Health.* (2020) 110:1523–7. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305837

20. Banks LM, Davey C, Shakespeare T, Kuper H. Disability-Inclusive responses to Covid-19: lessons learnt from research on social protection in low- and middle-income countries. *World Dev.* (2021) 137:105178. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105178

21. Banks LM, Mearkle R, Mactaggart I, Walsham M, Kuper H, Blanchet K. Disability and social protection programmes in low- and middleincome countries: a systematic review. Oxford Develop Stud. (2017) 45:223-39. doi: 10.1080/13600818.2016.1142960

22. World Health Organization. World Report on Disability. World Health Organization (2011).

23. Mitra S, Palmer M, Kim H, Mont D, Groce N. Extra costs of living with a disability: a review and agenda for research. *Disabil Health J.* (2017) 10:475-84. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2017.04.007

24. Goode TD, Carter-Pokras OD, Horner-Johnson W, Yee S. Parallel tracks: reflections on the need for collaborative health disparities research on race/ethnicity and disability. *Med Care.* (2014) 52(10 Suppl. 3):S3-8. doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000201

25. Jones GC, Sinclair LB. Multiple health disparities among minority adults with mobility limitations: san application of the Icf framework and codes. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2008) 30:901–15. doi: 10.1080/0963828070 1800392

26. Pandey AS, Daou BJ, Tsai JP, Zaidi SF, Salahuddin H, Gemmete JJ, et al. Letter: Covid-19 pandemic-the bystander effect on stroke care in Michigan. *Neurosurgery.* (2020) 87:E397-e9. doi: 10.1093/neuros/ nyaa252

27. Sharby N, Martire K, Iversen MD. Decreasing health disparities for people with disabilities through improved communication strategies and awareness. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2015). 12::3301–16. doi: 10.3390/ijerph120303301

28. Administration USFaD. South Korea's Response to Covid-19. In: Administration USFaD, editor. Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/coronavirus-covid-19-and-medical-devices/south-koreas-responsecovid-19(2021) (accessed July 19, 2022). 29. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. *J Chronic Dis.* (1987) 40:373–83. doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8

30. Kim SH, Lee YH, Oh WC. Survey of Persons with Disabilities 2017. (2017). Available online at: http://www.mohw.go.kr/react/jb/sjb030301vw.jsp? PAR_MENU_ID=03&MENU_ID=032901&CONT_SEQ=345972 (accessed July 19, 2022).

31. Enforcement Decree of the Act on Guarantee of Convenience Promotion for the Disabled, Elderly, Pregnant, etc. 2022 Jul 1 (Republic of Korea). Available online at: https://www.law.go.kr/LSW/admRulLsInfoP.do?admRulSeq= 2100000212804 (accessed July 19, 2022).

32. Dimick JB, Ryan AM. Methods for evaluating changes in health care policy: the difference-in-differences approach. *JAMA*. (2014) 312:2401–2. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.16153

33. Cacioppo M, Bouvier S, Bailly R, Houx L, Lempereur M, Mensah-Gourmel J, et al. Emerging health challenges for children with physical disabilities and their parents during the Covid-19 pandemic: the echo french survey. *Ann Phys Rehabil Med.* (2021) 64:101429. doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2020.08.001

34. Schwartz AE, Munsell EGS, Schmidt EK, Colón-Semenza C, Carolan K, Gassner DL. Impact of Covid-19 on services for people with disabilities and chronic health conditions. *Disabil Health J.* (2021) 14:101090. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2021.101090

35. Krahn GL, Walker DK, Correa-De-Araujo R. Persons with disabilities as an unrecognized health disparity population. *Am J Public Health.* (2015) 105:S198–206. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2014. 302182

36. Gleason J, Ross W, Fossi A, Blonsky H, Tobias J, Stephens M. The devastating impact of covid-19 on individuals with intellectual disabilities in the United States. *NEJM Catalyst.* (2021) 2. Available online at: https://catalyst.nejm.org/doi/full/10. 1056/CAT.21.0051 (accessed July 19, 2022).

37. Landes SD, Turk MA, Formica MK, McDonald KE, Stevens JD. Covid-19 outcomes among people with intellectual and developmental disability living in residential group homes in New York State. *Disabil Health J.* (2020) 13:100969. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2020.100969

38. Landes SD, Turk MA, Wong A. Covid-19 outcomes among people with intellectual and developmental disability in California: the importance of type of residence and skilled nursing care needs. *Disabil Health J.* (2021) 14:101051. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2020.101051

39. Gignac MAM, Shahidi FV, Jetha A, Kristman V, Bowring J, Cameron JI, et al. Impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on health, financial worries, and perceived organizational support among people living with disabilities in Canada. *Disabil Health J.* (2021) 14:101161. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2021. 101161

40. Rosenblum LP. Unprecedented times call for unprecedented collaboration: how two Covid-19 surveys were created with input from across the field of visual impairment to analyze the needs of adults, students, teachers, and orientation and mobility practitioners. *J Vis Impair Blind.* (2020) 114:237–9. doi: 10.1177/0145482X209 27129

41. Senjam SS. Impact of Covid-19 pandemic on people living with visual disability. *Indian J Ophthalmol.* (2020) 68:1367–70. doi: 10.4103/ijo.IJO_1513_20

42. Goggin G, Ellis K. Disability, communication, and life itself in the Covid-19 pandemic. *Health Sociol Rev.* (2020) 29:168– 76. doi: 10.1080/14461242.2020.1784020

43. Recio-Barbero M, Sáenz-Herrero M, Segarra R. Deafness and mental health: clinical challenges during the Covid-19 pandemic. *Psychol Trauma*. (2020) 12:S212–s3. doi: 10.1037/tra0000729

44. Choi JW, Han E, Lee SG, Shin J, Kim TH. Risk of Covid-19 and major adverse clinical outcomes among people with disabilities in South Korea. *Disabil Health* J. (2021) 14:101127. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2021.101127

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Zhaohui Su, Southeast University, China

REVIEWED BY Tiantian Zhang, Fudan University, China Shudi Li, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Cary Wu carywu@yorku.ca Yue Qian yue.qian@ubc.ca

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 05 May 2022 ACCEPTED 18 July 2022 PUBLISHED 09 August 2022

CITATION

Wu C and Qian Y (2022) The gender peak effect: Women are most vulnerable to infections during COVID-19 peaks. *Front. Public Health* 10:937179. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.937179

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wu and Qian. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The gender peak effect: Women are most vulnerable to infections during COVID-19 peaks

Cary Wu D 1*t and Yue Qian D 2*t

¹Department of Sociology, Faculty of Liberal Arts and Professional Studies, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada, ²Department of Sociology, Faculty of Arts, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

In this article, we describe a gender peak effect that women's relative share in COVID-19 infections increases when there is a sharp increase in cases, and it reaches the highest level during peak times in each wave of the COVID-19 outbreak. We demonstrate this gender peak effect by analyzing detailed, sex-disaggregated Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) data. The data include 1,045,998 men and women who were confirmed cases of COVID-19 from March 2020 to February 2022. We show that women's relative share in COVID-19 infections always increases and reaches the level exceeding men's share when we see a sharp peak in case number. We further show that women's higher share in care work (e.g., captured by occupation and age variables) largely explains their elevated infections during COVID-19 peaks. Effective public health interventions during infectious disease outbreaks must recognize this potential gender peak effect and take appropriate measures to curb women's health vulnerabilities.

KEYWORDS

gender, COVID-19 peaks, care work, Canada, infection

Introduction

Success in public health requires effective and equitable responses to disease outbreaks. A fundamental key to achieving such responses lies in pinpointing how people are unequally affected (1). In particular, women and men often fare differently in disease outbreaks. This is due to both biological sex features and socially constructed gendered responsibilities (2). The present COVID-19 pandemic is no exception (1, 3). A consistent pattern documented in almost all countries with sex-disaggregated data is that, if infected with COVID-19, men experience a higher risk of severe illness and death, compared with similarly-aged women (3–9). Scholars suggest that men's higher severity and mortality of COVID-19 are more likely due to biological sex differences (e.g., sex-based immune responses), although gender differences in health behaviors (e.g., smoking) and pre-existing conditions (e.g., diabetes, hypertension) could also play an important role (1, 3, 4, 8, 10).

By contrast, research on the overall difference in COVID-19 infections between men and women has reported mixed findings (5, 8, 9, 11–13). Still, two specific empirical findings seem consistent. First, differences in infection rates are age-dependent: women show higher infection rates than men in prime working ages but the reverse is true in young or retirement ages (14). Second, women's higher representation in health- and care-related occupations explains a large portion of the differences in infection rates between women and men (5, 14). These findings suggest that the differences in susceptibility to COVID-19 infection between men and women are primarily a result of gendered work-family responsibilities that place women at the forefront of the pandemic (1, 3, 5).

Two years into the COVID-19 pandemic, there have been ebbs and flows of cases, but little is known about how gendered health impacts vary over the course of the pandemic. In this study, we seek to demonstrate that gender differences in infection rates are also time-dependent. Most notably, when there is a sharp increase in COVID-19 cases, women's infection rate increases disproportionately to exceed that of men.

There are two main reasons why women are most vulnerable to infection during COVID-19 peaks. First, given the infectious nature of COVID-19, women's predominant roles as caregivers within families and as frontline health care and community workers expose them to a high risk of infection (1, 3, 5). In the workforce of almost all countries, women represent the majority of frontline workers in health care and other essential high-contact jobs (2, 15). At home, women shoulder the majority of care work, including caring for not only children but also sick family members (3, 16). Caregiving demands from families and workplaces are likely intensified during COVID-19 peaks, thereby leading to a greater infection risk for women than for men.

Second, disease outbreaks, especially during peak times, often exacerbate pre-existing gender inequalities, which in turn exposes women to a high risk of infection (17). Pre-existing gender inequalities include, for example, women's disadvantage relative to men in access to support services, health care, medical treatments, and economic opportunities, which are often amplified during disruptive times when resources are much scarcer (18). Pre-existing occupational gender segregation and insufficient financial resources may compel women essential workers to continue performing on-site, high-contact jobs (15), which places them at elevated risk of infection especially when COVID-19 cases are rapidly rising. On the policy level, women's underrepresentation in leadership positions means that they wield little influence over the decision-making on outbreak responses (1, 19). As a result, women's needs are largely unmet (18), leaving them more vulnerable than men in times of peaked turbulence.

Taken together, we expect that, across major waves of outbreak in the pandemic, the share of women in COVID-19 infections increases as the number of confirmed cases rises, and it likely peaks when case number peaks. Further, we expect that women's higher share in care work largely explains their elevated infections during peak times.

Methods

We use detailed Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) data on confirmed cases of COVID-19. The current dataset (Release date: 11-02-2022) records a total of 1,048,575 people in Canada who tested positive for COVID-19 from 15 January of 2020 to 8 February of 2022. The dataset is a subset of the total counts reported by the health authorities across Canada since it only accounts for those where a detailed case report was provided by the provincial or territorial jurisdiction to the PHAC. The data include information on each confirmed case's episode time (week and year) and demographic characteristics such as gender, occupation, and age group. The 1,048,575 cases consist of 500,526 men (47.7%), 545,472 women (52.2%), and 2,577 case with gender "not stated" (0.25%). Our analyses in this article only include confirmed cases of women and men. Population estimates from Statistics Canada report that the resident population of Canada was 38,246,108 including 18,238,276 women (50.3%) and 19,007,832 men (49.7%), as of September 2021 (Statistics Canada 2021). Table 1 provides the summary statistics of key variables, overall and by gender groups.

Results

Figure 1 visualizes the gender distribution of COVID-19 infections by age group (Figure 1A) and occupation (Figure 1B). Two empirical patterns are clear. First, gender differences in infections are age-dependent. Among the prime working-age population (20-59 years), women account for a higher share of confirmed COVID-19 cases (i.e., infections) than men, whereas the reverse is true in younger age groups (0-19 years) and older age groups (60-69 years). Women's higher share in the age group of 80 or older is likely due to their longer life expectancy (14). Second, gender differences in infections change across occupational categories. The share of women in confirmed cases is much higher among health care workers, school or daycare workers/attendees, and long-term care residents, whereas in "other" and "not stated" occupational categories, women and men share equal representation. These patterns are consistent with previous research (14).

To provide further support that working-age women are particularly vulnerable, Figure 2 compares the share of women among COVID-19 cases and the share of women among the general population across age groups. Among the young age group (0–19), the share of women among COVID-19 cases is identical to the share of women among the general population. This changes among the prime working-age groups (20–59 years): the share of women is about 4–5 percent point higher among the COVID-19 cases than among the general population. In older age groups (60–79 years), the share of women among infected cases becomes 2–3 percent point lower than the share TABLE 1 Summary statistics of key variables in analysis overall and by gender groups.

	Overall	Men	Women	
	(n = 1,048,575)	(n = 500, 526)	(n = 545, 472)	
pisode year				
2020	0.211	0.213	0.209	
2021	0.593	0.611	0.577	
2022	0.193	0.172	0.211	
Not stated	0.003	0.003	0.003	
Region				
Atlantic	0.011	0.011	0.011	
Quebec	0.285	0.277	0.294	
Ontario and Nunavut	0.350	0.351	0.347	
Prairies the Northwest Territories	0.245	0.250	0.241	
British Columbia and Yukon	0.109	0.112	0.106	
Age group				
0 to 19 years	0.203	0.216	0.191	
20 to 29 years	0.195	0.193	0.197	
30 to 39 years	0.175	0.171	0.179	
40 to 49 years	0.150	0.144	0.156	
50 to 59 years	0.123	0.124	0.121	
60 to 69 years	0.074	0.079	0.069	
70 to 79 years	0.038	0.040	0.036	
80 years or older	0.042	0.033	0.051	
Not stated	0.001	0.001	0.000	
Decupation				
Health care worker	0.061	0.025	0.093	
School or daycare worker/attendee	0.010	0.004	0.016	
Long term care resident	0.007	0.005	0.008	
Other	0.512	0.542	0.486	
Not stated	0.410	0.423	0.397	
Iospitalization status				
Hospitalized and in intensive care unit	0.007	0.009	0.005	
Hospitalized, but not in intensive care unit	0.034	0.036	0.031	
Not hospitalized	0.645	0.643	0.649	
Not stated/Unknown	0.314	0.311	0.314	
Death				
Yes	0.011	0.012	0.010	
No	0.932	0.937	0.927	
Not stated	0.057	0.051	0.062	

among the general population. Again, women's higher share in the age group of 80 or older is likely due to their longer life expectancy.

Finally, Figure 3 depicts the number of confirmed COVID-19 cases (blue line), the percentage of women in the overall confirmed cases (orange line), and the percentage of women in confirmed cases among care workers (including health care workers and school or daycare workers/attendees; gray line) as well as among non-care workers (amber line), from March 2020 (2020 week 8) to February 2022 (2022 week 4). Since the COVID-19 pandemic started in March 2020, Canada has been hit by five major waves including, roughly, the first wave from March to July 2020 (peaks in April 2020), the second wave from August 2020 to February 2021 (peaks in January 2021), the third wave from March to July 2021 (peaks April 2021), the fourth wave from August to November 2021 (peaks in September 2021), and the most recent fifth wave from December 2021 to February 2022 (peaks in January 2022). Clearly, the

31



FIGURE 1

Gender distribution of COVID-19 infections by age group (A) and occupation (B). The share of cases in each age group or occupation is indicated by the percentage in parentheses.





share of women in COVID-19 infections (orange line) always showed an increase as the number of confirmed cases increased in each wave, and women's infections relative to men peaked (i.e., A–E) during each wave's peak time. One concern is that the gender pattern could come from the gender difference in vaccination rate. Our data do not include information about vaccination status for each individual. However, data from Government of Canada website on vaccination coverage show that overall women have higher vaccination rates than men. This is especially true among working age groups.

Further, to demonstrate that women's higher share in care work can largely explain women's elevated infections during peak times, we separate and compare the changes in the percentage of women in infections among care workers (gray line) and non-care workers (amber line). Among infections in care workers, women accounted for the vast majority of cases (80%). The high percentage of women in infections among care workers was relatively stable during COVID-19 peaks, and it showed more fluctuations when the number of total cases was relatively low. Among infections in non-care workers, women's share was mostly lower than men's over the course of the pandemic (reference line y-axis = 50%). Still, we see clearly that women's share often reached the highest point during COVID-19 peaks in each wave. These findings illustrate that women's higher share in care work (including work in health care and schools or daycare centers) largely explains women's elevated infections during peak times of the COVID-19 outbreak.

Taken together, our analysis yields two major findings. First, we show that the female-to-male infection ratio has always been higher during COVID-19 peaks as compared to non-peak times. Second, we show that women's higher representation in care work is likely the cause for the gender peak effect. It is important to note that our conclusion is based on our analysis of the *longitudinal* patterns in gender difference in infections, rather on gender difference in infections *per se*. In other words, we compare changes in gender difference in infections during COVID-19 peaks and non-peak times. Many factors could create gender differences in infection rate. But these factors are unlikely to change during a short period, and therefore they are not the cause for the time-dependent gender patterns. For this reason, we have argued that the time-dependent gender patterns are likely a result of women's higher representation in care work that makes women, working-age women in particular, especially vulnerable to infections during COVID-19 peaks.

Discussions and public health implications

Infectious diseases that can be transmitted through human contact are occurring more often now than ever. Recent outbreaks include the 2002–2004 SARS, the 2013–2016 Ebola, the 2015 Zika virus, and the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Underlying the emergence of these outbreaks are global changes such as population growth, urbanization, climate change, and the increase in international travel and human connectivity (20). These changing global dynamics likely make future outbreaks even more lethal. For this reason, the World Economic Forum's 2020 Global Risks Report has listed infectious diseases as one of the top 10 risks in terms of impact for the next decade (21).

A key lesson from these outbreaks is that success in global public health requires responding to disease outbreaks effectively and equitably (17). Because of biological sex differences and societal gender inequalities, scholars have called

for attention to understanding and responding to the gendered impacts of COVID-19 outbreaks since the very beginning of the pandemic (1). Previous research on gender differences in COVID-19 infections has focused on the role of age and occupation in shaping gendered patterns of infections (5, 14). Despite the evolving nature of infectious disease outbreaks, few studies have considered the time dimension of gendered health impacts over the course of the pandemic, a gap that we have filled in this study.

In this study, we have shown that gender differences in infections during COVID-19 outbreaks are time-dependent. When there is a sharp peak in COVID-19 cases, the share of women in COVID-19 infections always increases to a level exceeding the share of men. We have also revealed that women's higher share in care work largely explains their elevated infections during peak times. These findings suggest that women's predominant roles as caregivers in families and workforces expose them to a high risk of infection during COVID-19 peaks. Pre-existing gender inequalities in financial resources, access to health care, and decision-making power in the policy realms may further disadvantage women in times of rising infections (18).

Our finding calls for attention to the particular vulnerability that women experience during the peak times of COVID-19 and potentially future infectious disease outbreaks. When understanding differences in susceptibility to disease infection across segments of the population, time is a critical dimension because disease outbreaks usually last an extended period and different new variants likely emerge to increase the spread of the virus. When a disease outbreak occurs, researchers and policymakers should monitor how gender disparities change at different stages of the outbreak, and design response policies accordingly. Including gender and sex dimensions in public responses will help not only ensure effective and equitable responses but also minimize the chances that disease outbreaks reproduce or exacerbate gender inequalities (1, 18, 22).

Data availability statement

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found at: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/catalogue/13260003.

Author contributions

Both authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Funding

Funding provided by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR, CW, FRN-170368 and YQ, OV7-170372).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Wenham C, Smith J, Morgan R. COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:846–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30526-2

2. World Health Organization. *Taking Sex and Gender into Account in Emerging Infectious Disease Programme : An Analytical Framework*. (2011). Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/207693/9789290615323_eng. pdf (accessed July 23, 2022).

3. Gebhard C, Regitz-Zagrosek V, Neuhauser HK, Morgan R, Klein SL. Impact of sex and gender on COVID-19 outcomes in Europe. *Biol Sex Differ*. (2020) 11:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s13293-020-00304-9

4. Scully EP, Haverfield J, Ursin RL, Tannenbaum C, Klein SL. Considering how biological sex impacts immune responses and COVID-19 outcomes. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2020) 20:442–7. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0348-8

5. Kabeer N, Razavi S, van der Meulen Rodgers Y. Feminist economic perspectives on the COVID-19 pandemic. *Fem Econ.* (2021) 27:1–29. doi: 10.1080/13545701.2021.1876906

8. Mukherjee S, Pahan K. Is COVID-19 gender-sensitive? J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. (2021) 16:38–47. doi: 10.1007/s11481-020-0 9974-z

^{6.} Viveiros A, Rasmuson J, Vu J, Mulvagh SL, Yip CYY, Norris CM, et al. Sex differences in COVID-19: candidate pathways, genetics of ACE2, and sex hormones. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2021) 320:H296–304. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00755.2020

^{7.} Jin J-M, Bai P, He W, Wu F, Liu X-F, Han D-M, et al. Gender differences in patients with COVID-19: focus on severity and mortality. *Front Public Health.* (2020) 8:152. doi: 10.1101/2020.02.23.200 26864

^{9.} Pijls BG, Jolani S, Atherley A, Derckx RT, Dijkstra JIR, Franssen GHL, et al. Demographic risk factors for COVID-19 infection, severity, ICU admission and death: a meta-analysis of 59 studies. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e044640. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-044640

10. Sharma G, Volgman AS, Michos ED. Sex differences in mortality from COVID-19 pandemic: are men vulnerable and women protected? *Case Rep.* (2020) 2:1407–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jaccas.2020.04.027

11. Dudley JP, Lee NT. Disparities in age-specific morbidity and mortality from SARS-CoV-2 in China and the Republic of Korea. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 71:863–5. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa354

12. Rozenberg S, Vandromme J, Martin C. Are we equal in adversity? Does Covid-19 affect women and men differently? *Maturitas.* (2020) 138:62–8. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2020. 05.009

13. Spagnolo PA, Manson JE, Joffe H. Sex and gender differences in health: what the COVID-19 pandemic can teach us. *Ann Intern Med.* (2020) 173:385-6. doi: 10.7326/M20-1941

14. Sobotka T, Brzozowska Z, Muttarak R, Zeman K, Di Lego V. Age, gender and COVID-19 infections. *MedRxiv.* (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.05.24.201 11765

15. Yavorsky JE, Qian Y, Sargent AC. The gendered pandemic: The implications of COVID-19 for work and family. *Sociol Compass.* (2021) 15:e12881. doi: 10.1111/soc4.12881

16. Bahn K, Cohen J, van der Meulen Rodgers Y. A feminist perspective on COVID-19 and the value of care work globally. *Gend Work Organ.* (2020) 27:695–9. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12459

17. World Health Organization? *Managing Epidemics: Key Facts About Major Deadly Diseases.* (2018). Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272442 (accessed July 23, 2022).

18. Smith J, Davies SE, Feng H, Gan CCR. More than a public health crisis: a feminist political economic analysis of COVID-19. *Glob Public Health*. (2021) 16:1364–80. doi: 10.1080/17441692.2021.1896765

19. World Health Organization. *Delivered By Women, Led By Men: A Gender and Equity Analysis of the Global Health and Social Workforce*. (2019). Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311322 (accessed July 23, 2022).

20. Baker RE, Mahmud AS, Miller IF, et al. Infectious disease in an era of global change. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2021) 20:1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41579-021-00639-z

21. Baker RE, Mahmud AS, Miller IF, Rajeev M, Rasambainarivo F, Rice BL, et al. Infectious disease in an era of global change. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2022) 20:193–205.

22. Morgan R, Davies SE, Feng H, Gan CCR, Grepin KA, Harman S, et al. Using gender analysis matrixes to integrate a gender lens into infectious diseases outbreaks research. *Health Policy Plan.* (2021) 1–7. doi: 10.1093/heapol/czab149
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Caress Alithia Dean, Oakland University, United States

REVIEWED BY Adarsh Srivastav, Chhatrapati Shahu Ji Maharaj University, India Alpo Juhani Vuorio, University of Helsinki, Finland

*CORRESPONDENCE Eva Krczal eva.krczal@donau-uni.ac.at

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal

RECEIVED 18 May 2022 ACCEPTED 25 July 2022 PUBLISHED 12 August 2022

Frontiers in Public Health

CITATION

Krczal E and Hyll W (2022) COVID-19 triggered a physically active lifestyle of people with cardiovascular diseases: Results of a small Austrian qualitative study. *Front. Public Health* 10:947250. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.947250

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Krczal and Hyll. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

COVID-19 triggered a physically active lifestyle of people with cardiovascular diseases: Results of a small Austrian qualitative study

Eva Krczal* and Walter Hyll

Department for Economy and Health, University for Continuing Education Krems, Krems, Austria

Objective: This paper explores physical activity patterns and compensation strategies of people with cardiovascular diseases. The aim is to provide insights into the factors and their relationships that may affect physical activity levels positively or negatively during the pandemic.

Methods: We adopted a qualitative approach with 35 participants who were purposively sampled from different provinces in Austria, including rural and urban areas. Semi-structured interviews were conducted during the second COVID-19 wave in autumn/winter 2020 and the fourth wave in autumn/winter 2021. Content analysis was applied to explore physical activity patterns, the perceived impact of the pandemic on physical activity as well as strategies adopted by participants to maintain physically active during the pandemic waves.

Results: Results show encouraging signs of a recovery or even increase in physical activity during the pandemic waves. The main drivers for maintaining or even increasing physical activity were intrinsic motivation and self-determined motivation relating to the pursue of individual health goals. Furthermore, analysis suggests a reinforcing effect of exercising in green natural areas by decreasing perception of effort and increasing motivation. There was also one group who experienced difficulties in adapting physical activity behaviors. Study participants who were used to exercise indoors struggled to replace accustomed activity patterns with alternatives that were not impacted by lockdown restrictions.

Conclusions: This study provides novel qualitative evidence on the effect of COVID-19 lockdowns on physical activity patterns of people with cardiovascular diseases. Public health interventions to enhance a physically active lifestyle during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic are recommended to target moderate outdoor exercising and enhance adaptive capacities of people with cardiovascular diseases.

KEYWORDS

physical activity (exercise), cardiovascular diseases, COVID-19, lockdown, coping strategies, outdoor exercise, intrinsic motivation

Introduction

Since the onset of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, first reported in December 2019, political decision makers worldwide have adopted unprecedented measures to limit people's exposure to the virus and contain the spread of the disease (1). On the one hand, Public Health measures like social distancing, staying at home and the closing of cultural and sports facilities had been adopted to break the transmission of the virus. On the other hand, the same type of interventions negatively affected people's mental and physical health. During the lockdown phases, the population has developed a lifestyle characterized by lack of mobility, unhealthy diet, increased depression, loneliness, and psychological distress (2-6). Recent reviews indicate a decrease in physical activity and an increase in sedentary behavior across different populations during the lockdowns (7-9). It is not surprising that people who exercise in their free time are less likely to do so, for example, because of the closure of gyms. Limited physical activity, however, has the potential to increase the risk of many severe and disabling disorders (10). A reduction in physical activity and modified eating habits increase insulin resistance, total body fat, abdominal fat, and inflammatory cytokines, which in turn increase the risk of multiple chronic disease (11).

This paper addresses the question, how lockdowns affected physical activity patterns of people who need to exercise for health reasons, namely cardiovascular disease (CVD) patients. Physical inactivity represents an established risk factor for developing cardiovascular diseases and may have detrimental effects on those already affected (12-16). For CVD patients it is therefore essential for their disease management to practice physical activity on a regular basis. Since preexisting cardiovascular diseases increase the risk of experiencing severe COVID-19 complications (17), CVD patients represent a highly vulnerable group in consideration of the pandemic. Consequently, they were advised to take extra social-distancing measures. Vulnerable individuals were expected to be highly cautious during the pandemic to avoid a potential contact with the virus, thus limiting their opportunities for physical activities further. In addition, assuming that contacts to their physician or physiotherapist declined, the constant monitoring of adherence of stipulated exercise programs was interrupted.

Few studies exist, that focus on the impact of the pandemic on CVD patients' physical activity levels during the first *lockdown* waves. These studies show a decline in physical activity of CVD patients (18–23). There is one study suggesting that most study participants maintained or even increased their normal physical intensity during the first lockdown in UK (24). This study included stroke and heart disease patients in the sample. Yet, there is scarce evidence on the physical activity patterns of CVD patients over a longer time span including the *post-lockdown* period. One longitudinal study assessed changes in physical activity and sedentary behavior in Dutch CVD patients across the various phases of the COVID-19 lockdown between April and July 2020 (25). According to the authors, even when COVID-19 lockdown restrictions were gradually lifted, physical activity levels did not significantly change. Also, a US study on the physical activity patterns of CVD patients from two large cities confirmed a decline in physical activity during the first lockdown in spring 2020, which did not fully recover until October 2020 (26).

In this study, we, focus on a longer time span including the second/fourth waves on the one hand and, point to a maintenance or even an improvement in the physical activity level of CVD patients on the other hand. In an exploratory approach people with CVD were interviewed about their health behavior and physical activity patterns. Interviews were conducted during the successive waves of the pandemic in autumn/winter 2020/21 and autumn/winter 2021/22. Most study participants reported that they were able to maintain or even improve their physical activity level during the waves of the pandemic. These findings raise interest in the factors that influence physical activity patterns and adaptive capacities. We contribute to the existing literature in several ways. First, we provide additional evidence on the effects of a lockdown on physical activity of CVD patients up to January 2022. Second, the study is pointing to a recovery of physical activity levels during the course of the pandemic. Third, we outline determinants that may influence physical activity patterns as well as compensation strategies to restore physical activity levels throughout the pandemic.

A deeper understanding of the motives and experiences of people with CVD, when maintaining or adjusting their physical activity patterns throughout the pandemic, contributes to designing adequate public health interventions. These are necessary to enhance a physically active lifestyle during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic.

Materials and methods

Data collection

The present research was part of a qualitative study exploring participants' perceptions on the impact of the pandemic on their lifestyles as well as their strategies to manage their disease and maintain a healthy lifestyle throughout the pandemic. During the interviews, physical activity emerged as a major concern for study participants. Therefore, this paper focuses on the physical activity patterns of study participants, the perceived impact of the pandemic on physical activity as well as strategies to maintain physical activity during the pandemic waves. A qualitative approach was adopted to explore perceptions, challenges

Abbreviations: CVD, Cardiovascular Diseases; SDT, Self-Determination Theory.

and experiences from the perspective of participants and to provide insights into the complex relationships that may cause an increase or decrease of physical activity during the pandemic (27).

Selection criteria were set in advance. Participants were chosen along three dimensions: gender, age, and residence (urban or rural areas). The criteria are depicted in Table 1. The aim was to find a participant for each combination, which was almost achieved. Eligible participants were persons 40 years or over with cardiovascular diseases [diagnosed with heart failure or coronary heart disease, received bypass surgery, stent or cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) implantation]. Exclusion criteria were incapacity to give informed consent and incapacity to articulate answers to interview questions without the help of others. The sampling strategy relied on a combination of convenience and purposive sampling (28). The initial strategy was to recruit participants by distributing an invitation to participate at the interviews at general practitioners' or specialists' practices and self-help groups in the field of heart failure. This strategy did not produce any response from eligible persons. Therefore, participants were recruited using existing personal contacts by research assistants working in health and social care. That is, participants stem from conveniently available sources. All persons, who were addressed personally, agreed to participate in the study and attended the interviews. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with 35 persons, who received health services in different provinces of Austria and from different care providers. Further, study participants differed in their perceived impairment of physical performance due to their disease or other comorbidities. As outlined above, purposive sampling was applied to account for diversity among study participants, to obtain relevant and diversified data relating to the research topic and to mitigate challenges of limited representativeness resulting from a convenience sample (28). Interviews were conducted by mutual agreement between interviewer and interviewee face-to-face in compliance with the applicable COVID-19 safety regulations or via zoom. Study participants were recruited during the pandemic waves in autumn/winter 2020/21 and 2021/22. Eleven interviews were conducted during the second wave between 2020-11-24 and 2021-02-05, another 24 interviews took place between 2021-10-27 and 2022-01-10 during the so-called "lockdowns light" in Austria. The study has been approved by the Ethics Commission of the University for Continuing Education, Krems (No. EK GZ17/2021-2024).

Interviews followed an interview schedule asking predefined questions, whereby modifications of questions or the introduction of new ones made room for unexpected and promising themes that emerged during the interviews. The interview schedule is provided in the Supplementary Table 1. At the end of the interview, socio-demographic data of study participants were collected with a short questionnaire. For a better contextualization of the physical activity patterns, study participants were asked to rate their perceived physical impairment due to the perceived burden of disease or other comorbidities following the New York Heart Association (NYHA) Classification (29).

Interviews were audio-recorded, anonymized and transcribed verbatim with annotations, which accounted for pauses, intonations, and nonverbal expressions of study participants to enrich answers with non-verbal information (30). All study participants provided written informed consent.

Analysis

Content analysis was applied to produce a systematic and comprehensive overview of the data set based on participants' statements concerning physical activity patterns, the influence of the pandemic on them, and experiences when maintaining physical activity during the pandemic (31). Content analysis was used to explore, for example, how often certain strategies were mentioned and what these strategies were (31). Specifically, interviews were analyzed according to the content structuring qualitative content analysis (32). This method follows a structured process for arranging and analyzing interview data. The analytic procedure started with getting familiarized with the data by reading through transcripts, highlighting important text segments, writing memos, and case summaries. One third of transcripts was analyzed in this initial step by two researchers separately. Following initial text analysis, thematic main categories were developed, which formed the basis for structuring interview data. Three main categories were defined deductively based on the research question ("Physical activity patterns," "Impact of the pandemic on physical activity patterns," "Strategies to maintain physical activity"). In addition, another two main categories inductively derived from themes that emerged from the transcripts ("Motivation for physical activity," "Influencing factors"). After the main categories and their descriptions have been developed, all data were coded along the main categories by two researchers independently. Coding of data involved assigning meaningful text segments to correspondent thematic main categories. Whenever text passages included different themes, multiple coding was applied (32). Coding of transcripts was aided by the qualitative data analysis software MAXQDA version 20 (www.maxqda.de/). After all data were coded along the main categories, sub-categories were inductively developed for a more refined structuring of the data set. The development of sub-categories involved compiling all text segments coded within the same main category to get an overview of relevant themes. Subcategories were then defined according to central topics that emerged from the text. For the further course of analysis, definitions for sub-categories were formulated and supplemented with sample quotes. Next, all transcripts were

38

TABLE 1 Selection matrix.

	Age				
	40-49	50-59	60-69	70-79	80+
Residence					
Big city (100,000 ⁺		f VK3	f JC3	m HB2	f HB1
residents)			m KS1	m HB3	m PP4
			m KS3	f JC1	
			m KS4	f PP2	
			m PJ3	m PP1	
				m PP3	
mall town		f JC4	f VK1		m JC2
3,000-99,000 residents)		m KS2			
		m PJ2			
Rural area (<3,000	f EL2	f EL1	m HB4	m EL4	f PJ1
esidents)	f EL3	m EL6	f EL10	m EL5	
		f EL7	m PJ4	m EL8	
		m EL9	m VK2	m VK4	
		f EL11			

f, female; m, male. Eligibility criteria: age 40+, cardiovascular disease diagnosed before the pandemic, heart failure or coronary heart disease or bypass surgery, stent or cardioverterdefibrillator (ICD) implantation. Exclusion criteria: incapacity to give informed consent, incapacity to articulate answers to interview questions without the help of others.

coded once again along sub-categories. In an iterative process, coding was refined through review and further analysis. This procedure involved the creation of new sub-codes or the re-evaluation and re-definition of existing sub-codes. For example, Organismic Integration Theory (33), a sub-theory of Self-Determination Theory (SDT), emerged as a promising theoretical background to explain participants' motivation to maintain physical activity. Therefore, sub-codes on motivational factors have been reorganized following the Organismic Integration Theory.

Finally, the coded text segments were analyzed along the main categories to reach an overview of themes that emerged from the strategies and experiences of study participants regarding physical activity during the pandemic. In addition, possible connections between main categories and sub-categories were analyzed to explore complex relationships between main themes emerging from the data.

Results

Sample characteristics

Socio-demographic data of study participants are presented in Table 2. Study participants were living on average about 11 years (mean 11.06, *SD* 9.45) with their disease. Three participants were living with heart failure since birth or early childhood (not included in calculation of mean years of disease). Most study participants were male (63%), between 60 and 79 years old (56%), and lived in a partnership (83%). During the interviews, study participants indicated that they were embedded in a social network receiving support from their partner, family members, or friends during the pandemic. Analyses of transcripts revealed that participants displayed a good self-management of their disease (measuring blood pressure and weight daily or at least weakly, regular medical check-ups as advised by their physician or specialist, awareness of the importance of physical activity, and nutritional intake). Study participants mentioned that they attended regular physical therapy before the lockdowns (HB1, HB3, JC1), others outlined that they received exercise education during their rehabilitation stays before the pandemic (EL5, HB3, PJ1, PH4). Another group noted that they have learned physical exercises from regular attending group courses or a personal trainer (EL6, EL7, PJ3).

Main categories

Qualitative content analysis yielded five main categories: "Motivation for physical activity," "Physical activity patterns," "Impact of the pandemic on physical activity patterns," "Strategies to maintain physical activity," and "Influencing factors." Table 3 displays these main categories, sub-categories, and the number of corresponding quotes. For example, seven quotes refer to intrinsic motivation as a driver for participating in physical activity. A description of main and sub-categories as well as sample quotes are provided in Supplementary Table 2.

10.3389/fpubh.2022.947250

TABLE 2 Participant characteristics.

Characteristic	Categories	N = 35
Gender	Female	13 (37%)
	Male	22 (63%)
Age	40-49	2 (6%)
	50-59	9 (26%)
	60–69	10 (28%)
	70-79	10 (28%)
	80+	4 (12%)
Employment status	Employed	9 (26%)
	Partial retirement	2 (6%)
	Retired	24 (68%)
Relationship status	Single	6 (17%)
	Partnership	29 (83%)
Residence	Big city	14 (40%)
	Small Town	5 (14%)
	Rural area	16 (46%)
relationship status	Single	6 (17%)
	Partnership	29 (83%)
Perceived physical impairment	I (none)	7 (20%)
(NYHA-Classification)		
	II (mild)	7 (20%)
	III (moderate)	15 (43%)
	IV (severe)	6 (17%)

Motivation for physical activity

Analysis of transcripts revealed that participants were motivated for engaging in physical activity mostly for selfdetermined reasons. Engagement in physical activity to achieve desired health outcomes emerged clearly as the most frequently cited and emphasized motive among study participants. This attitude relates to "*Identified regulation*," a moderate form of self-determined external motivation (34). Being physically active was believed to be an essential part of participants' diseasemanagement supporting them to remain healthy. In particular, regular practice was considered important to strengthen the heart muscle or to boost the immune system. Other motives for engaging in physical activity related to a change in lifestyle after a heart attack or to strengthen physical fitness after an operation. For some study participants, being physically active was considered a promising strategy to cope with the pandemic:

"And I'm sure if I hadn't done that before, I wouldn't have survived. So, if I had just been sitting around and stuff." [HB2: 50–50]

Next, analysis of transcripts revealed expressions relating to "*Intrinsic motivation*" (31) among certain study participants.

TABLE 3 Main codes, sub-codes, and frequency of physical activity patterns during the pandemic.

Main codes and sub-codes	Frequency
1. Motivation for physical activity	52
1.1 Intrinsic motivation	7
1.2 Integrated regulation	6
1.3 Identified regulation	32
1.4 Introjected regulation	1
1.5 External regulation	2
1.6 Amotivation	4
2. Physical activity patterns	47
2.1 Moderate outdoor exercise	11
2.2 Moderate to vigorous indoor exercise	10
2.3 Moderate to vigorous exercising at home	7
2.4 Leisure behavior	19
3. Impact of the pandemic on physical activity patterns	93
3.1 Continuation of moderate physical activity with no	13
restrictions	20
3.2 Cessation/reduction of moderate to vigorous physical exercise	18
3.3 Continuation of leisure behavior with no/minor restrictions	42
3.4 Cessation/reduction/modification of leisure behavior	
4. Strategies to maintain physical activity	80
4.1 Integration of walking into daily routine	12
4.2 Integration of moderate exercising at home into daily routine	25
4.3 Increase in outdoor leisure activities	19
4.4 Increase in moderate outdoor exercise	4
4.5 Introduction/increase of moderate to vigorous outdoor	2
exercise	8
4.6 Replacement indoor exercise by moderate outdoor exercise	3
4.7 Replacement indoor exercise by moderate to vigorous exercise	8
4.8 Resuming physical exercise due to release of measures	
5. Influencing factors	55
5.1 Physical impairment	22
5.2 Time of the year	5
5.3 Availability of time	9
5.4 Partner, friends	7
5.5 Availability of garden/proximity to green natural areas	12

Being physically active was associated with feelings of pleasure, enjoyment, and fun. One participant explained:

"And that did me a lot of good, because you feel better afterwards." [EL2: 103–103]

Some study participants indicated that they have incorporated physical activity in their personal value and belief system by emphasizing that they considered themselves as physically active persons. Motives relate to the "*Integrated regulation*" dimension, the most self-determined form of external motivation (34). One participant claimed: "I am physically even better off than the so-called healthy people, because I have done sports every day. Always. Before, after, and during Corona." [KS3: 10–10]

It appeared that only a few study participants were physically active for extraneous motives. Two study participants made a comment that their physician advised them to exercise regularly, which belongs to the *"External regulation"* dimension of external motivation (34).

In summary, it was apparent that most study participants were motivated to be physically active for self-determined reasons.

Physical activity patterns

Different physical activity patterns were driven by study participants' individual preferences and perceived physical impairments. Table 4 provides descriptions and examples of physical activity patterns that emerged from the analysis. One group preferred moderate outdoor exercise, for example hiking or biking. Another group favored moderate to vigorous indoor exercise, such as training in a fitness club. Other study participants reported moderate to vigorous exercising at home.

For some participants, going out for a walk represented an essential component of their physical activity program. Furthermore, some participants considered leisure behavior like going shopping, doing housework, or gardening as vital part of their daily physical activities.

From the text analysis it became apparent that the reported intensity and duration of physical exercise was subject to individual framing and perceived physical impairment. For example, exercising 30 min gymnastics in the morning was considered either the prime component of daily exercising for one study participant with major physical restrictions or one element, among other daily activities, for another study participant with minor restrictions.

Impact of the pandemic on physical activity patterns

Insights gained from the analysis showed that study participants experienced the impact of the pandemic on their physical activity patterns in different ways. Those study participants who were used to exercise outdoors stated that they didn't feel much difference during the pandemic because they had the same possibilities to be physically active compared to pre-COVID-19 times. One study participant explained:

"I don't go to fitness studios anyway. I move in the great outdoors. I go for walks and hikes." [PJ4: 37–37]

Another study participant pointed out that he used to exercise with a private personal trainer, and they continued training throughout the pandemic. Physiotherapy and rehabilitation on the contrary, were reported to be canceled at least during the first lockdown.

Also, those study participants, who were used to practice regularly at home, continued their exercise as usual. One study participant emphasized:

"Exercises and I do all that myself... I did all that and I still do it exactly the same today." [PJ1: 69–71]

Gardening or hobbies in green natural areas like collecting mushrooms in the forest represent typical leisure activities, which were not perceived to be affected by lockdown restrictions:

"And that [gardening] was actually a continuous activity that has remained. Nothing has changed." [KS4: 132–132]

Another theme, that emerged from the interviews, was the cessation or reduction of moderate to vigorous indoor exercise. Due to lockdown restrictions, public sport facilities and fitness clubs had to close several times depending on current infection rates. Even when fitness clubs or rehabilitative facilities reopened after the lockdowns, there was some reluctance to resume exercising, because certain study participants, considering themselves as high-risk persons, preferred to limit potential contact with the virus.

In contrast, outdoor sporting facilities were allowed to reopen soon after the first lockdown in March 2020. Study participants who, for example, were used to practice golf could resume their physical activities after a few weeks. Another study participant mentioned that she could resume individual physiotherapy after 6 weeks following the announcement of the first lockdown.

Finally, the impact of the pandemic situation on leisure activities, that involved walking, was discussed during the interviews. The continuation or reduction of routine activities like going shopping was perceived to impact daily steps. Especially, study participants, who were used to go out frequently for entertainment, experienced radical changes in leisure activities with the closing of restaurants, pubs and cultural events. Consequently, they reported a reduction of daily movements. One study participant reflected:

"One becomes somehow, something like pensionistic.... you don't move out, you don't have the social, active life. The exhibitions were all canceled, all the activities, going abroad and so on, that was all gone. My whole leisure life was completely stopped." [VK2: 59-59]

Physical activity patterns	Description and examples
Moderate outdoor exercise	Moderate forms of outdoor exercise: powerwalking, hiking, biking, golf, archery, skiing
Moderate to vigorous indoor exercise	Moderate to vigorous forms of exercise using indoor sport facilities: group fitness, exercising in a fitness club, swimming,
	team sport, aerobics
Moderate to vigorous exercising at home	Moderate to vigorous forms of exercising at home: gymnastics at home, TV-led exercise programs, Cardio-training at
	home
Leisure behavior	Walking and other leisure behavior: going shopping, housekeeping, gardening

TABLE 4 Description and examples of physical activity patterns derived from content analysis.

In summary, experiences on the impact of the lockdown restrictions related to accustomed physical activity patterns. Study participants, who were used to indoor sport and going out for entertainment, appeared to be discouraged by continued lockdown restrictions, while study participants, who were used doing outdoor exercises or who possessed a garden, claimed to be hardly affected by restrictions. Some individuals from this group even expressed positive associations with the pandemic situation, which offered to them opportunities for relaxation, recreation, and creativity.

Strategies to maintain physical activity

Study participants adopted different approaches aiming to remain active during the pandemic. One strategy that emerged from the transcripts was the integration of regular exercise into daily routine, thus increasing the frequency (and duration) of physical activity. Going out for a walk and walking instead of using public transport became a preferred mode for leaving home, getting out, and practicing physical activity.

"And just go for a walk a lot.... we've really been walking since Corona, now the second lockdown, three, four kilometers every day. Even when it is already dark, we go our rounds." [EL1: 47–47]

"And I walked five or six kilometers every day, in an hour or an hour and a half. That's actually how it all started. Although I have actually walked before, powerwalking you have to say, I just walked more." [EL11: 3–3]

Next, study participants engaged in regular exercising at home using home training equipment or performing exercises they have learned from their therapist or from group training:

"Because I have had a lot to do with physiotherapists in the last three years. And I've actually picked up quite a lot from them that I can use for myself when I have a pain. In addition, I have always been pretty well briefed by the sports union, (...) which you can actually perform yourself. And a lot has been actually stuck." [EL7: 49–49] Other study participants attended TV or online-training programs. However, it appeared from the transcripts that exercising at home was considered a poor alternative for group training, because study participants missed the group feeling:

"And the first shock is then again: ah, now we can't go again. And then you try to do something at home. (...) You already do your exercises, but the key is always to go somewhere and exercise together in a group." [EL6: 117–117]

"During the lockdowns, the fitness clubs also offered online-Zumba and then you jump around in front of your laptop in the kitchen and feel relatively stupid. The main problem is that these sports have to be fun, otherwise I don't do them permanently. For example, Zumba depends a lot on having a nice group and a good trainer. And of course, the group experience is gone when I'm jumping around in front of the computer. No, the motivation is much more difficult." [VK3: 61–6].

Another strategy that emerged was the replacement of indoor activities by outdoor activities. The most favorite outdoor activities were moderate activities like hiking and biking.

"It was actually a compensation. What would you have done? As I said, you used to go to the gym, two or three times. It was actually the morning occupation. And then I just went out for a walk almost every day." [HB4: 32–32]

Fewer participants engaged in moderate to vigorous outdoor exercising. One participant reported regular training in an outdoor parcour, another one reported to have intensified regular outdoor cardio training. Other replacement strategies included swimming in the lake instead of using the public swimming pool or chopping wood instead of training in the gym.

In summary, there were encouraging signs amongst most study participants to adopt a proactive approach in maintaining physical exercising during the pandemic waves.

Influencing factors

Transcripts contained descriptions of influencing factors which acted either as facilitators or barriers to physical activity.

The availability of a garden or the proximity to green natural areas facilitated engagement in outdoor activities. In fact, the availability of a garden emerged as a welcome opportunity to be physically active in a private and safe environment:

"Well, because of the garden, the possibility to move and to do something useful is quite big ... I didn't do anything in a gym before and I didn't do anything after, so this is all happening at home. There have been no restrictions at all." [KS1: 46–46]

Also living close to green natural areas encouraged study participants to be physically active.

"And actually, I started walking and I didn't go into the town or anything like that, only out in the fields and into the meadows." [EL11: 3–3]

For some study participants the time of the year played an important role for their motivation to exercise:

"At the first lockdown, you have to remember that the weather was different. You had beautiful days there. Those days have lasted longer. (...) Everyone was looking forward to being outside. Many people went outside. Now, the second lockdown is like this: at four o'clock it's dark. And in my opinion, people will become more depressed now. Because it's dark, it's cold." [EL2: 11–11]

Availability of time emerged as enabler for practicing physical activity. Many study participants were already retired. They had the timely resources to organize their daily activities. Others had more time available because they were classified as high-risk persons and could stay at home for sickness leave. A few participants noted that they had home office arrangements with reduced working times. Home office arrangements allowed a better time management for integrating physical exercises into daily routines.

The social network (partner, family, friends) appeared to act in both ways, either encouraging or limiting physical activity. The accompaniment of a partner, friends, or a dog seemed to motivate study participants to engage in regular exercising. On the other hand, a partner who is not willing or able to practice may reduce physical activity. Study participants outlined that family members or partners did the shopping. On the one hand, this was a measure to limit possible exposure to the virus, on the other hand, it was reducing daily steps.

Cross-category analysis

Analysis of main categories is supplemented by an exploration of the relationships between categories to provide a more contextualized and comprehensive picture of the impact of the pandemic on physical activity patterns. Cross-category analysis revealed interconnections and interactions between main categories in different ways. Apart from the connection between "*Physical activity patterns*" and "*Impact of the pandemic on physical activity patterns*" and "*Impact of the pandemic on physical activity patterns*" the most obvious connections that emerged from analysis are presented in this section.

For a better contextualization of those relationships, study participants were grouped into three categories: One group reporting a perceived increase in physical activity during lockdowns, a second group claiming to have maintained their level of physical activity, and a third group who felt that their physical activity had decreased. We exclude seven participants from this analysis, because, due to external factors, an adjustment of the activities was not at their discretion. One participant reported an increase in physical activity due to his recent rehabilitation stay. Five participants reported a decrease in physical activity due to an injury, comorbidity, or aggravation of disease. Another participant made the point that his physical activity was not impacted by the pandemic because he was never much engaged in physical activity before, during and after the pandemic. Table 5 summarizes changes in physical activity patterns as well as motivational factors indicated by participants.

Cross-category analysis between "Motivational factors" and "Strategies to maintain physical activity"

The first group represents six study participants (21%) who claimed to have increased their physical activity by increasing frequency and duration of walking and/or moderate outdoor exercises (see Table 5). These individuals pointed out that they were already engaged in walking and moderate outdoor activities before the pandemic and continued or even increased exercising throughout the pandemic.

"I just look forward to walking every day in the morning or afternoon, for me personally (...), I have to say that I have been moving more, quite simply. And that I just enjoy it." [EL11: 233–233]

Similar connections have emerged from the analysis of the second group, composed of fourteen study participants (50%), indicating that they maintained their level of physical activity (see Table 5). Seven participants continued with outdoor leisure activities like walking or gardening and moderate exercising outdoors or at home, because these activity patterns were not

	Motivational factors			n = 28	
	Intrinic motivation	Integrated regulation	Identified regulation	Not reported	
Changes in physical activity patterns					
Increase in physical activity					6 (21%)
Increase in walking	1		1		2 (7%)
Increase in outdoor exercising	2		2		4 (14%)
No changes					14 (50%)
Continued as usual			4	3	7 (25%)
Indoor exercising replaced by outdoor exercising	1	4	2		7 (25%)
Reduction of physical activity					8 (29%)
Regular exercising at home but less walking			3		3 (11%)
Less indoor exercising			1	3	4 (14%)
Less walking				1	1 (4%)

TABLE 5 Changes in physical activity and motivational factors.

Percent refer to total number of participants.

affected by lockdown restrictions. The other seven participants replaced indoor exercising by longer and more frequent outdoor leisure activities (walking, gardening) and/or moderate to vigorous exercising outdoors or at home (for example, replacing group training by online-training at home). These individuals reported to be frequently engaged in different physical activities.

Insights from the analysis of the first and the second group revealed intrinsic motives, thus indicating a relationship between "Motivational factors" and "Strategies to maintain physical activity," specifically between "Intrinsic motivation," "Integrated regulation," and "Increase in outdoor leisure activities" as well as "Increase in moderate outdoor exercise.".

Cross-category analysis between "Availability of garden/proximity to green natural areas" and "Impact of the pandemic on physical activity patterns"

Analysis of the second group revealed another interaction, namely between the influencing factor "Availability of a garden/proximity to green natural areas" and "Impact of pandemic on physical activity patterns." Eleven participants (out of 14) from this group were living in rural areas or possessed a garden or a second home in rural areas. Study participants noted that having an own garden enabled them to pass lockdowns without major restrictions. Similarly, study participants living close to green natural areas noted that it was easy for them to continue or even increase outdoor activities: *"With sport and with fresh air the first lockdown went pretty well."* [EL6: 7–7]

The third group consists of eight study participants (29%) indicating that their level of physical activity has decreased (see Table 5). One group of three participants noted that they continued with regular moderate exercising but noticed a decrease in general movements (going shopping, going out). Two of those lived in an apartment in a big city. Another group of four study participants indicated a reduction in physical activity due to a decrease in moderate to vigorous exercising. These were all individuals accustomed to indoor training and explained that they did not find adequate alternatives during the lockdowns. Three of them were living in urban areas, two in an apartment. Finally, one person mentioned a reduction of general movements (less going out) until vaccination was received. Also, this participant lived in a big city.

Insights from the third group reveal that "Moderate to vigorous indoor exercise" and "Availability of garden/proximity to green natural areas" was highly connected to "Cessation/reduction of moderate to vigorous physical exercise." Participants who lived in urban areas and were used to exercise indoors struggled to find adequate outdoor alternatives during the lockdowns:

"I did much less sport, because apart from going for a walk you couldn't do anything at the beginning and I don't like going for a walk very much, I'm more of a swimmer or fitness club exerciser, Zumba, and we finally brought ourselves to do something, and we went out for a walk or a small bike ride almost every day." [VK3: 9–9] For these participants the closure of sport facilities appeared to produce feelings of frustration or helplessness:

"Before Corona I went swimming regularly and then that was no longer possible, because now of course I couldn't go through with it. I just slacked off and now I'm still waiting. Until they unlock." [JC3: 58–58]

In the further course of the pandemic waves in autumn/winter 2020 and 2021 this frustration was nurtured by insecurity deriving from continued closings and reopening's:

"Everything was then actually over from March 15 and of course also the uncertainty, who is still open then and what do you really get then, so the uncertainty and the disappointment together." [KS4: 20–20]

The relation to motivational factors remains unclear in this group. Four individuals (out of eight) did not emphasize their motivation for physical exercise during the interview, the other four, among them those who continued regular exercising at home, expressed motives relating to Identified regulation (see Table 5).

Discussion and limitations

This paper explored how the pandemic waves in 2020 and 2021 affected physical activity patterns of people with CVD. Previous research outlined a general trend of reduced physical activity due to COVID-19 lockdown restrictions for CVD patients as well as other populations. This evidence is related to the effect of the first lockdown in spring 2020. Findings of Vetrovsky et al. suggest a 16% decrease in step counts of heart failure patients during COVID-19 quarantine (18). Compared to the present study, they focus on a short time period, namely on the first 3 weeks after the first quarantine in the Czech republic. Another study by Fagih et al. also reported a significant decline of 27% in physical activity during the lockdown periods between February and April 2020 due to the pandemic (19). Similar results have been shown by Sassone et al., who analyzed how the first forced 40 day in-home confinement in Italy affected physical activity of patients with automatic implantable cardioverterdefibrillators. They find a 25% decline in physical activity after the lockdown began (20). Due to the short time span long run effects are not mapped.

Our results point out that behavior might change again in the long run such that physical activity levels recover. When analyzing transcripts, it became apparent that during and after the first pandemic wave, most study participants developed coping strategies and were able to adapt to pandemic circumstances. Findings of this study display encouraging signs pointing to a recovery of physical activity over the long run. Most participants in our study (71%) reported that they managed to maintain or even increase pre-COVID-19 physical activity levels. Specifically, 21% of study participants claimed to have increased physical activity and 50% of participants indicated that they have maintained their level of physical activity.

Our findings are supported by emerging evidence from longitudinal studies, suggesting a gradual recovery of physical activity levels following the time span after the first lockdown. In line with previous research, Lu et al. reported that physical activity has reduced among patients with pre-existing cardiac diseases during the first lockdown (26). Their findings further suggest that physical activity decreased the most during the first 3 weeks of the emergency quarantine order, and then started to slowly increase. Yet, in their study patients did not return to pre-restrictions levels till early October 2020.

Findings from other studies suggest that certain populations were more successful in maintaining physical activity levels than others. Rogers et al. assessed the impact of the first lockdown on physical activity behavior of adults with serious health problems or self-perception of high risk from COVID-19 (24). In line with the results of our study, most participants (75%) maintained or even increased their normal physical activity intensity. One UK study outlined that older people were more likely to maintain and recover their physical activity levels compared to younger counterparts (35). These results are supported by a US nationwide Coping Study conducted during the first pandemic wave between April and May 2020 (36). Insights from this US study highlight the resilience of older adults to cope with adverse consequences of the pandemic. Our findings support the idea that certain populations, in this case individuals who are aware of the need to exercise for health reasons, are more resilient to the impact of the pandemic than others by developing adaptive skills to cope with the unique pandemic situation.

Our results clearly show that the most successful group (regarding coping strategies) were those who have integrated walking or moderate outdoor activities into daily routine. This is not surprising, because activities like walking, biking, or hiking were not affected by lockdown restrictions, as long as they were practiced alone, or with a person from the same household. The findings are supported by a study from New Zealand reporting that moderate active individuals were more likely to maintain or even increase the intensity of physical activity during and after the first lockdown (37).

It is important to note that previous research assessing the impact of the pandemic on physical activity of people with CVD is lacking information on factors that may affect a change in behavior. This study presents refined findings, providing a deeper understanding of the reasons why certain individuals were more successful in recovering physical activity than others.

For example, van Bakel et al. conducted an online questionnaire for patients with CVD to assess physical activity before and during the first lockdown restrictions (April 2020) in the Netherlands (22). They find that moderate-to-vigorous physical activity increased mainly due to an increase in time spent walking and doing odd jobs, while time spent exercising declined. There is no information, whether the decrease in exercising is the result of closure of sport facilities. In a follow up study van Bakel et al. show that overall moderate-tovigorous physical activity did not change between April 2020 and July 2020 (25). The effect of reopening of sport facilities remains unclear.

Our findings suggest that adaptive capacities depend on existing physical activity patterns. This would be in line with the Theory of Planned Behavior (38). According to this theory, health behavior is determined by personal beliefs, attitudes, expectations, self-efficacy, and intentions of individuals. Thereby, people are more likely to adopt certain behaviors when they feel confident to be able to perform them (38). Insights from our analysis show that those participants, who were already engaged in outdoor activities or training at home prior to the pandemic, more easily compensated gym visits or group trainings by increasing outdoor or home exercising. That is, they were already used to perform those activities. In contrast, participants, who were used to exercise only indoors, struggled to adapt their physical activity routine during the pandemic. These findings suggest that they might lack confidence in engaging in novel types of physical activity or in exercising alone (39). This could be an explanation why certain participants did not find appropriate alternatives during the pandemic.

Our results further suggest that study participants favor consistency in physical activity patterns. The insecurity imposed by the COVID-19 specific context may pose an obstacle in the process of adapting activity behaviors. On the one hand, participants in our study outlined that they were waiting to the end of the pandemic (lasting longer than initially expected). On the other hand, analysis suggests that participants were frustrated by continued closings and reopenings of sport facilities. This implies that they might refrain from resuming indoor activities, that carry the risk of being restricted in the near future due to a newly upcoming pandemic wave.

Next, we found that the availability of a garden or the proximity to green natural areas emerged as a distinct factor shaping physical activity behaviors. More precisely, having an own garden supported participants to exercise in a private and safe environment. Also living close to green natural areas offered participants the possibility to be physically active in surroundings with a low perceived risk of exposure to the virus. Thus, possessing a garden or living in rural areas acts as an enabler for physical activity during the pandemic. Our findings are supported by the study of Rogers et al., who highlight the importance of access to green or open spaces for maintaining physical exercises during the pandemic (24). In a similar vein, Labib et al. suggest the exposure to the natural environment during the first 2 years of the COVID-19 pandemic inter alia improved physical activity (40). That nature helped individuals

to cope with the pandemic and maintain health and wellbeing was also shown by Robinson et al. (41). Furthermore, our findings provide an explanation for the positive effect of living in rural areas observed in a study by of Chague et al. who interviewed congestive heart failure patients during the sixth and seventh weeks of the first lockdown in France (21). Over 40 percent had indicated a decrease in physical activity, whereas patients living in rural areas were less likely to decrease their physical activity (half as often) compared to urban populations.

To better understand how motivational drivers influence the level of physical activity, our analysis relied on Self-Determination Theory (SDT) which offers a conceptual basis for exploring physical exercise motivation (42, 43). Following SDT the motivation to participate and persist in physical activity may be self-determined (freely initiated by the individual) or externally controlled (through pressure from others) (33).

Our findings are consistent with previous research suggesting that individuals, who are more intrinsic and selfdetermined in their motivation, tend toward more frequent and regular physical exercise (44). Especially, *Intrinsic Motivation* and *Integrated Regulation*, the most self-determined form of external regulation, emerged as distinct motivational factors for increasing outdoor activities during lockdowns. In addition, cross-category analysis suggests a reinforcing effect of exercising in green and natural areas. Compared with exercising indoors, exercising outdoors results in greater feelings of revitalization, enjoyment, and satisfaction (45). Furthermore, a review by Gladewell et al. suggests that green exercise reduces perceived effort by enhancing mood and reducing awareness of physiological sensations, as well as negative emotions. This in turn might increase motivation (46).

Other studies referring to SDT in exploring the physical exercise behavior of CVD patients report self-determined motivation to be a significant predictor of long-term exercise behavior (47) as well as on exercise volume and length of exercise session duration (48). Consequently, physical activity programs are generally designed to facilitate more self-determined regulation of behavior, promote the fulfillment of basic needs, offer choice, and avoid external pressures for compliance (42).

In our sample, participating in physical activity was considered as a key component of maintaining a healthy lifestyle. Insights form the transcripts suggested that study participants felt confident in managing their disease and in exercising without the consultation of a trainer, therapist, or physician. Participants even reported that they had less personal contact to their physician or therapist during the lockdowns. On the one hand, the absence of external regulation (instructions by a therapist or physician) may have triggered study participants to take more responsibility for their own health and to improve their health behavior toward a healthier lifestyle. Consequently, they might be more self-determined in their motivation to exercise physical activity, which is suggested to enhance the frequency and persistence in exercising. In our sample, there were only two individuals indicating that they followed the advice of their physician in exercising. However, these study participants referred to pre-COVID-19 times when having received physician's recommendation for exercising.

On the other hand, there are reasons to assume that external regulation in the form of supervised training may play a decisive role for patients' motivation. If less experienced or physically impaired individuals need more assistance, the absence of a therapist or physician might be discouraging for this group. The positive effect of external regulation has been suggested by a study of Kulnik et al. (49). The study assessed the change in exercise capacity during the first COVID-19 lockdown in spring 2020. The study was conducted on patients in cardiac rehabilitation, that had been attending weekly supervised groupbased training sessions prior to the first lockdown. Their findings suggest that exercise capacity reduced over time. Especially this group of patients was in favor of professional supervision of their training and of the motivational effect of training together. The authors explicitly "acknowledge the potential for selection bias, whereby study recruits might represent more exercise-conscious patients who were more motivated to return to group-based CR sessions after lockdown" (p. 10). Kulnik et al. further outline that CVD patients found alternatives for a supervised group training as training at home or outdoors, going for walks, or doing gardening. But, those activities did not compensate for the group training (49).

In line with the findings of Kulnik et al. our study shows a decrease in physical activity for certain individuals from the group who used to exercise indoors. Only four participants in our sample missed the trainer and the group feeling when exercising alone and found it harder to adapt to changing circumstances and switch to autonomous training.

The effect of external regulation and autonomous training on the persistence in physical activity in people with CVD may be worth being examined in future research, given the distinct situation and health needs of this vulnerable group.

The results of this study can be used for refining public health initiatives. Previous studies recommend home-based exercise (50) programs combined with supervision for highrisk patients (16) to promote the maintenance of physical activity of people with CVD and other vulnerable groups during a pandemic. Our results show that participants prefer easily accessible media like television for participating in home-based exercising. Further, our findings emphasize the benefits of moderate outdoor exercising which resulted in the highest consistency in physical activity patterns throughout the pandemic. This implies that physical activity programs for vulnerable populations should include a mix of indoor and outdoor exercising, so that people can choose between different alternatives in the event of a closing of sports facilities. Home-based exercise programs could be extended to instruct participants in how to use walking sticks, or how to plan and organize activities like hiking or biking. Furthermore,

home-based exercise programs could prepare participants for subsequent outdoor activities, for example offering joint warmup sessions and motivating participants to continue exercising outdoors. In addition, supervised outdoor group training programs could attract persons who seek professional advice and group feeling.

In our sample, the decrease in physical activity resulted from difficulties experienced by certain study participants to adapt physical activity behaviors. Study participants who were used to exercise indoors were confronted with a discontinuation of accustomed exercising habits which seemed to impact their physical activity levels even beyond the lockdown period. We therefore recommend lifestyle coaching programs promoting adaptive capacities of people and thereby help individuals to leave familiar exercising habits and find alternatives. Supporting people in developing coping strategies could strengthen their resilience in future distortions.

In support of previous research, our findings show that family encouragement may facilitate or hamper physical activity (51). Results suggest that study participants prefer companionship of a partner, friend, or a dog when exercising outdoors. Analysis revealed an unintended negative effect on physical activity resulting from children or partners offering support in doing the shopping. On the one hand, the prime motivation was to protect a high-risk person from a possible exposure to the virus. On the other hand, this was reducing their daily steps. Public health planners are recommended to re-evaluate measures like introducing special shopping hours reserved for elderly or vulnerable persons to avoid crowded supermarkets, which has been introduced as a general recommendation in Austria during the first lockdown.

Assuming that the general population behaves similar than our study participants, our findings can be used to promote physical activity for a wider target group. Previous studies highlighted time availability as an important facilitator or barrier to physical activity during the pandemic (52, 53). This was also reflected in our study findings. Study participants pointed to the importance of having enough time for integrating regular exercising into daily routine. Adapting working times or opening times of public childcare facilities to enable a better time management could support people to introduce regular exercise in their daily routine. Based on the finding that individuals, who were used to outdoor exercising, continued to be active, we recommend urban planners to incorporate health aspects and design easily accessible spaces for walking, cycling, and active living. In a similar vein, Levinger et al. highlight the benefits of outdoors for physical and mental health in general and point to the importance of better access to parks and nature in urban locations. Thereby, needs of the elderly population and people with disability must be taken into account (54). Possible incentives could be the placement of information signs and outdoor equipment promoting easy to follow physical exercises or providing walking, running, or biking tours in living areas.

There are some limitations which need to be considered when interpreting study results. First, our sample consists of individuals with advanced disease self-management capacities. The majority of study participants were retired. Those who were working indicated that they had more leisure time during the lockdowns. This special group had more time at their disposal to reflect and manage their lifestyle. Therefore, the results presented in this paper are limited regarding representativeness. Second, the study is designed as exploratory research aiming to detect possible determinants of physical activity during the pandemic. The results, especially from the sub-analyses with small sample sizes, suggest relations, which need to be investigated in quantitative studies using larger sample sizes. Further research could also focus on gender or age differences, which we could not consider due to the small sample size especially in the sub-analyses. Third, compared to other research examining the impact of the pandemic on the level of physical activities, this study did not apply objective measures to assess the level of physical activity like using accelerometer data. Therefore, findings might be affected by imprecise assessments of physical activity due to differing reference frames of study participants. However, it allowed participants to evaluate changes in physical activity within their own reference framework, which can hardly be considered in quantitative study designs. For example, in the study of Vetrovsky et al. all patients were participants of an ongoing randomized controlled trial of an outside walking intervention (18). Their outcome measure are step counts based on wearing an accelerometer. Since their results are based on outdoor activity and might simply reflect restrictions on outside activities, the authors cannot rule out that a substitution with indoor activities took place. One participant from our study for instance outlined that he started the day with morning gymnastics in the bed. Moreover, certain intercorrelations can hardly be considered in large quantitative studies. Five participants (14%) in our sample reported a decrease in physical activity due to an injury, comorbidity, or aggravation of disease. In this case, the reduction in physical activity was not directly linked with lockdown measures.

Conclusion

Previous research on the impact of the pandemic on physical activity patterns of people with cardiovascular diseases pointed to a decline in physical activity levels during the first lock down phase. Consistent with recent longitudinal studies we show a recovery of physical activity levels under certain conditions. Findings suggest that participants, who were accustomed to moderate outdoor or home exercising, were able to maintain or even increase pre-pandemic physical activity levels by continuing or intensifying activities that were not impacted by public health restrictions. Only a few participants, who were used to indoor exercising prior to the pandemic, experienced difficulties in adapting their physical activity patterns to the pandemic situation. Furthermore, exercising in green natural areas turns out as multiplicator for engagement in physical activities presumably via motivation. Intrinsic motivation and self-determined motivation are shown to be main drivers for maintaining or even increasing physical activity. Results suggest that public health interventions should promote outdoor activities, design healthy cities with easily accessible green natural areas and provide lifestyle coaching to enhance adaptive capacities to be better prepared for a potential upcoming pandemic wave.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because transcripts may include confidental and personal information about study participants. The interview schedule, main and sub-categories, their descriptions as well as original contributions of study participants (sample quotes) are provided in the article/Supplementary material. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to EK, eva.krczal@donau-uni.ac.at.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the University for Continuing Education Krems, Austria. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

EK designed the study. EK and WH contributed to data interpretation. EK wrote the manuscript with support of WH. WH contributed to literature research, literature analysis, and focused on core messages and finetuning of the paper. Both authors have contributed to, read, and approved the submitted version of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the assistance of Erika Loichtl, Helene Becke, Julia Chlebecek, Petra Janesch, Volker Kogler, Philipp Pötzl, and Kathrin Samuels, all postgraduate master students at University for Continuing Education Krems and professionals in the field of healthcare management, social work or social management who promoted the study using their networks, conducted interviews and assisted to the study analysis. Further, authors are thankful to study participants who dedicated their time to share their experiences and perspectives.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Kiss P, Carcel C, Hockham C, Peters SAE. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the care and management of patients with acute cardiovascular disease: a systematic review. *Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes*. (2021) 7:18–27. doi: 10.1093/ehjqcco/qcaa084

2. Killgore WDS, Cloonan SA, Taylor EC, Dailey NS. Loneliness: a signature mental health concern in the era of COVID-19. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 290:113117. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113117

3. Knolle F, Ronan L, Murray GK. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: a comparison between Germany and the UK. *BMC Psychol.* (2021) 9:60. doi: 10.1186/s40359-021-00565-y

4. Li SH, Beames JR, Newby JM, Maston K, Christensen H, Werner-Seidler A. The impact of COVID-19 on the lives and mental health of Australian adolescents. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry.* (2021) 4:1–13. doi: 10.1007/s00787-021-01790-x

5. Mattioli AV, Sciomer S, Cocchi C, Maffei S, Gallina S. Quarantine during COVID-19 outbreak: changes in diet and physical activity increase the risk of cardiovascular disease. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2020) 30:1409-17. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2020.05.020

6. Meyer J, McDowell C, Lansing J, Brower C, Smith L, Tully M, et al. Changes in physical activity and sedentary behavior in response to COVID-19 and their associations with mental health in 3052 US adults. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:6469. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17186469

7. Freiberg A, Schubert M, Romero Starke K, Hegewald J, Seidler A. A rapid review on the influence of COVID-19 lockdown and quarantine measures on modifiable cardiovascular risk factors in the general population. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:8567. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18168567

 Stockwell S, Trott M, Tully M, Shin J, Barnett Y, Butler L, et al. Changes in physical activity and sedentary behaviours from before to during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown: a systematic review. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med.* (2021) 7:e000960. doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2020-000960

9. Kirsch M, Vitiello D. The COVID-19 pandemic lowers active behavior of patients with cardiovascular diseases, healthy peoples and athletes. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:1108. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19031108

10. Lippi G, Henry BM, Sanchis-Gomar F. Physical inactivity and cardiovascular disease at the time of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* (2020) 27:906–8. doi: 10.1177/2047487320916823

11. Martinez-Ferran M, de la Guía-Galipienso F, Sanchis-Gomar F, Pareja-Galeano H. Metabolic impacts of confinement during the COVID-19 pandemic due to modified diet and physical activity habits. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:1549. doi: 10.3390/nu12061549

12. Chandrasekaran B, Ganesan TB. Sedentarism and chronic disease risk in COVID 19 lockdown – a scoping review. *Scott Med J.* (2021) 66:3– 10. doi: 10.1177/0036933020946336

13. Tsao CW, Aday AW, Almarzooq ZI, Alonso A, Beaton AZ, Bittencourt MS, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2022 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation.* (2022) 145:e153-639. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000001052

14. Shortreed SM, Peeters A, Forbes AB. Estimating the effect of long-term physical activity on cardiovascular disease and mortality: evidence from the Framingham Heart Study. *Heart.* (2013) 99:649–54. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2012-303461

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.947250/full#supplementary-material

15. Prior PL, Suskin N. Exercise for stroke prevention. *Stroke Vasc Neurol.* (2018) 3:59–68. doi: 10.1136/svn-2018-000155

16. Peçanha T, Goessler KF, Roschel H, Gualano B. Social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic can increase physical inactivity and the global burden of cardiovascular disease. *Am J Physiol-Heart Circ Physiol.* (2020) 318:H1441–6. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00268.2020

17. Welty FK, Rajai N, Amangurbanova M. Comprehensive review of cardiovascular complications of Coronavirus Disease 2019 and beneficial treatments. *Cardiol Rev.* (2022) 30:145–57. doi: 10.1097/CRD.00000000000022

18. Vetrovsky T, Frybova T, Gant I, Semerad M, Cimler R, Bunc V, et al. The detrimental effect of COVID-19 nationwide quarantine on accelerometerassessed physical activity of heart failure patients. *ESC Heart Fail.* (2020) 7:2093– 7. doi: 10.1002/ehf2.12916

19. Al Fagih A, Al Onazi M, Al Basiri S, AL-Kaf F, Dagriri K, Al Hebaishi Y, et al. Remotely monitored inactivity due to COVID-19 lockdowns: potential hazard for heart failure patients. *Saudi Med J.* (2020) 41:1211–6. doi: 10.15537/smj.2020.11.25449

20. Sassone B, Mandini S, Grazzi G, Mazzoni G, Myers J, Pasanisi G. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on physical activity in patients with implantable cardioverter-defibrillators. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev.* (2020) 40:285-6. doi: 10.1097/HCR.0000000000539

21. Chagué F, Boulin M, Eicher J, Bichat F, Saint Jalmes M, Cransac-Miet A, et al. Impact of lockdown on patients with congestive heart failure during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. *ESC Heart Fail.* (2020) 7:4420– 3. doi: 10.1002/ehf2.13016

22. van Bakel BMA, Bakker EA, De Vries F, Thijssen DHJ, Eijsvogels TMH. Impact of COVID-19 lockdown on physical activity and sedentary behaviour in Dutch cardiovascular disease patients. *Neth Heart J.* (2021) 29:273–9. doi: 10.1007/s12471-021-01550-1

23. Elran-Barak R, Mozeikov M. One month into the reinforcement of social distancing due to the COVID-19 outbreak: subjective health, health behaviors, and loneliness among people with chronic medical conditions. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:5403. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17155403

24. Rogers NT, Waterlow NR, Brindle H, Enria L, Eggo RM, Lees S, et al. Behavioral change towards reduced intensity physical activity is disproportionately prevalent among adults with serious health issues or self-perception of high risk during the UK COVID-19 lockdown. *Front Public Health.* (2020) 8:575091. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.575091

25. van Bakel BMA, Bakker EA, de Vries F, Thijssen DHJ, Eijsvogels TMH. Changes in physical activity and sedentary behaviour in cardiovascular disease patients during the COVID-19 lockdown. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:11929. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182211929

26. Lu Y, Murugiah K, Jones PW, Massey DS, Mahajan S, Caraballo C, et al. Physical activity patterns among patients with intracardiac remote monitoring devices before, during, and after COVID-19-related public health restrictions. *Infect Dis.* (2021). Available at: http://medrxiv.org/lookup/doi/10.1101/2021.02.27. 21252558 (Accessed May 3, 2022).

27. Corbin JM, Strauss AL. Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. 4rth Edn. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE (2015) 431 p.

28. Yin RK. Qualitative Research From Start to Finish. 2nd Edn. New York, NY; London: The Guilford Press (2016). p. 386.

29. Dolgin M, New York Heart Association (editors). *Nomenclature and Criteria for Diagnosis of Diseases of the Heart and Great Vessels*. 9. ed., 3. print. Boston, MA: Little, Brown and Co. (1994). p. 334.

30. Dresing T, Pehl T. Praxisbuch Interview, Transkription & Analyse: Anleitungen und Regelsysteme für qualitativ Forschende. 8. Auflage. Marburg: Eigenverlag (2018). p. 72.

31. Wilkinson S. Focus group research. In: Silverman D, editor. *Qualitative Research: Theory, Method and Practice. 2nd Edn.* London: Sage Publications (2004). p. 177–99.

32. Kuckartz U. *Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: Methoden, Praxis, Computerunterstützung.* 4. Auflage. Weinheim Basel: Beltz Juventa (2018). p. 240.

33. Deci EL, Ryan RM. Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior. New York, NY: Springer Science+Business Media (1985). p. 371.

34. Deci EL, Vallerand RJ, Pelletier LG, Ryan RM. Motivation and education: the self-determination perspective. *Educ Psychol.* (1991) 26:325–46. doi: 10.1080/00461520.1991.9653137

35. McCarthy H, Potts HWW, Fisher A. Physical activity behavior before, during, and after COVID-19 restrictions: longitudinal smartphone-Tracking study of adults in the United Kingdom. *J Med Internet Res.* (2021) 23:e23701. doi: 10.2196/23701

36. Finlay JM, Kler JS, O'Shea BQ, Eastman MR, Vinson YR, Kobayashi LC. Coping during the COVID-19 pandemic: a qualitative study of older adults across the United States. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:643807. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.643807

37. Hargreaves EA, Lee C, Jenkins M, Calverley JR, Hodge K, Houge Mackenzie S. Changes in physical activity pre-, during and post-lockdown COVID-19 restrictions in New Zealand and the explanatory role of daily hassles. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:642954. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.642954

38. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behavior. *Organ Behav Hum Decis Process.* (1991) 50:179–211. doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T

39. McAuley E, Blissmer B. Self-efficacy determinants and consequences of physical activity. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* (2000) 28:85–8. Available online at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10902091/

40. Labib SM, Browning MHEM, Rigolon A, Helbich M, James P. Nature's contributions in coping with a pandemic in the 21st century: a narrative review of evidence during COVID-19. *Sci Total Environ.* (2022) 833:155095. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022. 155095

41. Robinson JM, Brindley P, Cameron R, MacCarthy D, Jorgensen A. Nature's role in supporting health during the COVID-19 pandemic: a geospatial and socioecological study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:2227. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18052227

42. Wilson PM, Mack DE, Grattan KP. Understanding motivation for exercise: a self-determination theory perspective. *Can Psychol Can.* (2008) 49:250– 6. doi: 10.1037/a0012762

43. Hagger MS, Chatzisarantis NLD (editors). Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Exercise and Sport. Champaign: Human Kinetics (2007). p. 375.

44. Duncan LR, Hall CR, Wilson PM, O J. Exercise motivation: a cross-sectional analysis examining its relationships with frequency, intensity, and duration of exercise. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2010) 7:7. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-7-7

45. Thompson Coon J, Boddy K, Stein K, Whear R, Barton J, Depledge MH. Does participating in physical activity in outdoor natural environments have a greater effect on physical and mental wellbeing than physical activity indoors? A systematic review. *Environ Sci Technol.* (2011) 45:1761–72. doi: 10.1021/es102947t

46. Gladwell VF, Brown DK, Wood C, Sandercock GR, Barton JL. The great outdoors: how a green exercise environment can benefit all. *Extreme Physiol Med.* (2013) 2:3. doi: 10.1186/2046-7648-2-3

47. Slovinec D'Angelo ME, Pelletier LG, Reid RD, Huta V. The roles of selfefficacy and motivation in the prediction of short- and long-term adherence to exercise among patients with coronary heart disease. *Health Psychol.* (2014) 33:1344–53. doi: 10.1037/hea0000094

48. Russell KL, Bray SR. Promoting self-determined motivation for exercise in cardiac rehabilitation: the role of autonomy support. *Rehabil Psychol.* (2010) 55:74–80. doi: 10.1037/a0018416

49. Kulnik ST, Sareban M, Höppchen I, Droese S, Egger A, Gutenberg J, et al. Outpatient cardiac rehabilitation closure and home-based exercise training during the first COVID-19 lockdown in Austria: a mixed-methods study. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:817912. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.817912

50. Bentlage E, Ammar A, How D, Ahmed M, Trabelsi K, Chtourou H, et al. Practical recommendations for maintaining active lifestyle during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic literature review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:6265. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176265

51. Symons M, Meira Cunha C, Poels K, Vandebosch H, Dens N, Alida Cutello C. Physical activity during the first lockdown of the COVID-19 pandemic: investigating the reliance on digital technologies, perceived benefits, barriers and the impact of affect. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:5555. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18115555

52. Knell G, Robertson MC, Dooley EE, Burford K, Mendez KS. Health behavior changes during COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent "Stay-at-Home" orders. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:6268. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176268

53. Petersen JA, Naish C, Ghoneim D, Cabaj JL, Doyle-Baker PK, McCormack GR. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on physical activity and sedentary behaviour: a qualitative study in a Canadian City. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:4441. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18094441

54. Levinger P, Cerin E, Milner C, Hill KD. Older people and nature: the benefits of outdoors, parks and nature in light of COVID-19 and beyond- where to from here? *Int J Environ Health Res.* (2022) 32:1329–36. doi: 10.1080/09603123.2021.1879739

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Caress Alithia Dean, Oakland University, United States

REVIEWED BY Muhammad Salar Khan, George Mason University, United States David Kitara Lagoro, Gulu University, Uganda

*CORRESPONDENCE Michaéla C. Schippers mschippers@rsm.nl

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 23 May 2022 ACCEPTED 25 July 2022 PUBLISHED 25 August 2022

CITATION

Schippers MC, Ioannidis JPA and Joffe AR (2022) Aggressive measures, rising inequalities, and mass formation during the COVID-19 crisis: An overview and proposed way forward. *Front. Public Health* 10:950965. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.950965

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Schippers, loannidis and Joffe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Aggressive measures, rising inequalities, and mass formation during the COVID-19 crisis: An overview and proposed way forward

Michaéla C. Schippers^{1*}, John P. A. Ioannidis^{2,3,4,5,6} and Ari R. Joffe^{7,8}

¹Department of Technology and Operations Management, Rotterdam School of Management, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ²Department of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, ³Department of Epidemiology and Population Health, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, ⁴Department of Biomedical Data Science, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, ⁵Department of Statistics, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, ⁶Meta-Research Innovation Center at Stanford (METRICS), Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, ⁷Division of Critical Care Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Stollery Children's Hospital, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, ⁸John Dossetor Health Ethics Center, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

A series of aggressive restrictive measures were adopted around the world in 2020-2022 to attempt to prevent SARS-CoV-2 from spreading. However, it has become increasingly clear the most aggressive (lockdown) response strategies may involve negative side-effects such as a steep increase in poverty, hunger, and inequalities. Several economic, educational, and health repercussions have fallen disproportionately on children, students, young workers, and especially on groups with pre-existing inequalities such as low-income families, ethnic minorities, and women. This has led to a vicious cycle of rising inequalities and health issues. For example, educational and financial security decreased along with rising unemployment and loss of life purpose. Domestic violence surged due to dysfunctional families being forced to spend more time with each other. In the current narrative and scoping review, we describe macro-dynamics that are taking place because of aggressive public health policies and psychological tactics to influence public behavior, such as mass formation and crowd behavior. Coupled with the effect of inequalities, we describe how these factors can interact toward aggravating ripple effects. In light of evidence regarding the health, economic and social costs, that likely far outweigh potential benefits, the authors suggest that, first, where applicable, aggressive lockdown policies should be reversed and their re-adoption in the future should be avoided. If measures are needed, these should be non-disruptive. Second, it is important to assess dispassionately the damage done by aggressive measures and offer ways to alleviate the burden and long-term effects. Third, the structures in place that have led to counterproductive policies should be assessed and ways should be sought to optimize decision-making, such as counteracting groupthink and increasing the level of reflexivity. Finally, a package of scalable positive psychology interventions is suggested to counteract the damage done and improve humanity's prospects.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, government response, mass formation, emergency management (EM), rising inequalities

Introduction

Historically, health crises have prompted governments and other authorities to act, with differing outcomes [cf. (1-3)]. Global and local health initiatives have long been in place [e.g., see (4)]. For the COVID-19 crisis, governments, and other authorities around the world (e.g., public health agencies, state and county leaders for their citizens, or businesses for their employees) adopted different ways of managing the pandemic. The response often included restrictive population-wide measures, summarized as non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs). Many countries opted for long-term strict and aggressive NPIs (5). However, there is little proof that most aggressive measures were more efficient than less disruptive, focused measures [e.g., (6-8)]. Some adopted measures may even have severe negative consequences [for reviews see e.g., (6, 9, 10)]. Furthermore, decision-makers have overly focused on one problem, COVID-19, instead of a more holistic approach (11-13). Together, this crisis management has led to rising inequalities and created new ones (14, 15).

Despite this, many countries opted for long-term strict and aggressive NPIs (5). A recent review and meta-analysis concluded that while lockdowns had little or no beneficial health effects, the economic and social costs were huge (16). Some scientists deem that lockdowns may be the "single biggest public health mistake in history" (17), worrying about longterm repercussions (10, 18). Measures such as closing businesses and disrupting global supply chains (19-21) have taken a toll on the world economy, and on physical and mental health (10, 22, 23). As early as November 2020, the World Bank estimated that the COVID-19 crisis would push 88-115 million people into extreme poverty (24), and a sharp increase in food insecurity worldwide led to hundreds of millions of additional people at risk of starving and food-insecurity (25-28). These macro-economic consequences can worsen mental health issues (29, 30) even cause fragmentation of society (31). Long-term negative economic and health consequences are exacerbated by increasing inequalities (32). Wealth distributions have become more skewed, worsening a pre-pandemic crisis. The top 10% of the global population owns 76% of the total wealth, while the bottom 50% share a mere 2% (33). In September 2021, 1% of the world's population held 45.8% of global wealth (34).

Prior research has shown that, both in the animal kingdom and within the human population, (extreme) levels of inequality often give rise to hierarchies and status dynamics that lead to negative health outcomes (35-39). The Whitehall studies investigating long-term social determinants of health found higher mortality rates in men and women of lower employment grades (40). Up to 20 years of difference in life expectancy has been observed between countries with a large status and economic differences vs. more well-off egalitarian countries (41). Some NPIs may have a large effect on increasing preexisting inequalities and creating new ones, posing a threat to health and shortening longevity (15). Similarly, certain behavioral interventions along with NPIs used by governments to enforce compliance also worsened inequality. Concurrently, the COVID-19 crisis and the measures taken seem to have offered an opportunity to well-off people who profited from the transformation of life from physical to digital [e.g., (42)], and/or profited from the crisis (43). Many large companies profited, while many small companies crumbled, accelerating pre-existing trends (44).

The rising inequalities have consequences beyond mere financial insecurity, given the dynamism of extreme hierarchical differences (45). From a macro-dynamic perspective, aggressive health policies accompanied by psychological tactics to influence public behavior lead to mass formation and crowd behavior, and the breakdown of normal behavior [cf. (46, 47)]. The burden of financial and food insecurity and deterioration of mental and physical health fall disproportionally on already disadvantaged groups (48, 49), with predictable consequences for social capital and health (50–52). The general insecurity and trauma caused by the insecurity and uncontrollability of the events also contribute to mental health issues (46, 51, 53).

The current narrative and scoping review examines the consequences of aggressive NPIs on rising inequalities and adverse outcomes for humankind (see Figure 1). We describe how these NPIs impact mass formation and crowd behavior (Section Aggressive measures, mass formation and crowd behavior), *via* psychological tactics such as crowd manipulation and control (Section Psychological tactics). Section Centralized decision making and one narrative discusses the role of centralized decision making with one narrative and counter



movements. Section Collective trauma and conservation of resources addressed issues of collective trauma and offers perspectives from the conservation of resources theory. Section Rising inequalities offers an overview of the resulting increase in inequalities in multiple dimensions: socio-economic, gender, (mental and physical) health, and educational. Section Could we have done better? discusses whether we could have done better, and Section Discussion proposes ways forward. We end with a discussion and recommendations on ways to mitigate the negative effects resulting from aggressive measures.

Aggressive measures, mass formation, and crowd behavior

During the COVID-19 crisis, governments took the lead in managing the crisis for which they relied on NPIs. However, the 2007 and 2019 reports concluded that high-quality research on NPIs is lacking, and a list of NPIs was assessed in terms of effectiveness (54, 55). In the 2007 paper, it was commented that the scientific base of high quality studies on NPIs is exceedingly small (54), and interventions that were explicitly not recommended were the general use of masks and other protective equipment and social distancing (54). Also, the experts surveyed for this research mentioned that forcibly limiting assembly or movement was legally and ethically problematic; they thought that mandatory long-term community restrictions and compulsory quarantine would lead to public opposition, and practical and logistical problems. It was concluded that voluntary measures and guidelines would be more acceptable and thus effective (54). The 2019 WHO report speaks of spreading cases over a longer period to reduce the height of the peak in "cases" but mentions NPIs such as community use of face masks, border closures, entry- and exit screening, and school closures as generally ineffective. Of the 18 NPIs mentioned in the report, measures such as ventilation and isolation of sick individuals were seen as effective (55). The quality of most studies in the report was rated as (very) low, making it hard to determine effective NPIs, and the possible harmful effects were not weighed. In 2020, a WHO report appeared with considerations on how to ease measures and this report also discussed the importance of human rights protection and the protection of vulnerable populations (56). The extent to which governmental decision-making was flawed is still a matter of debate [e.g., (57)].

Several social psychological theories can explain what could have gone wrong in terms of these interactions. Group processes and crowd psychology predicts that especially in times of crisis people will be inclined to look at governments and authorities to guide their behavior [cf. (1, 3)]. As these authorities respond with guidelines for behavior and NPIs, this can lead to mass formation and crowd formation, similar to the way molecules behave or swarm, with ensuing collective behavior (47, 58, 59). Members of such groups often develop a high degree of emotional like-mindedness, and conventional inhibitions in such groups often decrease (60). In light of the crisis, experts were asked to advise governments, and these used behavioral interventions to steer public behavior in the desired direction and, simultaneously, the debate became highly polarized and politicized (61, 62). Indeed, the behavior of people changed quite radically in the early days of the crisis (63, 64), as psychologists advised governments on how to use psychological tactics to affect behavior change [e.g., (65, 66)]. A special journal issue described the many social group psychological aspects such as impact on societies, social connectedness, and new collective behaviors and inequalities (67). Within the social psychological field of crowd psychology, explanations are offered as to why the behavior of a crowd differs from that of the individuals within the crowd. These theories view the crowd as an entity, where individual responsibility is lost (68). In such a crowd, individuals tend to follow predominant ideas and emotions of the crowd, in a form of shared consciousness, or "collective mind." Then it becomes relatively easy to violate personal and social norms and such crowds can become destructive (59). This theory may help explain deindividuation and aggression sometimes seen in large groups (69). In such groups, deindividuated people often show more sensitivity and conformance to situation-specific norms and support a social identity model of deindividuation (69).

In the early phase of a crisis, people are inclined to embrace a superordinate level of identity and look for (national) leaders for support and guidance (70). Strong responses toward group members who deviate from new norms are deemed legitimate by many (70, 71), although this may also be dependent on the status of the group member (72), and can change as the crisis progresses. Fluctuations or changes in group behaviors occur later on as people's expectations of a return to normalcy are not met, or if they realize the downsides (70). Indeed, as discontent rises around the globe, citizens may engage in activism (73) and lawsuits against authorities for what they perceived as poor crisis management (74). In times of crisis, blame is often laid on minority groups, who are subsequently scapegoated and persecuted (3). This effect adds to minorities and the poorest already carrying the largest burden for the NPIs (10, 75, 76).

Psychological tactics

Crowd manipulation, propaganda, and crowd control

As people turn to leaders in times of crisis (77, 78), leaders have the responsibility to make important and consequential decisions (13). These leaders can choose to intervene in different ways. In general, and especially at the beginning of a crisis, people are inclined to ask for and accept strong leadership [cf. (79, 80)]. Leaders faced the choice between espousing voluntariness in policies or mandating rules and regulations to deal with the crisis (81-83). Although during a crisis leaders tend to enforce rules (84), some voluntariness may be key to trust in government (85). There is some evidence that voluntary measures are more supported than the enforced ones (85), and that voluntariness may offset the experienced disadvantages of policies (5, 83). In general, citizen engagement has many advantages (86). Moreover, it seems that many assumptions on which the NPIs are founded, seem to be biased at best (10, 13, 57). A review of over 100 studies about the COVID-19 crisis handling revealed that overall, the net effects of the policies were negative (87). Studies that suggest substantial benefits of lockdown, typically have flaws or limitations that seriously question the validity, e.g., their counterfactual is based on tenuous assumptions in forecasting models (88), they use interrupted time-series designs without a stable long-term period before and after intervention and without controlling for confounders (89, 90), and/or have no control non-intervention group (i.e., not a difference-in-difference approach) (89, 90), and other flaws (16). Furthermore, it was shown that lockdowns were very costly economically, but probably did not save lives (6, 91). Despite this, citizens generally believed many unfounded COVID-19 scientific claims leading to strong support of NPIs (92). Other options such as involving communities in responses to collective threats, may have avoided many if not all of the negative side effects (63), and voluntary measures may have been better in terms of ethics and human rights (5, 93).

Crowd manipulation, or the use of behavior change techniques based on crowd psychology, could have both intended and unintended consequences (47). While the theory of mass formation has been criticized for being too general (94), it is a meta-theory that seems to be supported by more microand middle-range theories on the social psychology of group dynamics and group behavior. These include theories such as group cohesion and intergroup conflict (47). For instance, large increases in perceived threat to a group were significantly related to diminished problem-solving effectiveness (95). A meta-analysis studying 335 effect sizes from 83 samples across 31 countries found that under conditions of strong population norms, norm-behavior associations were also stronger (i.e. people acting according to their norms), and the level of collectivism strengthened these norm effects (96). Governments around the world have strongly communicated a high level of threat and called on norms of collectivism, obedience, and solidarity to excuse NPIs and accompanying harms (10). Overamplifying the harms of COVID-19 leads to citizens becoming more acceptant of the lifestyle changes (97). While these manipulations can in theory benefit the public, the required behaviors have had harmful consequences, especially for vulnerable groups (10, 13, 16, 98). Note that one does not need to invoke some nefarious totalitarianism (99). There can be extreme bonding among people to defeat a real or imagined enemy, in this case, a virus (70). A meta-analysis showed that there is a tendency of ingroup bonding (closing the ranks) combined with a tendency to focus on the outgroup as the source of the threat (100). Even when external threats are not related to a specific outgroup, hostility, prejudice, and discrimination are aimed at outgroups, and detrimental intergroup outcomes occur (1). Dehumanization or the "act of denying outgroup members human-like attributes" [(1), p. 110] may be a mediating factor between a perceived threat and negative behaviors and attitudes toward that group (101). This is strengthened by the moralization of the COVID-19 response which led citizens to believe it is better to impose restrictions than to take no action (102). For the COVID-19 crisis, the superimposed economic crisis contributes to higher levels of hostility and discrimination (and dehumanization) of outgroups to which the cause of the crisis is attributed (1, 103-105). Interestingly, this prejudice against outgroups was not apparent when a systemlevel explanation for a crisis, i.e. the economic system, was made salient (103). Also, the status of the outgroup moderates this effect: the prejudice is lower when the status of the outgroup is higher (100).

Mass formation concerning reacting to an external threat combined with the resulting extreme inequality can potentially be very harmful [cf. (103, 105)]. Citizen behavior may be unfortunately steered in a direction of societal damage. Mass formation can make people adopt ideas that are incompatible with their previous beliefs. For instance, many people with supposedly progressive ideologies supported harsh measures against unvaccinated people, such as requiring unvaccinated individuals to always remain confined to their homes. Some thought governments should even imprison individuals who publicly questioned vaccine risk-benefit. Moreover, they also thought that unvaccinated individuals should have a tracking device, or be locked up in designated facilities or locations until they are vaccinated (106). These beliefs have nothing to do with improving the uptake of effective vaccines (a most welcome outcome) but delve into other priorities where aggression is the main theme. This kind of dehumanization of a large group could create a whole new kind of inequality: a privileged group of people religiously following governmental response vs. a scapegoated group questioning official policies.

The divide between those groups may have many consequences, from not being willing to work with a coworker who fails to conform to condoning the violation of basic human rights for such a group with exclusion from society (61). A bias seems to work in the direction of the government responses: a study using a representative sample from 10,270 respondents from 21 countries showed that vaccinated people have a high antipathy against unvaccinated people, 2.5 times more than a more traditional target such as immigrants from the Middle East (61). Interestingly, the antipathy is larger in countries with higher social trust and fewer COVID-19 deaths. In the study, no bias from the unvaccinated toward the vaccinated was detected (61). Why would agreeable and average people hold such beliefs? The answer may be that redirecting the blame toward a scapegoat may help people restore a sense of control, easing feelings of uncertainty (107). For instance, participants "were especially likely to attribute influence over life events to an enemy when the broader social system appeared disordered" [(107); Study 3]. The consequences of crowd behaviors like dehumanization and scapegoating may be quite severe, and it would be advised to work toward reducing intergroup tensions instead of fueling them (1). However, many government responses may have increased these effects rather than reduced them. For political reasons, sometimes governments chose to attribute the blame to some "enemy" while presenting themselves as the savior (3, 108). For the general public, in addition to a social and economic divide, these NPIs and such framing of the message can lead to feelings of social isolation, loss of meaning in life, anxiety, and aggressive feelings (47).

Experience of social isolation, meaninglessness, anxiety, frustration, and aggressive feelings

The COVID-19 crisis, as with any crisis, spurs feelings of anxiety, frustration, and aggression (109). Social safety theory would predict that social threat greatly impacts human health and behavior (109). Social isolation has led to the experience of meaninglessness, although the role of mindsets about the COVID-19 situation has been important (110). Three mindsets that people formed early in the pandemic, namely considering the pandemic as a catastrophe, as manageable, or as an opportunity, had a self-fulfilling impact on emotions, health behaviors, and well-being (110). In general, the heightened level of mortality salience has been related to heightened frustration and aggression in society [cf. (109)] and especially aggression toward those with opposing world views (111). Human aggression refers to intentional harmful behaviors directed at other individuals, and violence is aggression that has extreme harm as a goal. Hostile aggression is seen as

a form of aggression that is rather impulsive or unplanned, while instrumental aggression is premeditated and a proactive form of aggression that is used as a means to an end [for a review see (112)]. Aggressive thoughts and feelings are probably even more common, as many situations and interactions with others can give rise to frustration and aggression. While preexisting biological and learned tendencies may play a role, the current situation gives rise to a spike in aggressiveness, both verbal (e.g., people blaming certain groups for the current situation and thinking aloud about what should happen to such groups) and actual aggression. There is some evidence that interpersonal aggression and violence increased with aggressive NPIs, especially in places with lockdowns and stay-at-home orders (113, 114). As the crisis continued for much longer than initially expected, aggression and frustration could accumulate, without people having many chances to vent, e.g., by going to the gym.

Excitation transfer theory can explain why anger may be extended over longer periods, and this often happens when two or more arousing events are close in terms of time (115). When people are in a survival mode for prolonged periods, they become more fearful, distrustful, irritable, and aggressive (116). Although a survival mode can be an adaptive response to an immediate threat of existential danger, in the long-run overexposure to stress-response hormones harms mental health and relationships and leads to intergenerational trauma (116, 117). Displaced aggression directed at another person or target, which is not the source of the arousing frustration, can also occur. A meta-analysis showed that the magnitude of the displaced aggression was bigger in a negative setting (e.g., the current crisis). Also, if the provocateur and target were more similar to each other e.g., in terms of gender, race, and/or values, displaced aggression was higher (118).

A study among 2,799 Chinese college students (119) showed that the relationship between fear of COVID-19 and relational online aggressive behavior is mediated by moral disengagement (i.e., the process by which people convince themselves that ethical standards do not apply to them in a certain context, by reframing their behavior as morally acceptable). High mortality salience can also increase aggression, often directed at others who threaten one's worldview (120). Note that terror management can also lead to a more positive way of coping, such as reflecting on the meaning of life (111), and this may be a more effective way of dealing with a crisis (46). However, a study among 1,374 participants in seven Arab countries showed that traumatic stress coupled with collective identity trauma increased death anxiety. This was in turn related to reduced well-being, post-traumatic stress syndrome, anxiety, and depression (45). The authors speak of a vicious cycle of inequalities increasing infection and death from COVID-19 and the COVID-19 crisis increasing inequalities further (45). As many of the behaviors aimed at reducing the spread of the virus, such as hand-washing or masking, can be seen as group rituals (i.e., acts that people regularly repeat together in the same way), symbolizing important group values (e.g., health and safety) people deviating from such rituals provoke anger and moral outrage (10, 121). Individuals more worried about contracting the disease made harsher moral judgments than less worried individuals, even after controlling for political orientation (122). Also, people that were high on health anxiety before the crisis may be more vulnerable to excessive anxiety about COVID-19 (123), and would need therapeutic interventions (124).

There is also evidence that the COVID-19 crisis has increased psychological distress that could be related to proximal and distal defenses against death-related thoughts (45). The crisis has increased anxiety and fear for personal and loved one's physical well-being (125). Conversely, physical activity could act as a buffer (126) but anxiety-buffering outlets such as social networks and sports were inaccessible for many, leaving people vulnerable to experiencing even higher levels of death anxiety (45, 111). A "perfect storm" ensued, whereby stress and anxiety increased and pathways for releasing stress were cut off for many.

Furthermore, all of the social determinants of health were affected; none of these was equally distributed even before the crisis started, but the crisis has accelerated this uneven distribution (127, 128). According to Broadbent and Streicher (129), many of these effects were foreseeable, especially the effects of lockdowns on the Global Poor. During the COVID-19 crisis, commitments to reducing health inequalities were lost from view, or not very salient for wealthy countries, foreseeable health costs were large on deprivation of livelihood, disruption of health services for other conditions, and disruption of education and foreseeable health benefits were minimal (reduction of social contact to the extent modeled was impossible due to overcrowding and non-compliance necessary to sustain a livelihood, the much younger average age while severe COVID affects mostly older people) (129). Much of these effects have been a result of the government's response to the crisis and the choices made in this respect (128). In many countries, decisions were made unilaterally and an official narrative was supported and defended (130).

Centralized decision making and one narrative

Decision making during a health crisis is difficult as many issues need to be considered concurrently while data may be lacking or massive but still flawed (13, 131). Collective decisionmaking and intelligence are key to effective decision-making (132). However, sometimes it is falsely assumed that centralized decision making is the only method that may work. Another potential bias may be that a small group of experts is listened to, at the expense of experts that advocate a different route (133). An official narrative approach was followed (130, 134)

with counter narratives routinely labeled as misinformation (135). Sometimes the experts in control acquire so much power that they take over even the role of the opposition and dissenters are ostracized (136-138). Authorities have used media and public communication to impose their narrative (134). People and groups challenging the narrative often face dire consequences, from social exclusion to arrest and molestation at demonstrations, in both authoritarian and democratic countries (134). Concurrently, the question has been raised if coercive measures are desirable policy responses, as these have been seen as ineffective and counterproductive in the past (139), leading to distrust in institutions, alienation, and avoidance of care (139-141). The combination of coercive measures and a cancel culture to preserve an official narrative may backfire (139, 142). Public persuasive communication may lead to the opposite effect or behavior than intended (143, 144).

Historically, mixing political ideology with science, when the state regulates science, has led to disastrous outcomes. For instance, a Soviet geneticist favored by Stalin, dominated biology and agricultural science, rejecting Mendelian genetics. The careers and lives of geneticists who opposed him were destroyed, and many were arrested or killed (145, 146). When the Chinese Communists adopted the same approach, starvation killed 30 million people (145). Favoring one ideology at the expense of other views can lead to unwanted outcomes (10, 11, 13, 147), for example, using free speech to shut down free speech (148, 149). The resulting "cancel culture" may frighten other academics who will then be careful in speaking out and/or publishing on certain topics (147). Extremely centralized decision making has other disadvantages, including diminishing democracy, diminished freedoms, and threats to human rights (150-154). Trust in government may diminish, and support for the NPIs may waver (85). While COVID-19 was a major problem, tackling it should never be done to the exclusion of all other problems we face as humanity (57). Decision making should serve most humans, and science can aid here, but it should not be pretended that "science" is perfect and error-free [cf. (155)]. Concurrently, journalism and science should avoid propaganda (154).

Countermovements

Grassroots movements and countermovements have gained more research attention lately (156–161). As the distribution of power has been unequal throughout history and is typically held by an elite minority, enabling people to use collective power is an important aim of those movements (162). Selfserving (or apparently self-serving) actions of the elite may cause a sharp decrease in trust in institutions for some people, while others keep being trustful. With the COVID-19 crisis, trust in governments and scientific institutions oscillated but mostly decreased (163). People may join countermovements because they give meaning and the opportunity to reinstate dearly held values and beliefs (164). Many citizen activists feel they contribute to a better world in this way; especially the younger generation may be driven more by moral issues rather than political ones (165). However, such groups often face stigmatization and criminalization, undermining of group identity, and institutionalized social subordination (165, 166).

The effectiveness of countermovements

In terms of mass formation, possible countermovements have received far less scientific attention (167, 168). Many people may realize that the direction society is moving in does not match with core values, such as humanness (e.g., consideration, empathy), critical thinking, and freedom [cf. (169, 170)]. Indeed, during the COVID-19 crisis, there has been a global wave of social justice movements that draw attention to the negative effects of a multi-dimensional crisis (134). While most of these movements have a strictly non-violent character, the tactics used by these movements range from civil disobedience and (strict) nonviolence to anti-authoritarian strategies and self-defense, and even guerrilla warfare (164). Whether or not these movements are effective and what methods are most effective remains a matter of debate (160). While the authors of this article do not approve of any violence, some writers even argue that violence against a state that has a violence monopoly is sometimes justified and necessary (171). However, recent historical research shows that non-violent approaches are much more effective than violent ones (172). Regardless, the righteousness of such movements can be debated (173). Several authors have claimed that these movements in current times are misinformed and hence see the rise of these movements as dangerous (174). However, simply claiming that those movements are misinformed and labeling all information, not in line with official guidelines as "conspiracy theories" [e.g., (175)] may be too naïve. Some countermovements may be strongly motivated to be well informed. Effectiveness may depend on whether such groups can create space for new social relations, spread awareness, show resilience, have elite support/permission such as that they are shielded from police and military suppression, and are able to improve people's lives (164, 176). A causal relationship between pressure on authorities and change in policies is difficult to determine, but possible (157).

Historical research from 1900 to 2006 comparing the effectiveness of 323 violent vs. non-violent resistance campaigns showed that non-violent civil resistance was more effective in producing change (177). Violent campaigns were successful in 26% of the cases, whereas non-violent campaigns were successful in 50%. In the last 10 years of the research, this effectiveness was reduced to only 6% for violent campaigns vs. 34% for non-violent ones (178–180). Countries in which there were non-violent campaigns were 10 times more likely to transition to democracies within 5 years after those campaigns, than countries

with violent campaigns. Interestingly, this was independent of whether the campaign succeeded or failed (178). Effectiveness was bigger under conditions of large, diverse, and sustained participation when the movement was able to elicit loyalty shifts among power elites (e.g., army, police, media, business elites), with campaigns entailing more than protests, with variation in methods used, and when campaigns did not descend into chaos or opt for violent methods despite repression (178). Preparation seems crucial for successful campaigns, for instance in South Africa the anti-apartheid movement organized a boycott of white businesses after preparing for months to become selfsufficient first (181).

The recent decline in the effectiveness of non-violent movements might reflect the smaller size of such campaigns, reliance on more symbolic displays of resistance and mass non-cooperation (such as street demonstrations rather than strikes) that do not weaken the opponent's sources of power, and less disciplined non-violent actions (182). Sometimes even one person can make a difference (183, 184). Della Porta (185) argues that three kinds of ruptures can be brought about by countermovements, often successively: cracking, or sudden ruptures; vibrating, contingently reproducing those ruptures; and sedimenting, stabilization of consequences of the rupture. If these historical lessons apply, perhaps effective countermovements could help in turning around the decisions of implementing non-effective and harmful NPIs, thereby buffering negative long-term effects.

Collective trauma and conservation of resources

Aggressive measures adversely impact physical and mental health (10, 13, 186). We will focus here on the result of collective trauma or the "psychological reactions to a traumatic event that affects an entire society" [(187), p. 1]. This trauma can affect the collective memory of an entire group and often invokes sense making (188, 189). COVID-19 collective trauma may be large (190). Four mental models seem to be associated with the current collective trauma, namely uncertainty, danger, grotesque, and misery, as well as four primary emotions, namely grief, disgust, anger, and fear (190). Although people have a propensity to hide negative emotions and trauma, the expression of emotions can yield both individual and collective benefits; sharing may alleviate emotional distress and aid in garnering social support (191).

A strong indication of collective hardship is the steep increase in mortality rates among adults under the age of 45, who are largely spared from COVID-19 deaths. Some additional deaths were caused by self-destructive behavior such as substance abuse, homicides, and traffic accidents (98).

Conservation of Resources theory (COR) can serve as an integrative theoretical lens for understanding how people gain

and conserve resources (192–194). People differ in the extent to which they are good at gaining tangible resources (e.g., money and property) and intangible resources (e.g., strategic relationships to gain power) (195). According to COR, both individuals and groups, and even societies as a whole strive to obtain and maintain valuable resources (194). There may be an evolutionary need to acquire and conserve resources for survival (194). COR has been used to explain stress outcomes in various contexts, including organizational settings, following traumatic stress and for everyday stressors (192, 196).

Hobfoll speaks of "resource caravan passage ways," meaning that the ecological conditions often determine the extent to which people can create and sustain resources (194). E.g., women were already on a resource loss before the crisis, but the crisis has exacerbated it, and a resource loss spiral can jeopardize progress toward gender equality (197). For instance, as women work predominantly in service sectors, the shutdown of many such sectors has disproportionately affected them, leading to the largest gender-unemployment gap ever recorded [(198), see also (197)]. This, combined with the increased number of stressors at home, to do more household chores and care tasks, leads to increased stress, less leisure time, and increased burn-out (197). People became more socially conservative during the crisis regarding gender role conformity and gender stereotypes, while political ideology remained constant (199). Stress occurs when resources are lost. In Western contexts, 74 common and important resources are described, including sense of pride, goal accomplishment, hope, personal health, food, help with household chores and childcare, and stable employment (192, 196). The concurrent loss of so many resources during the COVID-19 crisis has been unprecedented [cf. (46), see Figure 2 for a downward spiral in resources].

This can be traumatic for many people, especially given the unpredictability of the duration and intensity of the situation (200). Fear has been identified as a strong predictor of posttraumatic stress disorder, often accompanied by negative thoughts about the self, others, and the world (200). This is compounded by a worldwide sense of insecurity, and loss of personal and social security (201), leading to psychological symptoms of grief (200). Also, job loss has been associated with symptoms of grief and loss of meaning in life (202). Staying-at-home orders are associated with loss of freedom and autonomy as well as loneliness (203), especially when measures were perceived as coercive (204). This may also lead to a fear of coercive policies being enforced over a longer or perhaps indefinite time (139). Fear- and anxiety-related disorders have spiked since 2020 (22). Overall, both tangible and intangible resources were lost during the crisis, thwarting physical and mental health [cf. (200, 205)]. People experiencing extreme resource loss (e.g., losing their income, going through a divorce, losing access to proper health care and ways to cope) may fall prey to the desperation principle. This understudied tenet of COR predicts that when people's resources are outstretched or



exhausted, they may enter a defensive self-preservation mode in which they behave increasingly aggressive and seemingly irrational (194, 206). They may defensively try to conserve the remaining resources (192). When people are subject to an increased number of stressful events, depression symptoms also increase (207), and major depression is a leading cause of suicide (208). An impact on suicide rates may take years to document. Current research indicates that suicide rates may indeed have increased (186), sometimes after an initial decline in suicides (209). People with more resources before the pandemic may be better suited for resource gain (200) ushering in psychological well-being, health, and functioning (210).

Groups that had fewer resources from the start included minority groups, youngsters, females, and individuals with a mental health history, and economic insecurity (211, 212). Harms induced by NPIs may also be exacerbated by preexisting or induced lack of stability of the social order in a country or region and in case of pre-existing mental health issues (10, 213). During the crisis, those with pre-existing mental and physical health conditions reported the highest level of emotional distress, although mental health deterioration was population-wide (213). Also, poverty increase in already vulnerable regions made things worse. Additional, extreme events, such as riots and wars may add an extra layer of multiplicative harm (214). People in comparable circumstances may differ in how resilient they are in dealing with those circumstances (215), and some may experience post-traumatic growth (216). Research by Yi-Feng Chen et al. (217) stresses the role of proactive personality and organizational support in coping with disruptions during COVID-19.

Rising inequalities

Social inequalities occur when resources within society are distributed unequally, e.g., income, goods, access to information, etc. (218). In the last decades, economic inequality increased in most countries, stabilizing in the 1990s (219), but increasing dramatically since 2020, prompting some authors to refer to this as the "second pandemic" (220). While the focus on making profits has created wealth for large groups of people, resources have become unevenly divided among the total population. There is evidence that economic inequality increased (15). Although this trend was already visible before the crisis started [for a review see (219)], this seems to have accelerated after the start of the crisis (221). While in the last 25 years, 1.1 billion people were lifted from poverty through economic growth (222), during the COVID-19 crisis global extreme poverty rose sharply and in October 2021 it was estimated that 100

million additional people were living in poverty (223). Very early on in the pandemic, warnings were expressed that the negative effects may outweigh possible positive ones (10-12, 57)and ways to optimize decision-making (13) and alternative ways forward were offered (6, 224). Note that other authors disagree and argue that the NPIs are proportional and have substantial benefits [e.g., (225, 226)]. There has indeed been substantial debate on whether lockdowns offer some benefits in reducing at least COVID-19 deaths and many studies have tried to answer this question. In general, these studies have limitations given that no randomized trial has assessed this question and modeling, or observational studies leave substantial uncertainties and are subject to selective reporting and interpretation (227). A meta-analysis has found very small benefits of lockdowns on COVID-19 mortality rates (16), and cost-benefit analyses find that the costs of lockdowns (including what we outline above) far outweigh any potential benefit that may occur (6, 228). Debate and disagreement will likely continue, given that assessments on the relative benefits of lockdown are based largely of weak observational data under very complex circumstances.

Inequalities have several consequences for health, wellbeing and happiness, and longevity (218, 229). Countries that let inequality increase have lower happiness rates than countries with higher equality (230, 231). Population wellbeing, consisting of physical, emotional, and social health, explains variation in life expectancy. Communities with high well-being are characterized by engaging in healthy behaviors, strong social connections and support systems (229), and happy people who live longer (232), even though the causal mechanisms can be debated. Several meta-analyses have shown a favorable association between psychological well-being and survival (233), and well-being partially mediates the associations of race, poverty, and education with life expectancy (229). Importantly, life satisfaction and optimism about the future, access to housing, healthcare, and perceptions of safety, were also significantly associated with life expectancy (229). Poor housing conditions were related to greater stress and reduced well-being during the COVID-19 crisis (234). As psychological well-being is affected both directly and indirectly via the pandemic and the NPIs (i.e., losing one's job and housing, getting a divorce because of the aforementioned, or because of being quarantined for months), this may lead to more inequalities in terms of income, but also well-being [cf. (46, 235)]. General health and well-being during the crisis have been lowered [for a review see (236)], especially so for vulnerable groups and disadvantaged countries (237, 238). Below we first discuss the various inequalities affected by the pandemic and the adopted NPIs. We should caution that it is often difficult to disentangle how much of these effects were due to the pandemic vs. the measures taken. Occasionally the interaction of the pandemic with the measures taken may have had multiplicative negative effects. Then, we discuss options that may help in breaking this

trend. In Table 1, we give a non-exhaustive overview of literature and findings regarding inequalities during the COVID-19 crisis.

Vulnerable populations

Many authorities responding to the pandemic often stated they aimed to protect the vulnerable. However, several adopted measures seem to have especially hurt this group instead of helping. Several measures disrupted and contracted the social networks of older adults during the crisis. Prepandemic racial/ethnic network disparities were exacerbated, with negative consequences for the physical and mental health outcomes of these groups (211). As networks are important not only in daily life, but especially in times of crisis, social distancing led to a limited ability to weather the crisis, especially for vulnerable populations (211). Many countries have chosen to put vulnerable elderly people in complete isolation. This forced social and physical isolation is a serious stressor (313). Resilience may have been further compromised (314, 315), creating paradoxical effects (10). Both regular and routine health care for non-COVID-19 disease was disrupted, posing a threat to health outcomes for many diseases (243, 292). The long-term consequences of the relative neglect of the public health care system, and that people were hesitant to visit their physician for the non-COVID-19 problems (279, 316-319), remain unfathomed. E.g., it was estimated originally that about 28.5 million operations worldwide were postponed during the initial 12-week peak of the crisis (320). Once more, vulnerable populations were hit hardest, increasing pre-existing inequalities (321).

Economic inequality: The rich got richer and the poor poorer

Economic inequality has hugely increased exacerbating preexisting inequalities and this seems a self-reinforcing process as lockdown measures continue or keep being imposed (15, 49, 322-324). Hundreds of millions of people were driven into poverty, while others, individuals and corporations, gained (325). This has led to the paradoxical situation that in some countries people were more worried about starvation than becoming ill from COVID-19 (49). Almost 4 billion people, half of the world population, live on <6.70 dollars a day. A review across four continents showed that restrictive NPIs are especially hard on the poor as they unevenly impact the livelihood and socio-economic activities of those groups (326). A World Bank report concluded: "Taken together, COVID-19 has directly offset the reduction in the [poverty] gap between countries observed from 2013 to 2017" (324). Income loss was steepest for the poorest 20% of the world, resulting in the TABLE 1 Non-exhaustive overview of the effects on inequality resulting from the non-pharmaceutical interventions enforced in response to the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic.

Effect on inequalities	References
Socio-economic status (SES) and ethnic groups	
Estimates that the side effects of attempting to fully mitigate the COVID-19 pandemic will negatively impact life expectancy. Over	(239)
10 years, the negative life expectancy from socio-economic inequalities alone will be around the equivalent of six unmitigated	
COVID-19 pandemics. This is not considering the negative effects on life expectancy due to increased mental health problems,	
suicides, and drug abuse	
The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdowns differed across SES groups, e.g., groups or counties with lower SES had higher	(32, 42, 240, 241)
infection incidence and mortality	
Racial minorities (Black, Indigenous, and Hispanic) were more at risk of getting infected and had worse COVID-19 health	(42, 128, 242-248)
outcomes during the pandemic. Existing inequalities were exacerbated	
Children with low SES experienced worse health outcomes during the pandemic due to increased exposure to adverse health	(242, 245, 249-255)
determinants (e.g., tobacco, unsuitable food, changes in physical activity, spending more time in front of the screen, less social	(,,,,,,,
contact, and more noise	
People living in areas with higher levels of pre-existing inequalities experienced more adverse effects during the pandemic	(32, 240, 241, 244, 246,
	255-259)
Healthy behaviors (e.g., physical activity, healthy eating) were lower, especially for low SES families	(241, 260)
Geographical economic effects of the crisis. Uneven economic effects uncorrelated to the epidemiological pattern. Lower	
educational levels related to higher mortality for working-aged women and people between 65 and 79 years old during the crisis.	(32, 240, 246, 255–259, 261, 262)
	201, 202)
The rise in social inequality because of the burden of the disease and the measures have fallen disproportionally on already	
disadvantaged groups challenges solidarity and social justice	(2(2))
The pre-existing inequalities of refugee teenagers compounded due to the response to the pandemic, with worse (mental) health	(263)
outcomes, due to severe economic and service disruptions, as well as low social connectedness	
Ethnic minorities had a lower COVID-19 vaccine uptake, higher mortality rates and larger decreases in life expectancy	(248, 264)
Food insecurities arise for low SES groups due to the rise in poverty, unemployment and food prices. In addition to the economic	(265–268)
barriers, people living in rural areas also experienced insecurities due to decreased psychical access to food	
Food insecurities lead to an increase in unhealthy eating behaviors (e.g., consuming high caloric products)	(260)
Digital inequalities led to disparate possibilities during the pandemic such as access to COVID-19 vaccinations, the ability to work	(258, 269–273)
or study from home and to maintain social connections with friends and family	
Gender inequalities	
Women experienced higher rates of mental health issues and psychological deterioration than men	(260, 274–277)
Women experienced a higher increase in suicide rates than men	(278, 279)
Women also more often experienced job loss and/or loss of income than men	(247, 276, 277, 280–283)
Gender gaps and unequal distribution of household chores increased during the pandemic. Women reported increased household	(274, 277, 280, 283, 284)
chores and childcare and decreased leisure time. The propensity to work from home did not differ across genders. In Spain, by May	
2020, women from middle-income households with kids experienced 3% larger income loss than men	
Reinforcement of existing gender inequality in academic work. Women were underrepresented as (senior) authors of academic	(285–287)
papers during the pandemic, deepening pre-existing inequality. While the quantity of women authored publications seemed to have	
been on par, quality seemed lower	
Women were more exposed to the COVID-19 virus than men due to representing most frontline workers. In Spain, the cumulative	(244, 251, 288)
incidence rate was higher for women than men	
Males experienced higher COVID-19 mortality rates than females	(242, 244)
The COVID-19 pandemic caused serious setbacks in advancements in solving problems such as child marriages, gender-based	(289)
violence, and female genital mutilation. Estimates show that 6 months of lockdown led to an additional two million more cases of	
female genital mutilation, 31 million cases of gender-based violence, and 13 million more child marriages over the next 10 years that	
wouldn't have occurred otherwise	
Age group inequalities	
The risks of mortality from COVID-19 for people aged 60 and above are significantly higher than for younger people. This led to a	(245, 251, 290):
life expectancy decrease in 27 out of 29 countries included in the study	
Children subjected to school closure and other lockdown measures reported adverse mental health symptoms	(291)
,	()
	(Continued

(Continued)

References

TABLE 1 (Continued)

	Effect	on	ineq	ualities
--	--------	----	------	----------

Health inequalities	
Patients with non-COVID 19 conditions had less access to treatment and preventive measures during the crisis Taken together with	(244, 292)
other trends, such as privatization of healthcare, already marginalized sections of society were hit harder, leading to worsening	
existing and creating new health inequalities	
Physical activity health inequality was increased due to differences in access and availability to engage in physical activities during	(293)
lockdowns	
The switch to remote consultations especially impacted older people, unemployed, people with low SESs, migrants, and men, as	(250)
these groups were less likely to use remote consultation	
People with pre-existing health conditions (e.g., obesity or malnutrition) had worse COVID-19 outcomes. Oftentimes these people	(262, 294–296)
also experienced social inequalities and nutritional disparities long before the crisis	
Mental health inequalities	
The crisis increased existing mental health conditions and exacerbated preexisting inequalities in that respect. Financial insecurity	(241, 260, 262, 296-302
mediated some of the effect of SES and mental health outcomes. People with a (family) history of mental health disorder also	
experienced greater difficulties adjusting after lockdown release. SES inequalities in social network, loneliness and mental health	
increased. A study in Japan showed positive effect on subjective well-being for socially advantaged people vs. negative effects for	
socially disadvantaged people, widening the gap	
Economic inequalities	
Income inequality was mainly created by the policy response to the crisis rather than its health consequences. By early June 2020,	(303)
the pandemic has generated at least 68 million additional poverty years in 150 countries, mainly among already disadvantaged	
groups. Additionally, the health consequences worsen income inequality	
Working from home increased inequalities in the labor market based on SES, digital access, job type, sector, and hierarchical	(42, 244, 257, 260, 273
position. Male, older, highly educated, and highly paid employees benefited from working from home	283, 304, 305)
Aggressive NPIs increased income inequality and poverty, with vulnerable groups impacted more. In Spain, by May 2020,	(247, 262, 306–308)
households in the richest quintile lost about 7% of their income, while the poorest quintile lost 27% of their income	
The pandemic did not affect between-country inequality, which continued to decrease as in the previous years	(309)
Educational inequalities	
Educational inequalities emerged or increased in terms of parental income, education, internet access, English and technology skills,	(269–271, 310–312)
and/or previous school performance. Search for online learning resources was substantially larger for areas with higher income,	
better internet access and fewer rural schools in the US. In Germany, daily learning time was halved, from 7.4 h. This decrease was	
significantly larger for low achievers, who displaced learning time with TV or computer games. In the Netherlands, where access to	
internet is better than other countries, with a relatively short school closures of 12 weeks, education learning loss sharply increased	
for students from disadvantaged households	

largest impact of the COVID-19 crisis on the world's poorest, increasing the global poverty rate from 7.8 to 9.1 percent by the end of 2021 (327). The effects on inequality and social mobility are expected to be long-term: people who lost income due to the pandemic have been about twice as likely to spend down on assets or savings. Hence, they will be less able to cope with continued or reoccurring income loss. Also, 57% of the people who lost income due to the pandemic have been more likely to go a full day without eating, and the aggregate loss of between 0.3 and 0.9 years of schooling also impacted the poorer families and their economic prospects. Government interventions such as unemployment insurance and benefits for furloughed workers in the short term at least, partially mitigate the effect of the loss of livelihood (14). In Spain, it has been estimated that without those interventions, inequality

would have increased by almost 30% in just 1 month (14, 223). However, young people and foreign-born workers profit less from those interventions and experience a large loss of purpose in life (46, 328, 329).

Educational inequalities

Early in the pandemic, school closures were widespread. In March 2020 schools closed in 138 countries, affecting 80% of students worldwide (214). This is despite a heated scientific debate regarding the effectiveness of school closures on virus transmission. Without a clear answer on the effectiveness of school closures, students' education suffered and the "hurt can last a lifetime" [(330); for a review see (10, 214)]. As early as

April 2020 it was stated that school closures would affect poorer children most, as closures also exacerbated food insecurity and the non-school factors (e.g., parental availability for help and supervision, internet access and technology availability, quiet spaces, etc.) that are the primary source of inequalities in educational outcomes (214). Even though many schools switched to online education, this did not help much as a substitute. A study in the Netherlands among 350,000 students showed that students made little or no progress during the school closure and learning loss was "most pronounced among students from disadvantaged homes" [(331), p. 1]. This was despite that the Netherlands was seen as a best-case scenario, with a relatively short lockdown, equitable school funding, and one of the best rates in terms of broad-band access. While for children from high-income families learning might be possible at least theoretically, children from lower income families are faced with numerous hurdles. Besides this, as many parents lost their jobs, these children may be exposed to this stress as well. As "previous recessions have exacerbated levels of child poverty with long-lasting consequences for children's health, well-being, and learning outcomes." [(214), p. 243], the long-lasting consequences should not be underestimated (332). Recent studies showed a sharp increase in inequalities regarding education (269, 331) and student well-being (333). In addition, homeschooling caused high levels of parental stress (334). Taken together, educational inequalities increased sharply, and student, as well as parent well-being was at stake during and after the school closures.

Gender inequalities

While the year 2020 was earmarked for reflection on gender inequalities, it has been the year that saw an increase in both existing and new gender inequalities (278). The rising gender inequalities are in the domains of health and well-being, home, domestic violence, work and poverty, and leadership (278). Women reported greater stress and anxiety during lockdowns (335), especially women with children (336), and female students (333). The health and well-being of women were also disproportionally affected, lowering life expectancy, and increasing suicide rates (337). Moreover, reports of abuse, self-harm, and thoughts of suicide/self-harm were higher among women (338). Women were more likely to experience (physical) aggressive interactions in their dream content (339). Also, women's physical and reproductive health was jeopardized, as many countries reallocated medical care toward COVID-19 patients (340). Gender-based violence increased at an alarming rate [for a review see (341)]. Anxiety and depression tripled for pregnant and postpartum women (342). Mothers were more likely to take on more household chores during the crisis and they were responsible for homeschooling (343), and worked on average 5% less, while men worked on average the same number

of hours (344). Women with young children reduced their work hours four to five times more than fathers (344).

In academia, pre-existing inequalities persisted, and new ones arose. While academic gender inequalities were already discussed for quite some time [e.g., (345)], the crisis increased pre-existing gender inequalities (346). For instance, in terms of academic output, while men working mainly from home became more productive in the first 10 weeks of the lockdown, and overall research productivity in the US increased by 35%, female productivity dropped by 13%. This productivity gap was found in six more countries (347). While women already faced inequity in terms of having a higher teaching load and more service tasks, which are rewarded less than academic publishing, this was exacerbated when teaching and mentoring had to be done online (347). This is compounded by women having to take on most household tasks, homeschooling, childcare and sometimes caring for aging parents and extended family (343, 348). Also, it was predicted that women's poverty rate would rise by 10% globally as a result of the NPIs, as many service jobs were affected (349). Taken together, women experienced more mental health problems, domestic violence, and a larger burden of household and professional tasks.

Results of inequalities: Increase in stress

The result of rising inequalities may be an increase in stress and resulting in mental health problems (350). A meta-analysis indeed showed that income inequality was negatively related to mental health (351). In general, humans cause stress on people lower in the hierarchy, and in the last few decades, a lot of research investigated the causes and consequences of this [for a review see (352, 353)]. For instance, Sapolsky researched the question of why primates (including humans) cause each other so much stress. Apes and other primates have more stress-related diseases than any other species, and this seems to be because having spare time in these species is used to cause stress to others, usually lower in the hierarchy (36). Stress levels for lowstatus baboons were significantly reduced when baboons high in the hierarchy were inadvertently killed due to eating tainted meat (37). The extent to which these studies have validity for human society is debatable. For obvious ethical reasons, it is very difficult to do a study in which extreme hierarchical differences are created and subsequently lifted to study the effects. However, the Whitehall studies, stretching over decades show that status differences and inequalities are related to ill health and mortality, even when controlling for lifestyle (38), and these differences in health outcomes and mortality even stretched until after retirement (352). Interestingly, this was the case even though mental health for low status workers, working in stressful jobs with little autonomy, increased after retirement (354). It goes without question that it is imperative to minimize inequalities.

Reducing inequalities

Good governance, or the actions governments and organizations take to govern society through laws, norms, power or language, is key to reducing inequalities in society (355). Reducing gender inequalities in academia is also important and several policies are promising (356). An Oxfam report suggested responding to the crisis with several measures to increase equality (357). In general, community development seems to be a promising avenue in this respect (358). Coordination and integration of the health sector and community development may help streamline efforts to influence health and well-being of especially vulnerable groups (358). Evidence-based policy making may help reduce inequalities (359) and to buffer the negative effects of the crisis. Going forward, citizens and governments should act to create a more equal and sustainable world (325). Below, we describe what governments could have done better and what can be learned from this crisis. This examination should not be construed as an effort to blame anyone-a blame culture would be a perpetuation of the crisis and the toxic environment that we described above that fosters inequalities. Conversely, it is important to learn from our mistakes to correct them and not repeat them, close the circle of the pandemic, and be prepared for future pandemics without disrupting life (360).

Could we have done better?

We could have done better in our response to COVID-19. Vast power was given to experts who had (or claimed) expertise on COVID-19. This resulted in an exclusive focus on illness and deaths from COVID-19, with implemented and mandated NPIs of unprecedented severity, and which had been recommended against in previous pandemic plans (54, 55, 141, 361). These NPIs were also implemented without adequate consideration of their collateral effects (as discussed above and predicted in previous pandemic plans). The response bypassed the lessons learned from past pandemics and other emergencies.

Emergency management (EM) is the prevention and mitigation of, preparedness for, response to, and recovery from emergencies, regardless of the risk/hazard (362). An EM Agency (EMA) is a coordinating agency that coordinates requests from the Subject Matter Agency (the agency dealing with the direct effects of the hazard, here, public health for the COVID-19 hazard), while also dealing with the indirect effects of the hazard (here, pandemic and response) (363). The EMA coordinates the four simultaneous EM critical functions (Table 3) during a public emergency, like COVID-19, with direct and indirect effects of the virus and any response to the virus on all of society.

The EM process is the same for any public emergency, including a pandemic. By following the process, the EMA, unlike the public health medical experts, is specifically trained to optimize the response. The seven EM process steps that must occur in any public emergency, and how these should have been taken for this pandemic, are shown in Table 2 (6, 363). By not following the established EM process, the wrong aim, governance, mission analysis, and courses open were more likely to be selected without any published pandemic plan (363). Many negative consequences and exacerbations of inequality discussed above were predictable and should have been considered in riskbenefit analyses (6, 11, 54, 55, 141, 361). Others concluded that crucial parts of the EM process were missed during the pandemic response, although these authors did not recognize that these were components of the EM process and that they were, so to speak, reinventing the wheel (11, 13, 365). In Table 3 we mention some priorities we believe the EM process would have discovered to enable a response with far less collateral damage, and some current priorities necessary for recovery.

Discussion

Possible ways forward

Governments and public health authorities worldwide have imposed their decisions, while having trouble using evidencebased policy and decision making (13, 359, 366). This has harmed many groups in society (10, 367). Many scientists also went along with the narrative that the most aggressive NPIs were necessary for the greater good, for instance, experts advising on how to modify behavior [e.g., (366, 368)]. Others have pointed out that the debate has been highly polarized and should ideally be more open-minded and nuanced (369). Society has fallen prey to groupthink (11) with the perpetuation of dysfunctional entrenched patterns in responding to the pandemic (13). It seems more important than ever to uphold and renew important values that societies fare by, to enhance the well-being of their citizens (370). Healing society should focus on people's dignity, rights, values, and humanity (370). Concurrently, it becomes imperative to use evidence-based policy and decision making (359, 371) and reflexivity (13), as used in the EM process (363).

It is key to restore the health and well-being of the wider population, and create a positive environment in which people can thrive (46). Well-being should matter to governments (230). Next to reversing the most aggressive and ineffective policies (360, 372), the way people cope with the situation is important (10, 373). Most people seem to be negatively affected in terms of health and well-being, and personality differences may also play a role (217). People that score high on proactive personality are better at spotting opportunities and acting upon them (374). They also are better able to foresee consequences and risks inherent in actions that they take and anticipate them, affecting environmental change (375). For many people access to intangible resources such as social support, and social belonging and access to tangible resources such as income, livelihood, and access to (healthy) food have been thwarted. Loss spirals accelerate once resource losses accumulate, while resource gain

TABLE 2 The emergency management process: seven steps and how they should have been applied during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic.

Steps in the EM process	Specifics of this step during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic
1. Identification of the hazard	The hazard is SARS-CoV-2
2. Selection and maintenance of the aim	The aim is to minimize the impact of SARS-CoV-2 and our response on the society of
	the jurisdiction
	The aim was not necessarily "to flatten the curve" or "to protect the medical system,"
	which may be included in objectives
3. Establish a Governance Task Force, to provide leadership for all policy,	Governance Task Force was not assembled, and public health officers and medical
programs, and actions taken, with many diverse stakeholders involved, and led	advisors had undue influence
by the most senior government official (e.g., the provincial premier in the	
provinces of Canada)	
4. Risk/Hazard assessment	The risk from SARS-CoV-2 was very early on known to be extremely age-dependent
	(especially in older adults with comorbidities), and the potential impacts on critical
	infrastructure (including healthcare) predictable
5. Mission analysis to determine the <i>objectives</i> of <i>what</i> needs to be done	For SARS-CoV-2 this includes tasks given (pre-written pandemic response plans) and
	tasks implied required to meet the aim. This included maintaining confidence in
	government (by diminishing fear, ensuring mutual aid, and ensuring constant
	communications), protecting seniors, and protecting critical infrastructure and
	essential services (e.g., new medical surge capacity, full continued education,
	continuity of business and economy)
6. Defining courses open/options to determine how the mission analysis	This entails determining courses open for each grouping of tasks, as determined by
objectives can be met	assigned teams with appropriate diverse expertise (to prevent groupthink). Each
	course open has a full assessment of cost-benefit to justify options, and plan for
	solutions to expected collateral damage
7. Public issuing of a written comprehensive evidence-based Response Plan	Issuing a written Pandemic Response Plan forms the basis of confidence in
	government by transparently demonstrably justified due diligence

References: Joffe and Redman (6), Redman (363), and Redman (364).

cycles become weaker (194). It is easy to widen the inequality gaps, but these may take years and years to close. For instance, while it was estimated before the crisis that closing the gender gap could take up to 99.5 years, after the crisis it was estimated to take 135 years (376, 377).

Collective healing and restoring meaning

The current situation requires collective healing [(378); cf. (379)]. While programs such as Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing [EMDR; (380)], brainspotting (381) and neurosculpting (382) may be effective for relieving (complex) trauma [for reviews see (383, 384)], more scalable positive psychology solutions are needed (230). Many people will feel the need to reinstate a sense of meaning in life (46). Scalable solutions may entail for instance life crafting (reflecting and setting goals and undertaking actions for important areas of life) to find meaning in life, as a written guided online intervention (385), or *via* a chatbot [e.g., (386, 387)]. Gratitude and grit may restore a sense of meaning in life and have been related to decreased suicidal ideations (388). Gratitude and well-being are correlated (389), and the connection between these seems to entail social connectedness and meaning in

life (390). Communities could investigate possibilities to help many people via scalable solutions (10, 13, 46). For instance, life crafting and other positive psychology and mental health interventions delivered online or via a chatbot, could be a scalable solution and "first aid" for people experiencing issues such as anxiety, depression, and loss of purpose in life (46, 386). Goalsetting also seems promising in terms of reducing the gender and ethnic minority achievement gap for specific student populations (391). Interventions should be rigorously tested for effectiveness and they should preferably be done in concert with other positive psychology interventions tackling educational inequalities [see (392)]. Moreover, it is advisable to radically increase the voluntariness of measures. Giving people a choice instead of forcing policies upon them, might increase intervention effectiveness. For instance, when people work from home voluntarily, they experience fewer adverse effects of teleworking [e.g., (393)].

Increasing diverse citizen engagement in (global) problems (86), and grassroots movements may help counter authoritarian tendencies associated with the pandemic response, salvage democracy (151, 394–396), and increase democratization of companies post-COVID-19 (397). It may be better to strengthen people's sense of responsibility to take action after carefully laying out the pros and cons of behavior (398). Finally, we should

TABLE 3 Examples of emergency management function priorities in addressing the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic.

EM function	Priorities at the start of the pandemic	Priorities mid-2022 for endemic SARS-CoV-2
Preparation	Define the mission: to ensure minimum impact of SARS-CoV-2 on society as a whole Establish a Governance Task Force as the single decision-making body for policy, programs, and actions, with broad diverse representation, led by the Premier, and coordinated and supported by the Emergency Management Agency Release a comprehensive written Pandemic Response Plan	Define the mission: to ensure minimum impact of endemic SARS-CoV-2 on society as a whole, <i>and</i> to recover from the lockdown-based response collateral damage Establish the appropriate Governance Task Force and disband other advisory groups Release a comprehensive written Pandemic Response and Recovery Plan
Mitigation	Focused protection of the most vulnerable: a plan for long-term care homes and for those in the community aged \geq 60 years with multiple comorbidities Plans for socially vulnerable groups: e.g., temporary housing support to reduce household crowding	Voluntary focused protection: understand that the risk for those aged <60 years is similar to that from seasonal influenza
Response	Ensure critical infrastructure is ready for people who get sick, including new surge capacity in hospitals so that continuity of the medical system is ensured Ensure equitable access to healthcare	Removal of fear of SARS-CoV-2 and of each other: ensure understanding of risk in relation to other daily risks, by age group and comorbidity Removal of fear of future use of NPIs: ensure understanding of accumulated evidence about trade-offs and efficacy to end talk of future mandated lockdowns, quarantine of exposed people, school closures, community masking, and border closures Establish capabilities for endemic SARS-CoV-2: new healthcare surge capacity without plans to sacrifice healthcare for all other conditions
Recovery	Reduce fear with daily information presented with context including plans for surge capacity, give hospitalizations and death numbers with denominators, by age group, in comparison to other risks causing deaths annually, and without a focus on raw case counts Give evidence on the cost-benefit balance of NPIs and lockdowns: explain the difficult trade-offs involved and the justification for focused protection	Develop a detailed plan to sacrifice heatificate for an other conditions Develop a detailed plan to overcome the impacts from the use of fear and NPIs/lockdowns on mental health, societal health, our children's education and development, missed/delayed diagnosis and treatment of medical conditions, government debt, confidence in the economy, etc Replace fear with confidence by using the EM process, with cost-benefit analysis of all recovery options open, improved communication, and a written plan that is transparently demonstrably justified by due diligence

References: Joffe and Redman (6), Redman (363), and Redman (364).

acknowledge that for many of the proposed interventions, we would benefit from having stronger evidence from large (cluster) randomized trials, to understand whether they may work in different populations and circumstances. While the pandemic led to thousands of randomized trials of drugs, biologics, and vaccines (399, 400), few trials were performed on NPIs (401) and the research agenda on psychological and social-level interventions was even thinner. This deficiency should be remedied.

Conclusion

As the COVID-19 crisis and NPIs of unprecedented severity and duration are related to many negative side effects and increase inequalities worldwide (402), stress, health, and trauma for vulnerable populations must be addressed (403). The economic fall-out and rise in inequalities may be long-term (403). Governments should take well-being as a spearhead for decision-making in the upcoming years (230). Hopefully, with effective interventions, the tide may be turned.

Author contributions

MS played the primary role in the conception of the manuscript, writing, reviewing, and revising the manuscript. JI contributed to writing the manuscript, identifying studies on inequalities, and editing the manuscript. AJ wrote section on "Could we have done better", crafted Tables 2, 3, contributed to writing, and editing the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Cristina Calin for her help with crafting Tables and Figures, and editing. Further, the members of the Erasmus Center for Study and Career Success [Erasmus Center for Study and Career Success—Erasmus Research Institute of Management—ERIM (eur.nl)] for their helpful comments on an earlier version of this manuscript.

66

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

Watch here Mass formation and rising inequalities, a proposed way forward - Michaéla Schippers - YouTube the interview MS gave about this article for the podcast "Follow the Science".

References

1. Adler E, Hebel-Sela S, Leshem OA, Levy J, Halperin E. A social virus: intergroup dehumanization and unwillingness to aid amidst COVID-19 – Who are the main targets? *Int J Intercult Relat.* (2022) 86:109–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ijintrel.2021.11.006

2. Biesma RG, Brugha R, Harmer A, Walsh A, Spicer N, Walt G. The effects of global health initiatives on country health systems: a review of the evidence from HIV/AIDS control. *Health Policy Plan.* (2009) 24:239–252. doi: 10.1093/heapol/czp025

3. Jedwab R, Khan AM, Russ J, Zaveri ED. Epidemics, pandemics, and social conflict: lessons from the past and possible scenarios for COVID-19. *World Develop*. (2021) 147:105629. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105629

4. WHO. Working Together for Better Health and Well-Being for All: Fifth High-Level Meeting of Small Countries Reykjavik, Iceland. Regional Office for Europe: WHO (2018). Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345576

5. Kraaijeveld SR. COVID-19: against a lockdown approach. Asian Bioethics Rev. (2021) 13:195–212. doi: 10.1007/s41649-020-00154-y

6. Joffe AR, Redman D. The SARS-CoV-2 pandemic in high income countries such as canada: a better way forward without lockdowns. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:715904. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.715904

7. Fögen Z. The foegen effect: a mechanism by which facemasks contribute to the COVID-19 case fatality rate. *Medicine*. (2022) 101:e28924. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000028924

8. Guerra DD, Guerra DJ. Mask mandate and use efficacy for COVID-19 containment in US States. *Cold Spring Harbor Lab.* (2021). doi: 10.1101/2021.05.18.21257385

9. Panneer S, Kantamaneni K, Akkayasamy VS, Susairaj AX, Panda PK, Acharya SS, et al. The great lockdown in the wake of COVID-19 and its implications: lessons for low and middle-income countries. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:610. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19010610

10. Schippers MC. For the greater good? The devastating ripple effects of the Covid-19 crisis. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:2626. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.577740

11. Joffe AR. COVID-19: rethinking the lockdown groupthink. Front Public Health. (2021) 9:625778. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.625778

12. Melnick ER, Ioannidis JPA. Should governments continue lockdown to slow the spread of covid-19? *BMJ*. (2020) 369:m1924. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1924

13. Schippers MC, Rus DC. Optimizing decision-making processes in times of COVID-19: using reflexivity to counteract information-processing failures. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:650525. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.650525

14. Aspachs O, Durante R, Graziano A, Mestres J, Reynal-Querol M, Montalvo JG. Tracking the impact of COVID-19 on economic inequality at high frequency. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0249121. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0249121

15. Binns C, Low WY. The rich get richer and the poor get poorer: the inequality of COVID-19. *Asia Pacific J Public Health.* (2021) 33:185–187. doi: 10.1177/10105395211001662

16. Herby J, Jonung L, Hanke S. A literature review and meta-analysis of the effects of lockdowns on COVID-19 mortality. *Stud Appl Econ.* (2022) 15.

17. Bhattacharya J. Lockdowns are the 'Single Biggest Mistake in Public Health History': Stanford Medical Professor. LifeSite (2022). Retrieved from https://www. lifesitenews.com/news/lockdowns-are-the-single-biggest-mistake-in-public-health-history-stanford-medical-professor/ (accessed July 30, 2021).

18. Hevia C, Neumeyer PA. A Perfect Storm: COVID-19 in Emerging Economies. VoxEU CEPR Policy Portal (2020). Available online at: https://voxeu.org/article/ perfect-stormcovid-19-emerging-economies

19. Chowdhury P, Paul SK, Kaisar S, Moktadir MA. COVID-19 pandemic related supply chain studies: a systematic review. *Transport Res Part E Logist Transport Rev.* (2021) 148:102271. doi: 10.1016/j.tre.2021.102271

20. Guan D, Wang D, Hallegatte S, Davis SJ, Huo J, Li S, et al. Global supplychain effects of COVID-19 control measures. *Nat Hum Behav.* (2020) 4:577– 87. doi: 10.1038/s41562-020-0896-8

21. Singh S, Kumar R, Panchal R, Tiwari MK. Impact of COVID-19 on logistics systems and disruptions in food supply chain. *Int J Product Res.* (2021) 59:1993–2008. doi: 10.1080/00207543.2020.1792000

22. Santomauro DF, Mantilla Herrera AM, Shadid J, Zheng P, Ashbaugh C, Pigott DM, et al. Global prevalence and burden of depressive and anxiety disorders in 204 countries and territories in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:1700–12. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02143-7

23. Taquet M, Holmes EA, Harrison PJ. Depression and anxiety disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic: knowns and unknowns. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:1665-6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02221-2

24. Yonzan N, Lakner C, Gerszon Mahler D, Aguilar RAC, Wu H. Here's How Many People Covid-19 Could Push Into Poverty, According to the World Bank. World Economic Forum (2022). Retrieved from https://www.weforum. org/agenda/2020/11/covid-19-global-poverty-inequality-un-economicscoronavirus-pandemic/ (accessed May 19, 2020).

25. Paslakis G, Dimitropoulos G, Katzman DK. A call to action to address COVID-19–induced global food insecurity to prevent hunger, malnutrition, eating pathology. *Nutr Rev.* (2020) 79:114–6. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuaa069

26. Zetzsche DA. One million or one hundred million casualties? The impact of the COVID-19 crisis on low-and middle-income countries. *SSRN*. (2020) 2020–008. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3597657

27. Oxfam. The Hunger Virus Multiplies: Deadly Recipe of Conflict, COVID-19 and Climate Accelerate World Hunger. Oxfam (2021). Available online at: https://www.oxfam.org/en/research/hunger-virus-multiplies-deadly-recipeconflictcovid-19-and-climate-accelerate-world (accessed August 8, 2022).

28. Nelson EM, Nisbett N, Gillespie S. Historicising global nutrition: critical reflections on contested pasts and reimagined futures. *BMJ Glob Health.* (2021) 6:e006337. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2021-006337

29. Jones AD. Food insecurity and mental health status: a global analysis of 149 countries. *Am J Prev Med.* (2017) 53:264–73. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2017.04.008

30. Nanath K, Balasubramanian S, Shukla V, Islam N, Kaitheri S. Developing a mental health index using a machine learning approach: assessing the impact of mobility and lockdown during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Technol Forecast Soc Change.* (2022) 178:121560. doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2022.121560

31. Storm S. Lessons for the age of consequences: COVID-19 and the macroeconomy. Rev Polit Econ. (2021) 1-40. doi: 10.1080/09538259.2021.1985779

32. Wachtler B, Michalski N, Nowossadeck E, Diercke M, Wahrendorf M, Santos-Hövener C, et al. Socioeconomic inequalities and COVID-19 – a review

of the current international literature. J Health Monit. (2020) 3 (Suppl. 7):3-17. doi: 10.25646/7059

33. Civilsdaily. *What Rising Inequality Means*. Civilsdaily (2021). Retrieved from https://www.civilsdaily.com/news/what-rising-inequality-means/ (accessed May 19, 2022).

34. Deshmukh A. *This Simple Chart Reveals the Distribution of Global Wealth*. Visual Capitalist (2022). Retrieved from https://www.visualcapitalist.com/distribution-of-global-wealth-chart/ (accessed May 19, 2021).

35. Calhoun JB. Death Squared: The Explosive Growth and Demise of a Mouse Population, Vol 60. SAGE Publications. (1973). p. 80–8. Available online at: https:// web.archive.org/web/20191122022742id_/https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/ 10.1177/00359157730661P202

36. Sapolsky RM. The influence of social hierarchy on primate health. *Science*. (2005) 308:648–52. doi: 10.1126/science.1106477

37. Sapolsky RM, Share LJ. Emergence of a peaceful culture in wild baboons. *PLOS Biol.* (2004) 2:e124. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0020106

38. Smith GD, Shipley MJ, Rose G. Magnitude and causes of socioeconomic differentials in mortality: further evidence from the whitehall study. *J Epidemiol Commun Health.* (1990) 44:265–70.

39. Snyder-Mackler N, Burger JR, Gaydosh L, Belsky DW, Noppert GA, Campos FA, et al. Social determinants of health and survival in humans and other animals. *Science*. (2020) 368:eaax9553. doi: 10.1126/science.aax9553

40. Chen E, Miller GE. Socioeconomic status and health: mediating and moderating factors. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2013) 9:723–49. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185634

41. Marmot M, Wilkinson R. Social Determinants of Health. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2005). doi: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198565895.001.0001

42. Bajos N, Jusot F, Pailhé A, Spire A, Martin C, Meyer L, et al. When lockdown policies amplify social inequalities in COVID-19 infections: evidence from a cross-sectional population-based survey in France. *BMC Public Health.* (2021) 21:705. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10521-5

43. Plott CF, Kachalia AB, Sharfstein JM. Unexpected health insurance profits and the COVID-19 crisis. JAMA. (2020) 324:1713-4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.19925

44. Baines J, Hager SB. The great debt divergence and its implications for the Covid-19 crisis: mapping corporate leverage as power. *New Polit Econ.* (2021) 26:885–901. doi: 10.1080/13563467.2020.1865900

45. Kira IA, Shuwiekh HAM, Alhuwailah A, Ashby JS, Sous Fahmy Sous M, Baali SBA, et al. The effects of COVID-19 and collective identity trauma (intersectional discrimination) on social status and well-being. *Traumatology.* (2021) 27:29–39. doi: 10.1037/trm0000289

46. de Jong EM, Ziegler N, Schippers MC. From shattered goals to meaning in life: life crafting in times of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:577708. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.577708

47. Desmet M. *The Psychology of Totalitarianism*. White River Junction, VT: Chealsea Green Publishing (2022).

48. Cheng Z, Mendolia S, Paloyo AR, Savage DA, Tani M. Working parents, financial insecurity, and childcare: mental health in the time of COVID-19 in the UK. *Rev Econ Househ.* (2021) 19:123–44. doi: 10.1007/s11150-020-09538-3

49. Krauss JE, Artur L, Brockington D, Castro E, Fernando J, Fisher J, et al. 'To prevent this disease, we have to stay at home, but if we stay at home, we die of hunger' – livelihoods, vulnerability and coping with Covid-19 in rural Mozambique. *World Dev.* (2022) 151, 105757. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105757

50. Corman H, Noonan K, Reichman NE, Schultz J. Effects of financial insecurity on social interactions. *J Socio Econ.* (2012) 41:574–83. doi: 10.1016/j.socec.2012.05.006

51. Dickerson J, Kelly B, Lockyer B, Bridges S, Cartwright C, Willan K, et al. 'When will this end? Will it end?' The impact of the March-June 2020 UK COVID-19 lockdown response on mental health: a longitudinal survey of mothers in the Born in Bradford study. *BMJ Open.* (2022) 12:e047748. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-047748

52. Polsky JY, Gilmour H. Food insecurity and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health reports.* (2020) 31:3–11. doi: 10.25318/82-003-x202001200001

53. Vermote B, Waterschoot J, Morbée S, Van der Kaap-Deeder J, Schrooyen C, Soenens B, et al. do psychological needs play a role in times of uncertainty? Associations with well-being during the COVID-19 crisis. *J Happin Stud.* (2022) 23:257–83. doi: 10.1007/s10902-021-00398-x

54. Aledort JE, Lurie N, Wasserman J, Bozzette SA. Non-pharmaceutical public health interventions for pandemic influenza: an evaluation of the evidence base. *BMC Public Health.* (2007) 7:208. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-7-208

55. WHO. Non-Pharmaceutical Public Health Measures for Mitigating the Risk and Impact of Epidemic and Pandemic Influenza: Annex: Report of Systematic Literature Reviews. WHO (2019). Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/329439/WHO-WHE-IHM-GIP-2019.1-eng.pdf

56. WHO. Strengthening and Adjusting Public Health Measures Throughout the COVID-19 Transition Phases: Policy Considerations for the WHO European Region, 24 April 2020. Copenhagen: WHO (2020).

57. Ioannidis JPA. Coronavirus disease 2019: the harms of exaggerated information and non-evidence-based measures. *Eur J Clin Invest.* (2020) 50:e13222. doi: 10.1111/eci.13222

58. Edmonds B. Review of Critical Mass: How One Thing Leads to Another. New York, NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux (2006).

59. Le Bon G. The Crowd: A Study of the Popular Mind. New York, NY: Courier Corporation (2002).

60. Kok VJ, Lim MK, Chan CS. Crowd behavior analysis: a review where physics meets biology. *Neurocomputing*. (2016) 177:342–62. doi: 10.1016/j.neucom.2015.11.021

61. Bor A, Jørgensen FJ, Petersen MB. Prejudice Against the Vaccinated and the Unvaccinated During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Global Conjoint Experiment. (2022). doi: 10.31234/osf.io/t2g45

62. Bylund PL, Packard MD. Separation of power and expertise: Evidence of the tyranny of experts in Sweden's COVID-19 responses. *South Econ J.* (2021) 87:1300–19. doi: 10.1002/soej.12493

63. Drury J, Carter H, Ntontis E, Guven ST. Public behaviour in response to the COVID-19 pandemic: understanding the role of group processes. *BJPsych Open.* (2021) 7:e11. doi: 10.1192/bjo.2020.139

64. Prentice C, Quach S, Thaichon P. Antecedents and consequences of panic buying: the case of COVID-19. *Int J Consum Stud.* (2022) 46:132-46. doi: 10.1111/ijcs.12649

65. Bavel JJV, Baicker K, Boggio PS, Capraro V, Cichocka A, Cikara M, et al. Using social and behavioural science to support COVID-19 pandemic response. *Nat Hum Behav.* (2020) 4:460–71. doi: 10.1038/s41562-020-0884-z

66. Rayamajhee V, Paniagua P. Coproduction and the crafting of cognitive institutions during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Inst Econ.* (2022) 1–7. doi: 10.1017/S1744137422000078

67. Krings VC, Steeden B, Abrams D, Hogg MA. Social attitudes and behavior in the COVID-19 pandemic: evidence and prospects from research on group processes and intergroup relations. *Group Process Intergroup Relat.* (2021) 24:195– 200. doi: 10.1177/1368430220986673

68. Le Bon G, editor. Psychology of the Great War: The First World War and Its Origins. New York, NY: Routledge (2018).

69. Postmes T, Spears R. Deindividuation and antinormative behavior: a metaanalysis. *Psychol Bull.* (1998) 123:238.

70. Abrams D, Lalot F, Hogg MA. Intergroup and intragroup dimensions of COVID-19: a social identity perspective on social fragmentation and unity. *Group Process Intergroup Relat.* (2021) 24:201–9. doi: 10.1177/1368430220983440

71. Abrams D, Travaglino GA, Marques JM, Davies B, Randsley de Moura G. Collective deviance: scaling up subjective group dynamics to superordinate categories reveals a deviant ingroup protection effect. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (2021) 123:353–72. doi: 10.1037/pspi0000356

72. Wiggins JA, Dill F, Schwartz RD. On "status-liability". Sociometry. (1965) 28:197-209.

73. Grant PR, Smith HJ. Activism in the time of COVID-19. Group Process Intergr Relat. (2021) 24:297–305. doi: 10.1177/1368430220985208

74. Sharp G. From Dictatorship to Democracy. Boston, MA: The Albert Einstein Institution (2010).

75. Chirisa I, Mutambisi T, Chivenge M, Mabaso E, Matamanda AR, Ncube R. The urban penalty of COVID-19 lockdowns across the globe: manifestations and lessons for anglophone sub-Saharan Africa. *GeoJournal.* (2022) 87:815–28. doi: 10.1007/s10708-020-10281-6

76. Spring C, Garthwaite K, Fisher A. Containing hunger, contesting injustice? Exploring the transnational growth of foodbanking- and counter-responses- before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Food Ethics.* (2022) 7:6. doi: 10.1007/s41055-022-00099-y

77. Mayseless O, Popper M. Reliance on leaders and social institutions: an attachment perspective. *Attach Hum Dev.* (2007) 9:73–93. doi: 10.1080/14616730601151466

78. Volkan V. Blind Trust: Large Groups and Their Leaders in Times of Crisis and Terror. Richmond, VA: Pitchstone Publishing (2014).

79. Antonakis J. Leadership to defeat COVID-19. Group Process Intergroup Relat. (2021) 24:210-5. doi: 10.1177/1368430220981418

80. Binagwaho A. We need compassionate leadership management based on evidence to defeat COVID-19. *Int J Health Policy Manage*. (2020) 9:413–4. doi: 10.34172/ijhpm.2020.73

81. Gupta S, Simon KI, Wing C. Mandated and Voluntary Social Distancing During the Covid-19 Epidemic: A Review. New York, NY: National Bureau of Economic Research (2020). doi: 10.3386/w28139

82. Schmelz K, Bowles S. Opposition to voluntary and mandated COVID-19 vaccination as a dynamic process: evidence and policy implications of changing beliefs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2022) 119:e2118721119. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2118721119

83. Yan Y, Malik AA, Bayham J, Fenichel EP, Couzens C, Omer SB. Measuring voluntary and policy-induced social distancing behavior during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2021) 118:e2008814118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2008814118

84. Teichman D, Underhill K. Infected by bias: behavioral science and the legal response to COVID-19. *Am J Law Med.* (2021) 47:205–48. doi: 10.1017/amj.2021.16

85. Schmelz K. Enforcement may crowd out voluntary support for COVID-19 policies, especially where trust in government is weak and in a liberal society. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2021) 118:e2016385118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2016385118

86. Carpini MXD, Cook FL, Jacobs LR. Public deliberation, discursive participation, and citizen engagement: a review of the empirical literature. *Ann Rev Polit Sci.* (2004) 7:315–. doi: 10.1146/annurev.polisci.7.121003.091630

87. Allen DW. Covid-19 lockdown cost/benefits: a critical assessment of the literature. *Int J Econ Bus.* (2022) 29:1–32. doi: 10.1080/13571516.2021.1976051

88. Flaxman S, Mishra S, Gandy A, Unwin HJT, Mellan TA, Coupland H, et al. Estimating the effects of non-pharmaceutical interventions on COVID-19 in Europe. *Nature*. (2020). 584:257–61. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2405-7

89. Siqueira CADS, Freitas YNLD, Cancela MDC, Carvalho M, Oliveras-Fabregas A, de Souza DLB, et al. The effect of lockdown on the outcomes of COVID-19 in Spain: an ecological study. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0236779. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0236779

90. Umer H, Khan MS. Evaluating the effectiveness of regional lockdown policies in the containment of Covid-19: evidence from Pakistan. *arXiv preprint*. (2020) arXiv:2006.02987. doi: 10.31219/osf.io/s3fkp

91. Gibson J. Government mandated lockdowns do not reduce Covid-19 deaths: implications for evaluating the stringent New Zealand response. *N Zeal Econ Pap.* (2022) 56:17–28. doi: 10.1080/00779954.2020.1844786

92. Graso M, Henwood A, Aquino K, Dolan P, Chen FX. The dark side of belief in COVID-19 scientists and scientific evidence. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2022) 193:111594. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2022.111594

93. Silverman M, Sibbald R, Stranges S. Ethics of COVID-19-related school closures. Can J Public Health. (2020) 111:462–5. doi: 10.17269/s41997-020-00396-1

94. McPhail C. The Myth of the Madding Crowd. New York, NY: Routledge (2017). doi: 10.4324/9781315133270

95. Rempel MW, Fisher RJ. Perceived threat, cohesion, and group problem solving in intergroup conflict. *Int J Confl Manage*. (1997) 8:216–34.

96. Fischer R, Karl JA. Predicting behavioral intentions to prevent or mitigate COVID-19: a cross-cultural meta-analysis of attitudes, norms, and perceived behavioral control effects. *Soc Psychol Personal Sci.* (2022) 13:264–76. doi: 10.1177/19485506211019844

97. Graso M. The new normal: Covid-19 risk perceptions and support for continuing restrictions past vaccinations. *PLoS ONE.* (2022) 17:e0266602. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0266602

98. Mulligan CB, Arnott RD. Non-Covid Excess Deaths, 2020-21: Collateral Damage of Policy Choices? (No. w30104). National Bureau of Economic Research (2022). doi: 10.3386/w30104

99. Arendt H. The Origins of Totalitarianism [1951]. New York, NY (1973).

100. Riek BM, Mania EW, Gaertner SL. Intergroup threat and outgroup attitudes: a meta-analytic review. *Pers Soc Psychol Rev.* (2006) 10:336–53. doi: 10.1207/s15327957pspr1004_4

101. Haslam N, Stratemeyer M. Recent research on dehumanization. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2016) 11:25–9. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.03.009

102. Graso M, Chen FX, Reynolds T. Moralization of Covid-19 health response: asymmetry in tolerance for human costs. *J Exp Soc Psychol.* (2021) 93:104084. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2020.104084

103. Becker JC, Wagner U, Christ O. Consequences of the 2008 financial crisis for intergroup relations: The role of perceived threat and causal attributions. *Group Proc Intergroup Relat.* (2011) 14:871–85. doi: 10.1177/1368430211407643

104. Fritsche I, Jonas E, Kessler T. Collective reactions to threat: implications for intergroup conflict and for solving societal crises. *Soc Issues Policy Rev.* (2011) 5:101–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-2409.2011.01027.x

105. Krosch AR, Tyler TR, Amodio DM. Race and recession: effects of economic scarcity on racial discrimination. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (2017) 113:892–909. doi: 10.1037/pspi0000112

106. Shannon P. Part Two: COVID, Politics and Psychology. Quadrant (2022).

107. Sullivan D, Landau MJ, Rothschild ZK. An existential function of enemyship: evidence that people attribute influence to personal and political enemies to compensate for threats to control. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (2010) 98:434-49. doi: 10.1037/a0017457

108. Petersson BO. Hot conflict and everyday banality: enemy images, scapegoats and stereotypes. *Development*. (2009) 52:460–5. doi: 10.1057/dev.2009.59

109. Slavich GM. Social safety theory: understanding social stress, disease risk, resilience, and behavior during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2022) 45:101299. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2022.101299

110. Zion SR, Louis K, Horii R, Leibowitz K, Heathcote LC, Crum AJ. Making sense of a pandemic: mindsets influence emotions, behaviors, health, and wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Soc Sci Med.* (2022) 301:114889. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2022.114889

111. Pyszczynski T, Lockett M, Greenberg J, Solomon S. Terror management theory and the COVID-19 pandemic. J Hum Psychol. (2021) 61:173–89. doi: 10.1177/0022167820959488

112. Anderson CA, Bushman BJ. Human aggression. Annu Rev Psychol. (2002) 53:27–51. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135231

113. Killgore WDS, Cloonan SA, Taylor EC, Anlap I, Dailey NS. Increasing aggression during the COVID-19 lockdowns. *J Affect Disord Rep.* (2021) 5:100163. doi: 10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100163

114. Mazza M, Marano G, Lai C, Janiri L, Sani G. Danger in danger: interpersonal violence during COVID-19 quarantine. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 289:113046. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113046

115. Zillmann D. Transfer of excitation in emotional behavior. In: Cacioppo JT, Petty ER, editor. *SOCIAL Psychophysiology: A Sourcebook*. New York, NY: Guilford (1983). p. 215–40.

116. Bezo B, Maggi S. Living in "survival mode:" intergenerational transmission of trauma from the holodomor genocide of 1932–1933 in Ukraine. *Soc Sci Med.* (2015) 134:87–94. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.04.009

117. Brom D. Thoughts about survival mode theory of posttraumatic reactions. In: *Helping Children Cope With Trauma: Individual, Family and Community Perspectives*. Jerusalem: Routledge (2014). p. 243–8.

118. Marcus-Newhall A, Pedersen WC, Carlson M, Miller N. Displaced aggression is alive and well: a meta-analytic review. *J Person Soc Psychol.* (2000) 78:670. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.78.4.670

119. Ye B, Zeng Y, Im H, Liu M, Wang X, Yang Q. The relationship between fear of COVID-19 and online aggressive behavior: a moderated mediation model. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:589615. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.589615

120. McGregor HA, Lieberman JD, Greenberg J, Solomon S, Arndt J, Simon L, et al. Terror management and aggression: evidence that mortality salience motivates aggression against worldview-threatening others. *J Person Soc Psychol.* (1998) 74:590.

121. Stein DH, Schroeder J, Hobson NM, Gino F, Norton MI. When alterations are violations: moral outrage and punishment in response to (even minor) alterations to rituals. *J Person Soc Psychol.* (2021) 123.1:123. doi: 10.31234/osf.io/yd7tg

122. Henderson RK, Schnall S. Disease and disapproval: COVID-19 concern is related to greater moral condemnation. *Evol Psychol.* (2021) 19:14747049211021524. doi: 10.1177/14747049211021524

123. Dennis D, Radnitz C, Wheaton MG. A perfect storm? Health anxiety, contamination fears, and COVID-19: lessons learned from past pandemics and current challenges. *Int J Cogn Ther.* (2021) 14:497–513. doi: 10.1007/s41811-021-00109-7

124. Bendau A, Kunas SL, Wyka S, Petzold MB, Plag J, Asselmann E, et al. Longitudinal changes of anxiety and depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany: the role of pre-existing anxiety, depressive, and other mental disorders. *J Anxiety Disord.* (2021) 79:102377. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2021.102377

125. Lathabhavan R, Vispute S. Examining the mediating effects of stress on fear of COVID-19 and well-being using structural equation modeling. *Int J Ment Health Addict*. (2021) 18:1–9. doi: 10.1007/s11469-021-00541-y

126. Wright LJ, Williams SE, Veldhuijzen van Zanten JJCS. Physical Activity protects against the negative impact of coronavirus fear on adolescent mental health and well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:580511. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.580511

127. Alamilla SG, Cano MÁ. COVID-19 and adverse social determinants of health. *Behav Med.* (2022) 48:67–71. doi: 10.1080/08964289.2022.2027859

128. Bambra C, Lynch J, Smith KE. The Unequal Pandemic: COVID-19 and Health Inequalities. Bristol: Policy Press (2021) doi: 10.46692/9781447361251

129. Broadbent A, Streicher P. Can you lock down in a slum? And who would benefit if you tried? Difficult questions about epidemiology's commitment to global health inequalities during Covid-19. *Glob Epidemiol.* (2022) 4:100074. doi: 10.1016/j.gloepi.2022.100074

130. Idler E, Bernau JA, Zaras D. Narratives and counter-narratives in religious responses to COVID-19: a computational text analysis. *PLOS ONE.* (2022) 17:e0262905. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0262905

131. Khoury MJ, Ioannidis JPA. Big data meets public health. *Science*. (2014) 346:1054–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa2709

132. Kameda T, Toyokawa W, Tindale RS. Information aggregation and collective intelligence beyond the wisdom of crowds. *Nat Rev Psychol.* (2022) 12:8047. doi: 10.1038/s44159-022-00054-y

133. Hughes AC, Orr MC, Ma K, Costello MJ, Waller J, Provoost P, et al. Sampling biases shape our view of the natural world. *Ecography.* (2021) 44:1259–69. doi: 10.1111/ecog.05926

134. Pleyers G. The pandemic is a battlefield. Social movements in the COVID-19 lockdown. J Civil Soc. (2020) 16:295–312. doi: 10.1080/17448689.2020.1794398

135. Greer J, Fitzgerald K, Vijaykumar S. Narrative Elaboration Makes Regarding COVID-19 More Believable. Misinformation and Corrective Information. (2022). doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-1461954/v1

136. Godlee F. Why healthcare needs rebels. *BMJ.* (2021) 375:n2559. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2559

137. Kaufmann E. Academic freedom in crisis: punishment, political discrimination, and self-censorship. *Cent Study Partisansh Ideol.* (2021) 2:1-195. Available online at: https://www.hoplofobia.info/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/2021-Academic-Freedom-in-Crisis.pdf

138. Sunstein CR. *Why Societies Need Dissent. Vol. 9.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press (2005). doi: 10.4159/9780674267657

139. Kavanagh MM, Singh R. Democracy, capacity, and coercion in pandemic response: COVID-19 in comparative political perspective. *J Health Polit Policy Law.* (2020) 45:997–1012. doi: 10.1215/03616878-8641530

140. Gostin LO, Hodge JG. US emergency legal responses to novel coronavirus: balancing public health and civil liberties. *JAMA*. (2020) 323:1131–2. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.2025

141. World Health Organization Writing Group. Nonpharmaceutical interventions for pandemic influenza, national and community measures. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2006) 12:88–94. doi: 10.3201/eid1201.051371

142. Sly L. Stirrings of Unrest Around the World Could Portend Turmoil as Economies Collapse. The Washington Post (2020). Available online at: https:// www.washingtonpost.com/world/coronavirus-protests-lebanonindia-iraq/2020/ 04/19/1581dde4-7e5f-11ea-84c2-0792d8591911_story.Html (accessed June 2, 2020).

143. Byrne S, Hart PS. The boomerang effect a synthesis of findings and a preliminary theoretical framework. *Ann Int Commun Assoc.* (2009) 33:3-37. doi: 10.1080/23808985.2009.11679083

144. Cohen AR. A dissonance analysis of the boomerang effect. J Pers. (1962) 30:75-88.

145. Kean S. The Soviet Era's deadliest scientist is regaining popularity in Russia. *Atlantic.* (2017) 19. Available online at: https://www.theatlantic.com/science/archive/2017/12/trofim-lysenko-soviet-union-russia/548786/

146. Kolchinsky EI, Kutschera U, Hossfeld U, Levit GS. Russia's new lysenkoism. *Curr Biol.* (2017) 27:R1042–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.07.045

147. Rittberger B, Richardson J. What happens when we do not defend academic freedom. *J Euro Public Policy*. (2019) 26:324–4. doi: 10.1080/13501763.2017.1316946

148. Motta M. The dynamics and political implications of antiintellectualism in the United States. *Am Polit Res.* (2018) 46:465– 498. doi: 10.1177/1532673X17719507 149. Teixeira da Silva JA. How to shape academic freedom in the digital age? Are the retractions of opinionated papers a prelude to "cancel culture" in academia? *Curr Res Behav Sci.* (2021) 2:100035. doi: 10.1016/j.crbeha.2021.1 00035

150. Della Porta D. How progressive social movements can save democracy in pandemic times. *Interface*. (2020) 12:355–8. Retrived from: https://www.interfacejournal.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Interface-12-1-Della-Porta.pdf

151. Ioannidis J, Schippers M. Saving Democracy From the Pandemic. Tablet Magazine (2022). Retrieved from https://www.tabletmag.com/sections/science/articles/saving-democracy-from-pandemic (accessed May 19, 2022).

152. Daly TG. The pandemic and the future of global democracy. In: *Routledge Handbook of Law and the COVID-19 Pandemic*. New York, NY: Routledge (2022). p. 5–17. doi: 10.4324/9781003211952-2

153. Della Porta D. How Social Movements Can Save Democracy: Democratic Innovations From Below. Cambridge: John Wiley and Sons (2020).

154. Seedhouse D. The Case for Democracy in the COVID-19 Pandemic. Sage (2020). doi: 10.4135/9781529757163

155. Ioannidis JP. Why most published research findings are false. *PLoS Med.* (2005) 2:e124. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0020124

156. Carty V. New information communication technologies and grassroots mobilization. *Inform Commun Soc.* (2010) 13:155– 73. doi: 10.1080/13691180902915658

157. Carty V, Onyett J. Protest, cyberactivism and new social movements: the reemergence of the peace movement post 9/11. *Soc Mov Stud.* (2006) 5:229–49. doi: 10.1080/14742830600991586

158. Fournier V. Utopianism and the cultivation of possibilities: grassroots movements of hope. *Sociol Rev.* (2002) 50 (1_suppl):189–216. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-954X.2002.tb03585.x

159. Goodwin J, Jasper J, Polletta F. The return of the repressed: the fall and rise of emotions in social movement theory. *Mobilization.* (2006) 5:65-83. doi: 10.17813/maiq.5.1.74u39102m107g748

160. Gulliver R, Wibisono S, Fielding KS, Louis WR. *The Psychology* of *Effective Activism*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2021). doi: 10.1017/9781108975476

161. Roy N. Conclusion: will civil resistance work? In: Nonviolent Resistances in the Contemporary World. Routledge (2021). p. 133–6. doi: 10.4324/9781003109310-6

162. Moyer B, MacAllister J, Soifer MLFS. *Doing Democracy: The MAP Model for Organizing Social Movements*. Gabriola, BC: New Society Publishers (2001).

163. Hamilton LC, Safford TG. Elite cues and the rapid decline in trust in science agencies on COVID-19. *Sociol Perspect.* (2021) 64:988-1011. doi: 10.1177/07311214211022391

164. Sovacool BK, Dunlap A. Anarchy, war, or revolt? Radical perspectives for climate protection, insurgency and civil disobedience in a low-carbon era. *Energy Res Soc Sci.* (2022) 86:102416. doi: 10.1016/j.erss.2021.102416

165. Müller-Bachmann E, Chorvát I, Mefalopulos A. Heading for a better world: micropolitical activism of young people seeking social change. *J Youth Stud.* (2022) 1–19. doi: 10.1080/13676261.2022.2053669

166. Fraser N. Why overcoming prejudice is not enough: a rejoinder to richard rorty. *Crit Horiz.* (2000) 1:21–8. doi: 10.1163/156851600510408

167. Maguire ER. Policing, state repression, and the pro-democracy movement in Hong Kong. *Policing*. (2020) 14:840–2. doi: 10.1093/police/paaa077

168. Mayer NZ, Bert U. Movement and countermovement interaction: mobilization, tactics, state involvement. In: *Social Movements in an Organizational Society*. Oxfordshire: Routledge (2017). doi: 10.4324/9781315129648-10

169. Bennoune K. "Lest we should sleep": COVID-19 and human rights. Am J Int Law. (2020) 114:666-76. doi: 10.1017/ajil.2020.68

170. Stott C, Radburn M. Understanding crowd conflict: social context, psychology and policing. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2020) 35:76–80. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.03.001

171. Gelderloos P. *How Nonviolence Protects the State*. Cambridge: South End Press (2007). Available at: https://mirror.anarhija.net/lib.anarhija.net/mirror/p/pg/peter-gelderloos-how-nonviolence-protects-the-state.c117.pdf

172. Janecka IP. Democracy is failing, health of nations is failing, and pandemic is raging: systems science exposés. *Am J Educ Res.* (2021) 9:300-12. doi: 10.12691/education-9-5-8

173. Alperstein N. Conflict and contentiousness: network connections and pockets of resistance in social movements. In: *Performing Media Activism in the Digital Age*. Springer (2021). doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-73804-4_4

174. Sternisko A, Cichocka A, Van Bavel JJ. The dark side of social movements: social identity, non-conformity, and the lure of conspiracy theories. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2020) 35:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.02.007

175. Darius P, Urquhart M. Disinformed social movements: a large-scale mapping of conspiracy narratives as online harms during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Online Soc Netw Media.* (2021) 26:100174. doi: 10.1016/j.osnem.2021.100174

176. Loadenthal M. The politics of attack: communiqués and insurrectionary violence. I: The Politics of Attack. Manchester: Manchester University Press (2017). doi: 10.7228/manchester/9781526114457.001.0001

177. Stephan MJ, Chenoweth E. Why civil resistance works: the strategic logic of nonviolent conflict. *Int Secur.* (2008) 33:7-44. doi: 10.1162/isec.2008. 33.1.7

178. Chenoweth E, Stephan MJ, Stephan M. Why Civil Resistance Works: The Strategic Logic of Nonviolent Conflict. New York, NY: Columbia University Press.

179. Kraemer KR. Strategic nonviolent struggle in the twenty first century. J Soc Encount. (2021) 5:51-4. Available at: https://digitalcommons.csbsju.edu/social_ encounters/vol5/iss1/9

180. Pagnucco R. Review of civil resistance: what everyone needs to know. *J Soc Encount*. (2022) 6:177–81. Available online at: Available at: https://digitalcommons.csbsju.edu/social_encounters/vol6/iss1/21

181. Hallward M, Masullo J, Mouly C. Civil resistance in armed conflict: leveraging nonviolent action to navigate war, oppose violence and confront oppression. J Peacebuild Dev. (2017) 12:1–9. doi: 10.1080/15423166.2017.1376431

182. Chenoweth E. Civil Resistance: What Everyone Needs to Know[®]. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2021).

183. Said E. *The Public Role of Writers and Intellectuals*. Vol. 10. Princeton, NJ; Oxford Princeton University Press (2005). doi: 10.1515/9781400826681.15

184. Shahinpoor N, Matt BF. The power of one: dissent and organizational life. J Bus Ethics. (2007) 74:37–48. doi: 10.1007/s10551-006-9218-y

185. Della Porta D. Protests as critical junctures: some reflections towards a momentous approach to social movements. *Soc Mov Stud.* (2020) 19:556–75. doi: 10.1080/14742837.2018.1555458

186. Ando M, Furuichi M. The association of COVID-19 employment shocks with suicide and safety net use: an early-stage investigation. *PLoS ONE.* (2022) 17:e0264829. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0264829

187. Hirschberger G. Collective trauma and the social construction of meaning. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:1441. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01441

188. Erikson K. Everything in Its Path. New York, NY: Simon and Schuster (1976).

189. Maitlis S, Sonenshein S. Sensemaking in crisis and change: inspiration and insights from Weick (1988). *J Manage Stud.* (2010) 47:551–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00908.x

190. Stanley ML, Barr N, Peters K, Seli P. Analytic-thinking predicts hoax beliefs and helping behaviors in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Think Reason.* (2021) 27:464–77. doi: 10.1080/13546783.2020.1813806

191. Basinger ED, Wehrman EC, McAninch KG. Grief communication and privacy rules: examining the communication of individuals bereaved by the death of a family member. *J Fam Commun.* (2016) 16:285–302. doi: 10.1080/15267431.2016.1182534

192. Hobfoll SE. Conservation of resources: a new attempt at conceptualizing stress. *Am Psychol.* (1989) 44:513–24.

193. Hobfoll SE. Conservation of resources theory: its implication for stress, health, and resilience. In: *The Oxford Handbook of Stress, Health, and Coping.* Oxford University Press (2011). doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195375343. 013.0007

194. Hobfoll SE, Halbesleben J, Neveu JP, Westman M. Conservation of resources in the organizational context: the reality of resources and their consequences. *Ann Rev Organ Psychol Organ Behav.* (2018) 5:103–28. doi: 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032117-104640

195. Fuller B, Marler LE. Change driven by nature: a meta-analytic review of the proactive personality literature. *J Vocat Behav.* (2009) 75:329–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.05.008

196. Hobfoll SE. The influence of culture, community, and the nested-self in the stress process: advancing conservation of resources theory. *Appl Psychol.* (2001) 50:337–421. doi: 10.1111/1464-0597.00062

197. Peck JA. The disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on women relative to men: a conservation of resources perspective. *Gend Work Organ.* (2021) 28:484–97. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12597

198. Naranjo AM, Sun Q. Women affected most by covid-19 disruptions in the Labor Market: St. Louis Fed. Saint Louis Fed Eagle (2022). Available online at

https://www.stlouisfed.org/publications/regional-economist/first-quarter-2021/women-affected-most-covid-19-disruptions-labor-market

199. Rosenfeld DL, Tomiyama AJ. Can a pandemic make people more socially conservative? Political ideology, gender roles, and the case of COVID-19. *J Appl Soc Psychol.* (2021) 51:425–33. doi: 10.1111/jasp.12745

200. Shelef L, Schiff M, Pat-Horenczyk R, Dekel R. COVID-19 vs. terrorism: contribution of the COR theory to the process of coping with invisible threats. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2022) 147:176–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2022.01.023

201. Kalinowski S, Łuczak A, Koziolek A. The social dimension of security: the dichotomy of respondentsandrsquo; perceptions during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Sustainability.* (2022) 14:1363. doi: 10.3390/su14031363

202. Crayne MP. The traumatic impact of job loss and job search in the aftermath of COVID-19. *Psychol Trauma Theory Res Pract Policy*. (2020) 12:S180–2. doi: 10.1037/tra0000852

203. Bareket-Bojmel L, Shahar G, Abu-Kaf S, Margalit M. Perceived social support, loneliness, and hope during the COVID-19 pandemic: testing a mediating model in the UK, USA, and Israel. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2021) 60:133–48. doi: 10.1111/bjc.12285

204. Ranieri V, Sem Stoltenberg A, Pizzo E, Montaldo C, Bizzi E, Edwards S, et al. COVID-19 welbeing study: a protocol examining perceived coercion and psychological well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic by means of an online survey, asynchronous virtual focus groups and individual interviews. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e043418. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-0 43418

205. Rosenfeld DL, Balcetis E, Bastian B, Berkman ET, Bosson JK, Brannon TN, et al. Psychological science in the wake of Covid-19: social, methodological, metascientific considerations. *Perspect Psychol Sci.* (2022) 17:311–33. doi: 10.1177/17456916219 99374

206. Vashdi DR, Chen J, Bamberger PA. *Buffering CoVID-Related Negative Emotional States Through Pre-Lockdown Team Interdependence and Social Support.* (2022). Available online at: https://obcovid19files.s3.amazonaws.com/vashdi.pdf

207. Suzuki M, Furihata R, Konno C, Kaneita Y, Ohida T, Uchiyama M. Stressful events and coping strategies associated with symptoms of depression: a Japanese general population survey. *J Affect Disord.* (2018) 238:482–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.06.024

208. Hawton K, van Heeringen K. Suicide. Lancet. (2009) 373:1372–81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60372-X

209. Tanaka T, Okamoto S. Increase in suicide following an initial decline during the COVID-19 pandemic in Japan. *Nat Hum Behav.* (2021) 5:229-38. doi: 10.1038/s41562-020-01042-z

210. Hobfoll SE, Vinokur AD, Pierce PF, Lewandowski-Romps L. The combined stress of family life, work, and war in air force men and women: a test of conservation of resources theory. *Int J Stress Manage*. (2012) 19:217–37. doi:10.1037/a0029247

211. Gauthier GR, Smith JA, García C, Garcia MA, Thomas PA. Exacerbating inequalities: social networks, racial/ethnic disparities, and the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. *J Gerontol Ser B.* (2020) 76:e88–e92. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbaa117

212. Thomas J, Barbato M, Verlinden M, Gaspar C, Moussa M, Ghorayeb J, et al. Psychosocial correlates of depression and anxiety in the united arab emirates during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:564172. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.564172

213. Alonzi S, La Torre A, Silverstein MW. The psychological impact of preexisting mental and physical health conditions during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychol Trauma Theory Res Pract Policy.* (2020) 12:S236-8. doi: 10.1037/tra0000840

214. Van Lancker W, Parolin Z. COVID-19, school closures, and child poverty: a social crisis in the making. *Lancet Public Health.* (2020) 5:e243-4. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30084-0

215. Chen S, Westman M, Hobfoll SE. The commerce and crossover of resources: resource conservation in the service of resilience. *Stress Health.* (2015) 31:95–105. doi: 10.1002/smi.2574

216. Calhoun LG, Tedeschi RG. Facilitating Posttraumatic Growth: A Clinician's Guide. New York, NY: Routledge (1999).

217. Yi-Feng Chen N, Crant JM, Wang N, Kou Y, Qin Y, Yu J, et al. When there is a will there is a way: the role of proactive personality in combating COVID-19. *J Appl Psychol.* (2021) 106:199–213. doi: 10.1037/apl0000865

218. Cushing L, Morello-Frosch R, Wander M, Pastor M. The haves, the have-nots, and the health of everyone: the relationship between social inequality and environmental quality. *Annu Rev Public Health.* (2015) 36:193–209. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122646
219. Neckerman KM, Torche F. Inequality: causes and consequences. Ann Rev Sociol. (2007) 33:335–357. doi: 10.1146/annurev.soc.33.040406.131755

220. Fiske A, Galasso I, Eichinger J, McLennan S, Radhuber I, Zimmermann B, et al. The second pandemic: examining structural inequality through reverberations of COVID-19 in Europe. *Soc Sci Med.* (2022) 292:114634. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114634

221. World Bank. *Global Economic Prospects*, 2020. Washington, DC: World Bank (2020). Available online at: http://hdl.handle.net/10986/33748

222. Lustig N, Arias O, Rigolini J. Poverty Reduction and Economic Growth: a Two-way Casuality. Inter-American Development Bank, Sustainable Development Department (2002)

223. WorldBank WB. *Poverty Overview*. World Bank (2022). Retrieved from https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/poverty/overview#1 (accessed May 19, 2022).

224. Joffe A, Redman D. Applying philosophy, logic, and rational argumentation to the severe acute respiratory syndrome Coronavirus-2 pandemic response. *Preprints.* (2021) 2021:2021050264. doi: 10.20944/preprints202105.0264.v1

225. Koh WC, Alikhan MF, Koh D, Wong J. Containing COVID-19: implementation of early and moderately stringent social distancing measures can prevent the need for large-scale lockdowns. *Ann Glob Health.* (2020) 86:2969 doi: 10.5334/aogh.2969

226. Meyerowitz-Katz G, Bhatt S, Ratmann O, Brauner JM, Flaxman S, Mishra S, et al. Is the cure really worse than the disease? The health impacts of lockdowns during COVID-19. *BMJ Glob Health.* (2021) 6:e006653. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2021-006653

227. Chin V, Ioannidis JP, Tanner MA, Cripps S. Effect estimates of COVID-19 non-pharmaceutical interventions are non-robust and highly model-dependent. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2021) 136:96–132. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2021.03.014

228. Pak A, Adegboye OA, McBryde ES. Are we better-off? The benefits and costs of australian covid-19 lockdown. *Front Public Health*. (2021) 9:798478. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.798478

229. Arora AES, Herrin J, Riley C, Roy B, Kell K, Coberley C, et al. Population well-being measures help explain geographic disparities in life expectancy at the county level. *Health Aff.* (2016) 35:2075–82. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0715

230. Frijters P, Clark AE, Krekel C, Layard R. A happy choice: wellbeing as the goal of government. *Behav Public Policy.* (2020) 4:126–65. doi: 10.1017/bpp.2019.39

231. Bartram D. Does inequality exacerbate status anxiety among higher earners? A longitudinal evaluation. *Int J Compar Sociol.* (2022) 2022:00207152221094815. doi: 10.1177/00207152221094815

232. Diener E, Chan MY. Happy people live longer: subjective well-being contributes to health and longevity. *Appl Psychol Health Well Being*. (2011) 3:1–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-0854.2010.01045.x

233. Chida Y, Steptoe A. Positive psychological well-being and mortality: a quantitative review of prospective observational studies. *Psychosom Med.* (2008) 70:741–56. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31818105ba

234. Bower M, Buckle C, Rugel E, Donohoe-Bales A, McGrath L, Gournay K, et al. 'Trapped', 'anxious' and 'traumatised': COVID-19 intensified the impact of housing inequality on Australians' mental health. *Int J Hous Policy*. (2021) 32:1940686. doi: 10.1080/19491247.2021.1940686

235. Stantcheva S. Inequalities in the Times of a Pandemic (No. w29657). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research (2022). doi: 10.3386/w29657

236. Xiong J, Lipsitz O, Nasri F, Lui LMW, Gill H, Phan L, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: a systematic review. *J Affect Disord*. (2020) 277:55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001

237. McNeely CL, Schintler LA, Stabile B. Social determinants and COVID-19 disparities: differential pandemic effects and dynamics. *World Med Health Policy*. (2020) 12:206–17. doi: 10.1002/wmh3.370

238. Yamey G, McDade KK, Brennan RJ, Abubakar A, Khan W. Preventing pandemics in the world's most vulnerable settings. *BMJ.* (2021) 375:n2897. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2897

239. McCartney G, Leyland A, Walsh D, Ruth D. Scaling COVID-19 against inequalities: should the policy response consistently match the mortality challenge? *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2020) 75:315–20. doi: 10.1136/jech-2020-214373

240. Clouston S, Natale G, Link BG. Socioeconomic inequalities in the spread of coronavirus-19 in the United States: a examination of the emergence of social inequalities. *Soc Sci Med.* (2021) 268:113554. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113554

241. Gauvin L, Barnett TA, Dea C, Doré I, Drouin O, Frohlich KL, et al. Quarantots, quarankids, and quaranteens: how research can contribute to mitigating the deleterious impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on health

behaviours and social inequalities while achieving sustainable change. [Les toutpetits, enfants et ados de la quarantaine: contributions de la recherche à des changements durables pour mitiger les impacts délétères de la pandémie de COVID-19 sur les habitudes de vie et les inégalités sociales.] *Can J Public Health.* (2022) 113:53–60. doi: 10.17269/s41997-021-00569-6

242. Ribeiro AL, Alves Sousa NW, Martins-Filho PR, Carvalho VO. Social disparity in magnifying glass: the inequality among the vulnerable people during COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2021) 75:e13839. doi: 10.1111/ijcp. 13839

243. Barnard S, Fryers P, Fitzpatrick J, Fox S, Waller Z, Baker A, et al. Inequalities in excess premature mortality in England during the COVID-19 pandemic: a crosssectional analysis of cumulative excess mortality by area deprivation and ethnicity. *BMJ Open*. (2021) 11:e052646. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-052646

244. Blundell R, Costa Dias M, Joyce R, Xu X. COVID-19 and inequalities. Fisc Stud. (2020) 41:219–319. doi: 10.1111/1475-5890.12232

245. Cifuentes MP, Rodriguez-Villamizar LA, Rojas-Botero ML, Alvarez-Moreno CA, Fernández-Niño JA. Socioeconomic inequalities associated with mortality for COVID-19 in Colombia: a cohort nationwide study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. (2021) 4:e216275. doi: 10.1136/jech-2020-216275

246. Liao TF, De Maio F. Association of social and economic inequality with coronavirus disease 2019 incidence and mortality across US counties. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2021) 4:e2034578. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.34578

247. Perry BL, Aronson B, Pescosolido BA. Pandemic precarity: COVID-19 is exposing and exacerbating inequalities in the American heartland. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2021) 118:e2020685118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2020685118

248. Watkinson RE, Williams R, Gillibrand S, Sanders C, Sutton M. Ethnic inequalities in COVID-19 vaccine uptake and comparison to seasonal influenza vaccine uptake in Greater Manchester, UK: a cohort study. *PLoS Med.* (2022) 19:e1003932. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003932

249. González-Rábago Y, Cabezas-Rodríguez A, Martín U. Social inequalities in health determinants in spanish children during the COVID-19 lockdown. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:4087. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18084087

250. Parker RF, Figures EL, Paddison CA, Matheson JI, Blane DN, Ford JA. Inequalities in general practice remote consultations: a systematic review. *BJGP Open.* (2021) 5:40. doi: 10.3399/BJGPO.2021.0040

251. Politi J, Martín-Sánchez M, Mercuriali L, Borras-Bermejo B, Lopez-Contreras J, Vilella A, et al. Epidemiological characteristics and outcomes of COVID-19 cases: mortality inequalities by socio-economic status, Barcelona, Spain, 24 February to 4 May 2020. *Euro Surveill.* (2021) 26:2001138. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2021.26.20.2001138

252. Reboucas P, Falcão IR, Barreto ML. Social inequalities and their impact on children's health: a current and global perspective. *J Pediatr.* (2022) 98 (Suppl. 1):S55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jped.2021.11.004

253. Jaspal R. Identity threat and coping among British South Asian gay men during the COVID-19 lockdown. *Sex Cult.* (2021) 25:1428–46. doi: 10.1007/s12119-021-09817-w

254. Nemati S, Saeedi E, Abdi S, Qandian A, Kalhor E, Moradi S, et al. Decomposition of socioeconomic inequality in COVID-19 mortality in Iran: a retrospective cohort study. *Health Soc Care Commu.* (2021). doi: 10.1111/hsc.13627

255. Sepulveda ER, Brooker AS. Income inequality and COVID-19 mortality: Age-stratified analysis of 22 OECD countries. *SSM Popul Health.* (2021) 16:100904. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2021. 100904

256. Bambra C, Riordan R, Ford J, Matthews F. The COVID-19 pandemic and health inequalities. *J epidemiol Community Health.* (2020) 74:964–8. doi: 10.1136/jech-2020-214401

257. Cerqua A, Letta M. Local inequalities of the COVID-19 crisis. *Reg Sci Urban Econ.* (2022) 92:103752. doi: 10.1016/j.regsciurbeco.2021.103752

258. Malmusi D, Pasarín MI, Marí-Dell'Olmo M, Artazcoz L, Diez E, Tolosa S, et al. Multi-level policy responses to tackle socioeconomic inequalities in the incidence of COVID-19 in a European urban area. *Int J Equity Health.* (2022) 21:28. doi: 10.1186/s12939-022-01628-1

259. Tan AX, Hinman JA, Abdel Magid HS, Nelson LM, Odden MC. Association between income inequality and county-level COVID-19 cases and deaths in the US. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2021) 4:e218799. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.8799

260. Gao X, Davillas A, Jones AM. The Covid-19 pandemic and its impact on socioeconomic inequality in psychological distress in the United Kingdom: an update. *Health Econ.* (2022) 31:912–920. doi: 10.1002/hec.4480

261. Alicandro G, Corsetti G, Battaglini M, Prati S, Frova L. Education inequalities in overall mortality during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Italy. [Disuguaglianze per istruzione nella mortalità totale durante la prima

ondata della pandemia di COVID-19 in Italia.] Epidemiol Prev. (2021) 45:463-9. doi: 10.19191/ep21.6.122

262. Stok FM, Bal M, Yerkes MA, de Wit J. Social inequality and solidarity in times of COVID-19. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:6339. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18126339

263. Jones N, Baird S, Abu Hamad B, Bhutta ZA, Oakley E, Shah M, et al. Compounding inequalities: adolescent psychosocial wellbeing and resilience among refugee and host communities in Jordan during the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLoS ONE*. (2022) 17:e0261773. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0261773

264. Andrasfay T, Goldman N. Association of the COVID-19 pandemic with estimated life expectancy by race/ethnicity in the United States, 2020. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2021) 4:e2114520. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021. 14520

265. Gundersen C, Hake M, Dewey A, Engelhard E. Food insecurity during COVID-19. *Appl Econ Perspect Policy*. (2021) 43:153-61. doi: 10.1002/aepp.13100

266. Laborde D, Martin W, Vos R. Poverty and Food Insecurity Could Grow Dramatically as COVID-19 Spreads. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), (2020). doi: 10.2499/p15738coll2.133762_02

267. Niles MT, Bertmann F, Belarmino EH, Wentworth T, Biehl E, Neff R. The early food insecurity impacts of COVID-19. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:2096. doi: 10.3390/nu12072096

268. Udmale P, Pal I, Szabo S, Pramanik M, Large A. Global food security in the context of COVID-19: a scenario-based exploratory analysis. *Prog Disaster Sci.* (2020) 7:100120. doi: 10.1016/j.pdisas.2020.100120

269. Haelermans C, Korthals R, Jacobs M, de Leeuw S, Vermeulen S, van Vugt L, et al. Sharp increase in inequality in education in times of the COVID-19pandemic. *PLoS ONE*. (2022) 17:e0261114. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0261114

270. Andrew A, Cattan S, Costa Dias M, Farquharson C, Kraftman L, Krutikova S, et al. Inequalities in children's experiences of home learning during the COVID-19 lockdown in England. *Fisc Stud.* (2020) 41:653–683. doi: 10.1111/1475-5890.12240

271. Katz VS, Jordan AB, Ognyanova K. Digital inequality, faculty communication, and remote learning experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic: A survey of U.S. undergraduates. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0246641. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0246641

272. Nguyen MH, Hargittai E, Marler W. Digital inequality in communication during a time of physical distancing: the case of COVID-19. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2021) 120:106717. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2021.106717

273. Zachreson C, Martino E, Tomko M, Shearer FM, Bentley R, Geard N. Mapping home internet activity during COVID-19 lockdown to identify occupation related inequalities. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:21054. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-00553-7

274. Borrescio-Higa F, Valenzuela P. Gender inequality and mental health during the covid-19 pandemic. *Int J Public Health.* (2021) 66:1604220. doi: 10.3389/ijph.2021.1604220

275. Gibson B, Schneider J, Talamonti D, Forshaw M. The impact of inequality on mental health outcomes during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review. *Can Psychol.* (2021) 62:101–126. doi: 10.1037/cap0000272

276. Utzet M, Bacigalupe A, Navarro A. Occupational health, frontline workers and COVID-19 lockdown: new gender-related inequalities? *J Epidemiol Community Health*. (2022) 76.6:537–43. doi: 10.1136/jech-2021-217692

277. Yerkes MA, André S, Besamusca JW, Kruyen PM, Remery C, van der Zwan R, et al. 'Intelligent' lockdown, intelligent effects? Results from a survey on gender (in)equality in paid work, the division of childcare and household work, and quality of life among parents in the Netherlands during the Covid-19 lockdown. *PLoS ONE*, (2020) 15:e0242249. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0242249

278. Fisher AN, Ryan MK. Gender inequalities during COVID-19. Group Process Intergr Relat. (2021) 24:237–45. doi: 10.1177/1368430220984248

279. Nourazari S, Davis SR, Granovsky R, Austin R, Straff DJ, Joseph JW, et al. Decreased hospital admissions through emergency departments during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Am J Emerge.* (2021) 42:203–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2020.11.029

280. Brzezinski M. The impact of past pandemics on economic and gender inequalities. *Econ Hum Biol.* (2021) 43:101039. doi: 10.1016/j.ehb.2021. 101039

281. Christl M, De Poli S, Kucsera D, Lorenz H. COVID-19 and (gender) inequality in income: the impact of discretionary policy measures in Austria. *Swiss J Econ Stat.* (2022) 158:4. doi: 10.1186/s41937-022-0 0084-6

282. Dang HH, Viet Nguyen C. Gender inequality during the COVID-19 pandemic: income, expenditure, savings, job loss. *World Dev.* (2021) 140:105296. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105296

283. Martinez-Bravo M, Sanz C. Inequality and psychological well-being in times of COVID-19: evidence from Spain. *Series J Spanish Econ Assoc.* (2021) 12:489–548. doi: 10.1007/s13209-021-00255-3

284. Pitzalis M, Span, o E. Stay home and be unfair: the amplification of inequalities among families with young children during COVID-19. *Euro J Educ.* (2021) 56:595–606. doi: 10.1111/ejed.12481

285. Gorska AM, Kulicka K, Staniszewska Z, Dobija D. Deepening inequalities: What did COVID-19 reveal about the gendered nature of academic work? *Gend Work Organ.* (2021) 18:12696. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12696

286. Pinho-Gomes AC, Peters S, Thompson K, Hockham C, Ripullone K, Woodward M, et al. Where are the women? Gender inequalities in COVID-19 research authorship. *BMJ Glob Health.* (2020) 5:e002922. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2020-002922

287. Quak E, Girault G, Thenint MA, Weyts K, Lequesne J, Lasnon C. Author gender inequality in medical imaging journals and the COVID-19 pandemic. *Radiology*. (2021) 300:E301-7. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2021204417

288. Guerrina R, Borisch B, Callahan LF, Howick J, Reginster JY, Mobasheri A. Health and gender inequalities of the COVID-19 pandemic: adverse impacts on women's health, wealth and social welfare. *Front Glob Womens Health.* (2021) 2:670310. doi: 10.3389/fgwh.2021.670310

289. Bellizzi S, Nivoli A, Lorettu L, Ronzoni AR. Human rights during the COVID-19 pandemic: the issue of female genital mutilations. *Public Health.* (2020) 185:53–4. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2020.05.037

290. Aburto JM, Schöley J, Kashnitsky I, Zhang L, Rahal C, Missov TI, et al. Quantifying impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic through life-expectancy losses: a population-level study of 29 countries. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2022) 51:63–74. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyab207

291. Viner R, Russell S, Saulle R, Croker H, Stansfield C, Packer J, et al. School closures during social lockdown and mental health, health behaviors, and well-being among children and adolescents during the first COVID-19 wave: a systematic review. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2022) 176:400–9. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021.5840

292. Bisht R, Saharia R, Sarma J. COVID-19 and the burden of ill-health: a double crisis of disruptions and inequalities. *J Soc Econ Dev.* (2020) 23.2:342–56. doi: 10.1007/s40847-020-00117-x

293. Shur NF, Johns D, Kluzek S, Peirce N. Physical inactivity and health inequality during coronavirus: a novel opportunity or total lockdown? *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med.* (2020) 6:e000903. doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2020-000903

294. De Lorenzo A, Cenname G, Marchetti M, Gualtieri P, Dri M, Carrano E, et al. Social inequalities and nutritional disparities: the link between obesity and COVID-19. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2022) 26:320–39. Available at: https://www.europeanreview.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/320-339.pdf

295. La Fauci G, Montalti M, Di Valerio Z, Gori D, Salomoni MG, Salussolia A, et al. Obesity and COVID-19 in children and adolescents: reciprocal detrimental influence—systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:7603. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19137603

296. Jaspal R, Breakwell GM. Socio-economic inequalities in social network, loneliness and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Soc Psychiatry.* (2022) 68:155–65. doi: 10.1177/002076402097 6694

297. Bendau A, Viohl L, Petzold MB, Helbig J, Reiche S, Marek R, et al. No party, no drugs? Use of stimulants, dissociative drugs, and GHB/GBL during the early COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Drug Policy*. (2022) 102:103582. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2022.103582

298. Claes N, Smeding A, Carr,é A. Mental health inequalities during COVID-19 outbreak: the role of financial insecurity and attentional control. *Psychol Belg.* (2021) 61:327–40. doi: 10.5334/pb.1064

299. Fineberg NA, Pellegrini L, Wellsted D, Hall N, Corazza O, Giorgetti V, et al. Facing the "new normal": how adjusting to the easing of COVID-19 lockdown restrictions exposes mental health inequalities. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2021) 141:276–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.07.001

300. Gagne MH, Piché G, Clément MÈ, Villatte A. Families in confinement: a pre-post COVID-19 study. *Couple Fam Psychol Res Pract.* (2021) 10:260– 70. doi: 10.1037/cfp0000179

301. Gagne T, Nandi A, Schoon I. Time trend analysis of social inequalities in psychological distress among young adults before and during the pandemic: evidence from the uk household longitudinal study COVID-19 waves. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2021) 76:421–7. doi: 10.1136/jech-2021-217266 302. Sudo N. The positive and negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on subjective well-being and changes in social inequality: evidence from prefectures in Japan. *SSM Popul Health.* (2022) 17:101029. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2022.1 01029

303. Esseau-Thomas C, Galarraga O, Khalifa S. Epidemics, pandemics and income inequality. *Health Econ Rev.* (2022) 12:7. doi: 10.1186/s13561-022-0 0355-1

304. Bonacini L, Gallo G, Scicchitano S. Working from home and income inequality: risks of a 'new normal' with COVID-19. *J Popul Econ.* (2020) 34.1:1–58. doi: 10.1007/s00148-020-00800-7

305. Delaporte I, Escobar J, Peña W. The distributional consequences of social distancing on poverty and labour income inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean. J Popul Econ. (2021) 1–59. doi: 10.1007/s00148-021-00854-1

306. Palomino JC, Rodríguez JG, Sebastian R. Wage inequality and poverty effects of lockdown and social distancing in Europe. *Euro Econ Rev.* (2020) 129:103564. doi: 10.1016/j.euroecorev.2020.103564

307. Perugini C, Vladisavljevi,ć M. Social stability challenged by Covid-19: pandemics, inequality and policy responses. *J Policy Model.* (2021) 43:146-60. doi: 10.1016/j.jpolmod.2020.10.004

308. Shen J, Shum WY, Cheong TS, Wang L. COVID-19 and regional income inequality in China. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:687152. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.687152

309. Deaton A. COVID-19 and global income inequality. *LSE Public Policy Rev.* (2021) 1:1. doi: 10.31389/lseppr.26

310. Bacher-Hicks A, Goodman J, Mulhern C. Inequality in household adaptation to schooling shocks: COVID-induced online learning engagement in real time. *J Public Econ.* (2021) 193:104345. doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2020.104345

311. Devkota KR. Inequalities reinforced through online and distance education in the age of COVID-19: the case of higher education in Nepal. *Int Rev Educ.* (2021) 67:145–65. doi: 10.1007/s11159-021-09886-x

312. Grewenig E, Lergetporer P, Werner K, Woessmann L, Zierow L. COVID-19 and educational inequality: how school closures affect low- and high-achieving students. *Eur Econ Rev.* (2021) 140:103920. doi: 10.1016/j.euroecorev.2021.103920

313. Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:912–20. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8

314. Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB. Social relationships and mortality. Soc Person Psychol Compass. (2012) 6:41–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9004.2011.00406.x

315. Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Layton JB. Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review. *PLOS Med.* (2010) 7:e1000316. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316

316. Czeisler MÉ, Marynak K, Clarke KE, Salah Z, Shakya I, Thierry JM, et al. Delay or avoidance of medical care because of COVID-19related concerns—United States, June 2020. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* (2020) 69:1250. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6936a4

317. Imlach F, McKinlay E, Kennedy J, Pledger M, Middleton L, Cumming J, et al. Seeking healthcare during lockdown: Challenges, opportunities and lessons for the future. *Int J Health Policy Manag.* (2021). doi: 10.34172/ijhpm.2021.26. [Epub ahead of print].

318. Lange SJ, Ritchey MD, Goodman AB, Dias T, Twentyman E, Fuld J, et al. Potential indirect effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on use of emergency departments for acute life-threatening conditions — United States, January-May 2020. *Am J Transplant*. (2020) 20:2612–7. doi: 10.1111/ajt.16239

319. Saeki H, Shirabe K, Miyazaki T, Ogawa T, Makita F, Shitara Y, et al. Decreased numbers of gastric, colorectal, lung, and breast cancer surgeries performed in 17 cancer-designated hospitals in Gunma prefecture of Japan during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Surgery Today.* (2022) 15:1–7. doi: 10.1007/s00595-022-0 2501-y

320. Collaborative C. Elective surgery cancellations due to the COVID-19 pandemic: global predictive modelling to inform surgical recovery plans. *Br J Surg.* (2020) 107:1440–9. doi: 10.1002/bjs.11746

321. Arnault I., Jusot F, Renaud T. Economic vulnerability and unmet healthcare needs among the population aged 50 + years during the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe. *Eur J Ageing.* (2021) 5:1–15. doi: 10.1007/s10433-021-00645-3

322. Ferreira F. Inequality and covid-19 – IMF FandD. International Monetary Fund – Homepage (2022). Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ ft/fandd/2021/06/inequality-and-covid-19-ferreira.htm#:~:text=The%20severe %20impact%20of%20the,extreme%3A%20the%20wealth%20of%20billionaires (accessed May 19, 2021).

323. Wikipedia. *Economic Inequality*. Wikipedia (2022). Retrieved from https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Economic_inequality (accessed May 19, 2022).

324. Yonzan N, Laknerdaniel C, Mahler G. *Is Covid-19 Increasing Global Inequality?* World Bank Blogs (2022). Retrieved from https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/covid-19-increasing-global-inequality (accessed May 19, 2021).

325. Berkhout E, Galasso N, Lawson M, Rivero Morales PA, Taneja A, Vázquez Pimentel DA. The Inequality Virus: Bringing Together a World Torn Apart by Coronavirus Through a Fair, Just and Sustainable Economy. Oxford: Oxfam (2021) doi: 10.21201/2021.6409

326. Buheji M, da Costa Cunha K, Beka G, Mavric B, De Souza Y, da Costa Silva SS, et al. The extent of covid-19 pandemic socio-economic impact on global poverty. A global integrative multidisciplinary review. *Am J Econ.* (2020) 10:213–24. doi: 10.5923/j.economics.20201004.02

327. Sanchez-Paramo C, Hill R, Mahler D, Narayan A, Yonzar N. *Covid-19 Leaves a Legacy of Rising Poverty and Widening Inequality*. World Bank Blogs (2022). Retrieved from https://blogs.worldbank.org/developmenttalk/covid-19-leaves-legacy-rising-poverty-and-widening-inequality (accessed May 19, 2021).

328. Borkowski A, Ortiz Correa JS, Bundy DA, Burbano C, Hayashi C, Lloyd-Evans E, et al. COVID-19: Missing More than a Classroom. The Impact of School Closures on Children's Nutrition. Innocenti Working Paper 2021-01. UNICEF (2021).

329. Blundell R, Cribb J, McNally S, Warwick R, Xu X. Inequalities in Education, Skills, and Incomes in the UK: The Implications of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Institute for Fiscal Studies (2021).

330. Dorn E, Hancock B, Sarakatsannis J, Viruleg E. COVID-19 and Student Learning in the United States: The Hurt Could Last a Lifetime. McKinsey and Company (2020).

331. Engzell P, Frey A, Verhagen MD. Learning loss due to school closures during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2021) 118:e2022376118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2022376118

332. Cantillon B, Chzhen Y, Handa S, Nolan B. Children of Austerity: Impact of the Great Recession on Child Poverty in Rich Countries. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2017). doi: 10.1093/oso/9780198797968.001.0001

333. Prowse R, Sherratt F, Abizaid A, Gabrys RL, Hellemans KGC, Patterson ZR, et al. Coping with the COVID-19 pandemic: examining gender differences in stress and mental health among university students. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:650759. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.650759

334. Malhi P, Bharti B, Sidhu M. Stress and parenting during the COVID-19 pandemic: psychosocial impact on children. *Indian J Pediatr.* (2021) 88:481. doi: 10.1007/s12098-021-03665-0

335. Debowska A, Horeczy B, Boduszek D, Dolinski D. A repeated crosssectional survey assessing university students' stress, depression, anxiety, and suicidality in the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic in Poland. *Psychol Med.* (2020) 2:1–4. doi: 10.1017/S003329172000392X

336. Benassi E, Vallone M, Camia M, Scorza M. Women during the covid-19 lockdown: more anxiety symptoms in women with children than without children and role of the resilience. *Mediterranean Clin Psychol.* (2020) 8:1–19. doi: 10.6092/2282-1619/mjcp-2559

337. Fushimi M. The importance of studying the increase in suicides and gender differences during the COVID-19 pandemic. *QJM*. (2021) 115:57-8. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcab130

338. Iob E, Steptoe A, Fancourt D. Abuse, self-harm and suicidal ideation in the UK during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2020) 217:543–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2020.130

339. Kilius E, Abbas NH, McKinnon L, Samson DR. Pandemic nightmares: COVID-19 lockdown associated with increased aggression in female university students' dreams. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:644636. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021. 644636

340. United Nations. From Insights to Action: Gender Equality in the Wake of COVID-19. United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. New York, NY: UN Women (2020).

341. Mittal S, Singh T. Gender-based violence during COVID-19 pandemic: a mini-review. Front Glob Womens Health. (2020) 1:4. doi: 10.3389/fgwh.2020.00004

342. Davenport MH, Meyer S, Meah VL, Strynadka MC, Khurana R. Moms are not ok: COVID-19 and maternal mental health. *Front Glob Womens Health*. (2020) 1:1. doi: 10.3389/fgwh.2020.00001

343. Malisch JL, Harris BN, Sherrer SM, Lewis KA, Shepherd SL, McCarthy PC, et al. In the wake of COVID-19, academia needs new solutions to ensure gender equity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2020) 117:15378-81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2010636117

344. Collins C, Landivar LC, Ruppanner L, Scarborough WJ. COVID-19 and the gender gap in work hours. *Gend Work Organ.* (2021) 28:101-12. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12506 345. Monroe K, Ozyurt S, Wrigley T, Alexander A. Gender equality in academia: bad news from the trenches, and some possible solutions. *Perspect Polit.* (2008) 6:215–33. doi: 10.1017/S15375927080 80572

346. Woitowich NC, Jain S, Arora VM, Joffe H. COVID-19 threatens progress toward gender equity within academic medicine. *Acad Med.* (2021) 96:813–doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000003782

347. Cui R, Ding H, Zhu F. Gender inequality in research productivity during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Manufact Serv Operat Manage*. (2022) 24:707–26. doi: 10.1287/msom.2021.0991

348. Zimmer K. Gender Gap in Research Output Widens During Pandemic. The Scientist (2020). Available online at: https://www.the-scientist.com/news-opinion/gender-gap-in-research-outputwidens-during-pandemic-67665 (accessed August 8, 2022).

349. Ginette A, Antra B, Sara DE, Sophie H, Julia S, and Clare W. Spotlight on gender, COVID-19 and the SDGs: will the pandemic derail hardwon progress on gender equality? Spotlight on the SDGs. New York, NY: UN Women (2020). Available at: http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/id/eprint/105826

350. Loeb TB, Ebor MT, Smith AM, Chin D, Novacek DM, Hampton-Anderson JN, et al. How mental health professionals can address disparities in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Traumatology*. (2021) 27:60–9. doi: 10.1037/trm0000292

351. Ribeiro WS, Bauer A, Andrade MCR, York-Smith M, Pan PM, Pingani L, et al. Income inequality and mental illness-related morbidity and resilience: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2017) 4:554–62. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30159-1

352. Marmot MG, Shipley MJ. Do socioeconomic differences in mortality persist after retirement? 25 Year follow up of civil servants from the first Whitehall study. *BMJ*. (1996) 313:1177–80.

353. Sapolsky RM. Social status and health in humans and other animals. *Ann Rev Anthropol.* (2004) 33:393–418. doi: 10.1146/annurev.anthro.33.070203. 144000

354. Fleischmann M, Xue B, Head J. Mental health before and after retirement assessing the relevance of psychosocial working conditions: the whitehall ii prospective study of british civil servants. *J Gerontol Ser B.* (2019) 75:403– 13. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbz042

355. Coccia M. How a good governance of institutions can reduce poverty and inequality in society? In: Faghih N, Samadi HA, editors. *Legal-Economic Institutions, Entrepreneurship, and Management: Perspectives on the Dynamics of Institutional Change from Emerging Markets.* Springer International Publishing (2021). doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-60978-8_4

356. Coleman DM, Perrone EE, Dombrowski J, Dossett LA, Sears ED, Sandhu G, et al. Overcoming COVID-19: strategies to mitigate the perpetuated gender achievement gap. *Ann Surg.* (2022) 275:435–7. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000005149

357. Seery E. Responding With Equality: The Case for Combating Extreme Inequality to Tackle Crises, Strengthen Democracy and Foster a Fairer Future in the Wake of the Coronavirus Pandemic. Oxfam (2021). doi: 10.21201/2021.8281

358. Erickson D, Nancy A. (2011). Partnerships among community development, public health, and health care could improve the well-being of low-income people. *Health Aff.* 30:2056–63. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0896

359. Eden L, Wagstaff MF. Evidence-based policymaking and the wicked problem of SDG 5 gender equality. J Int Bus Policy. (2021) 4:28–57. doi: 10.1057/s42214-020-00054-w

360. Ioannidis JPA. The end of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Euro J Clin Invest.* (2022) 52:e13782. doi: 10.1111/eci.13782

361. Inglesby TV, Nuzzo JB, O'Toole T, Henderson DA. Disease mitigation measures in the control of pandemic influenza. *Biosec Bioterror Biodefense Strat Pract Sci.* (2006) 4:366–75. doi: 10.1089/bsp.2006.4.366

362. Redman D. An emergency management doctrine and philosophy: the five dimensions. *Preprints.* (2021) 2021:2021020367. doi: 10.20944/preprints202102.0367.v1

363. Redman D. Canada's Deadly Response to COVID-19. Frontier Center for Public Policy. Policy Series No. 237. (2021). Available online at: https://fcpp.org/ wp-content/uploads/FCPS237_CDADeadlyResponse_JL1621_F2.pdf

364. Redman D. A Recovery Plan. Canada's post-pandemic COVID-19. Frontier Center for Public Policy Briefing Note (2022). Available online at: https://fcpp.org/ wp-content/uploads/BriefingNote-COVID_Recovery_PlanFB0922.pdf

365. Zweig SA, Zapf AJ, Beyrer C, Guha-Sapir D, Haar RJ. Ensuring rights while protecting health: the importance of using a human rights approach in implementing public health responses to COVID-19. *Health Hum Rights.* (2021) 23:173.

366. Focacci CN, Lam PH, Bai Y. Choosing the right COVID-19 indicator: crude mortality, case fatality, and infection fatality rates influence policy preferences, behaviour, and understanding. *Hum Soc Sci Commun.* (2022) 9:19. doi: 10.1057/s41599-021-01032-0

367. Abbasi K. Covid-19: politicisation, "corruption," and suppression of science. *BMJ.* (2020) 371:m4425. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m4425

368. Bavel JJV, Baicker K, Boggio PS, Capraro V, Cichocka A, Cikara M, et al. Using social and behavioural science to support COVID-19 pandemic response. *Nat Hum Behav.* (2020).

369. Escandón K, Rasmussen AL, Bogoch II, Murray EJ, Escandón K, Popescu SV, et al. COVID-19 false dichotomies and a comprehensive review of the evidence regarding public health, COVID-19 symptomatology, SARS-CoV-2 transmission, mask wearing, and reinfection. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2021) 21:710. doi: 10.1186/s12879-021-06357-4

370. Gupta KU, Sevimli S, Arawi T, Puentes LV, Marlon P. Ethical Values and Principles for Healing Society in Light of the COVID-19 Crisis. (2021). Available online at: https://www.eubios.info/yahoo_site_admin/assets/ docs/WeCopeStatementHealingValues.20160152.pdf

371. Rubin O, Errett NA, Upshur R, Baekkeskov E. The challenges facing evidence-based decision making in the initial response to COVID-19. *Scand J Public Health.* (2021) 49:790–6. doi: 10.1177/1403494821997227

372. Joffe AR. What about the COVID-19 response? Evidence: risk, lockdowns, vaccine mandates. *Health Ethics Today*. (2022) 29:8–15. Available at: https://www.ualberta.ca/john-dossetor-health-ethics-centre/media-library/health-ethicstoday/health-ethics-today-volume29-1-february2022.pdf

373. Freyhofer S, Ziegler N, de Jong EM and Schippers MC. Depression and anxiety in times of covid-19: how coping strategies and loneliness relate to mental health outcomes and academic performance. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:682684. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.682684

374. Bateman TS, Crant JM. The proactive component of organizational behavior: a measure and correlates. J Organ Behav. (1993) 14:1031118.

375. Crant JM, Hu J, Jiang K. Proactive personality: a twenty-year review. *Proact Work*. (2016) 1:211–43. doi: 10.4324/9781315797113-17

376. Kalia SK. Closing the Global Gender Inequality Gap Will Take 135 Years, New Report Finds. The Swaddle (2022). Retrieved from https://theswaddle. com/closing-the-global-gender-inequality-gap-will-take-135-years-new-reportfinds/ (accessed May 19, 2021).

377. World Economic Forum. *Global Gender Gap Report 2021*. World Economic Forum (2021). Available online at: https://www.weforum.org/reports/global-gender-gap-report-2021 (accessed April 21, 2022).

378. Saul JR. Voltaire's Bastards: The Dictatorship of Reason in the West. New York, NY: Simon and Schuster (2013).

379. Conti P. Trauma: the Invisible Epidemic: How Trauma Works and How We Can Heal From it. Denver, CO: Sounds True (2021).

380. Shapiro R, Brown LS. Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing therapy and related treatments for trauma: an innovative, integrative trauma treatment. *Pract Innov.* (2019) 4:139. doi: 10.1037/pri0000092

381. Grand S. The Reproduction of Evil: A Clinical and Cultural Perspective. New York, NY: Routledge (2013). doi: 10.4324/9780203767245

382. Wimberger L. Neurosculpting: A Whole-Brain Approach to Heal Trauma, Rewrite Limiting Beliefs, Find Wholeness. Denver, CO: Sounds True (2015).

383. D'Antoni F, Feruglio S, Matiz A, Cantone D, Crescentini C. Mindfulness meditation leads to increased dispositional mindfulness and interoceptive awareness linked to a reduced dissociative tendency. *J Trauma Dissociat.* (2022) 23:8–23. doi: 10.1080/15299732.2021.1934935

384. Gurda K. Emerging trauma therapies: Critical analysis and discussion of three novel approaches. J Aggress Maltreat Trauma. (2015) 24:773–93. doi: 10.1080/10926771.2015.1062445

385. Schippers MC, Ziegler N. Life crafting as a way to find purpose and meaning in life. *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:2778. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02778

386. Dekker I, De Jong EM, Schippers MC, De Bruijn-Smolders M, Alexiou A, Giesbers B. Optimizing students' mental health and academic performance: ai-enhanced life crafting. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:1063. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01063

387. Hoermann S, McCabe KL, Milne DN, Calvo RA. Application of synchronous text-based dialogue systems in mental health interventions: systematic review. *J Med Internet Res.* (2017) 19:e7023. doi: 10.2196/jmir.7023

388. Kleiman EM, Adams LM, Kashdan TB, Riskind JH. Gratitude and grit indirectly reduce risk of suicidal ideations by enhancing meaning in life: evidence for a mediated moderation model. J Res Person. (2013) 47:539-46. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2013. 04.007

389. Wood AM, Froh JJ, Geraghty AWA. Gratitude and well-being: a review and theoretical integration. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2010) 30:890–905. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.03.005

390. Liao KYH, Weng CY. Gratefulness and subjective well-being: social connectedness and presence of meaning as mediators. *J Counsel Psychol.* (2018) 65:383–93. doi: 10.1037/cou0000271

391. Schippers MC, Scheepers AWA, Peterson JB. A scalable goal-setting intervention closes both the gender and ethnic minority achievement gap. *Palgrave Commun.* (2015) 1:15014. doi: 10.1057/palcomms.2015.14

392. Easterbrook MJ, Hadden IR. Tackling educational inequalities with social psychology: identities, contexts, and interventions. *Soc Issues Policy Rev.* (2021) 15:180–236. doi: 10.1111/sipr.12070

393. Kaluza AJ, van Dick R. Telework at times of a pandemic: the role of voluntariness in the perception of disadvantages of telework. *Curr Psychol.* (2022) 1:1–12. doi: 10.1007/s12144-022-03047-5

394. Afsahi A, Beausoleil E, Dean R, Ercan SA, Gagnon, J.-P. Democracy in a global emergency: five lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Democrat Theory.* (2020) 7:v-xix. doi: 10.3167/dt.2020.070201

395. Dostal JM. Germany's corona crisis: the authoritarian turn in public policy and the rise of the biosecurity state (2020-2022). J Korean German Assoc Soc Sci. (2022) 32:143–88. doi: 10.19032/zkdgs.2022.03.32.1.143

396. Stoker G, Evans M. Saving Democracy. London: Bloomsbury Publishing (2022).

397. Newman A, Freilekhman I. A case for regulated industrial democracy post-Covid-19. N Zeal J Employ Relat. (2020) 45:70–6. doi: 10.24135/nzjer.v45i2.29

398. Elm JP, Sarel R. Partially right means generally wrong: why some Covid-19 mitigation strategies keep on failing. *SSRN*. (2021) 3775020. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3775020

399. Hirt J, Janiaud P, Hemkens LG. Randomized trials on non-pharmaceutical interventions for COVID-19: a scoping review. *BMJ Evid Bas Med.* (2022) 2021:111825. doi: 10.1136/bmjebm-2021-111825

400. Janiaud P, Hemkens LG, Ioannidis JPA. Challenges and lessons learned from COVID-19 trials: should we be doing clinical trials differently? *Can J Cardiol.* (2021) 37:1353–64. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2021.05.009

401. Cristea IA, Naudet F, Ioannidis JPA. Preserving equipoise and performing randomised trials for COVID-19 social distancing interventions. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2020) 29:e184. doi: 10.1017/S204579602000 0992

402. Marmot M, Allen J. COVID-19: exposing and amplifying inequalities. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2020) 74:681–2. doi: 10.1136/jech-2020-2 14720

403. Whitehead M, Taylor-Robinson D, Barr B. Poverty, health, and covid-19. *BMJ.* (2021) 372:n376. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n376

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Caress Alithia Dean, Oakland University, United States

REVIEWED BY Changle Li, Inner Mongolia Medical University, China Wei Wang, Xuzhou Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Tian Xie

xietian@sjtu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 18 May 2022 ACCEPTED 08 July 2022 PUBLISHED 16 September 2022

CITATION

Wang Y, Xu J and Xie T (2022) Relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life in chronic patients during the COVID-19 pandemic: The role of physical exercise and health insurance. *Front. Public Health* 10:947465. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.947465

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wang, Xu and Xie. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life in chronic patients during the COVID-19 pandemic: The role of physical exercise and health insurance

Yangyang Wang^{1,2}, Jian Xu^{1,3} and Tian Xie^{3*}

¹China Institute for Urban Governance, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ²School of International and Public Affairs, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ³School of Media and Communication, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China

The internet use intensity of human has increased substantially during the COVID-19 Pandemic, and it is severely impacting the well-being of chronic patients. This study aimed to explore the underlying mechanism of the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life in chronic patients, based on the cross-sectional data from China Family Panel Studies (CFPS) during the COVID-19 Pandemic in 2020. The results showed that the internet use intensity had significant positive association with quality of life among chronic patients, and such association has been found in both urban and rural samples. Among the relationship of internet use intensity and quality of life in chronic patients, the mediating effect of physical exercise reached 10.25%. Furthermore, health insurance positively moderated this relationship. There are new insights for policy recommendations and clinical guidance on the role of physical activity and health insurance aimed at improving chronic patients' quality of life. Meanwhile, in both rural and urban governance, public health agencies should promote the "Internet + Healthcare" program to improve health insurance and physical activity literacy, thus providing a higher level of quality of life for patients with chronic diseases during the COVID-19 Pandemic.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19 pandemic, internet use intensity, quality of life, health insurance, physical exercise, health management of rural and urban governance

Introduction

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 Pandemic in China at the end of 2019, the pandemic has become a global public health event with a continuous impact on social development and people's daily life and health (1, 2). Numerous studies have pointed out that people experienced significantly lower quality of life and more mental health issues during the COVID-19 pandemic (3–5). As a vulnerable group, the quality of life of

patients with chronic diseases deserves special attention. Currently, studies show that chronic diseases which contain cardiovascular diseases, cancer, chronic respiratory diseases, and diabetes are the largest cause of death globally (6, 7). As the population aging dramatically, the number of patients with chronic diseases substantially increases in China, and China faces a higher mortality rate than developed countries (8, 9). The previous study showed that chronic patients reported lower levels of quality of life during the COVID-19 Pandemic (10), such as drop-in emotional functioning and social functioning, and severe psychological problems (11). Therefore, it's essential to explore the factors influencing quality of life among chronic patients.

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), quality of life refers to "an individual's perception of their position in the life in the context of the culture in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards, and concerns" (12). The appraisal of quality of life is subjective, however, it is also affected by many objective factors, among which internet use is a significant factor. The use of digital technology has increased dramatically after the outbreak of COVID-19, up to 90% of the Chinese participants reported longer screen time for study, work, and entertainment (13-15). Many studies have shown that internet use was positively associated with quality of life from different aspects, such as decreasing loneliness (16), improving social relationships and personal well-being (17), and enhancing physical and mental health (18, 19). A study showed that moderate amounts of time spent on online activities are beneficial for enhancing the level of quality of life (19). However, some studies hold different views. The prevalence of internet addiction among vulnerable people in China has increased during the pandemic (20). While more time spent on the internet might increase social isolation and loss of contact with the social environment (21). This means that excessive use of the internet has a negative effect on the quality of life (22, 23). Thus, the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life is still unclear, and its underlying mechanism is still to be confirmed during COVID-19.

Although a large number of studies have shown that internet use intensity was associated with quality of life, few studies have explored its underlying mediating mechanisms. One study pointed out that physical exercise mediated the relationship between internet use and mental health (24). The internet provides a favorable tool for physical exercises, such as searching for exercise information, using exercise apps (25), providing exercise guidance (26), self-monitoring (27), and transferring exercise data (28). Physical exercise has long been used as a means of rehabilitation for chronic patients. Some study have shown that internet-based physical activity is an effective way for quality of life improvement (29). Meanwhile, physical exercise has a positive effect on the quality of life among patients with chronic conditions, such as chronic brain disorders, chronic liver disease, and type 2 diabetes (30–32). As a significant intervention for patients with chronic diseases, physical exercise plays an irreplaceable role in optimizing bodily functioning (33), reducing morbidity and mortality (34), and improving patients' quality of life. In conclusion, internet use intensity is positively associated with physical exercise, and physical exercise predicts quality of life. Therefore, it can be assumed that physical exercise plays a mediating role in the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life.

Health insurance has not to be sufficiently considered as a potential moderator for quality of life. The benefits of health insurance improved health-related outcomes in chronic patients (35). Ronksley et al. demonstrate that chronic conditions and distress were significantly related to unsatisfied healthcare needs (36). At the same time, the inclusion of chronic disease drugs in medical insurance reimbursement will benefit patients (37). With the promotion of China's "Internet +Healthcare" program, the internet provides a convenient way for medical consultation, treatment, and health insurance reimbursement. One study pointed that the higher the frequency of internet usage, the more likely Chinese households are to participate in private insurance (38). And patients who had private reimbursement insurance reported a higher quality of life than those with public insurance (39). Besides, some studies revealed that individuals who have health insurance reported a higher quality of life than those with no health insurance (40, 41). Hence, health insurance may moderate the association between internet use intensity and quality of life.

Taken together, the main goal of the current study is to explore the impact mechanism of internet use intensity on the quality of life of chronic patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. In order to improve the quality of life of chronic patients, policy recommendations and clinical guidance will be provided. There were the following hypotheses: (H1) There will be a positive relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life. (H2) Physical exercise mediates the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life. (H3) Health insurance plays a moderating role in the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life (see Figure 1).

Methods

Data and participants

The current study obtains the dataset from China Family Panel Studies (CFPS), funded by Peking University and carried out by the Institute of Social Science Survey of Peking University. It covers 25 provinces/municipalities/autonomous regions, and was officially launched in 2010 with a target sample size of 16,000 households. The CFPS sample is a multi-stage probability sample drawn using the implicit stratification method, and each subsample is drawn in three stages. The first two stages of the sampling process use



official administrative division information. This is because the administrative division structure of mainland China is strictly hierarchical and covers the entire population of mainland China. The third stage was to create end sampling frames in the selected sample villages/residences using the list of households obtained from the village survey map, and to draw a sample of households by expanding the sample size according to circular equidistant sampling with a random starting point to ensure that each sample village/residences could fulfill the target of 25 households. The 2020 wave of CFPS was conducted from July to December 2020 during the COVID-19 Pandemic and contained 28,590 individuals. The target population of this study was respondents with chronic diseases, and a final sample of 3,313 cases with chronic diseases was used after screening and cleaning invalid samples. Among them, 1,777 (53.64%) were female and 1,536 (46.36%) were male; 1,582 (47.75%) were rural residents while 1,731 (52.25%) were urban residents.

Variables

Dependent variable

Quality of Life. Since Flanagan developed the Quality of Life Scale (QOLS) in 1978 (42), measuring quality of life in terms of five dimensions has been accepted in many studies (43-45). The five dimensions of the QOLS include physical and material well-being; relationships with other people; social, community and civic activities; personal development and fulfillment; and recreation. Based on these five dimensions, this study selected 14 approximate question items to measure the quality of life from CFPS 2020, namely: (1) have health insurance (From the question "What health insurance do you have?"); (2) have high local income (From the question "How would you rate your income in your local area?"); (3) have good health (From the question "How do you consider yourself to be in good health?"); (4) have good interpersonal relationships (From "How wellconnected do you think you are?"); (5) have a sense of subjective well-being (From the question "How happy do you think you

are?"); (6) post comments related to political issues and national events (From the question "In the past 12 months, have you made any statements on your website related to political issues and national issues?"); (7) vote in village/neighborhood council elections (From the question "In the last 5 years, have you voted in village/neighborhood council elections?"); (8) read books in the past year (From the question "In the past 12 months, excluding reading for work and exams, have you read any books?"); (9) have high life satisfaction (From the question "How satisfied do you rate yourself with your life? "); (10) have confidence in the future (From the question "What is your level of confidence in your future?"); (11) think the living standard is likely to improve (From the question "In today's society, there are still many opportunities for people like me to improve their living standards"); (12) play online games (From the question "In the past week, have you played online games?"); (13) spend time watching TV, movies and other video programs (From the question "In general, how many hours per week do you spend watching TV, movies and other video programs by any means?"); (14) share my work or life in social media frequently (From the question "In the past year, how often did you share your work or life in your WeChat Friend Circle?"). For each of the above question items, respondents were coded "1" if they exceeded the median of the sample, otherwise they were coded "0." Finally, the coded answers of the 14 questions were summed to obtain a score between 0 and 14, with higher values indicating a higher quality of life.

Independent variable

Internet Use Intensity. According to the related studies (46– 49), time spent online is measured by two questions: "In general, how long do you spend online with your mobile devices each day?" and "In general, how long do you spend online with the internet each day?". The total time spent online using computers and mobile devices was summed by hours per day to measure the internet use intensity of the respondents. The more time spent

on the internet per day, the higher the internet use intensity of the respondents.

Mediating variable

Physical Exercise. Physical activity was measured with a single-item question that asked "How often did you participate in physical fitness and leisure activities in the past 12 months?" that ranged from 1 (never participate) to 8 (twice a day or more). The higher the coded value, the more frequent the physical activity participation.

Moderating variable

Health Insurance. In CFPS 2020, respondents were asked about their health insurance coverage by one question "What health insurance coverage do you have?". According to the respondent's participation in health insurance, "have at least one type of health insurance" was coded as "1"; "none of health insurance" was coded as "0."

Control variables

Based on previous studies (50–52), socio-demographic characteristics, residential status, health behavior, and economic status were selected as control variables. Socio-demographic characteristics included gender (male, female), age, marital status (unmarried, other), and educational experience (code "not educated" as "1," "primary school" as "2," "junior high school" as "3," "high School/junior high school/technical school/vocational high school" as "4," and "college and above" as "5"; higher coding value indicates higher education level). Residence status includes residence type (urban, rural). Health behaviors include smoking, drinking, and self-assessed health status (Likert five-degree scale; the higher the number, the healthier it is). Economic status included annual personal income (unit is 100,000 RMB) and annual medical costs (include total hospital expenses and other injury expenses; unit is 100,000 RMB).

Statistical analysis

Descriptive analyses were conducted for all variables. The effect of internet use intensity on quality of life was analyzed using the ordered logistic regression model (Model 1) and separately for the urban subsample (Model 2) and the rural subsample (Model 3). The mediating effect of physical exercise was examined using the macro PROCESS4.0 tool (53) (Model 4, Model 5, Model 6). The moderating effect of health insurance was examined by constructing an interaction of health insurance \times internet use intensity via ordered logistic regression model (Model 7). Robustness tests were conducted by recoding the independent and dependent variables and selecting urban and

TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics of all variables (N = 3,313).

Variables	Type of statistics	Full sample
Quality of life	Mean (SD)	6.08 (2.03)
Internet use intensity	Mean (SD)	1.41 (2.80)
Physical exercise	Mean (SD)	2.89 (2.60)
Health insurance	Mean (SD)	0.93 (0.26)
Gender	N (%)	
Female		1,777 (53.64%)
Male		1,536 (46.36%)
Age	Mean (SD)	56.44 (14.34)
Marriage status	N (%)	
Married		3,151 (95.11%)
Others		162 (4.89%)
Education level	N (%)	
Not educated		2,688 (81.13%)
Primary school		80 (2.41%)
Junior high school		198 (5.98%)
HJTV		248 (7.49%)
College and above		99 (2.99%)
Residence type	N (%)	
Rural		1,582 (47.75%)
Urban		1,731 (52.25%)
Smoking	N (%)	
No		2,519 (76.03%)
Yes		794 (23.97%)
Drinking	N (%)	
No		2,951 (89.07%)
Yes		362 (10.93%)
Self-assessed health status	Mean (SD)	2.11 (1.12)
Annual personal income	Mean (SD)	0.13 (0.34)
Annual medical costs	Mean (SD)	0.10 (0.28)

HJTV, High School/Junior High School/Technical School/Vocational High School.

rural subsamples using OLS (Model 8, Model 9, Model 10). All the above analyses were performed with the help of SPSS26 and Stata17.

Results

Descriptive statistics of all variables

Table 1 presents the descriptive statistics for all variables. The mean value of quality of life is 6.08 (SD, 2.03), indicating that the respondents' quality of life is low on the average, and many respondents spend close to the average amount of time using the internet. the mean value of internet use intensity is 1.41(SD, 2.80) hours per day, indicating that most of the respondents spend very little time using the internet, and only a few users spend a lot of time using the internet, with great variation between respondents. The mean value of physical exercise is 2.89

80

Variables	Quality of life	Internet use intensity	Health insurance	Physical exercise
Quality of life	_	_	_	_
Internet use intensity	0.099***	_	-	-
Health insurance	0.172***	0.002	-	-
Physical exercise	0.149***	0.112***	0.047***	-

TABLE 2 Correlation analysis between main variables (N = 3,313).

***p < 0.001.

(SD, 2.60), indicating that most respondents have very little time doing physical exercise. And the mean value for health insurance was 0.93 (SD, 0.26), indicating that the majority of respondents had at least one type of insurance. In addition, the male and female samples were approximately equal in proportion, with an average age of 56.44; most samples were married, and had a low overall education level; more samples live in urban than rural but only a small number of people smoking and drinking; poor selfassessed health status, and low average annual personal income and average annual medical costs.

Correlation analysis between main variables

Table 2 shows the results of the bivariate correlation analysis using Pearson correlation for the main variables. Quality of life and internet use intensity (r = 0.099, p < 0.001), health insurance (r = 0.172, p < 0.001) and physical exercise (r = 0.149, p < 0.001) were significantly and positively correlated. It indicates that respondents with higher intensity of internet use, having health insurance and more frequent physical exercise have a higher quality of life. Physical exercise and internet use intensity (r = 0.112, p < 0.001) and health insurance (r = 0.047, p < 0.001) were significantly positively correlated. This suggests that respondents with more physical exercise and higher internet use intensity are more likely to have health insurance, but there is no association between internet use intensity and health insurance.

Internet use intensity and quality of life

In this part of the analysis, three ordered logistic regression models were constructed separately to examine the impact of internet use intensity on quality of life. Considering the large gap between rural and urban areas in China, this effect still presents in terms of internet use. Separate regression models were constructed for the rural sample and the urban sample. The total sample size is 3,313, 1,582 for the rural sample, and 1,731 for the urban sample.

Table 3 shows the regression results of internet use intensity on quality of life after excluding the effect of multicollinearity. The odds ratios (OR) of the ordered logistic regression model are reported here. The results indicate that there is a significant positive effect of internet use intensity on quality of life among respondents with chronic diseases, supporting hypothesis H1. The full sample regression of model 1 indicates that the OR of internet use intensity on quality of life is 1.078, which is statistically significant at the 1% level of significance. By increasing the internet use intensity of respondents with chronic diseases by 1 h per day, it improves the quality of life by 7.8%, holding other control variables constant. This reveals that the stronger the internet use intensity, the greater the probability of improving the quality of life for respondents with chronic diseases. For model 2, the regression results for the rural subsample show that the OR of the effect of internet use intensity on quality of life is 1.138, which is statistically significant at the 1% level of significance. This suggests that a 1 h increase in daily internet use intensity among respondents with chronic diseases in rural areas can bring about a 13.8% improvement in quality of life, with other control variables held constant. In model 3, the regression results for the urban subsample show that the OR of internet use intensity on quality of life is 1.059, which is statistically significant at the 1% level of significance. This indicates that an increase in internet use intensity of 1 h per day among chronic disease respondents in urban areas can lead to a 5.9% improvement in quality of life, when keeping other control variables constant.

It also can be found that the positive effect of internet use intensity on quality of life is strongest in the rural sample, second strongest in the overall sample, and weakest in the urban sample. The reason for this difference is that since the COVID-19 Pandemic, the number of new rural internet users far exceeds that of urban internet users (54, 55), making this effect relatively stronger. In addition, age, education level, health insurance, and self-assessed health status all had significant positive effects on quality of life.

The mediating effect test of physical exercise

Table 4 shows that physical exercise plays a mediating effect in the process of internet use intensity influencing quality of life after excluding the effect of multicollinearity. Specifically, model

Variables	Full sample	Rural sample	Urban sample
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Internet use intensity	1.078***	1.138***	1.059***
	(0.018)	(0.038)	(0.020)
Gender (ref: female)	1.194**	1.234*	1.163
	(0.094)	(0.141)	(0.125)
Age	1.035***	1.039***	1.030***
	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Marriage status (ref: married)	1.254	1.422	1.125
	(0.229)	(0.409)	(0.268)
Education level (ref: Not educated)			
Primary school	1.017	1.416	0.675
	(0.215)	(0.410)	(0.217)
Junior high school	1.428**	1.357	1.393
	(0.230)	(0.344)	(0.300)
HJTV	1.917***	1.903**	1.828***
	(0.325)	(0.579)	(0.380)
College and above	1.506*	1.536	1.468
	(0.346)	(0.818)	(0.380)
Residence type (ref: rural)	1.087		
	(0.070)		
Health insurance (ref: none)	3.338***	3.611***	3.130***
	(0.416)	(0.706)	(0.497)
Smoking (ref: no)	0.924	1.010	0.833
-	(0.084)	(0.133)	(0.106)
Drinking (ref: no)	1.157	1.098	1.207
	(0.125)	(0.171)	(0.183)
Self-assessed health status	1.575***	1.635***	1.516***
	(0.048)	(0.069)	(0.067)
Annual personal income	1.289*	1.079	1.388*
	(0.184)	(0.222)	(0.233)
Annual medical costs	0.987	0.816	1.072
	(0.107)	(0.173)	(0.158)
Observations	3,313	1,582	1,731
Wald chi ²	471.05	274.52	205.51
Pseudo R^2	0.037	0.043	0.032
Log pseudolikelihood	-6743.92	-3177.93	-3553.09

TABLE 3 Results of global and subsample regression analysis (N = 3,313).

The parameters reported are the odds ratios (OR) of the ordered logistic regression model; robust standard errors in parentheses. HJTV indicates High School/Junior High School/Technical School/Vocational High School. ***p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

4 shows that internet use intensity significantly and positively affects physical exercise ($\beta = 0.104$, p < 0.01); model 5 suggests that internet use intensity significantly and positively affects quality of life ($\beta = 0.078$, p < 0.01); model 6 indicates that internet use intensity ($\beta = 0.07$, p < 0.01) and physical exercise ($\beta = 0.08$, p < 0.01) significantly and positively affected quality of life. It suggests that physical exercise mediates the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life. And hypothesis

H2 was supported. Moreover, the physical exercise here exerts a partial mediating effect.

After confirming the mediating effect of physical exercise, this study proceeded to calculate the total effect, direct effect, and mediating effect (see Table 5). It showed that in the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life, the mediating effect of physical exercise (0.008) accounted for 10.25% of the total effect (0.078), and 11.94% of the direct effect (0.067).

TABLE 4 Results of the mediating effect test (N = 3,313).

Variables/Dependent variable	Physical exercise	Quality of life	Quality of life
	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Internet use intensity	0.104***	0.078***	0.070***
	(0.02)	(0.015)	(0.015)
Physical exercise			0.08***
			(0.013)
Gender (ref: female)	0.326**	0.201**	0.176**
	(0.108)	(0.08)	(0.08)
Age	0.017**	0.037***	0.036
	(0.005)	(0.004)	
Marriage status (ref: married)	0.306	0.289*	0.265
	(0.224)	(0.168)	(0.167)
Education level (ref: Not educated)			
Primary school	-0.745**	0.042	0.101
	(0.306)	(0.229)	(0.228)
Junior high school	-0.39*	0.377**	0.408**
-	(0.22)	(0.165)	(0.164)
HJTV	-0.23	0.742***	0.761***
	(0.222)	(0.166)	(0.165)
College and above	-0.207	0.522**	0.539**
C C	(0.322)	(0.241)	(0.24)
Residence type (ref: rural)	1.032***	0.087	0.005
	(0.091)	(0.068)	(0.069)
Health insurance (ref: none)	0.51***	1.332***	1.291***
	(0.166)	(0.125)	(0.124)
Smoking (ref: no)	-0.464***	-0.073	-0.036
	(0.121)	(0.091)	(0.091)
Drinking (ref: no)	-0.029	0.149	0.151
	(0.148)	(0.111)	(0.11)
Self-assessed health status	0.067*	0.477***	0.472***
	(0.04)	(0.03)	(0.03)
Annual personal income	0.176	0.227	0.213*
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	(0.157)	(0.117)	(0.117)
Annual medical costs	0.174	-0.004	-0.018
	(0.158)	(0.118)	(0.118)
Constant	0.618*	1.371***	1.321***
	(0.353)	(0.265)	(0.263)
Observations	3,313	3,313	3,313
R-squared	0.076	0.150	0.159
F statistic	18.30	38.66	39.01

HJTV, High School/Junior High School/Technical School/Vocational High School. Robust standard errors in parentheses; number of bootstrap samples for percentile bootstrap confidence intervals is 5,000; *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

	Effect	Boot SE	Boot LLCI	Boot ULCI	Ratio of indirect to total effect	Ratio of indirect to direct effect
Total effect	0.078	0.015	0.049	0.107		
Direct effect	0.067	0.015	0.041	0.099		
Physical exercise	0.008	0.002	0.005	0.013	10.25%	11.94%

TABLE 5 Results of the mediating effect.

Boot SE, Boot LLCI and Boot ULCL is estimated standard error under bias-corrected percentile bootstrap method, and 95% confidence interval lower and 95% confidence interval upper, and Boot LLCI and Boot ULCL do not overlap with zero, number of bootstrap samples for percentile bootstrap confidence intervals is 5,000.

This suggests that 10.25% of the positive effect of internet use intensity on quality of life was mediated by the mediating effect of physical exercise. The 95% confidence intervals do not overlap with 0, which means that they are statistically significant.

The moderating effect test of health insurance

The regression results in Table 6 indicate that health insurance positively moderates the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life. To avoid the effect of multicollinearity, internet use intensity and health insurance were centered separately, and then the interaction (Health Insurance × Internet Use Intensity) was constructed. Internet use intensity, health insurance, and the interaction (Health Insurance × Internet Use Intensity) were placed together in Model 7 for regression analysis. The results showed that the OR of the interaction (Health Insurance \times Internet Use Intensity) on quality of life was 1.085, which was statistically significant at the 5% significance level; internet use intensity (OR = 1.082, p < 0.01) and health insurance (OR = 3.360, p < 0.01) positively affected quality of life, respectively. This suggests that, holding the control variables constant, an increase of 1 h per day in internet use among respondents with chronic diseases is linked with a 36% improvement in quality of life for respondents with health insurance compared to those without health insurance. It implies that the positive relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life is stronger in the sample with health insurance than in the sample without health insurance. These results also indicate that health insurance strengthened the positive relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life. Therefore, hypothesis H3 is supported.

Robustness test

The purpose of the robustness test is to examine the stability of the regression analysis. In other words, the effect of the independent variable on the dependent variable remains stable when the variable measurement is changed, other models are used, or the sample size is changed. At present, there is no standardized robustness test, and subsample regression, reselecting the regression model, making variable substitutions, and changing the sample size are all commonly used robustness tests. We use OLS models to re-test the effect of internet use intensity on quality of life by recoding the independent and dependent variables. Specifically, the 14 question items were formed into one variable using principal component analysis to measure quality of life; the measure of internet use intensity was a categorical variable recoded in five degrees for internet use time. The newly formed internet use intensity and quality of life were then used to conduct regression analyses for the full sample (Model 8), the rural subsample (Model 9), and the urban subsample (Model 10), respectively. The results are shown in Table 7, indicating that the effect of internet use intensity on quality of life is consistent with the results in Table 3, and the results are robust and reliable.

Discussion

Chronic patients' quality of life during the COVID-19 Pandemic should be given attention. Based on the crosssectional data from the CFPS dataset of wave 2020, the current study validated the underlying mechanism between internet use intensity and quality of life among chronic patients during the COVID-19 Pandemic in China mainland.

This study found that internet use intensity was significantly and positively related to quality of life. In other words, the more frequently individuals use the internet, the higher level of quality of life they experience, and this relationship is strongest in the rural sample, followed by the overall sample and the urban sample. However, this finding is inconsistent with previous studies that more use of the internet could reduce social communication, increase loneliness (56), and enhance sedentary risk (57). A likely explanation is that chronic patients could gain social, emotional, and experiential support from the internet during the lockdown. According to the uses and gratifications theory (58), users seek gratifications from the internet to fill their basic needs. The internet can not only be used for entertainment, work, study, and information seeking, but also as an important intervention tools for people to promote psychological empowerment and rehabilitation (19, 59). This indicates that providing physical activity interventions via the internet will help chronic patients improve their quality of life.

TABLE 6	Regression results of the moderating effect for healt	th
insuranc	(N = 3,313).	

Variables	Model 7
Internet use intensity	1.082***
	(0.018)
Health insurance (ref: none)	3.360***
	(0.415)
Health insurance \mathbf{x} internet use intensity	1.085**
	(0.035)
Gender (ref: female)	1.195**
	(0.094)
Age	1.035***
	(0.004)
Marriage status (ref: married)	1.269
	(0.233)
Education level (ref: Not educated)	
Primary school	1.016
	(0.214)
Junior high school	1.433**
	(0.231)
HJTV	1.910***
	(0.323)
College and above	1.485*
	(0.343)
Residence type (ref: rural)	1.084
	(0.070)
Smoking (ref: no)	0.925
	(0.084)
Drinking (ref: no)	1.151
	(0.125)
Self-assessed health status	1.576***
	(0.048)
Annual personal income	1.275*
	(0.181)
Annual medical costs	0.984
	(0.107)
Observations	3,313
Wald chi ²	467.96
Pseudo R ²	0.037
Log pseudolikelihood	-6741.40

The parameters reported are the odds ratios (OR) of the ordered logistic regression model; robust standard errors in parentheses. HJTV indicates High School/Junior High School/Technical School/Vocational High School. ***p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

Furthermore, it revealed that physical exercise mediated the association between internet use intensity and quality of life. This finding indicates that people who use the internet more frequently are more likely to participate in physical exercise and report a higher quality of life. It is acknowledged that physical exercise is an effective way to prevent and treat chronic diseases (60, 61). Previous studies have shown that users with higher eHealth literacy are more likely to be physically active, while physical inactivity is a primary cause of most chronic diseases (33, 62, 63). The lockdown policy during the COVID-19 outbreak may lead to sedentary and reduced regular activities, and fewer visits to the hospital to prevent infection, thereby increasing health risks (64, 65). However, people who use the internet more frequently may gain more exercise-related knowledge from online social media platforms, become more accustomed to using social media apps or smart exercise tools for physical exercise, and display physical exercise achievement (66, 67). Therefore, encouraging appropriate physical activity through the internet can help improve the health conditions and quality of life of people with chronic patients.

Besides, this is the first study that revealed the moderating role of health insurance in the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life. One possible explanation may be that China rolls out online healthcare to tackle a growing number of patients with chronic conditions (68). Patients could use online medical services during the pandemic, and online medical care was covered by Chinese health insurance (69, 70). Prior research revealed that the internet is a major source of health insurance information (71). Another study found that individuals with no medical insurance have had higher disease risk anxiety and lower life satisfaction than those who had at least one insurance (72). The "Internet +Healthcare" policy encourages people to seek medical treatment through the internet. This finding suggests that more online medical insurance policies should be improved to address the medical needs of chronic patients during the lockdown. All in all, this study enlightens us that the internet use intensity can promote quality of life in chronic patients, but its effect is limited, if the internet as an independent factor. There are two mechanisms that play the influence role. One is that physical exercise mediates the positive association between internet use and quality of life, where 10.25% of the effect is mediated by physical exercise. The other is that health insurance enhances the positive relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life.

These findings shed new light on China's healthcare policy. The internet has been used as a substitute for medical suggestions among patients who lack insurance or have difficulty accessing medical treatment (73). In the background of Chinese "Internet +Healthcare" policy, on the one hand, the internet provides online medical services which have improved the efficiency of medical treatment for chronic patients and may improve their quality of life. On the other hand, medical insurance reimbursement through the internet provides convenience for patients with chronic diseases. During the Pandemic, it's necessary to further expand the scope of beneficiaries of the "Internet +Healthcare" policy, such as the application in rural groups, simplify the process of online medical treatment and medical insurance reimbursement, so as to improve the quality of life among chronic patients.

Variables	Full sample	Rural sample	Urban sample
	Model 8	Model 9	Model 10
Internet use intensity	0.035***	0.034***	0.035***
	(0.004)	(0.007)	(0.006)
Gender (ref: female)	0.022**	0.019	0.025*
	(0.010)	(0.014)	(0.015)
Age	0.004***	0.003***	0.004***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Marriage status (ref: married)	-0.003	0.004	-0.007
	(0.024)	(0.038)	(0.030)
Education level (ref: Not educated)			
Primary school	0.010	-0.007	0.025
	(0.029)	(0.036)	(0.047)
Junior high school	0.029	0.018	0.035
<i>,</i> 0	(0.022)	(0.035)	(0.029)
HJTV	0.060***	0.021	0.078***
	(0.023)	(0.039)	(0.029)
College and above	0.029	0.019	0.039
0	(0.031)	(0.065)	(0.036)
Residence type (ref: rural)	0.009		
	(0.008)		
Health insurance (ref: none)	0.221***	0.232***	0.213***
,	(0.016)	(0.026)	(0.022)
Smoking (ref: no)	-0.017	-0.013	-0.023
	(0.012)	(0.016)	(0.017)
Drinking (ref: no)	0.026*	0.008	0.040*
	(0.015)	(0.021)	(0.021)
Self-assessed health status	0.036***	0.043***	0.029***
	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.006)
Annual personal income	0.039**	0.062*	0.034**
	(0.015)	(0.037)	(0.016)
Annual medical costs	-0.007	-0.026	0.001
	(0.015)	(0.023)	(0.021)
Constant	-0.412***	-0.419***	-0.393***
Constant	-0.412 (0.037)	(0.052)	(0.055)
Observations	3,313	1,582	1,731
R-squared	0.133	0.135	0.127
F statistic	30.68	0.135	16.98

TABLE 7 Results of the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life (N = 3,313).

HJTV, High School/Junior High School/Technical School/Vocational High School. Robust standard errors in parentheses; ***p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

Our study also has some clinical significance. Our findings showed that internet-based physical activity interventions have great potential to improve chronic patients' quality of life. Besides, physical exercise helps to improve the physical function of patients with chronic diseases (74). The internet provides chronic patients with health plans, physical activity testing, goal setting, feedback functions, and selfhealth management. Generally, internet-based physical activity provides a non-invasive way for chronic disease prevention and treatment (33). In future studies, we should further develop internet-related treatment strategies for patients with chronic diseases clinically.

It is necessary to revise Flanagan's study, which considered quality of life to include five dimensions (physical and material well-being; relationships with other people; social, community and civic activities; personal development and fulfillment; and recreation) (42), but the background in which this idea was developed was in 1978, when the Internet was not shaping

86

human life as profoundly as it does today. It should be taken into consideration that the Internet as a factor is included in the concept of measuring quality of life. This study also responds to Link and Phelan's fundamental-causes theory, which holds that social condition is the underlying cause of health differentiation among people and has a persistent effect on health quality (75). Since the COVID-19 pandemic, the intensity of human internet use has dramatically increased, making the internet a new and important key influence on quality of life among the chronic patients. This extends the explanatory scope of the fundamentalcauses theory.

Limitations

The strength of this study is reflected in several aspects. Firstly, the data we use are from CFPS of wave 2020, which is a national survey covering mainland China that has been ongoing for more than a decade, and ensures the scientific validity and representativeness of the data. Secondly, our data were conducted in the background of the COVID-19 Pandemic in mainland China in 2020, and the latest data were only allowed to be applied for use at the end of 2021, which reflects the latest situation regarding the quality of life of chronic patients. Then, to ensure the reliability of the study findings, we performed robustness tests on the data during the empirical analysis. Finally, we explored the effect mechanism of the relationship between internet use intensity and quality of life among chronic patients by introducing physical exercise (mediating variable) and health insurance (moderating variable).

However, there are some limitations of our study that should be acknowledged. Firstly, a cross-sectional survey has been used so that the causative interpretations could not be determined. Secondly, Due to the limitation of secondary data, we could only refer to the five dimensions of The Flanagan Quality of Life Scale (QOLS) with 14 approximate question items to measure the quality of life among chronic patients, which is still flawed despite validity and reliability tests. Thirdly, the present study focuses only on the internet use intensity and ignores the role of excessive internet use. To further promote chronic patients' quality of life in the future study, we can use the Flanagan Quality of Life Scale to measure quality of life, and focus on the overuse of the internet in chronic patients during the pandemic.

Conclusions

This paper empirically tested the underlying mechanism of the association between internet use intensity and quality of life among patients with chronic diseases. The findings show that internet use intensity is positively related to the quality of life directly, and indirectly through the mediating role of physical exercise and the moderating role of health insurance. Relevant policies should be developed to improve subjective and objective quality of life during the COVID-19 Pandemic. For patients with chronic diseases, the government can encourage them to use the internet in moderation and maintain physical activity to obtain a higher quality of life. In addition, in the context of universal healthcare, medical insurance should be further covered for each individual to reduce the economic pressure on chronic patients. Thirdly, the "Internet +Healthcare" program should be further promoted so that patients can get better and faster treatment during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Last but not least, even though our results showed that internet use had improved the quality of life of chronic patients, the risks of internet use should not be ignored. The frequency of people's internet usage has increased during the epidemic, so it is necessary to prevent internet dependence from adversely affecting the quality of life.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

This study was conducted based on de-identified, publicly available CFPS data and did not interact with any individuals or use identifiable private information. Therefore, the ethics approval was waived. Written informed consent from the [patients/participants OR patients/participants legal guardian/next of kin] was not required to participate in this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

YW: framework, model analyses, data curation, writing original draft, and review and editing. TX: writing—original draft, review and editing, and funding acquisition. JX: supervision. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the Institute of Social Science Survey (ISSS) of Peking University for the approval to use the wave 2020 of CFPS. We express our sincere gratitude to all subjects who participated in the survey.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Louvardi M, Pelekasis P, Chrousos GP, Darviri C. Mental health in chronic disease patients during the COVID-19 quarantine in Greece. *Palliative Support Care.* (2020) 18:394–9. doi: 10.1017/S1478951520000528

2. Qiu J, Shen B, Zhao M, Wang Z, Xie B, Xu Y. A nationwide survey of psychological distress among Chinese people in the COVID-19 epidemic: implications and policy recommendations. *Gen Psychiatr.* (2020) 33:e100213. doi: 10.1136/gpsych-2020-100213

3. Sayin Kasar K, Karaman E. Life in lockdown: social isolation, loneliness and quality of life in the elderly during the COVID-19 pandemic: a scoping review. *Geriatr Nurs.* (2021) 42:1222–9. doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2021.03.010

4. Ravens-Sieberer U, Kaman A, Erhart M, Devine J, Schlack R, Otto C. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on quality of life and mental health in children and adolescents in Germany. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2021) 31:879–89. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3721508

5. Chen K-Y, Li T, Gong F-H, Zhang J-S, Li X-K. Predictors of health-related quality of life and influencing factors for COVID-19 patients, a follow-up at one month. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:668. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00668

6. Beaglehole R, Ebrahim S, Reddy S, Voûte J, Leeder S. Prevention of chronic diseases: a call to action. *Lancet.* (2007) 370:2152–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61700-0

7. Yach D, Hawkes C, Gould CL, Hofman KJ. The global burden of chronic diseases overcoming impediments to prevention and control. *JAMA*. (2004) 291:2616–22. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.21.2616

8. Thomas SA, Qiu Z, Chapman A, Liu S, Browning CJ. Editorial: chronic illness and ageing in China. *Front Public Health.* (2020) 8:104. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00104

9. Lyu J, Zhang W, Li W, Wang S, Zhang J. Epidemic of chronic diseases and the related healthy lifestyle interventions in rural areas of Shandong Province, China. *BMC Public Health.* (2020) 20:606. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-08729-y

10. Algahtani FD, Hassan S-N, Alsaif B, Zrieq R. Assessment of the quality of life during COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional survey from the kingdom of Saudi Arabia. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:847. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18030847

11. Bargon C, Batenburg M, van Stam L, van der Molen DM, van Dam I, van der Leij F, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on quality of life, physical and psychosocial wellbeing in breast cancer patients – a prospective, multicenter cohort study. *Eur J Cancer.* (2020) 138:S17. doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(20)30563-3

12. The WHOQOL Group. The World Health Organization quality of life assessment (WHOQOL): Position paper from the World Health Organization. *Soc Sci Med.* (1995) 41:1403–9. doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(95)00112-K

13. De' R, Pandey N, Pal A. Impact of digital surge during Covid-19 pandemic: a viewpoint on research and practice. *Int J Inform Manag.* (2020) 55:102171. doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102171

14. Hu Z, Lin X, Chiwanda Kaminga A, Xu H. Impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on lifestyle behaviors and their association with subjective well-being among the general population in mainland China: cross-sectional study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e21176. doi: 10.2196/21176

15. Huang Q, Chen X, Huang S, Shao T, Liao Z, Lin S, et al. Substance and Internet use during the COVID-19 pandemic in China. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2021) 11:1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41398-021-01614-1

16. Shaw LH, Gant LM. In defense of the internet: the relationship between internet communication and depression, loneliness, self-esteem, and perceived social support. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* (2002) 5:157–71. doi: 10.1089/109493102753770552

17. Castellacci F, Tveito V. Internet use and well-being: a survey and a theoretical framework. *Res Policy*. (2018) 47:308–25. doi: 10.1016/j.respol.2017.11.007

18. Khalaila R, Vitman-Schorr A. Internet use, social networks, loneliness, and quality of life among adults aged 50 and older: mediating and moderating effects. *Qual Life Res.* (2018) 27:479–89. doi: 10.1007/s11136-017-1749-4

19. Leung L, Lee PSN. Multiple determinants of life quality: the roles of internet activities, use of new media, social support, and leisure activities. *Telemat Inform.* (2005) 22:161–80. doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2004.04.003

20. Li Y-Y, Sun Y, Meng S-Q, Bao Y-P, Cheng J-L, Chang X-W, et al. Internet addiction increases in the general population during COVID-19: evidence from China. *Am J Addict.* (2021) 30:389–97. doi: 10.1111/ajad. 13156

21. Nie NH, Erbring L. Internet and society: a preliminary report. *Society*. (2002) 1:275–83. Available online at: http://143.107.236.240/documentos/textos/cultura_digital/tics_arq_urb/internet_society%20report.pdf

22. Gao L, Gan Y, Whittal A, Lippke S. Problematic internet use and perceived quality of life: findings from a cross-sectional study investigating work-time and leisure-time internet use. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:4056. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17114056

23. Takahashi M, Adachi M, Nishimura T, Hirota T, Yasuda S, Kuribayashi M, et al. Prevalence of pathological and maladaptive Internet use and the association with depression and health-related quality of life in Japanese elementary and junior high school-aged children. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2018) 53:1349–59. doi: 10.1007/s00127-018-1605-z

24. Zhang S, Zhang Y. The relationship between internet use and mental health among older adults in China: the mediating role of physical exercise. *Risk Manag Healthc Policy*. (2021) 14:4697–708. doi: 10.2147/RMHP.S338183

25. Litman L, Rosen Z, Spierer D, Weinberger-Litman S, Goldschein A, Robinson J. Mobile exercise apps and increased leisure time exercise activity: a moderated mediation analysis of the role of self-efficacy and barriers. *J Med Internet Res.* (2015) 17:e4142. doi: 10.2196/jmir.4142

26. Huiqiang T. Analysis of fluctuation factors of healthy exercise based on machine data mining and Internet of things. *Environ Technol Innov.* (2021) 23:101647. doi: 10.1016/j.eti.2021.101647

27. Glasgow R, Christiansen SM, Kurz D, King DK, Woolley T, Faber AJ, et al. Engagement in a diabetes self-management website: usage patterns and generalizability of program use. *J Med Internet Res.* (2011) 13:e1391. doi: 10.2196/jmir.1391

28. Tate DF, Lyons EJ, Valle CG. High-tech tools for exercise motivation: use and role of technologies such as the internet, mobile applications, social media, and video games. *Diabetes Spectrum*. (2015) 28:45–54. doi: 10.2337/diaspect.28.1.45

29. Broekhuizen K, Gelder J de, Wijsman CA, Wijsman LW, Westendorp RG, Verhagen E, et al. An internet-based physical activity intervention to improve quality of life of inactive older adults: a randomized controlled trial. *J Med Internet Res.* (2016) 18:e4335. doi: 10.2196/jmir.4335

30. Dauwan M, Begemann MJH, Slot MIE, Lee EHM, Scheltens P, Sommer IEC. Physical exercise improves quality of life, depressive symptoms, and cognition across chronic brain disorders: a transdiagnostic systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Neurol.* (2021) 268:1222-46. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09493-9

31. Williams FR, Berzigotti A, Lord JM, Lai JC, Armstrong MJ. Review article: impact of exercise on physical frailty in patients with chronic liver disease. *Alimentary Pharmacol Ther.* (2019) 50:988–1000. doi: 10.1111/apt.15491

32. Jing X, Chen J, Dong Y, Han D, Zhao H, Wang X, et al. Related factors of quality of life of type 2 diabetes patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2018) 16:189. doi: 10.1186/s12955-018-1021-9

33. Anderson E, Durstine JL. Physical activity, exercise, and chronic diseases: a brief review. Sports Med Health Sci. (2019) 1:3-10. doi: 10.1016/j.smhs.2019.08.006

34. Booth FW, Gordon SE, Carlson CJ, Hamilton MT. Waging war on modern chronic diseases: primary prevention through exercise biology. *J Appl Physiol.* (2000) 88:774–87. doi: 10.1152/jappl.2000.88.2.774

35. McWilliams JM. Health consequences of uninsurance among adults in the United States: recent evidence and implications. *Milbank Q.* (2009) 87:443–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0009.2009.00564.x

36. Ronksley PE, Sanmartin C, Quan H, Ravani P, Tonelli M, Manns B, et al. Association between chronic conditions and perceived unmet health care needs. *Open Med.* (2012) 6:e48–58.

37. Diao Y, Lin M, Xu K, Huang J, Wu X, Li M, et al. How government health insurance coverage of novel anti-cancer medicines benefited patients in China – a retrospective analysis of hospital clinical data. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2021) 21:856. doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06840-3

38. Liu Z, Li W, Zhang T. Internet and private insurance participation. Int J Finance Econ. (2022) 27:1495–509. doi: 10.1002/ijfe.2227

39. Müller T, Woitalla D. Quality of life, caregiver burden and insurance in patients with Parkinson's disease in Germany. *Eur J Neurol.* (2010) 17:1365–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2010.03033.x

40. Glasgow RE, Ruggiero L, Eakin EG, Dryfoos J, Chobanian L. Quality of life and associated characteristics in a large national sample of adults with diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (1997) 20:562–7. doi: 10.2337/diacare.20.4.562

41. Bharmal M, Thomas J. Health insurance coverage and health-related quality of life: analysis of 2000 medical expenditure panel survey data. *J Health Care Poor Underserv*. (2005) 16:643–54. doi: 10.1353/hpu.2005.0064

42. Flanagan JC. A research approach to improving our quality of life. Am Psychol. (1978) 33:138. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.33.2.138

43. Anderson KL, Burckhardt CS. Conceptualization and measurement of quality of life as an outcome variable for health care intervention and research. *J Adv Nurs.* (1999) 29:298–306. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.1999.00889.x

44. Burckhardt CS, Anderson KL. The Quality of Life Scale (QOLS): reliability, validity, and utilization. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2003) 1:60. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-1-60

45. Zucoloto ML, Martinez EZ. General aspects of quality of life in heterogeneous populations: notes on Flanagan's Quality of Life Scale (QoLS). *Trends Psychiatry Psychother*. (2019) 41:268–275. doi: 10.1590/2237-6089-2018-0077

46. Middleton CA, Leith J. Intensity of internet use in Canada: exploring Canadians' engagement with the Internet. In: *Statistics Canada Socio-economic Conference*. Ottawa, ON (2007).

47. Middleton C, Veenhof B, Leith J. Intensity of Internet Use in Canada: Understanding Different Types of Users. Statistics Canada. Business Special Surveys and Technology Statistics Division (2010).

48. Bélanger RE, Akre C, Berchtold A, Michaud P-A. A U-shaped association between intensity of internet use and adolescent health. *Pediatrics.* (2011) 127:e330–5. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-1235

49. Dufour M, Brunelle N, Tremblay J, Leclerc D, Cousineau M-M, Khazaal Y, et al. Gender difference in internet use and internet problems among quebec high school students. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2016) 61:663–8. doi: 10.1177/0706743716640755

50. Tseng H-Y, Löckenhoff C, Lee C-Y, Yu S-H, Wu I, Chang H-Y, et al. The paradox of aging and health-related quality of life in Asian Chinese: results from the Healthy Aging Longitudinal Study in Taiwan. *BMC Geriatr.* (2020) 20:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12877-020-1446-y

51. Conaghan PG, Doane MJ, Jaffe DH, Dragon E, Abraham L, Viktrup L, et al. Are pain severity and current pharmacotherapies associated with quality of life, work productivity, and healthcare utilisation for people with osteoarthritis in five large European countries. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* (2021) 39:819–28. doi: 10.55563/clinexprheumatol/t5nm6l

52. Ikeda T, Igarashi A, Odani S, Murakami M, Tabuchi T. Health-related quality of life during COVID-19 pandemic: assessing impacts of job loss and financial support programs in Japan. *Appl Res Qual Life*. (2022) 17:541–57. doi: 10.1007/s11482-021-09918-6

53. Hayes AF. An index and test of linear moderated mediation. *Multivar Behav Res.* (2015) 50:1–22. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2014.962683

54. China Internet Network Information Center (CNNIC). *The 45th China Statistical Report on Internet Development*. Cyberspace Administration of China (2020). Available online at: http://www.cac.gov.cn/2020-04/27/c_1589535470378587.htm (accessed April 12, 2022).

55. China Internet Network Information Center (CNNIC). *The 47th China Statistical Report on Internet Development*. Cyberspace Administration of China (2021). Available online at: http://www.cac.gov.cn/2021-02/03/c_1613923423079314.htm (accessed April 12, 2022).

56. Kraut R, Patterson M, Lundmark V, Kiesler S, Mukophadhyay T, Scherlis W. Internet paradox: a social technology that reduces social involvement and psychological well-being? *Am Psychol.* (1998) 53:1017–31. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.53.9.1017

57. Chandrasekaran B, Ganesan TB. Sedentarism and chronic disease risk in COVID 19 lockdown – a scoping review. *Scott Med J.* (2021) 66:3– 10. doi: 10.1177/0036933020946336

58. Katz E, Blumler JG, Gurevitch M. Uses and gratifications research. *Public Opin Q*. (1973) 37:509–23. doi: 10.1086/268109

59. Hu SLY, Leung L. Effects of expectancy-value, attitudes, and use of the Internet on psychological empowerment experienced by Chinese women at the workplace. *Telemat Inform.* (2003) 20:365–82. doi: 10.1016/S0736-5853(03)00036-4

60. Sigal RJ, Kenny GP, Wasserman DH, Castaneda-Sceppa C, White RD. Physical Activity/Exercise and Type 2 Diabetes: a consensus statement from the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care.* (2006) 29:1433-8. doi: 10.2337/dc06-9910

61. Arne M, Janson C, Janson S, Boman G, Lindqvist U, Berne C, et al. Physical activity and quality of life in subjects with chronic disease: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease compared with rheumatoid arthritis and diabetes mellitus. *Scand J Prim Health Care*. (2009) 27:141–7. doi: 10.1080/02813430902808643

62. Mitsutake S, Shibata A, Ishii K, Oka K. Associations of eHealth literacy with health behavior among adult internet users. *J Med Internet Res.* (2016) 18:e5413. doi: 10.2196/jmir.5413

63. Booth FW, Roberts CK, Laye MJ. Lack of exercise is a major cause of chronic diseases. *Compr Physiol.* (2012) 2:1143–211. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c110025

64. Ma S, Yuan Z, Peng Y, Chen J, Li H, Luo Q, et al. Experience and suggestion of medical practices for burns during the outbreak of COVID-19. *Burns*. (2020) 46:749–55. doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2020.03.014

65. Liu N, Huang R, Baldacchino T, Sud A, Sud K, Khadra M, et al. Telehealth for noncritical patients with chronic diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e19493. doi: 10.2196/19493

66. Maher C, Ferguson M, Vandelanotte C, Plotnikoff R, Bourdeaudhuij ID, Thomas S, et al. A web-based, social networking physical activity intervention for insufficiently active adults delivered via facebook app: randomized controlled trial. *J Med Internet Res.* (2015) 17:e4086. doi: 10.2196/jmir.4086

67. Dong X, Yi X, Gao D, Gao Z, Huang S, Chao M, et al. The effects of the combined exercise intervention based on internet and social media software (CEIBISMS) on quality of life, muscle strength and cardiorespiratory capacity in Chinese postoperative breast cancer patients:a randomized controlled trial. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. (2019) 17:109. doi: 10.1186/s12955-019-1183-0

68. Lv Q, Jiang Y, Qi J, Zhang Y, Zhang X, Fang L, et al. Using mobile apps for health management: a new health care mode in China. *JMIR mHealth uHealth.* (2019) 7:e10299. doi: 10.2196/10299

69. Sun S, Yu K, Xie Z, Pan X. China empowers internet hospital to fight against COVID-19. J Infect. (2020) 81:e67–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.061

70. Wu J, Xie X, Yang L, Xu X, Cai Y, Wang T, et al. Mobile health technology combats COVID-19 in China. J Infect. (2021) 82:159–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.07.024

71. Bundorf MK, Singer SJ, Wagner TH, Baker L. Consumers' use of the Internet for health insurance. *Am J Manag Care*. (2004) 10, pp.609–6. https://www. researchgate.net/profile/Sara-Singer/publication/8204348_Consumers'_Use_of_ Internet_for_Health_Insurance/links/00463531e576b77a02000000/Consumers-Use-of-Internet-for-Health-Insurance.pdf

72. Appleton S, Song L. Life satisfaction in urban China: components and determinants. World Dev. (2008) 36:2325-40. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2008.04.009

73. Millard RW, Fintak PA. Use of the internet by patients with chronic illness. *Dis Manage Health Outcomes.* (2002) 10:187–94. doi: 10.2165/00115677-200210030-00006

74. Qiu Z, Zheng K, Zhang H, Feng J, Wang L, Zhou H. Physical exercise and patients with chronic renal failure: a meta-analysis. *BioMed Res Int.* (2017) 2017:e7191826. doi: 10.1155/2017/7191826

75. Link BG, Phelan J. Social conditions as fundamental causes of disease. J Health Soc Behav. (1995) 1:80–94. doi: 10.2307/2626958

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Caress Alithia Dean, Oakland University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Sina Kianersi, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States Anandakumar Shunmugavel, Oregon Health and Science University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Silvia Stringhini silvia.stringhini@hcuge.ch

[†]These authors share first authorship [‡]These authors share senior authorship [§]The members of this group are acknowledged at the end of the article

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 11 February 2022 ACCEPTED 29 August 2022 PUBLISHED 23 September 2022

CITATION

Santa-Ramírez H-A, Wisniak A, Pullen N, Zaballa M-E, Pennacchio F, Lorthe E, Dumont R, Baysson H, Guessous I and Stringhini S (2022) Socio-economic determinants of SARS-CoV-2 infection: Results from a population-based cross-sectional serosurvey in Geneva, Switzerland. *Front. Public Health* 10:874252. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.874252

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Santa-Ramírez, Wisniak, Pullen, Zaballa, Pennacchio, Lorthe, Dumont, Baysson, Guessous and Stringhini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Socio-economic determinants of SARS-CoV-2 infection: Results from a population-based cross-sectional serosurvey in Geneva, Switzerland

Hugo-Alejandro Santa-Ramírez^{1†}, Ania Wisniak^{1,2†}, Nick Pullen¹, María-Eugenia Zaballa¹, Francesco Pennacchio¹, Elsa Lorthe¹, Roxane Dumont¹, Hélène Baysson¹, Idris Guessous^{1,3†} and Silvia Stringhini^{1,3,4*†} on behalf of the Specchio-COVID19 study group[§]

¹Unit of Population Epidemiology, Division of Primary Care, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland, ²Institute of Global Health, Faculty of Medicine, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, ³Department of Health and Community Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, ⁴University Centre for General Medicine and Public Health (UNISANTE), University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

Background: SARS-CoV-2 infection and its health consequences have disproportionally affected disadvantaged socio-economic groups globally. This study aimed to analyze the association between socio-economic conditions and having developed antibodies for-SARS-CoV-2 in a population-based sample in the canton of Geneva, Switzerland.

Methods: Data was obtained from a population-based serosurvey of adults in Geneva and their household members, between November and December, 2020, toward the end of the second pandemic wave in the canton. Participants were tested for antibodies for-SARS-CoV-2. Socio-economic conditions representing different dimensions were self-reported. Mixed effects logistic regressions were conducted for each predictor to test its association with seropositive status as the main outcome.

Results: Two thousand eight hundred and eighty-nine adults completed the study questionnaire and were included in the final analysis. Retired participants and those living in suburban areas had lower odds of a seropositive result when compared to employed participants (OR: 0.42, 95% CI: 0.20-0.87) and those living in urban areas (OR: 0.67, 95% CI: 0.46-0.97), respectively. People facing financial hardship for less than a year had higher odds of a seropositive result compared to those who had never faced them (OR: 2.23, 95% CI: 1.01-4.95). Educational level, occupational position, and household income were not associated with being seropositive, nor were ethnicity or country of birth.

Discussion: While conventional measures of socio-economic position did not seem to be related to the risk of being infected in this sample, this study

sheds lights on the importance of examining the broader social determinants of health when evaluating the differential impact of the pandemic within the population.

KEYWORDS

SARS-CoV-2, COVID-19, social determinants of health, socio-economic status, serological survey

Introduction

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, studies have shown that SARS-CoV-2 infection and its health-related consequences have disproportionally affected disadvantaged socio-economic groups (1-3). Disadvantaged populations accumulate several vulnerabilities to infection, such as poor living conditions, higher job instability, fewer job opportunities, poorer social benefits, and lower financial security (4, 5), household crowding, and possible impairments of their immune status due, among others, to work-related and financial stress (6). This may lead to a higher need of continued work outside the home, particularly for essential workers. Socioeconomically disadvantaged populations are also known to have a higher burden of chronic diseases and reduced access to healthcare (7), both risk factors for COVID-19 severity (8). In New York City, underprivileged neighborhoods, neighborhoods with higher household density, and those with higher proportions of black and immigrant populations were more likely to have a positive COVID-19 test result (9). An analysis of data reported to the Swiss Federal Office of Public Health (SFOPH) during the first year of the pandemic revealed that people living in neighborhoods with a low socioeconomic position index were less likely to get tested, but had a higher proportion of positive SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR and antigen test results and were more likely to be hospitalized or die compared to people living in socioeconomically advantaged areas (10). Another study has also shown persistence of SARS-CoV-2 clusters in more disadvantaged neighborhoods, when analyzing RT-PCR positive test results (11). Several studies revealing social inequalities related to COVID-19 have been based on confirmed RT-PCR test results, therefore missing a large part of the population who did not undergo testing (12, 13). Socio-economic conditions may also influence the probability of getting tested when presenting with symptoms of COVID-19 (14). A better picture of the distribution of the infection in the population is achieved with serological surveys as they yield more accurate estimations of the real number of infections including mild and asymptomatic cases (15). Further, most studies rely on area-based indicators of socioeconomic status, thereby not allowing a more precise characterization of factors associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Previous work by our research team showed associations between employment status and seropositivity during the first wave of the epidemic in the canton of Geneva, with retirees having lower odds of a seropositive result, and found no association with education, occupational status, and neighborhood median income (16). A serological survey conducted among essential workers in Geneva after the first epidemic wave showed significant variation in seroprevalence across occupations (17). Nevertheless, other features that might influence serological status could not be assessed in those studies, such as ethnicity, individual income, country of birth and living, and residential conditions. Although the canton of Geneva never followed a strict lockdown, there were some differences between the first and second waves, with the relaxation of certain measures such as re-opening of primary schools, as well as shops and establishments, and allowing larger social gatherings. During the second wave, a more strict use of facemasks was mandated and tests were made available free of charge to any person with symptoms.

Understanding the influence of socio-economic conditions on the probability of being infected with SARS-CoV-2 is crucial for the implementation of equity-driven public health measures both to contain the spread of the virus during the pandemic phase and to structure the public health response in the postpandemic phase. This study is one of very few conducted in Switzerland considering individual-level data on both infection status and socio-economic conditions, and contributes to the body of knowledge on health inequalities related to the pandemic, showing the experience of a high-income country with a specific demography, structure, and policy setting such as Switzerland. We aimed to analyze the association between socio-economic conditions and having developed antibodies for SARS-CoV-2 during the second COVID-19 wave (October-December 2020) in a representative sample of the population in the canton of Geneva.

Methods

We limited our sample to adults aged 18 years and older, recruiting participants from a random sample of individuals 65 years and older from population registries of the canton of Geneva provided by the Swiss Federal Office of Statistics, and an age-, sex-, and education level-stratified random sample of individuals aged 18–64 years from a previous serosurvey conducted in Geneva in spring 2020 using a similar methodology as the current study (16). The spring 2020 serosurvey sample included household members of the original "index" participants invited to participate. Details of the selection process are available in the Supplementary material. Recruitment occurred between November 23 and December 23, 2020. Participants were required to fill in a questionnaire (online or in paper format) and had their blood drawn to determine their SARS-CoV-2 serological status. The study was approved by the Geneva Cantonal Commission for Research Ethics (Project N° 2020-00881). All participants provided informed written consent.

Socio-economic conditions were assessed through three main indicators commonly used in the literature, namely self-reported occupational position, education, and family income. We also assessed a broader set of socio-demographic determinants, including: ethnicity, country of birth, household residential area, household density, employment status, and the experience of financial hardship. Detailed information on the variables used, including their definitions and analytical operationalization, is available in the Supplementary material (Annex I). Serological status was determined using the Elecsys anti-SARS-CoV-2S assay (Roche Diagnostics, Rotkreuz, Switzerland) detecting total immunoglobulins (IgM/A/G) targeting the spike protein, following manufacturer's recommendations (\geq 0.8 U/ml considered seropositive) with a clinical sensitivity of 98.8% (95% CI: 98.1-99.3%) and specificity of 99.98% (95% CI: 99.91-100%) (18). Of note, the vaccination campaign in Switzerland started on December 23th, 2020. Thus, antibodies detected during this study could only have been produced in response to a SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Mixed effects logistic regressions were conducted for each individual predictor with seropositive status as the main outcome and the household as the second level random effect variable. Five types of models were developed: a crude model, one model adjusted for age and sex only, another model additionally adjusted for education, occupational position, and family income; another model adjusted for health-related variables (weight status classified through categories of BMI, having a chronic disease, smoking status, and blood group); and a final model adjusted for all of the variables used in the previous models (Annex II, Supplementary material). To account for the possible overestimation of ORs, sensitivity analyses were conducted for the crude models running multilevel Poisson regressions with robust variance. Reference categories were set to the most socially advantaged groups. Multicollinearity was assessed for each of the adjusted models with no variables showing noticeable collinearity. Analyses were conducted in the overall population and stratified by sex, as a differential risk for COVID-19 outcomes and SARS-CoV-2 infection have been documented between men and women (19) (Annexes III, IV, Supplementary material). Estimates were not corrected for imperfect test performance due to the high specificity of the serological test (100% analytical specificity and 99.8% clinical specificity) (20) (Annex I, Supplementary material). To account for the large amount of tests performed, we have used a significance level of 0.01 for reporting. Statistical analyses were conducted using STATA version 14.0 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

Results

A total of 2,986 adults participated in the study and had a blood sample taken, of which 2,889 completed the study questionnaire and were included in the final analysis. The mean (SD) age of participants was 47.8 (15.4) years, and 55% were women. Education, occupation, and income were not associated with being seropositive in the overall sample (Table 1 and Annex II, Supplementary material). Looking at other socioeconomic indicators, associations were found with employment status, financial hardship, and the residential area in the overall sample, with retired people and those living in a suburban area exhibiting lower odds of a seropositive result when compared with those employed and those living in an urban area, respectively. People facing financial hardship for less than a year had twice the odds of a seropositive result when compared to those that had never faced financial difficulties, all other variables remaining constant. This association did not hold for participants having faced financial difficulties for several years. People living in households with higher density also tended to have higher odds of a seropositive result. Ethnicity and country of birth were not associated with seropositivity in our sample. When stratifying by sex, men in the lower occupational position tended to have higher odds of a seropositive result when compared to those with a higher occupational position (OR: 1.79, 95% CI: 0.97, 3.32) (Annex IV, Supplementary material). Higher odds of a seropositive result were found for unemployed women compared to employed women (OR: 2.01, 95% CI: 1.01, 4.03) (Annex III, Supplementary material). Similar results were found in the sensitivity analysis of multilevel Poisson regression for the crude models (results not shown).

Discussion

In this population-based serological study, we found associations between financial hardship, employment status, residential area, and the odds of having developed antibodies for SARS-CoV-2. A higher household density tended to be associated with increased odds of a seropositive result. However, other socioeconomic conditions such as educational level,

	Unad	justed model	Age-and	l-sex adjusted model	Fully adjusted model ⁺		
	OR	95%(CI)	OR	95%(CI)	OR	95%(CI)	
Education							
Tertiary	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Secondary	0.83	[0.44, 1.57]	0.88	[0.58, 1.35]	0.82	[0.50, 1.32]	
Apprenticeship	1.01	[0.67, 1.54]	0.92	[0.60, 1.41]	0.77	[0.47, 1.25]	
Compulsory—None	0.79	[0.52, 1.22]	0.83	[0.44, 1.57]	0.75	[0.37, 1.53]	
Occupational position							
Higher	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Lower	1.19	[0.86, 1.64]	1.16	[0.84, 1.61]	1.26	[0.86, 1.87]	
Dther ^a	1.38	[0.82, 2.32]	0.79	[0.45, 1.37]	0.82	[0.43, 1.57]	
Family income							
High	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Medium	0.88	[0.54, 1.43]	0.93	[0.58, 1.51]	0.91	[0.55, 1.50]	
Low	1.07	[0.60, 1.88]	1.07	[0.61, 1.88]	1.05	[0.58, 1.91]	
Don't know/Don't want to answer	1.15	[0.67, 1.98]	0.99	[0.58, 1.69]	1.04	[0.59, 1.84]	
Ethnicity							
Caucasian	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Dther	0.79	[0.48, 1.31]	0.69	[0.42, 1.15]	0.66	[0.39, 1.12]	
Country of birth							
Gwitzerland	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Other HICs	0.92	[0.65, 1.30]	0.99	[0.70, 1.40]	0.93	[0.65, 1.34]	
MICs	0.84	[0.51, 1.39]	0.81	[0.49, 1.34]	0.72	[0.43, 1.23]	
Employment status							
Employed	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
ndependent	1.10	[0.62, 1.96]	1.21	[0.68, 2.18]	1.26	[0.70, 2.28]	
Retired	0.27*	[0.16, 0.45]	0.46	[0.23, 0.93]	0.42*	[0.20, 0.87]	
Student	1.33	[0.78, 2.28]	0.85	[0.44, 1.65]	0.81	[0.34, 1.95]	
Unemployed	1.91	[0.91, 4.03]	1.78	[0.85, 3.76]	1.76	[0.82, 3.77]	
Dther	0.54	[0.28, 1.05]	0.54	[0.28, 1.05]	0.46*	[0.22, 0.93]	
Facing financial hardship							
Never	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Yes, not currently but have happened in the past	1.31	[0.92, 1.86]	1.30	[0.92, 1.85]	1.26	[0.88, 1.82]	
Yes, for several years	1.74	[0.75, 4.02]	1.62	[0.70, 3.70]	1.65	[0.69, 3.93]	
Yes, for less than a year	2.34	[1.07, 5.08]	2.19	[1.01, 4.72]	2.23	[1.01, 4.95]	
Don't want to answer	1.11	[0.64, 1.91]	0.94	[0.55, 1.61]	0.89	[0.50, 1.61]	
Residential area ^b							
Jrban	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
uburban	0.61*	[0.42, 0.88]	0.65	[0.45, 0.94]	0.67	[0.46, 0.97]	
Rural	0.86	[0.54, 1.37]	0.93	[0.58, 1.47]	0.95	[0.59, 1.52]	
Household density ^c							
<2	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
≥2	1.72	[1.06, 2.78]	1.55	[0.96, 2.51]	1.55	[0.95, 2.54]	

TABLE 1 Association between socio-economic predictors and seropositive status to SARS-CoV-2 in the overall population.

Estimates are the result of models run separately for each predictor. Unadjusted models represent the total effect of the predictor. Adjusted models represent the direct effect of each predictor after controlling for the effect of (i) age and sex, and (ii) the variables listed below. OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; HICs, high income countries; LMICs, low and middle income countries. *p < 0.01. + Adjusted for age, sex, traditional measures of socio-economic status (education, occupation, and family income), and health related variables (having a chronic disease, weight status, smoking status, and blood group).

^aOther include students, unemployed, and others not concerned.

^bSelf-reported by participants.

^cDefined as the ratio between the number of household members and the number of bedrooms.

93

occupational position, and income were not associated with serological status, nor were ethnicity and country of birth.

Our study shows lower odds of a SARS-CoV-2 seropositive result for the retired population when compared with the employed one, possibly due to the fact of being considered at higher risk of severe forms of COVID-19, potentially leading them to reduce social contact and increase the use of preventive measures. This result is consistent with previous findings from the first seroprevalence study in Geneva (16) and findings from seroprevalence reports in the UK, France, and Norway for the age group comprising the retired population (21–23).

We also found a protective effect of the residential area for people living in suburban areas compared to urban areas, which could be explained by increased use of private transportation and lower population density. While this may also be the case in rural areas, higher commuting times and a potentially lower sense of danger posed by the infection in these areas may explain the lack of significant difference in seropositivity between rural and urban areas. It has been suggested that a lower population density outside the urban areas might have contributed to lower incidence at the beginning of the pandemic in some regions in Europe (24) and some studies have shown lower seroprevalence in municipalities of <100,000 inhabitants (25). Further work is needed to uncover the potential mechanisms explaining the association of the residential area with a seropositive result in the population of Geneva, as considering the small size of the canton, the difference between urban and suburban areas is not clearly established and the distribution of SARS-CoV-2 infections might not follow a similar pattern as the one found in other places.

There seemed to be a trend in the association between duration of financial difficulties and the odds of seropositivity, with people facing financial hardship for <1 year having the highest odds of a seropositive result compared to those who reported never facing financial hardship. This could potentially be explained by the development of coping mechanisms in individuals being used to financial difficulties, while those with unexpected economic hardship may need more time to adapt to their new circumstances, putting them at higher risk of SARS-CoV-2 exposure as they cannot afford to miss work or need to look for economic alternatives. A consistent association of financial hardship due to COVID-19 with health behavior risk changes has been shown in a sample of women in the U.S., although the health behaviors assessed were based on lifestyle factors rather than on the risk of getting infected with SARS-CoV-2 (26); this may support a hypothesis of higher risky behaviors when facing economic stress. On the other hand, reverse causation cannot be excluded, with people affected by COVID-19 being more likely to reduce their work time due to symptomatic disease leading to financial instability.

Consistent with our previous findings (16), we did not find associations between educational level, occupational position, income, ethnicity or country of birth, and the seropositive status. However, seroprevalence surveys across Europe show conflicting results when looking at the role of these indicators (21-23, 27-32). For instance, income was not clearly related to a high risk of being seropositive in Germany (29) and France (22), while in the UK, a higher seroprevalence was observed in households with higher income (21). Similarly, while no effect of education on SARS-CoV-2 seroprevalence was found in British (21), Norwegian (23), and some German (27-29) cohorts, lower educated individuals had a lower seroprevalence of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in a French national serosurvey (22), and a higher seroprevalence in one German serosurvey (31). The association between education and seropositive status may be confounded by increased SARS-CoV-2 exposure in certain professions requiring tertiary education, such as in the health-related field. Future analyses should take into account professional exposure to SARS-CoV-2. The inconsistent effects of socio-economic determinants across studies may be due to differences in survey design and measurement. Heterogeneity in the socio-economic circumstances in different countries, as well as diverging policies for pandemic management, may also explain some of the conflicting results. In general, our study is in line with the European literature where these socioeconomic indicators do not seem to be related to the risk of getting infected. Regarding the effect of ethnicity and country of birth on seropositive status, inequalities were revealed in most European countries, with higher seroprevalence mainly found among non-white (21) and foreign-born participants (22, 23, 32), although differences were sometimes observed only among specific ethnicities (32) and disappeared after adjusting for living conditions (22). The lack of association with ethnicity or country of birth in our analysis may therefore be caused by a lack of detailed stratification among non-Caucasian and foreignborn participants, due to their limited number in our sample, as well as potentially heterogeneous living conditions among these populations.

Strengths of this study include the relatively large sample size and comprehensive information related to different social and economic circumstances at the individual level as well as objective information about individual health such as the serological status. Our study also has some limitations. A selection bias should not be disregarded, with people with higher health concerns being more prone to participate, and those most socioeconomically disadvantaged less likely to be included, limiting the generalizability of our results. In addition, the population that was hospitalized at the time of the study or that died because of COVID-19 could not be included in the study, therefore potentially masking the association between socio-economic conditions and SARS-CoV-2 seropositivity for severe cases. As other studies have documented, the severity of the disease might be higher in socioeconomically disadvantaged groups (4, 33). An additional limitation could relate to the time of our reporting. Our results are based on data from late 2020, and by the time of writing, new variants have been identified

94

and several measures taken. Nevertheless, while new variants of SARS-CoV-2 have emerged, socio-economic inequalities are unlikely to change considerably as a consequence of biological specificities of those variants, as transmission patterns among socio-economic groups are expected to be similar across variants. Of note, different transmission patterns have been observed among waves most likely due to the prevention and control strategies implemented (34) and to other environmental and occupational factors (35).

The COVID-19 pandemic has disproportionately affected socially vulnerable populations globally. However, the impact of socio-economic determinants can vary widely depending on geographical, political, and cultural contexts (36-38). In our study we have found associations of employment status, financial hardship, and residential area with the natural development of anti SARS-CoV-2 antibodies during the second wave of the pandemic (before the roll-out of the vaccination campaign in Switzerland); but not with other socioeconomic conditions. There has been much debate around the adequacy of conventional indicators of socio-economic conditions (i.e., education, income, and occupation) to study the association between socio-economic status and various health outcomes. Such discussions have highlighted the need for alternative indicators to capture the impact of socio-economic determinants throughout the life course and among various social groups, as well as environmental determinants (39). While the three conventional indicators mentioned were retained in our analysis, we took into consideration the discussions around this issue by adding other indicators to our analysis highlighting the importance of examining the broader social determinants of health when evaluating the differential impact of the pandemic within the population. A better understanding of the structural determinants shaping the inequitable distribution of COVID-19 among the population is imperative for tailoring public health interventions and preparedness for future pandemics, such as vaccine prioritization and public health campaigns, and for setting up supportive mechanisms for vulnerable population groups.

Data availability statement

Our data are accessible to researchers upon reasonable request for data sharing to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Geneva Cantonal Commission for Research Ethics (Project N° 2020-00881). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Specchio-COVID19 study group

Deborah Amrein, Isabelle Arm-Vernez, Andrew S Azman, Fatim Ba, Delphine Bachmann, Antoine Bal, Jean-François Balavoine, Michael Balavoine, Rémy P Barbe, Hélène Baysson, Lison Beigbeder, Julie Berthelot, Patrick Bleich, Livia Boehm, Gaëlle Bryand, Viola Bucolli, François Chappuis, Prune Collombet, Delphine Courvoisier, Alain Cudet, Vladimir Davidovic, Carlos de Mestral Vargas, Paola D'ippolito, Richard Dubos, Roxane Dumont, Isabella Eckerle, Nacira El Merjani, Antoine Flahault, Natalie Francioli, Marion Frangville, Clément Graindorge, Idris Guessous, Séverine Harnal, Samia Hurst, Laurent Kaiser, Omar Kherad, Julien Lamour, Pierre Lescuyer, François L'Huissier, Fanny-Blanche Lombard, Andrea Jutta Loizeau, Elsa Lorthe, Chantal Martinez, Lucie Ménard, Lakshmi Menon, Ludovic Metral-Boffod, Benjamin Meyer, Alexandre Moulin, Mayssam Nehme, Natacha Noël, Francesco Pennacchio, Javier Perez-Saez, Didier Pittet, Jane Portier, Klara M Posfay-Barbe, Géraldine Poulain, Caroline Pugin, Nick Pullen, Zo Francia Randrianandrasana, Viviane Richard, Frederic Rinaldi, Jessica Rizzo, Deborah Rochat, Irine Sakvarelidze, Khadija Samir, Santa Ramirez Hugo Alejandro, Stephanie Schrempft, Claire Semaani, Silvia Stringhini, Stéphanie Testini, Deborah Urrutia Rivas, Charlotte Verolet, Jennifer Villers, Guillemette Violot, Nicolas Vuilleumier, Ania Wisniak, Sabine Yerly, and María-Eugenia Zaballa.

Author contributions

SS and IG conceived the study. AW, NP, HB, M-EZ, FP, RD, and SS contributed to the scientific coordination and data management during the study. H-AS-R and AW drafted the first version of the manuscript. H-AS-R and NP did data analyses. NP, EL, HB, M-EZ, FP, IG, and SS contributed to draft the manuscript. All authors reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This study was funded by the Swiss Federal Office of Public Health, the General Directorate of Health of the Department of Safety, Employment and Health of the Canton of Geneva, the Private Foundation of the Geneva University Hospitals, the Swiss School of Public Health (Corona Immunitas Research Program), the Fondation des Grangettes, and the Center for Emerging Viral Diseases. H-AS-R is funded by the SSPH+ Global Ph.D. Fellowship Programme in Public Health Sciences (GlobalP3HS) of the Swiss School of Public Health and by the Centre for Global Health Inequalities Research (CHAIN), Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU). Open access funding provided by University Of Geneva.

Acknowledgments

We thank all the participants, without whom this study would not have been possible. A preprint version of this article was made available during the review process and may be found in the reference list.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.874252/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Sá F. Socioeconomic Determinants of Covid-19 Infections and Mortality: Evidence from England and Wales. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. Report No.: ID 3612850 (2020). Available online at: https://papers.ssrn. com/abstract=3612850 (accessed September 22, 2021).

2. Rozenfeld Y, Beam J, Maier H, Haggerson W, Boudreau K, Carlson J, et al. A model of disparities: risk factors associated with COVID-19 infection. *Int J Equity Health*. (2020) 19:126. doi: 10.1186/s12939-020-01242-z

3. Finch WH, Hernández Finch ME. Poverty and Covid-19: rates of incidence and deaths in the United States during the first 10 weeks of the pandemic. *Front Sociol.* (2020) 5:47. doi: 10.3389/fsoc.2020.00047

 Little C, Alsen M, Barlow J, Naymagon L, Tremblay D, Genden E, et al. The impact of socioeconomic status on the clinical outcomes of COVID-19; a retrospective cohort study. J Community Health. (2021) 46:794– 802. doi: 10.1007/s10900-020-00944-3

5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *Health Equity Considerations and Racial and Ethnic Minority Groups*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2020). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/health-equity/race-ethnicity.html (accessed September 22, 2021).

6. Khalatbari-Soltani S, Cumming RC, Delpierre C, Kelly-Irving M. Importance of collecting data on socioeconomic determinants from the early stage of the COVID-19 outbreak onwards. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2020) 74:620–3. doi: 10.1136/jech-2020-214297

7. Bambra C, Riordan R, Ford J, Matthews F. The COVID-19 pandemic and health inequalities. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2020) 74:964– 8. doi: 10.1136/jech-2020-214401

8. Semenzato L, Botton J, Drouin J, Cuenot F, Dray-Spira R, Weill A, et al. Chronic diseases, health conditions and risk of COVID-19-related hospitalization and in-hospital mortality during the first wave of the epidemic in France: a cohort study of 66 million people. *Lancet Reg Health Eur.* (2021) 8:100158. doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100158

9. Borjas GJ. Demographic Determinants of Testing Incidence and COVID-19 Infections in New York City Neighborhoods. Report No.: 13115. IZA Discussion Papers (2020). Available online at: https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/216427 (cited Sep 22, 2021).

10. Riou J, Panczak R, Althaus CL, Junker C, Perisa D, Schneider K, et al. Socioeconomic position and the COVID-19 care cascade from testing to mortality in Switzerland: a population-based analysis. *Lancet Public Health.* (2021) 6:e683–91. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(21)00160-2

11. De Ridder D, Sandoval J, Vuilleumier N, Azman AS, Stringhini S, Kaiser L, et al. Socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods face increased persistence of SARS-CoV-2 clusters. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 8:626090. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.626090

12. Kucirka LM, Lauer SA, Laeyendecker O, Boon D, Lessler J. Variation in false-negative rate of reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction-based

SARS-CoV-2 tests by time since exposure. Ann Intern Med. (2020) 173:262–7. doi: 10.7326/M20-1495

13. Hendricks B, Paul R, Smith C, Wen S, Kimble W, Amjad A, et al. Coronavirus testing disparities associated with community level deprivation, racial inequalities, and food insecurity in West Virginia. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2021) 59:44–9. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2021.03.009

14. O'Neill B, Kalia S, Hum S, Gill P, Greiver M, Kirubarajan A, et al. Socioeconomic and immigration status and COVID-19 testing in Toronto, Ontario: retrospective cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health.* (2022) 22:1067. doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-13388-2

15. Kritsotakis EI. On the importance of population-based serological surveys of SARS-CoV-2 without overlooking their inherent uncertainties. *Public Health Pract.* (2020) 1:100013. doi: 10.1016/j.puhip.2020.100013

16. Richard A, Wisniak A, Perez-Saez J, Garrison-Desany H, Petrovic D, Piumatti G, et al. Seroprevalence of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG antibodies, risk factors for infection and associated symptoms in Geneva, Switzerland: a population-based study. *Scand J Public Health.* (2021) 50:124–35. doi: 10.1101/2020.12.16.20248180

17. Stringhini S, Zaballa M-E, Pullen N, de Mestral C, Perez-Saez J, Dumont R, et al. Large variation in anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody prevalence among essential workers in Geneva, Switzerland. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:3455. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-23796-4

18. Roche Diagnostics. *Elecsys Anti-SARS-CoV-2*. US FAD-EUA. Report No. 5(02) (2020).

19. Peckham H, de Gruijter NM, Raine C, Radziszewska A, Ciurtin C, Wedderburn LR, et al. Male sex identified by global COVID-19 metaanalysis as a risk factor for death and ITU admission. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:6317. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-19741-6

20. Magder LS, Hughes JP. Logistic regression when the outcome is measured with uncertainty. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1997) 146:195–203. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009251

21. Ward H, Atchison C, Whitaker M, Ainslie KEC, Elliott J, Okell L, et al. SARS-CoV-2 antibody prevalence in England following the first peak of the pandemic. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:905. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21237-w

22. Warszawski J, Beaumont A-L, Seng R, de Lamballerie X, Rahib D, Lydié N, et al. Prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies and living conditions: the French national random population-based EPICOV cohort. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2022) 22:41. doi: 10.1186/s12879-021-06973-0

23. Anda EE, Braaten T, Borch KB, Nøst TH, Chen SLF, Lukic M, et al. Seroprevalence of antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 in the adult population during the pre-vaccination period, Norway, winter 2020/21. *Euro Surveill*. (2022) 27:2100376. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2022.27.13.2100376

24. Goujon A, Natale F, Ghio D, Conte A. Demographic and territorial characteristics of COVID-19 cases and excess mortality in the European Union during the first wave. *J Popul Res Canberra Act.* (2021) 2021:1–24. doi: 10.1007/s12546-021-09263-3

26. Sampson L, Ettman CK, Abdalla SM, Colyer E, Dukes K, Lane KJ, et al. Financial hardship and health risk behavior during COVID-19 in a large US national sample of women. *SSM Popul Health.* (2021) 13:100734. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.100734

27. Aziz NA, Corman VM, Echterhoff AKC, Müller MA, Richter A, Schmandke A, et al. Seroprevalence and correlates of SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibodies from a population-based study in Bonn, Germany. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:2117. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22351-5

28. Wagner R, Peterhoff D, Beileke S, Günther F, Berr M, Einhauser S, et al. Estimates and determinants of SARS-CoV-2 seroprevalence and infection fatality ratio using latent class analysis: the population-based tirschenreuth study in the hardest-hit German county in spring 2020. *Viruses.* (2021) 13:1118. doi: 10.3390/v13061118

29. Wachtler B, Müters S, Michalski N, Koschollek C, Albrecht S, Haller S, et al. Socioeconomic inequalities in the prevalence and perceived dangerousness of SARS-CoV-2 infections in two early German hotspots: findings from a seroepidemiological study. *BMC Res Notes.* (2021) 14:375. doi: 10.1186/s13104-021-05784-5

30. Bobrovitz N, Arora RK, Cao C, Boucher E, Liu M, Donnici C, et al. Global seroprevalence of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2021) 16:e0252617. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0252617

31. Gornyk D, Harries M, Glöckner S, Strengert M, Kerrinnes T. SARS-CoV-2 Seroprevalence in Germany. *Dtsch Ärztebl Int.* (2022) 118:824–31. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.m2021. 0364 32. Coyer L, Boyd A, Schinkel J, Agyemang C, Galenkamp H, Koopman ADM, et al. SARS-CoV-2 antibody prevalence and correlates of six ethnic groups living in Amsterdam, the Netherlands: a population-based cross-sectional study, June–October 2020. *BMJ Open*. (2022) 12:e052752. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-052752

33. Price-Haywood EG, Burton J, Fort D, Seoane L. Hospitalization and mortality among black patients and white patients with Covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:2534–43. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa2011686

34. Marí-Dell'Olmo M, Gotsens M, Pasarín MI, Rodríguez-Sanz M, Artazcoz L, Garcia de Olalla P, et al. Socioeconomic inequalities in COVID-19 in a European urban area: two waves, two patterns. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:1256. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18031256

35. Padellini T, Jersakova R, Diggle PJ, Holmes C, King RE, Lehmann BCL, et al. Time varying association between deprivation, ethnicity and SARS-CoV-2 infections in England: a population-based ecological study. *Lancet Reg Health Eur.* (2022) 15:100322. doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2022.100322

36. Hawkins RB, Charles EJ, Mehaffey JH. Socio-economic status and COVID-19-related cases and fatalities. *Public Health.* (2020) 189:129-34. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2020.09.016

37. Chen JT, Krieger N. Revealing the unequal burden of COVID-19 by income, race/ethnicity, and household crowding: US county versus zip code analyses. J Public Health Manag Pract. (2021) 27:S43–56. doi: 10.1097/PHH.00000000001263

38. Muñoz-Price LS, Nattinger AB, Rivera F, Hanson R, Gmehlin CG, Perez A, et al. Racial disparities in incidence and outcomes among patients with COVID-19. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2020) 3:e2021892. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.21892

39. Braveman PA, Cubbin C, Egerter S, Chideya S, Marchi KS, Metzler M, et al. Socioeconomic status in health research: one size does not fit all. *JAMA*. (2005) 294:2879–88. doi: 10.1001/jama.294.22.2879

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Caress Alithia Dean, Oakland University, United States

REVIEWED BY Omar Irfan, Amaris, United Kingdom Leela Visaria, Gujarat Institute of Development Research, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Tannistha Samanta tannistha.samanta@flame.edu.in

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 11 June 2022 ACCEPTED 08 September 2022 PUBLISHED 30 September 2022

CITATION

Samanta T, Gopalan K and Devi T (2022) Blocked by Gender: Disparities in COVID19 infection detection in Tamil Nadu, India. *Front. Public Health* 10:966490. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.966490

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Samanta, Gopalan and Devi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Blocked by Gender: Disparities in COVID19 infection detection in Tamil Nadu, India

Tannistha Samanta^{1*}, Kaushik Gopalan² and Tanmay Devi^{2,3}

¹Department of Sociology, FLAME University, Pune, Maharashtra, India, ²Department of Computer Science, FLAME University, Pune, Maharashtra, India, ³Department of Social Sciences, Rice University, Houston, TX, United States

Globally, a gender gap in COVID-19 has been noted with men reporting higher share of both morbidity and deaths compared to women. While the gender gap in fatalities has been similar across the globe, there have been interesting disparities in the detection of COVID-19 cases in men and women. While wealthier, more developed nations have generally seen similar case detection in men and women, LMICs especially in Asia have seen far greater proportion of COVID-19 cases among men than women. We utilize age and sexdisaggregated data from the southern Indian state of Tamil Nadu across two waves of the pandemic (May 2020 – Nov 2020, and March 2021, to June 2021) and find that there were only \sim 70% as many detected COVID-19 cases among women as there were among men. Our initial reading suggested that this might be a protective effect of lower labor force participation rates among women across much of South Asia. However, subsequent sero-prevalence results from Tamil Nadu conducted on October-November 2020, and June-July, 2021 suggest that infection incidence has been similar among men and women; as is the case in countries with better health infrastructure. This empirical puzzle suggests that reduced case detection among women cannot be immediately associated with limited public exposure, but rather evidence of a chronic neglect of women in healthcare access. Overall, we contend that an attention to the gender context holds promise to effective interventions in detection and prevention that goes beyond the traditional epidemiological logic of diseases.

KEYWORDS

social determinants of health, infection, gender, India, COVID-19

Introduction

That gender is an important axis of inequality is well-documented in the public health scholarship globally (1). To be sure, health scholarship has consistently shown that women and girls make comparatively fewer gains in health care than men and boys across similar age and social registers in most societies. However, this empirical narrative was shifted in the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic when global data revealed that men were 2.5 times more likely to be infected and are also 2.4 times more at risk of dying from COVID-19 than women (2). For example, the Global Health 50/50 repository demonstrated significant gender gaps in infections and deaths,

where men seemed to fare worse in both counts. Since then, a considerable body of scholarship has attempted to explain this variation by privileging lifestyle and socio-economic factors (e.g., labor) and critiquing the biologically deterministic way of explaining disease risk (3, 4). Put simply, in societies that are governed by pervasive gender norms, the social realities of men and women are vastly different affecting their social and health outcomes. Or as a noted medical anthropologist, Paul Farmer, explains with the notion "the social production of disease" (p. 261) emphasizing how social and economic positioning produce gendered risk in epidemics and infectious disease outbreaks (4). Of all factors, the gender inequality in the labor force, finds particular attention among experts attempting to explain the variation in infection and mortality due to COVID-19 exposure. For instance, Adams showed that the percentage of female deaths due to COVID-19 were higher in countries that also have a higher proportion of women in the full-time workforce (5). In another study, Lewandowski and colleagues argue that when women work, they are largely concentrated in sectors where workplace interactions are higher (e.g., care, hospitality and education) and so is the exposure to the contagion (6). This study is significant since it undergirds the importance of labor market segregation in explaining disease risk. Finally, based on the case of Belgium that reported one of the highest rates of COVID-19 infections among women in the early months of the pandemic, Giscard Assoumou Ella argues how women's greater mobility outside home served as a potent route for infections as women traveled for work and family reasons (7). Yet again, authors have also attributed the difference in mortality as an outcome of underreporting bias against women and overall female neglect in matters of health and well-being even in industrialized countries (3). While causality cannot be conclusively ascertained given the evolving nature of the pandemic and the data, it is clear from these studies that disease risk among women is often tied to labor, mobility and the overall gender context.

It is also clear that there is a strong empirical association between age and case fatality from COVID-19 globally (8). However, owing to data unavailability in low-to-middle income countries, authors have contended how meaningful analysis remains limited in terms of guiding interventions that are age and context sensitive (9). We address this empirical lament and utilize age and sex-disaggregated data from the southern Indian state of Tamil Nadu, across two waves of COVID-19 pandemic, to show how age and gender intersect to create paradoxes in infection incidence.

Data and Methods

Data for this study comes from several sources. We rely on the daily Media bulletins put out by the Health and Family Welfare Department of the Government of Tamil Nadu (TN) (https://stopcorona.tn.gov.in/daily-bulletin/). The media bulletins are provided in PDF format, and the text content from these files using the *pdfminer* package in the Python programming language is extracted. Using an automated program appropriate keyword searches (https://github.com/kaubega/tn_scraping), we retrieve the cumulative caseload for Males and Females separately in the age groups 0–12, 13–60, and 60+ from the daily bulletins.

For the purpose of this study, we extracted the data from the TN for May 16, 2020 – June 30, 2021. We were able to process 407 daily bulletins out of the 410 days in this time period; the rest were either unavailable on the website or were formatted such that our software was unable to process them. Further, we analyze infection statistics separately for the 1st and 2nd COVID-19 waves that occurred in India. For our study, we define the 1st wave as having occurred in TN from May 16, 2020 – Nov 15, 2020, and the 2nd wave as having occurred between March 15, 2021, to June 30, 2021.

We examine the daily caseload data to analyze the spread of COVID-19 in different demographic groups. The TN media reports provide the number of detected infections in the 0-12, 13-60, and 60+ age groups, separately for males and females. In order to compare the extent of infection spread in the different demographic groups, detected infections are divided by the population of the respective demographic group as per Census 2011 to derive a "naive attack rate." We observe substantial gender differences in the attack rates among adults, as shown in Figure 1. In Wave-1, there were 14.2 infections detected per 1,000 individuals aged 13 to 60 among men, compared to 9.3 per 1,000 individuals among women. This gender-gap favoring women is somewhat lower in Wave-2 in the 13-60 age group (and statistically significant only to 90% confidence); however, the naive attack rate is still \sim 35% higher among men. The gender difference is even greater in the older (60+ years) age group. The detected infections are \sim 75% higher among men in Wave-1 and 50% higher in Wave-2. This difference is however not observed among children.

While the confirmed COVID-19 case reports from Tamil Nadu suggest that men were infected at highly greater rates than women, multiple sero-prevalence surveys conducted in Tamil Nadu paint a different picture. Multiple rounds of the sero-prevalence surveys [e.g., see Table 2 of Selvavinayagam et al. (10)] suggest that infection incidence among men and women was similar after both Wave-I and Wave-II in Tamil Nadu. The sero-prevalence surveys were conducted on October-November, 2020 and June-July, 2021 respectively. We discuss this contradiction in detail in the discussion section.

Discussion

As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to disrupt healthcare systems and lives, there is a growing recognition that availability



of quality data on infections, fatalities and socio-demographic parameters of health remain a challenge in the middle-tolow income countries. To address this empirical dilemma, we used data from a southern Indian state that has meticulously published age and sex-disaggregated data on infections and fatalities since the onset of the pandemic in March 2020. We summarized key commonalities and differences in infections and fatality rates among men and women with a particular attention to older adults in the subsequent waves of the pandemic in India. Although, statistical estimates of infection or fatality antecedents were not possible to be modeled due to the limited nature of the data, this empirical summary allowed us to reflect on the intersection of age and the gender context, while reflecting in the paradoxical vulnerabilities of women and men.

One pathway that has been known to explain gender differentials in disease and mortality risks is labor force participation. Building on this line of inquiry, we contended that patriarchal ideologies that are known to restrict women's social and economic opportunities, unwittingly offer protection for older women from disease risk through restricted mobility. As such, the complex nexus between mobility and gender has been variously studied in the social sciences including those that focus on social norms as well as built environments (e.g., infrastructure and transportation). Feminist research on women's mobility patterns has shown that the claim "how people move (where, how fast, how often) is demonstrably gendered" (11) and perhaps age-coded, holds true for both the developing and the developed contexts (12-14). For example, in the Indian context, Lei et al. (15) show that in a context where labor mobility for women is deeply governed by gender attitudes and

domestic obligations, transportation improves women's chances of non-farm job opportunities. In particular, they argue that road access and bus frequency can not only increase women's nonfarm employment but can also enhance their bargaining power and autonomy to make decisions about their own health. In other words, one could argue that by staying at home women "bargained" with the patriarchal norms and social constraints over mobility, thereby optimizing their chances of reduced disease risk (16).

However, this line of reasoning is refuted by the seroprevalence surveys conducted in Tamil Nadu that show similar levels of infections among men and women at all stages of the pandemic. This suggests that instead of a patriarchal "bargain" (noted earlier) that unwittingly protects women from infection, the gender gap in confirmed cases is caused by gender biases in testing for COVID-19 infection. We must, however, include the caveat here that sero-prevalence surveys routinely assign different weights to demographic groups in order to normalize the proportion of observations from each group. We do not have access to the specific weights used in the Tamil Nadu serosurvey and thus must allow for the possibility that statistical normalization might have some role in bridging the gender gap in the infection incidence. Despite this uncertainty, a gender bias in testing would not come as a surprise given a persistent female neglect in healthcare access and treatment is well-documented in middle to low-income countries globally and particularly in India. Demographers and public health experts have shown that despite overall advances in healthcare and rising levels of women's education and employment in India, female disadvantage in terms of (excess) mortality,

neglect and discrimination continues throughout the life-course (17-19). Specifically, in terms of health access and outcomes, gender disparity has been remarkably stable in India with significant gradients by age and income (20-23). For example, in one estimate, out of 2,37,7028 outpatient visits, the authors calculated the overall sex ratio to be 1.69 male to one female visit (an equivalent of 4,02,722 missing female outpatient visits from four selected states in India) (21). As such, studies from other contexts have also emphasized how the pandemic has expanded the gender disparity in health. In their scoping review, Connor and colleagues report how the effects of heightened gendered disparity is felt more acutely among women vulnerable to poverty, IPV and racism in the United States (24). Specifically, the authors show that caregivers (who are typically women) have an increased exposure risk of contracting the infection while elevating the overall levels of multifactorial stress. Closer to home, feminist economist, Bina Agarwal's plea to understand the pandemic-led complex indirect gender effects on women is significant. She notes how preexisting gender inequalities and social norms can exacerbate unequal burdens of health and hunger, asset losses and abandonment of women and girls due to poverty (25). These household level disadvantages puts women at a higher risk since Indian women are known to have a higher incidence of comorbidities-malnourishment and anemiaand persistently lower levels of treatment seeking behaviors even when they carried higher burdens of multiple morbidities [see for example, Sandeep et al. (26)]. Notably, a persistent cultural regime of son-preference motived by social scripts that restrict women's economic and social freedoms with socio-legal implications (e.g., inheritance rules, remarriage laws), women continue to make losses in health and well-being throughout

Taken together, the COVID-19 data from Tamil Nadu thus tell us two contradictory stories: (a) the purported gender gap in the confirmed cases suggest a patriarchal "bargain" that protects women from infection as a consequence of their reduced mobility and (b) the sero-prevalence survey data that suggests that this gender gap may be an empirical illusion caused by systemic gender biases in COVID-19 infection testing. Given the history of persistent female neglect in healthcare in low-income, resource-constrained contexts, we believe that the second story is closer to the truth. In doing so, we address the plea of bridging the gap between feminist frameworks and empirical data. We hope this perspective piece offers an useful starting point to create synergies between evidence gathering, practice and research.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Author contributions

TS contributed to the conceptualization and writing of the paper. KG contributed to data analysis and writing. TD contributed to data analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

their life course.

- 1. Sen G, Östlin P. Gender inequity in health: why it exists and how we can change it. *Glob Pub Health.* (2008) 3(sup1):1–12. doi: 10.1080/17441690801900795
- 2. Cai H. Sex difference and smoking predisposition in patients with COVID-19. Lancet Resp Med. (2020) 8:e20. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30117-X
- 3. Akter S. The gender gap in COVID-19 mortality in the United States. *Femin Econ.* (2021) 27:30–47. doi: 10.1080/13545701.2020.1829673
- 4. Farmer P. Social inequalities and emerging infectious diseases. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (1996) 2:259–69. doi: 10.3201/eid0204.960402
- 5. Adams RB. Gender equality in work and Covid-19 deaths. *Covid Econ.* (2020) 11:23–60. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3601651

6. Lewandowski P, Lipowska K, Magda I. The gender dimension of occupational exposure to contagion in Europe. *Femin Econ.* (2021) 27:48-65. doi: 10.1080/13545701.2021.1880016

- 7. Assoumou Ella G. Gender, mobility, and Covid-19: the case of Belgium. *Femin Econ.* (2021) 27:66–80. doi: 10.1080/13545701.2020.1832240
- 8. Tang D, Comish P, Kang R. The hallmarks of COVID-19 disease. *PLoS Pathog.* (2020) 16:e1008536. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008536
- 9. Lloyd-Sherlock P, Sempe L, McKee M, Guntupalli A. Problems of data availability and quality for COVID-19 and older people in low-and middle-income countries. *Gerontologist.* (2021) 61:141–4. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnaa153

10. Selvavinayagam TS, Somasundaram A, Selvam JM, Ramachandran S, Sampath P, Vijayalakshmi V, et al. Seroprevalence in Tamil Nadu through India's two COVID waves: Evidence on antibody decline following infection and vaccination. *medRxiv*. [preprint]. (2021).

11. Cresswell T, Uteng TP. Gendered mobilities: towards an holistic understanding. In Gendered Mobilities. Routledge. (2016) (pp. 15-26). doi: 10.4324/9781315584201-6

12. Isaacson M, D'Ambrosio L, Samanta T, Coughlin J. Life-stage and mobility: an exploratory GPS study of mobility in multigenerational families, Ahmedabad, India. *J Aging Soc Pol.* (2015) 27:348–63. doi: 10.1080/08959420.2015.1058123

13. Chant S. Cities through a "gender lens": a golden "urban age" for women in the global South?. *Environ Urban*. (2013) 25:9–29. doi: 10.1177/0956247813477809

14. Gauvin L, Tizzoni M, Piaggesi S, Young A, Adler N, Verhulst S, et al. Gender gaps in urban mobility. *Human Soc Sci Commun.* (2020) 7:1–3. doi: 10.1057/s41599-020-0500-x

15. Lei L, Desai S, Vanneman R. The impact of transportation infrastructure on women's employment in India. *Femin Econ.* (2019) 25:94–125. doi: 10.1080/13545701.2019.1655162

16. Kandiyoti D. Bargaining with patriarchy. *Gender Soc.* (1988) 2:274–90. doi: 10.1177/089124388002003004

17. Guilmoto CZ, Saikia N, Tamrakar V, Bora JK. Excess under-5 female mortality across India: a spatial analysis using 2011 census data. *Lancet Glob Health*. (2018) 6:e650–8. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30184-0

18. Khera R, Jain S, Lodha R, Ramakrishnan S. Gender bias in child care and child health: global patterns. *Arch Dis Childhood.* (2014) 99:369-74. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2013-303889

19. Shankardass MK, Rajan SI, editors. Abuse and Neglect of the Elderly in India. Singapore. Springer (2018). doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-6116-5

20. Kowal P, Williams S, Jiang Y, Fan W, Arokiasamy P, Chatterji S. Aging, health, and chronic conditions in China and India: results from the multinational study on global ageing and adult health (SAGE). In *Aging in Asia: Findings from New and Emerging Data Initiatives*. National Academies Press (US) (2012).

21. Kapoor M, Agrawal D, Ravi S, Roy A, Subramanian SV, Guleria R. Missing female patients: an observational analysis of sex ratio among outpatients in a referral tertiary care public hospital in India. *BMJ Open.* (2019) 9:e026850. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026850

22. Saikia N, Bora JK. Gender difference in health-care expenditure: evidence from India human development survey. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0158332. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158332

23. Saikia N. Gender disparities in health care expenditures and financing strategies (HCFS) for inpatient care in India. *SSM-Pop Health.* (2019) 9:100372. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100372

24. Connor J, Madhavan, A, Mokashi M, Amanuel H, Johnson N.R, Pace LE, Bartz D. Health risks and outcomes that disproportionately affect women during COVID-19 pandemic: a review. *Soc Sci Med.* (2020) 3:113364 doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113364

25. Agarwal B. Reflections of the less visible and less measured: gender and COVID19 in India. *Gender Soc.* (2021) 5:1299. doi: 10.1177/08912432211001299

26. Sandeep G, Ramanathan M, Varma, R.P. Gender differences in self-reported heart disease and multiple risk factors in India: evidence from the 71st round of the national sample survey office. *World Health Pop.* (2014) 17:19–29. doi: 10.12927/whp.2018.25482

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Keith Elder, Mississippi College, United States

REVIEWED BY

Rodrigo Vargas-Fernández, Scientific University of the South, Peru Ramendra Pati Pandey, SRM University (Delhi-NCR), India Vivek Mishra, Amity University, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Isain Zapata izapata@rvu.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 13 July 2022 ACCEPTED 13 October 2022 PUBLISHED 03 November 2022

CITATION

Gerken J, Zapata D, Kuivinen D and Zapata I (2022) Comorbidities, sociodemographic factors, and determinants of health on COVID-19 fatalities in the United States. *Front. Public Health* 10:993662. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.993662

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Gerken, Zapata, Kuivinen and Zapata. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Comorbidities, sociodemographic factors, and determinants of health on COVID-19 fatalities in the United States

Jacob Gerken, Demi Zapata, Daniel Kuivinen and Isain Zapata*

Department of Biomedical Sciences, Rocky Vista University, Parker, CO, United States

Previous studies have evaluated comorbidities and sociodemographic factors individually or by type but not comprehensively. This study aims to analyze the influence of a wide variety of factors in a single study to better understand the big picture of their effects on case-fatalities. This cross-sectional study used county-level comorbidities, social determinants of health such as income and race, measures of preventive healthcare, age, education level, average household size, population density, and political voting patterns were all evaluated on a national and regional basis. Analysis was performed through Generalized Additive Models and adjusted by the COVID-19 Community Vulnerability Index (CCVI). Effect estimates of COVID-19 fatality rates for risk factors such as comorbidities, sociodemographic factors and determinant of health. Factors associated with reducing COVID-19 fatality rates were mostly sociodemographic factors such as age, education and income, and preventive health measures. Obesity, minimal leisurely activity, binge drinking, and higher rates of individuals taking high blood pressure medication were associated with increased case fatality rate in a county. Political leaning influenced case case-fatality rates. Regional trends showed contrasting effects where larger household size was protective in the Midwest, yet harmful in Northeast. Notably, higher rates of respiratory comorbidities such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) diagnosis were associated with reduced case-fatality rates in the Northeast. Increased rates of chronic kidney disease (CKD) within counties were often the strongest predictor of increased case-fatality rates for several regions. Our findings highlight the importance of considering the full context when evaluating contributing factors to case-fatality rates. The spectrum of factors identified in this study must be analyzed in the context of one another and not in isolation.

KEYWORDS

CCVI, sociodemographic factors, politics, county level, determinants of health

Introduction

The SARS-CoV-2 Virus, which causes COVID-19, has currently led to over 1,000,000 deaths (July, 2022) in the United States (1). The virus has ravaged not only the United States financially and put a stop to every in-person activity for the last 2 years (2), but has highlighted how embedded community traits affect the outcome of a whole community. In the end, it is characteristics like comorbidities and sociodemographic factors that play a defining role in determining a community's fatality outcome (3).

While it has been shown that a wide range of comorbidities has an impact COVID-19 outcomes; there has been a great effort to define the specific contributions of comorbidities in their impact on COVID-19 morbidity and mortality rates (4-7). Comorbidities such as hypertension (8), diabetes mellitus (9), chronic kidney disease (CKD) (10), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (11), and cardiovascular disease or coronary heart disease (CHD) (12) among others, have important repercussions on COVID-19 outcomes. However, there are also a variety of reasons for which to consider some sociodemographic factors as deleterious. COVID-19 outcomes are strongly influenced by risk behaviors and many of these behaviors are a direct result of environmental and socioeconomic circumstances that affect specific portions of the populations (13). Factors such as lacking healthcare insurance, being of a specific racial background (7, 14), or even voting patterns. Political voting patterns and affiliation have previously been linked to COVID-19 fatality in both the United States (15) and other countries (16, 17). While political differences may not be important on an individual level, political affiliation may influence societal behaviors such as vaccination, masking (18), or social distancing (19). These behaviors can directly affect COVID-19 outcomes, and are an important component of our analysis. Voting patterns in the 2020 presidential election are representative of behaviors that can affect COVID-19 outcomes. All these factors combined would point in a direction that suggests that differences in COVID-19 fatality rates are a potential outcome of embedded community characteristics.

Even though previous studies have examined factors influencing COVID-19 fatalities (4–6, 20), no study has performed a comprehensive analysis of all the aforementioned factors together to the same extent as our study. In our study, a multitude of key community indicators such as comorbidities, sociodemographic factors (including voting patterns), and determinants of health (preventive health screenings) have been examined to reflect trends and potential associations that can be compared against each other. Therefore, the objective of this study was to perform a comprehensive evaluation of comorbidities, sociodemographic factors, and determinants of health at a national level using county aggregated to define their association to COVID-19 case-fatalities. These patterns may allow us to alter the way communities handle public health crises, utilize public health interventions that could deflect harmful outcomes, and provide resources to communities in a timely manner based on their community characteristics.

Methods

Datasets

The focus of this ecological study was to evaluate regional trends of COVID-19 case-fatality rate compared to comorbidities and sociodemographic factors. This study was vetted and categorized as exempt by the Institutional Research Board. Our study utilized countywide data for each county in the entire continental United States and Hawaii with Alaska and Puerto Rico excluded from the analysis due to differences in their county data reporting. COVID-19 case-fatality rates were gathered from the COVID-19 Community Profile Report (21) for the January 2-8, 2021 week cutoff, this report included the COVID-19 Community Vulnerability Index (CCVI) (22). This cutoff week was selected because it allowed for the evaluation of the COVID-19 case fatality rate, without the influence of the vaccines or newer, more infectious strains. Rates of various comorbidities such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), hypertension, cancer, asthma, chronic heart disease (CHD), cholesterol, diabetes, chronic kidney disease (CKD), smoking, stroke, and obesity were obtained on a percounty basis from the CDC 2020 Population Level Analysis and Community Estimates (PLACES) project (23). Rates of poor mental health, binge drinking, lack of health insurance, time allocated to leisurely activity, and preventive care consisting of cervical cancer screening, routine doctor visits, dental visits, cholesterol screening, and routine mammography were obtained from the 2020 CDC PLACES Project, as well. Other variables such as average household size and population density for each county were acquired from the United States Census Bureau COVID-19 website (24). Latitude of each county was also included in the analysis and obtained from the United States Gazetteer Files (25) from the United States Census Bureau. The 2020 Presidential voting records of each county were obtained from the Harvard Dataverse (26). Racial makeup in each county was obtained from the 2020 decennial United States census (27), while income, age, and education level were retrieved from the 2019 American Community Survey 5-year estimates (28). A summary of all mean values per variable on a national level and by HHS region are presented in Supplementary Table 1.

Statistical analysis

Data was evaluated for associations using a Generalized Additive Models (GAMs) approach. GAMs were chosen for



Comorbidity, sociodemographic and determinants of health associations to COVID-19 case-fatalities. All models are CCVI adjusted. (A) Risk ratio crude estimates. (B) Risk ration standardized estimates (ordered). Blue diamonds indicate case-fatality reduction, red diamonds indicate case-fatality increase, and Black diamonds indicate no association. A total of 3140 counties were included in the study. Even when 99% CI are presented, association are declared significant at a Bonferroni adjusted threshold (47 tests Padj ≤1.06E-03). COPD, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease; CKD, Chronic Kidney Disease; CHD, Coronary Heart Disease.

this application for their versatility in addressing deviations from normality that limit Generalized Linear Models (GLMs) such as those that occur in proportional data (29, 30). More specifically, when values approach the limits of the scales (such as percentages), these models take advantage of unspecific (non-parametric) functions or splines that are linked to the predictor (31). COVID-19 case fatality rates per 100 k people were set as the dependent variable while each comorbidity,

sociodemographic and health determinant factor was set as an independent variable. All values are proportional data. All models were adjusted using CCVI (22) which normalized the data for inherent inequity on a county per county basis (32). This ecological study uses individual counties as the experimental unit. All analyses were evaluated twice, once nationally and once regionally. Analyzing using two different modes, allowed for us to identify national and regional patterns (US HHS

regions). Independent variables were introduced into the model using smoothing splines starting with three degrees of freedom. Models assumed Gaussian residual distributions. All analyses were performed using PROC GAM in SAS/STAT v.9.4 (SAS Inc., Cary, NC). Risk ratios were estimated with confidence intervals and the coefficients sign determined effect directions. GAMs estimates can be interpreted in a similar fashion a parametric GLMs. Therefore, negative coefficients indicated a reduction in COVID-19 case-fatality rates while positive coefficients indicated an increase in case-fatalities. Coefficient standardization was done with a normally distributed Zscore transformation. All associations presented were tested using two-tailed tests. Regional pattern models were performed independently to identify the top contributors-negatively and positively associated. Even with 99% confidence intervals, all tests were declared significant at a Bonferroni threshold. Regional pattern top contributors that did not reach the Bonferroni threshold are indicated in the figures.

Results

National level trends

Data from 3140 counties was included in our analysis. Our GAM approach examined the data for associations to case-fatalities, all these values were adjusted to CCVI to normalize the inherent differences a crude risk ratio would estimate, and the risk ratio standardized estimates are presented in Figure 1. Crude estimates showcase the extent of the association without considering their spread while standardized estimates adjust the extent of the association to the spread. Crude estimate findings (Figure 1A) revealed that comorbidities above sociodemographic factors have the largest effects associated with case-fatalities; however, these associations can go in both positive and negative directions. A diagnosis of cancer provided the largest effect decreasing COVID-19 case-fatalities while CKD and stroke had the largest effects increasing them. Similarly, asthma (decreased risk), CHD (increased risk) and diabetes (increased risk) displayed less extensive effects. Household size was the largest significant sociodemographic factor in positive outcomes of COVID-19 with an effect in a range comparable to relevant comorbidities. Other demographic effects such as age and education displayed significant associations that reduced or increased case-fatality risk. Populations with higher educational achievements displayed significantly reduced case-fatality rates. Increased income always displayed a protective effect. Political preference was significantly associated with case-fatalities such as voting for Biden reduced case-fatalities while voting for Trump had the opposite effect. Racial and ethnic backgrounds were only associated with COVID-19 case-fatalities for Pacific Islanders, Asian and Black groups. Determinants of health

such as cervical cancer screening and people using high blood pressure medication also showed mixed direction associations. Cervical cancer screening had the largest case-fatality reducing effect from this category while the people using high blood pressure medication had the largest opposite effect. Standardized estimates (Figure 1B) show a different perspective and allow for comparisons across factors as they are standardized. In this case, a routine colonoscopy procedure was found to be the largest protecting effect against COVID-19 case-fatality followed by a combination of sociodemographic factors such as age, education, and income. On the other side of the spectrum, obesity had the largest negative impact deleterious outcome in COVID-19 patients followed by having no leisure physical activity, binge drinking and higher proportions of people taking high blood pressure medication in a specific county.

Regional trends

The main analysis was also replicated independently within each of the ten US Health and Human Services defined regions. These models were also adjusted by CCVI. Risk ratio effect estimates for the ten regions are displayed in Figure 2. These analyses detected a wide array of effects that in some cases go in opposite directions across all regions. No single factor was consistently associated for all regions suggesting that regional associations are not generalizable. These regional assessments all have different sample sizes that are based on the number of counties within each state. These can range from 67 (Region 1) to 736 (Region 4); however, this discrepancy did not affect the capacity of each regional analysis to detect associations at a Bonferroni level (adjusted for 470 tests across all sets). The top variables reducing and increasing COVID-19 case-fatalities for each region are presented in Figure 3. The map in Figure 3A shows that the strongest protective regional effects were observed toward the east of the country where Stroke and Cancer Diagnosis were highly protective in the Northeast regions (Regions 1 and 2) and being of Pacific Islander descent was protective in the Southeast United States (Region 4). The Midwest displayed some moderate protective effects where household size was the top reducing factor in two regions (Region 5 and 7). Western regions displayed smaller COVID-19 case-fatality protective effects. Regions in the Western United States displayed smaller effect sizes in comparisons to regions in the South or Midwest. Lastly, Figure 3B shows variables that most significantly contributed to increased COVID-19 case-fatalities. CKD was the most prevalent comorbidity across several regions (Regions 4, 6, 8 and 9). Among other findings, household size had a negative impact on COVID-19 outcomes specifically in the Northeast regions (Regions 1 and 2). As previously mentioned, some of the top variables displayed opposing effects which suggested that

106

	US Health and Human Services Regions									
Variable	Region 1 N=67	Region 2 N=83	Region 3 N=283	Region 4 N=736	Region 5 N=524	Region 6 N=502	Region 7 N=412	Region 8 N=291	Region 9 N=95	Region 1 N=147
Comorbidities - Arthritis (%)	-14.66	-21.29			_		-9.49			
Comorbidities - Asthma (%)	-40.97	-63.33	14.56	8.25		-10.64			33.08	-8.62
Comorbidities - Bad Mental Health (%)	-29.56	-26.42	3.60	6.33			-9.09		12.59	
Comorbidities - Bad Physical Health (%)	-25.44			7.34		5.93	-9.57		23.98	
Comorbidities - Binge Drinking (%)		-32.48	4.08	-11.89		7.71		16.44	-19.59	-7.10
Comorbidities - Cancer diagnosis (%)	-114.77	-177.57	46.24	-116.05		-45.73		154.49		
Comorbidities - CHD (%)	-57.94	-75.32		6.90		16.99	-21.83	54.86	46.98	
Comorbidities - CKD (%)	-132.53	170.62		96.73	33.65	79.73		77.96	165.69	
Comorbidities - COPD (%)	-39.76	-52.95					-13.52	26.83	22.09	
Comorbidities - Diabetes (%)		49.67		15.61		16.58		23.52	24.08	
Comorbidities - High Blood Pressure (%)		7.92		5.25	2.78			20.79	14.02	
Comorbidities - High Cholesterol (%)		29.87	-4.95	5.70	6.50		-9.17			-8.92
Comorbidities - No Leisure Physical Activity (%)		11.68		3.55	3.59	5.97	-4.87	15.22	11.45	3.08
Comorbidities - Obesity (%)	-6.94	-11.36		4.01		5.74		11.70	7.39	
Comorbidities - Poor Sleeping (%)	7.61	12.62					-6.05			
Comorbidities - Smoking (%)	-14.24	-14.96		3.16				12.75	5.99	
Comorbidities - Stroke (%)	-125.62			65.21	24.24	30.41	-36.24	64.67	88.24	
Demographics - 25 to 64 years of age (%)		8.66		-4.10		-3.34	-4.05	-8.08	-4.32	-2.97
Demographics - Household Size (Persons)	196.47	121.09	-52.33		-91.06		-102.57	-47.80		
Demographics - No Insurance (%)	-15.97	25.18	-3.53	5.80	9.69	2.26		-11.74	8.19	5.37
Demographics - Over 65 years of age (%)	-9.63	-11.70			3.22		3.87	4.42		
Demographics - Under 25 years of age (%)	9.69				-2.41				2.45	1.27
Education - Bachelor's or Higher (%)	3.58	3.80		-2.12	-1.48	-2.96		-4.49		-1.49
Education - High School (%)	-7.08	-4.71	1.08	1.91				6.53		
Education - No High School (%)		12.78		4.05		5.10		6.81	3.01	4.29
Education - Some College or Associate's (%)	-7.38	-11.61		-2.03	2.71	-3.23				
Geography - Latitude (degrees)	-36.75	-43.40	11.19	-7.62				15.99		-2.63
Healthcare - Cervical Cancer Screening (%)	17.67	-25.53	-10.89	-4.02	-14.83			11.18	-8.62	-4.63
Healthcare - Cholesterol Screening (%)	21.78	43.30						-7.99		-4.23
Healthcare - Colonoscopy (%)	9.57	-16.21		-10.27	-2.76	-2.25			-9.33	
Healthcare - High Blood Pressure Medication (%)	17.86	23.30		8.96	-6.50		-17.48	18.73	16.17	12.09
Healthcare - Mammography Use (%)	11.68		-4.85	-4.59	-6.51		4.88	11.90	-7.85	-3.28
Healthcare - Routine Checkup (%)	13.81	34.43	-6.32	2.92	-8.58			20.30		-8.14
Healthcare - Visited Dentist (%)	7.42			-6.08	-2.55	-6.96	3.28		-7.15	-1.98
Income - Families Median (USD\$K)	2.61	2.12	-0.49	-2.38	-1.21	-1.58			-1.62	-1.16
Income - Household Median (USD\$K)	2.96	2.50	-0.63	-2.64	-1.25	-1.49			-1.36	-1.20
Income - Married Median (USD\$K)	2.46	2.10		-1.26	-0.98	-1.01			-1.24	-1.09
Income - Nonfamily Median (USD\$K)	4.82	4.30	-0.97	-3.51	-1.83	-2.50			-1.94	-1.64
Politics - Voted for Biden (%)	2.21	2.82		0.56	-0.86		-1.22	-1.35		-1.03
Politics - Voted for Trump (%)	-1.74	-2.73		-0.53	0.85		1.24	1.42		1.03
Race - Asian (%)	15.58	8.64		-8.16	-4.16	-5.94	-11.47	-19.01		-2.32
Race - Black (%)	12.45	7.15		1.63						
Race - Hispanic (%)	7.43	5.64		-1.77		0.67		-4.09		1.41
Race - Native American (%)	-47.13					-1.35		2.52	5.00	-0.72
Race - Other (%)	12.90	9.69		-3.89		1.58		-10.08	0.00	2.08
Race - White (%)	-4.75	-3.41		-1.23		-0.56				0.65
						0.00				0.00

Region 1: CT, ME, MA, NH, RI, VT. Region 2: NJ, NY. Region 3: DE, DC, MD, PA, VA, WV. Region 4: AL, FL, GA, KY, MS, NC, SC, TN. Region 5: IL, IN, MI, MN, OH, WI. Region 6: AR, LA, NM, OK, TX. Region 7: IA, KS, MO, NE. Region 8: CO, MT, ND, SD, UT, WY. Region 9: AZ, CA, HI, NV. Region 10: ID, OR, WA.

FIGURE 2

Regional risk ratio estimates for comorbidity, sociodemographic and determinants of health in association to COVID-19 case-fatalities. All models were performed independently by region and are adjusted to CCVI. Sample sizes correspond to the number of counties in the analysis for each region. Estimates signs indicate effect direction. Red boxes are significant to a Bonferroni level (470 tests $P_{adj} \leq 1.06E$ -04). Orange boxes are significant to a 95% confidence level. COPD, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease; CKD, Chronic Kidney Disease, CHD, Coronary Heart Disease.

the interpretation must be done in context with the specific characteristics of that region, and interpretations cannot be generalized to others.

Discussion

The objective of this study was to perform a comprehensive evaluation of comorbidities, sociodemographic factors, and

determinants of health at a national level using county aggregated to define their association to COVID-19 case-fatalities. Previous studies have evaluated the influence of various socioeconomic factors (7, 20, 33) and comorbidities (4–6) on COVID-19 case-fatality rate; however, these analyses do not pair together their findings to be comparable with each other. Our study evaluates COVID-19 fatality rates from a wide timeframe, without potential influence from vaccines reducing case-fatality rate and the addition of major


COVID-19 variants. Our study builds on the efforts of previous studies by presenting together a wide array of variables that describe community characteristics. It is necessary to emphasize that the associations between these factors and case-fatalities is not necessarily or entirely causative. All comorbidities, sociodemographic and determinants of health variables presented describe characteristics of the population that are not isolated or independent and are antecedent of any causality. Therefore, any inference that could be attributed to each factor evaluated must always be provided with context as a community indicator as they are all dependent or interconnected on each other, examples of this are binge drinking, mammography and visits to the dentist rates, which are likely indirectly describing a characteristic of the community. In general, all these variables must be interpreted in a continuum of causality that can vary across regions depending on the context.

Comorbidities

Chronic kidney disease rates were the strongest predictor of increase COVID-19 case-fatality in several US regions. This relationship is likely to be predominantly causal due to people with this condition being medically vulnerable (34-37). Other comorbidities followed a similar trend such as higher rates of hypertension, diabetes, stroke, and smoking being associated with an increased case-fatality rate in a specific county. This finding aligns with other studies (5, 38, 39) linking increased rates of comorbidities to poorer COVID-19 outcomes. Even though comorbidities were most often associated with worse COVID-19 outcomes, stroke and cancer diagnosis were linked to reduced case-fatality rates in the Northeast region. We speculate that a potential explanation for this relationship is possible more frequent mask usage (40) and more precautions taken by this group of people (41). Northeastern states had mask adherence rates > 75% during the latter part of 2020 (40) with usage potentially diminishing the influence of comorbidities such asthma and COPD on COVID-19 case-fatality rate. Those with asthma and COPD in these communities were maybe more likely to wear a mask, further reducing their chance of acquiring and succumbing to COVID-19.

Sociodemographic factors

Household size was identified early on to be a risk factor for COVID-19 transmission (42). Our results have shown conflicting effects when viewing this factor across regions. Household size is a risk factor in the Northeast but has a protective effect in the Midwest. The difference between these regions is likely related to the specific context of living conditions. Although the mean household size for regions 1 and 2 is not far from the mean household size for regions 5 and 7, with 2.48 and 2.41 respectively, this difference may capture differences in housing quality and composition (43). This may also be indirectly identifying behavioral factors that are not obvious but can be implied such as house proximity (higher in cities) which can affect the capacity of self-isolation. Population density could partially be influenced by household size, which has shown to have an impact on transmission (44). Northeast states have higher population densities when compared to midwestern states. In summary, living conditions, housing quality and composition, and population density are all important components that define the impact of household size on case fatality rate. Generally, higher income was also associated with decreased COVID-19 case fatality rates. There could be a multitude of reasons why a higher income may be beneficial. This could include not being classified as an essential worker leading to being more likely to take time off or work from home (45), or even being able to live outside high-density population and compact housing areas

(7, 46). Income is often reflective and associated with racial discrepancies in COVID-19 outcomes (33, 47, 48). In a study examining neighborhood median income and COVID-19, when examining the neighborhoods, Black populations more often lived in neighborhoods with a significantly lower median income (\$35,000) whereas White populations more often lived in wealthier neighborhoods (\$63,000). Communities with lower median incomes are more often Medicaid patients and have COVID-19 complications that require invasive tactics such as mechanical ventilation (49). Income inequalities have been strong predictors of higher case numbers and fatalities throughout this pandemic (20).

Political affiliation

The context that defines the influence of social dynamics on COVID-19 is complicated. Political affiliation has been repeatedly evaluated as a potential factor influencing the pandemic's mortality (19, 50) in prior pandemics, with Republican party affiliation associated with decreased influenza vaccinations and Democratic party affiliation associated with increased vaccinations (51, 52). The politicization of pandemic response has continued into the COVID-19 pandemic, with behaviors such as masking, social distancing, and vaccination being often divided along party lines (17, 19). Some studies have shown a decrease in pandemic preventive health measures among Republicans while there has been increased adherence to public health recommendations among Democrats (53, 54). Similarly, Republicans have been shown to have lower COVID-19 risk perception (55, 56), when compared to other political parties which may influence their likelihood of contracting COVID-19. The behaviors exhibited by each political party may influence the results of this study. Our study showed that voting for Joseph Biden in the 2020 presidential election was mildly associated with decreased case-fatality rate while voting for Donald Trump was associated with increased rate. With Democrats being shown to be more likely to adhere to public health guidelines, they may be less likely to acquire and perish from COVID-19 while the inverse is true for Republicans. In December 2020, states with Republican governors had higher rates of cases, deaths, and positive tests than states with Democrat governors (57). This trend is evident in a similar approach using national data presented by NPR in collaboration with researchers at John's Hopkins University where it was shown that voting Republican also had a deleterious effect (58). Rural and urban differences have been shown to play a major role in case-fatality rate as well with rural counties having a higher case-fatality ratio than urban counties (4). Rural voters are more likely to vote Republican (59) and therefore, the influence of politics in our findings may also be capturing geographical differences. Rural areas tend to have worse health outcomes in general and have significantly less

access to care compared to their urban counterparts (60). These disparities add to the likelihood of developing comorbidities and ultimately, poorer COVID-19 outcomes. The link between political affiliation and COVID-19 case fatality rate is far more complex than the individual candidates that people of a county voted for. Political affiliation in our study is an indicator of underlying sociodemographic, health, and psychological trends that are more causative rather than associative.

Limitations

Our study utilized aggregate data on a per-county basis instead of individual patient data; therefore, it is not possible to evaluate factors that contribute to COVID-19 case-fatality on a per case fashion which could help avoid any erroneous generalizations of specific regions. Another limitation of using county level data is that there is significant variability in the size and number of counties across the United States. Some counties may have only a few hundred people, while other counties may have a few million and this may lead, to some extent, representation bias.

Future prospective

Our study findings support a notion where all comorbidities, sociodemographic and determinants of health variables describe characteristics of the population; these characteristics are not isolated or independent but may share their etiology. For this reason, we believe our research can help inform future directions in public health including the evaluation of individual community factors that contribute directly to illness outcomes. Despite the application of our findings to public health, it is difficult to apply our findings to clinical practice recommendations due to the interdependent nature of the variables we evaluated. A future prospective should attempt to incorporate the factors identified into the population inclusion criteria of follow up approaches. In general, our study allows us to recommend expanding the list of confounders traditionally used in studies. These expanded confounders come in two main types: first, well defined groups at high risk (those with CKD, COPD or other prominent comorbidities) and second, less well defined groups with predisposition (those living in specific housing conditions, environments, or with specific political leanings). These factors are non-traditionally considered but have an important contribution to outcomes.

Conclusions

Our study identified several unique regionally dependent and independent relationships that highlighted the various factors that might influence COVID-19. Like other studies, we determined that comorbidities and demographic factors together are strong drivers of COVID-19 case fatalities. However, our study presents an assessment that puts them side to side for direct comparison. Our study highlights how any association is often dependent on the regional context. For example, household size in the Northeastern region of the United States was associated with more fatalities, while larger household size in the Midwest regions had a protective effect. Political voting patterns were also indicative of underlying healthcare patterns, with overall reduced case fatality rates in Democratic voting counties compared to increased fatality rates in Republican voting counties. The trends we identified in our study emphasize the importance of interpreting each factor in the context of other variables instead of in isolation.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

JG: conceptualization, methodology, data curation, investigation, and writing of original draft. DZ and DK: conceptualization, methodology, investigation, and writing of original draft. IZ: conceptualization, methodology,

References

1. US Center for Disease Control. CDC COVID Data Tracker. (2022) available online at: https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#cases_deathsper100k (accessed April 4, 2022).

2. Thorbecke W. The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the U.S. economy: evidence from the stock market. J Risk Financ Manag. (2020) 13:233. doi: 10.3390/jrfm13100233

3. Mascha EJ, Schober P, Schefold JC, Stueber F, Luedi MM. Staffing with disease-based epidemiologic indices may reduce shortage of intensive care unit staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Anesth Analg.* (2020) 131:24–30. doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000004849

4. Iyanda AE, Boakye KA, Lu Y, Oppong JR. Racial/ethnic heterogeneity and rural-urban disparity of COVID-19 case fatality ratio in the USA: a negative binomial and GIS-Based analysis. *J Racial Ethn Heal Disparities*. (2022) 9:708–21. doi: 10.1007/s40615-021-01006-7

5. Sarmadi M, Moghanddam VK, Dickerson AS, Martelletti L. Association of COVID-19 distribution with air quality, sociodemographic factors, and comorbidities: an ecological study of US states. *Air Qual Atmos Heal.* (2021) 14:455–65. doi: 10.1007/s11869-020-00949-w

6. Hashim MJ, Alsuwaidi AR, Khan G. Population Risk Factors for COVID-19 Mortality in 93 Countries. J Epidemiol Glob Health. (2020) 10:204. doi: 10.2991/jegh.k.200721.001

7. Karmakar M, Lantz PM, Tipirneni R. Association of social and demographic factors with COVID-19 incidence and death rates in the US. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2021) 4:e2036462. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.36462

8. Peng M, He J, Xue Y, Yang X, Liu S, Gong Z. Role of hypertension on the severity of COVID-19: a review. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* (2021) 78:e648–55. doi: 10.1097/FJC.000000000001116

investigation, formal analysis, visualization, supervision, writing and editing of final draft. All authors approved the final manuscript as submitted and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.993662/full#supplementary-material

9. Wu Z, Tang Y, Cheng Q. Diabetes increases the mortality of patients with COVID-19: a meta-analysis. *Acta Diabetol.* (2021) 58:139–44. doi: 10.1007/s00592-020-01546-0

10. Yang D, Xiao Y, Chen J, Chen Y, Luo P, Liu Q, et al. COVID-19 and chronic renal disease: clinical characteristics and prognosis. *QJM An Int J Med.* (2020) 113:799–805. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcaa258

11. Singh D, Mathioudakis AG, Higham A. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and COVID-19: interrelationships. *Curr Opin Pulm Med.* (2022) 28:76–83. doi: 10.1097/MCP.00000000000834

12. Chung MK, Zidar DA, Bristow MR, Cameron SJ, Chan T, Harding C V, et al. COVID-19 and cardiovascular disease. *Circ Res.* (2021) 128:1214–36. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.317997

13. Bruine de. Bruin W, Bennett D. Relationships between initial COVID-19 risk perceptions and protective health behaviors: a national survey. *Am J Prev Med.* (2020) 59:157–67. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2020.05.001

14. Snowden LR, Graaf G. COVID-19, Social determinants past, present, and future, and African Americans' Health. J Racial Ethn Heal Disparities. (2021) 8:12–20. doi: 10.1007/s40615-020-00923-3

15. Sehgal NJ, Yue D, Pope E, Wang RH, Roby DH. The association between COVID-19 mortality and the county-level partisan divide in the United States. *Health Aff.* (2022) 41:853–63. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2022.00085

16. de Almeida L, Carelli P V, Cavalcanti NG. do Nascimento J-D, Felinto D. Quantifying political influence on COVID-19 fatality in Brazil. *PLoS ONE.* (2022) 17:e0264293. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0264293

17. McKee M, Gugushvili A, Koltai J, Stuckler D. Are Populist Leaders Creating the Conditions for the Spread of COVID-19? Comment on a scoping review of populist radical right parties" influence on welfare policy and its implications for population health in Europe. Int J Heal policy Manag. (2021) 10:511-5. doi: 10.34172/ijhpm.2020.124

18. Cunningham GB, Nite C. Demographics, politics, and health factors predict mask wearing during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health.* (2021) 21:1403. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11424-1

19. Gollwitzer A, Martel C, Brady WJ, Pärnamets P, Freedman IG, Knowles ED, et al. Partisan differences in physical distancing are linked to health outcomes during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nat Hum Behav.* (2020) 4:1186–97. doi: 10.1038/s41562-020-00977-7

20. Tan AX, Hinman JA, Abdel Magid HS, Nelson LM, Odden MC. Association between income inequality and county-level COVID-19 cases and deaths in the US. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2021) 4:e218799. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.8799

21. White House COVID-19 Team. COVID-19 Community Profile Report. Available online at: https://healthdata.gov/Health/COVID-19-Community-Profile-Report/gqxm-d9w9 (accessed March 31, 2022).

22. Surgo Ventures. Vulnerable Communities and COVID-19: The Damage Done, and the Way Forward. (2021). Available online at: https://precisionforcovid.org/ccvi (accessed October 21, 2022).

23. US Center for Disease Control. 2020 PLACES. Local Data for Better Health County Data 2020 Release. (2021). Available online at: https://chronicdata.cdc. gov/500-Cities-Places/PLACES-Local-Data-for-Better-Health-County-Data-20/ swc5-untb/data (accessed March 12, 2021).

24. US Census Bureau. Average Household Size and Population Density - County. (2020). Available online at: https://covid19.census.gov/datasets/USCensus: average-household-size-and-population-density-county/explore?location=3. 973504%2C0.315550%2C2.69&showTable=true (accessed September 15, 2022).

25. US Census Bureau. *Gazetteer Files*. (2021). Available online at: https:// www.census.gov/geographies/reference-files/time-series/geo/gazetteer-files.html (accessed September 15, 2022).

26. MIT Election Data and Science Lab. *County Presidential Election Returns* 2000-2020. Harvard, Dataverse, V.10. (2018). doi: 10.7910/DVN/VOQCHQ

27. US Census Bureau. 2020 Decennial United States Census. (2021). Available online at: https://www.census.gov/data.html (accessed September 15, 2022).

28. US Census Bureau. 2019 American Community Survey 5-Year Public Use Microdata Samples. (2020) Available online at: https://data.census.gov/cedsci/ (accessed March 12, 2021)

29. Hastie T, Tibshirani R. Generalized additive models for medical research. *Stat Methods Med Res.* (1995) 4:187–96. doi: 10.1177/096228029500400302

30. Hastie TJ. Generalized additive models. In: *Statistical Models*. London: Taylor and Francis (2017). p. 249–307.

31. Ravindra K, Rattan P, Mor S, Aggarwal AN. Generalized additive models: Building evidence of air pollution, climate change and human health. *Environ Int.* (2019) 132:104987. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2019.104987

32. Melvin SC, Wiggins C, Burse N, Thompson E, Monger M. The role of public health in COVID-19 emergency response efforts from a rural health perspective. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2020) 17:E70–E70. doi: 10.5888/pcd17.200256

33. Liao TF, De Maio F. Association of social and economic inequality with Coronavirus Disease 2019 incidence and mortality across US counties. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2021) 4:e2034578. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen. 2020.34578

34. Ortiz A, Cozzolino M, Fliser D, Fouque D, Goumenos D, Massy ZA, et al. Chronic kidney disease is a key risk factor for severe COVID-19: a call to action by the ERA-EDTA. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2021) 36:87–94. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfaa314

35. Jdiaa SS, Mansour R, El Alayli A, Gautam A, Thomas P, Mustafa RA. COVID–19 and chronic kidney disease: an updated overview of reviews. *J Nephrol.* (2022) 35:69–85. doi: 10.1007/s40620-021-01206-8

36. Flythe JE, Assimon MM, Tugman MJ, Chang EH, Gupta S, Shah J, et al. Characteristics and outcomes of individuals with pre-existing kidney disease and COVID-19 admitted to intensive care units in the United States. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2021) 77:190–203.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.09.003

37. Gao Y, Ding M, Dong X, Zhang J, Kursat Azkur A, Azkur D, et al. Risk factors for severe and critically ill COVID-19 patients: A review. *Allergy.* (2021) 76:428–55. doi: 10.1111/all.14657

38. Yang J, Zheng Y, Gou X, Pu K, Chen Z, Guo Q, et al. Prevalence of comorbidities and its effects in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2020) 94:91–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.03.017

39. Ejaz H, Alsrhani A, Zafar A, Javed H, Junaid K, Abdalla AE, et al. COVID-19 and comorbidities: deleterious impact on infected patients. *J Infect Public Health.* (2020) 13:1833–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2020.07.014 40. Fischer CB, Adrien N, Silguero JJ, Hopper JJ, Chowdhury AI, Werler MM. Mask adherence and rate of COVID-19 across the United States. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0249891. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0249891

41. Faria N, Costa MI, Gomes J, Sucena M. Reduction of severe exacerbations of COPD during COVID-19 pandemic in Portugal: a protective role of face masks? *COPD J Chronic Obstr Pulm Dis.* (2021) 18:226–30. doi: 10.1080/15412555.2021.1904387

42. Madewell ZJ, Yang Y, Longini IM, Halloran ME, Dean NE. Household Transmission of SARS-CoV-2. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2020) 3:e2031756. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.31756

43. Brown CC, Young SG, Pro GC. COVID-19 vaccination rates vary by community vulnerability: a county-level analysis. *Vaccine*. (2021) 39:4245–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.06.038

44. Sy KTL, White LF, Nichols BE. Population density and basic reproductive number of COVID-19 across United States counties. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0249271. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0249271

45. McCormack G, Avery C, Spitzer AK-L, Chandra A. Economic vulnerability of households with essential workers. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:388. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.11366

46. Hamidi S, Hamidi I. Subway ridership, crowding, or population density: determinants of COVID-19 infection rates in New York City. *Am J Prev Med.* (2021) 60:614–20. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2020.11.016

47. Escobar GJ, Adams AS, Liu VX, Soltesz L, Chen Y-FI, Parodi SM, et al. Racial disparities in COVID-19 testing and outcomes. *Ann Intern Med.* (2021) 174:786–93. doi: 10.7326/M20-6979

48. Mackey K, Ayers CK, Kondo KK, Saha S, Advani SM, Young S, et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in COVID-19–related infections, hospitalizations, and deaths. *Ann Intern Med.* (2021) 174:362–73. doi: 10.7326/M20-6306

49. Quan D, Luna Wong L, Shallal A, Madan R, Hamdan A, Ahdi H, et al. Impact of race and socioeconomic status on outcomes in patients hospitalized with COVID-19. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2021) 36:1302–9. doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-06527-1

50. Christopher W, Lynn V, Ryan B-K. Fatalities from COVID-19 are reducing Americans' support for Republicans at every level of federal office. *Sci Adv.* (2022) 6:eabd8564. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abd8564

51. Mesch GS, Schwirian KP. Social and political determinants of vaccine hesitancy: Lessons learned from the H1N1 pandemic of 2009-2010. *Am J Infect Control.* (2015) 43:1161–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2015.06.031

52. Baum MA. Red State, Blue State, Flu State: media self-selection and partisan gaps in swine flu vaccinations. *J Health Polit Policy Law.* (2011) 36:1021–59. doi: 10.1215/03616878-1460569

53. Rabin C, Dutra S. Predicting engagement in behaviors to reduce the spread of COVID-19: the roles of the health belief model and political party affiliation. *Psychol Health Med.* (2022) 27:379–88. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2021.19 21229

54. Milligan MA, Hoyt DL, Gold AK, Hiserodt M, Otto MW. COVID-19 vaccine acceptance: influential roles of political party and religiosity. *Psychol Health Med.* (2021) 27:1907–1917. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2021.1969026

55. Gratz KL, Richmond JR, Woods SE, Dixon-Gordon KL, Scamaldo KM, Rose JP, et al. Adherence to Social Distancing Guidelines Throughout the COVID-19 Pandemic: the roles of pseudoscientific beliefs, trust, political party affiliation, and risk perceptions. *Ann Behav Med.* (2021) 55:399–412. doi: 10.1093/abm/ kaab024

56. Bilewicz M, Soral W. The Politics of Vaccine Hesitancy: An Ideological Dual-Process Approach. *Soc Psychol Personal Sci.* (2021) 13:1080–1089. doi: 10.1177/19485506211055295

57. Neelon B, Mutiso F, Mueller NT, Pearce JL. Benjamin-Neelon SE. Associations between governor political affiliation and COVID-19 cases, deaths, and testing in the US. *Am J Prev Med.* (2021) 61:115–9. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2021.01.034

58. Wood D, Brumfiel G. Pro-Trump counties Now Have Far Higher COVID Death Rates. Misinformation is to Blame. NPR. (2021). Available online at: https:// www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2021/12/05/1059828993/data-vaccinemisinformation-trump-counties-covid-death-rate (accessed September 15, 2022).

59. Parker K, Horowitz J, Brown A, Fry R, Cohn D, Igielnik R. *Urban, Suburban and Rural Residents' Views on Key Social and Political Issues.* Pew Research Center (2018). Available online at: https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2018/05/22/urban-suburban-and-rural-residents-views-on-key-social-and-political-issues/ (accessed October 21, 2022).

60. James CV, Moonesinghe R, Wilson-Frederick SM, Hall JE, Penman-Aguilar A, Bouye K. Racial/ethnic health disparities among rural adults—United States, 2012–2015. *MMWR Surveill Summ.* (2017) 66:1–9. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.ss 6623a1

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Keith Elder, Mississippi College, United States

REVIEWED BY Dagmar Schaffler-schaden, Paracelsus Medical University, Austria Caress Alithia Dean, Oakland University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Lukas Richter lukas.richter@fhstp.ac.at

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 17 June 2022 ACCEPTED 27 October 2022 PUBLISHED 17 November 2022

CITATION

Richter L and Heidinger T (2022) Poverty in old age in times of COVID-19–Empirical results from Austria. *Front. Public Health* 10:972076. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.972076

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Richter and Heidinger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Poverty in old age in times of COVID-19—Empirical results from Austria

Lukas Richter^{1*} and Theresa Heidinger²

¹Department of Social Sciences, St. Pölten University of Applied Sciences, St. Pölten, Austria, ²Department of Gerontology and Health Research, Karl Landsteiner University of Health Sciences, Krems an der Donau, Lower Austria, Austria

Early in the pandemic, researchers were cautioning that COVID-19 and the associated health policy countermeasures would have an increased negative impact on groups that were already vulnerable before the pandemic. One of these groups are older people affected by poverty, who according to official figures make up 13.9% of older population in Austria. Even before the pandemic, their living situation was considered precarious. Not without reason, this group has been identified as a high-risk group of the pandemic, due to their increased likelihood of severe COVID-19 related illness and their limited monetary resources and thus lower chances of coping with the pandemic. Nevertheless, research on this group has remained sparse to date. Therefore, the aim of the study is to focus on older people (60+ years) below the poverty line and to compare them with non-poor individuals. Data from the SHARE (Survey of Health Aging and Retirement in Europe) project is used, combining data from the two SHARE Corona Surveys (summer 2020 and summer 2021) and the SHARE Corona Special Austria Survey (December 2020) to gain the most complete picture of life situation during the pandemic. Results demonstrate that older people in poverty were more likely to report poor subjective health before as well as during the pandemic yet were significantly more likely to refuse vaccination against COVID-19, despite adhering to other measures against the pandemic to the same extent as non-poor people. Restrictions in the health care system affected both groups equally and no significant differences in the frequency of social contacts could be found. However, older people below the poverty line were significantly more likely to rely on social support to obtain necessities during the pandemic and were less likely to use the internet. Together, these results point out that disadvantage exist for the older poor in some but not all areas of life during the pandemic. This paper is aimed at providing first insights into the lives of poor older persons during a taxing time and may perhaps inspire more in-depth study of this particularly understudied population.

KEYWORDS

poverty in old age, Austria, inequality, COVID-19, AROP, Altersarmut, life situation, vaccination

10.3389/fpubh.2022.972076

Introduction

From a gerontological perspective, the COVID-19 pandemic presents a serious challenge for older people, who are considered a risk group due to a higher probability of severe course of disease and risk of mortality in case of infection (1) which have been related to age-related physiological changes and a higher prevalence of comorbid conditions (2). Additionally, many of the protective measures, taken in part with reference to protecting older people (3), have had far-reaching consequences in other areas of life (4). Systematic reviews and longitudinal studies show a decline in physical activity (5), mental (6) and physical health (7) as well as an increase in social isolation and loneliness (8) due to effects of the pandemic and it's countermeasures. These studies provide vital insights on the lives of older people during the pandemic. It must be pointed out however, that older persons oftentimes are assumed to be a homogeneous group in the scientific as well as in sociopolitical discourses, despite gerontological admonitions (9, 10). In fact, older people are a most heterogeneous group that differs, among other things, due to different abilities and limitations, biographies, and lifestyles, as well as socio-economic resources and thus their possibilities for action. Taking this heterogeneity into account, it is counterintuitive to assume that older people experience the COVID-19 pandemic in a uniform way or that all are confronted with the same problems and obstacles to an equal extent - for instance Whitehead and Torossian (11) identified different patterns of stressors and joys of the pandemic dependent on socio-economic determinants of older people.

At the beginning of the pandemic, researchers cautioned that the pandemic may have a more profound negative impact on groups that had already been vulnerable prior to the pandemic (12-14), one of which being older people affected by poverty. It is easily overlooked that 16.1% of older people in the European Union and 13.9% in Austria lived below the line of poverty even before the start of the pandemic (15). Despite these early warnings from the scientific community of further precarisation in the pandemic, scientific research on the effect of low income or poverty among older people has remained limited to date, even though as Valtorta and Hanratty (16) ascertained in a literature review, older people from lower socio-economic backgrounds are less financially resilient to shocks such as illness and experience greater financial stress as a result (17, 18). There are few studies explicitly addressing poverty in old age in times of the pandemic, most findings on the situation of older persons living in poverty have to be inferred from gerontological studies which include income or wealth as a control variable. Therefore, the aim of this paper is to inform on the lives of old people living below the poverty line during the pandemic and comparing the situation faced by poor vs. non-poor older (60+) people in Austria.

Life of older people living in poverty before the pandemic

Prior to touching on the current state of research in the pandemic, we briefly present general findings on poverty in old age. It should be mentioned at the outset that even within Europe the at-risk-of-poverty rate¹ for older (the age of 65+ is usually assumed) people varies widely (20), as pension systems differ considerably due to specific national designs of multi-pillar pension systems (21). Coupled with social benefits, differences in accessibility (e.g., due to costs) or availability of health care, housing, etc., the life situation of older people living in poverty varies at the national and even local level. Inequalities connected to economic status have been empirically proven, this can be shown by the example of health status: significant correlations have been shown between frailty and material deprivation (22) as well as an increase of multimorbidity with decreasing income (23), which finally culminate in different life expectancies of the lifetime rich as compared to the lifetime poor (24). Furthermore, significantly lower life satisfaction (25, 26) and wellbeing (27) as well as a higher probability of depressive symptoms (28, 29) have also been identified among older people in poverty. Turning to exclusion processes before the pandemic: Barnes et al. (30) stated that older people in the lowest income quintile are more often excluded from financial products, material goods and experience neighborhood exclusion as well as exclusion from social relationships. This accumulation of disadvantage is particularly problematic as social support for example is highly relevant for older people living in poverty as it helps to overcome challenges in everyday life (31) caused, for instance, by health restrictions (18).

To recapitulate, it can be said that older people living in poverty are confronted with disadvantages and precarious life situations, which are either due to or influenced by their economic status. It must be said, that precarity fortunately is not universally found in the poor as many have been able to develop coping strategies. An important explanatory factor for disadvantages is the persistence of poverty among older people - at least in Austria. Even though a certain income dynamic in old age does exist, Jensen and McLaughlin (32) state that income changes often occur on a small scale. The centrality of the state pension in old age as an expression or result of earned income in the employment phase and the structure of the pension system contribute to a largely steady income situation in old age in Austria - unless of course, changes occur to the household composition or marital status. In Austria 151,000 of the 210,000 poor older people in 2019 had been previously classed as such for

¹ Eurostat defines the "at-risk-of-poverty rate" as the share of people with an equivalised disposable income below the "at-risk-of-poverty threshold," which is set at 60% of the national median equivalised disposable income after social transfers (19).

at minimum 2 years between 2016 and 2018 (33). This persistent monetary precariousness reduces the chances of coping with crises - rather persons are forced to draw on their limited material and immaterial resources. Approximately 30% of older people below the poverty line in Austria report not being able to save small amounts of money (even as low as 15 Euro) and 35% indicate a larger income as a necessary minimum income than they currently have at their disposal (Statistic on Income and Living Conditions - SILC 2019 - own calculations). In consequence unexpected expenses oftentimes cannot readily be covered and sometimes necessitate "disjunctive decisionmaking" (34). In short, unexpected expenses (e.g., medical needs, if not covered by health insurance) can only be met by cuts (18, 31) in the socio-cultural subsistence level (e.g., foregoing food or heating). The latter manifests in the nonutilization of the health care system despite actual needs (35) or reduced opportunities in care and nursing (36). In consequence, impoverished older people have a significantly lower chance of recovering from illness or disease than non-poor persons (37).

Life during the pandemic

With these findings in mind, we turn to the effect of economic status on the older persons life situation during the pandemic. As already mentioned, studies that explicitly deal with poverty in old age during the pandemic are sparse with insights being mostly based on indirect findings (i.e., studies investigating poverty and controlling for age or gerontological studies which include income or financial burden as a control variable). Although inequality or poverty research has dealt intensively with the impact of the pandemic in the overall population, for example with regard to the living situation (38–40) or probability of infection and mortality (41, 42) we focus on results from gerontological research, as these are suited to show how lives of older people in poverty and non-poor older people differ over the course of the COVID-19 pandemic.

A study carried out in the U.S. at the beginning of the pandemic, which mainly, although not exclusively, dealt with older people, was able to show that American respondents below the poverty line were significantly more likely to assume that they would not fall ill from COVID-19 (43) with the result remaining stable in a follow-up survey using the same respondents in the bivariate, but not in multivariate analysis (44). These assumptions could be shown to be false in empirical studies: early results from Sweden using microdata show a 1.35-fold higher mortality risk for older people in the lowest income tertile (45) [see also results from Belgium (46) or from Mexico (47)]. As expected, due to a higher likelihood of poor health, the mortality risk was shown to be higher among the older people below the poverty line.

Against this background, the question arises whether poor older individuals were more likely to adhere to protection

measures against COVID-19 infection. Delerue-Matos et al. (48) interpreted the reduction of some social activities which was more probable in older people with financial difficulties than those without difficulty as a precautionary behavior; in contrast focussing on hygienic prevention measures Litwin and Levinsky (49) reported a negative association with better financial capacity. The two contrasting results can be explained by the fact that older people in poverty were already less engaged in (social) activities before the pandemic and therefore may have remained less engaged during the pandemic (50). Paradoxically, this inactivity can be seen on the one hand as an advantage in the pandemic, as costly measures [such as face masks as mentioned in Portacolone et al. (51)] may thereby have been used slightly less often. A problematic finding in this context is, that vaccination hesitancy was significantly higher among older adults reporting problems making ends meet or at risk of poverty (52, 53) at least in the first year of the pandemic. On the other hand reduced (social) activities may have also brought about negative effects: older people with difficulties to make ends meet had a significantly higher probability of feeling depressed (54, 55), anxious (55) and lonely since the outbreak of the pandemic (54, 56) and more often reported decreasing mental health (57, 58).

Cross country analysis of Europe additionally shows a significant higher risk of forgoing care for fear of contracting COVID-19 and a higher risk of being unable to obtain a medical appointment in the first months of the pandemic (59-61), although accessibility differs between European countries (62). Twelve percent of older people with difficulties making ends meet postponed regular payment of bills and 27% dipped into their savings (63) - unfortunately the later study didn't compare the results with non-poor older people. It is important in this context, that, although many older people receive a relatively stable pension, they also have had to face income losses from paid employment in addition to changes in household expenditure: results from the Survey of Health, Aging and Retirement show that older people (50+) with low income more frequently reported a job loss (64) or working less hours since the outbreak of the pandemic (65).

In summary, older people with low financial means seem (more) negatively affected by the pandemic than older persons without financial difficulty. However prior results are sparse and often must be extracted from large multivariate studies which do not focus on the topic of poverty explicitly. Complicating this further is the fact that the measurement concept of poverty differs across studies with some using indicators on financial difficulties (such as the ability to make ends meet) and other opting for a categorisation of income within the used sample. This constitutes the main difficulty for not being able to relate many of these study results with the frequently used monetary poverty concept "at risk of poverty" as used in the European Union or Eurostat. This paper therefore deals explicitly with older people below the at-risk-of-poverty threshold and compares them to non-poor older persons in multiple dimensions of life during the pandemic such as health status, adherence to protective measures and perceptions and experiences related to the virus.

Methods

Sample

Survey data from three waves of the longitudinal Survey of Health, Aging and Retirement Study (SHARE) were combined in order to achieve the most accurate picture of life during the pandemic: data from the summer 2020 Corona survey 1 (SCSS20) was combined with the winter 2020 Corona survey (special survey of the Austrian study population- SCSAT20) as well as the summer 2021 Corona survey 2 (SCSS21); all the analyzed datasets are based on version 8.0.0 (66, 67). Normally, the survey is conducted via a face-to-face Computer Assisted Personal Interview (CAPI), but the pandemic forced a switch to Computer Assisted Telephone Interviews (CATI). Data at the three timepoints were therefore collected via CATI (68). Furthermore, sociodemographic information (age, household size) as well as information on household income was supplemented by importing information from wave 8 of the SHARE survey, conducted in 2019 (69, 70), or other most recently completed surveys, in order to achieve maximal explanatory power in the variables of socio-economic status. Persons were excluded from analysis if they did not take part in all three Corona surveys. A detailed coding plan for all analyzed variables can be found in Supplementary Table A.1. Additionally, only persons 60 and above were included. This threshold was chosen as this age constitutes the average retirement age in Austria.

Variables

The main variable of interest relates to whether a respondent is classed as income poor. To calculate this distinction the most recent information on the economic situation of the individual was used. Household income equivalency was computed for each participant and compared to the EU-SILC 2020 threshold for risk of poverty in Austria (15,933 Euro/year) (71). Participants were then classed as been "non-poor" or "poor." Validity of this variable is supported by a moderate correlation with the variable "being able to make ends meet" (*Cramer's* V = 0.336, p < 0.001). As the different survey waves included varying items, an overview of the variables their original and recoded manifestations as well as their survey wave of origin are presented in Supplementary Table A.1 (see Appendix).

Perception and own experience with the virus

Variables discussing the perception of the COVID-19 virus were included solely in the winter 2020 survey (SCSAT20) and covered the estimated probability of catching the virus ("How high do you estimate your risk of catching Corona within the coming 6 months?") as well as the estimated severity of COVID-19 illness ("How dangerous would a Corona infection be for you considering your health?"). Furthermore, participants were asked to inform on past COVID-19 infections in summer 2020 (SCSS20) and summer 2021 (SCSS21) – using both outcomes two groups were formed: respondents indicating a positive COVID-19 test vs. respondents without a positive COVID-19 test since the outbreak of the pandemic.

Vaccination willingness

Willingness to get vaccinated was surveyed in the winter 2020 survey ("If a vaccine against COVID-19 were available, would you get vaccinated?") as well as in the summer 2021 survey which included questions on realized COVID-19 vaccination ("Have you been vaccinated against COVID-19?") as well as ambition to get vaccinated ("Would you want to get vaccinated against COVID-19?"). Information of these two variables was combined to form the variable vaccination willingness in summer 2021 which combined persons who already had received their vaccination and those who were planning to get vaccinated to compare against those who were not willing or unsure about getting a vaccination. Attitude change toward vaccination between winter 2020 and summer 2021 was calculated and persons were classed as follows: consistently accepting of a vaccination, consistently rejecting vaccination, consistently unsure about vaccination, switch from rejection to acceptance, switch from unsure to acceptance, and switch from acceptance to rejection or uncertainty between timepoints.

Compliance

Variables describing the compliance with the pandemic mitigation measures included wearing a face mask in public, keeping a distance from others in public, washing the hands more frequently than usual and using hand sanitizer or disinfectant fluids more frequently than usual. Compliance with these measures was surveyed in summer 2020, in winter 2020 questions on the reduction of social contact were introduced ("Did you reduce your social contacts with people outside of your household at the beginning of the pandemic as well as at the time of the survey?"). Finally, the use of COVID-19 tests, a service put in place to prevent the spread of the virus, was surveyed retrospectively in the summer 2021 survey ("How many times have you been tested for COVID-19?").

Health status

Information on subjective health status was collected in summer 2020 and summer 2021. In the summer 2020 survey, subjects were asked to compare current health to the time before the outbreak of the pandemic; current health status was collected in the summer 2021 survey. Mental health was assessed in the winter 2020 survey. This included the Euro-D Scale (72) which informs on feelings of depression in late-life (range 0 "not depressed" to 12 "very depressed") as well as the GAD-7 scale by Spitzer et al. (73) which is a well-established, brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder (range 0 "no anxiety" to 21 "high anxiety"). Additionally, the use of health care services was included to capture health behavior in the pandemic. Questions on forgoing or postponing medical appointments or being denied medical appointments were asked in the summer 2020 (retrospectively spanning the in time since the outbreak) and summer 2021 (retrospectively spanning the time since summer 2020) surveys. Furthermore, visits to hospital as well as to medical practices and other medical facilities were queried in summer 2021.

Social participation

Social participation during the pandemic was also analyzed for differences between poor and non-poor persons. Contact frequency to children, grandchildren and neighbors/friends/colleagues was surveyed in summer 2021. Information on face to face but also electronic contact was collected. Social support was also queried, whereby persons were asked to report whether they had received help in obtaining necessities by children, other relatives, or friends/neighbors/colleagues.

ICT use

Finally, the use of information and communications technology (ICT) was examined according to economic status in old age. Persons were asked whether they had (a) used the internet since the outbreak of the pandemic. If they answered affirmatively, they were asked whether they had used the internet in order to (b) find information on health-related issues, (c) gain information about government services (d) manage their finances and (e) buy or sell goods/ services. Furthermore, the use of remote medical services during the pandemic was queried. All information on ICT use was collected in the summer 2021 survey, participants were asked to retrospectively report ICT use in the time since the outbreak.

Analyses

The analysis was carried out using IBM SPSS 27. Bivariate comparisons of persons classed as 'poor' compared to those

who were not classed as such on discrete variables were done by using Chi² tests (cross-sectional design). Post-hoc group comparisons were done using *z*-test with Bonferroni correction. Group comparisons on continuous variables were done via unpaired t-tests or if necessary, the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-Test. All statistical testing was done using the significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$. Effect sizes were provided for all computations. A conscious decision was made not to perform multivariate procedures as the data was collected using differing questions and introducing or omitting specific questions at the different timepoints (an overview can be found in Supplementary Table A.1 of the Appendix). Because of this, no statements on the correlation of specific dependent variables and poverty can be made, instead this paper provides comparisons between poor vs. non-poor older individuals at three separate timepoints during the pandemic and thus is primarily exploratory or descriptive in nature.

Results

Sample composition

The final sample was comprised of 2,078 persons, due to missing values the sample for analysis was reduced to 1,862 persons, whereof 18.1% were classed as income poor and \sim 10% reported at least some difficulty in making ends meet. A more detailed description of the sample structure can be found in the adjoining Table 1.

Perception and experience with the coronavirus

Poorer participants indicated a significant but marginally higher risk of becoming infected with the Coronavirus than those in the non-poor group even though most of both groups estimated to be at (very) low risk of infection: 68.5% non-poor vs. 61.9% poor participants (Table 2).

Neither the estimation of danger nor the comparison of past infection showed a statistically significant difference which can be interpreted as there being no disadvantage of low socioeconomical status on experience with the virus. For both groups the majority of participants considered COVID-19 to be a potentially serious threat to their health (53.5% nonpoor, 58.7% poor participants). The high number may not be surprising here, as the survey took place mainly in December of 2020, shortly after the second wave of infection had reached its peak in Austria when the number of hospital admissions and deaths per day were at an all-time high (74, 75). However, seen from the current perspective, the 7-day incidence remained relatively low until the summer of 2021, with the highest number of newly identified cases of confirmed SARS-CoV2 infection being \sim 560 per 100,000 inhabits (on 12.11.2020). For this reason, the low number of positive tests (aka evidenced

TABLE 1 Sample structure.

	Distribution in sample		
Gender			
Male	39.0%		
Female	61.0%		
Age			
Metric	Mean = 73.31 years, $SD = 7.97$ years		
ISCED 97			
Classification from 0 (no formal	Mean = 3.33, SD = 1.30		
education) – 6 (high formal education)			
Household size			
Metric	Mean = 1.8 persons, $SD = 0.8$ persons		
Income poor			
Yes	18.1%		
No	81.9%		
Make ends meet			
With great difficulty	1.4%		
With some difficulty	8.8%		
Fairly easily	36.3%		
Easily	53.4%		

Gender is restricted to two categories in the SHARE surveys. ISCED, International Standard Classification of Education.

infections) in the sample (5% of all respondents with no significant differences between groups) can be explained.

Vaccination willingness

The free vaccination against COVID-19 had been promoted relatively early on in Austria with the first persons receiving a vaccination as early as December 27 2020, with abundant media attention (76). However, willingness to get vaccinated in winter of 2020 remained ambiguous with 55.1% of all participants indicating that they would like to receive a vaccination while 22.6% declined wanting to get vaccinated and the remaining 22.4% indicated feeling unsure about a vaccination (Table 3).

Comparing poor vs. non-poor participants showed a stark difference with persons classed as poor indicating far more unwillingness (34.7 vs. 19.9% in non-poor persons) or uncertainty (27.6 vs. 21.2% in non-poor persons) to get vaccinated against the virus (*Cramer's* V = 0.17, p < 0.001) in the winter of 2020. By the summer of 2021 most persons were already vaccinated with 6.6% of all participants continuing to decline a vaccination and another 3.8% stating that they were unsure whether they would like to receive a vaccination in the future. Comparing poor vs. non-poor persons showed significant differences between the groups (*Cramer's* V = 0.154, p < 0.001): poor persons were significantly more likely to be vaccination rejectors (14.7 vs. 4.9% of non-poor group), for the

group of undecided persons, no difference across groups could be found.

Attitude change toward vaccinations was analyzed for the entire sample. Five percent of rejectors in winter 2020 remained rejectors in summer 2021, 1.2% of the previously uncertain remained in summer 2021 (Figure 1). Most change was seen from uncertainty in 2020 to acceptance in 2021 (20.6%) additionally 16.4% of rejectors in 2020 indicated an accepting stance toward the vaccine in 2021. Poor and non- poor persons differed significantly in attitude change (*Cramer's* V = 0.26, p < 0.001). Of the group of poor participants significantly more persons remained firm rejectors than from the non-poor (12.1 vs. 3.5%), however more rejectors also switched to acceptance from this group (22.4 vs. 15.1%). This fact is unsurprising seeing as the group of vaccination rejectors was far larger in the group of poor participants as compared to the non-poor in winter 2020. These variables show a differential picture of vaccination acceptance between the financially better off vs. poorer persons. Additionally, when subjective health was included (not shown here), 15% of old poor persons who indicated fair/poor health refused a COVID-19 vaccination in summer 2021 (Cramer's V = 0.172 p < 0.001).

Compliance

Most of the sample indicated being compliant with the pandemic mitigation measures. Comparing the groups of poor vs. non-poor participants showed no significant differences in compliance with all queried measures except for "using hand sanitizer more frequently" which was indicated less in the poor group (77% agree vs. 84.3% agree in non-poor group, *Cramer's* V = 0.075, p < 0.001). Comparing compliance to the measure "reduction of social contacts" (surveyed in summer 2020) yielded no significant difference between groups (Table 4), comparing the use of the COVID-19 tests however showed group differences: older people in poverty were twice as likely to have never used a COVID-19 test than those classed as nonpoor (12 vs. 6.6%). Another difference could be seen in the "most frequent testers" (10 or more test) where non-poor were significantly more likely (29.5 vs. 12.3%) to have used a higher number of tests (*Cramer's* V = 0.17, p < 0.01).

Reported health

Most participants reported excellent to good health prior to the pandemic, one quarter reported having fair to poor health preceding the outbreak of COVID-19 (Table 5). Current health status was rated as "good" by 38% of participants, 32% assessed their health as being "fair/ poor" in the summer of 2021. Therefore, health seemed to have declined in a number of participants, which may be explained by the effects of the crisis however, due to the extended length of the pandemic, could also show a natural decline in health with increasing age. Comparing

Risk of catching corona (SCSAT20)			Dangerous for own health (SCSAT20)			
	Non-poor	Poor		Non-poor	Poor	
(very) Low risk	68.5% _a	61.9% _b	Not/a bit dangerous	15.4% _a	16.5% _a	
Medium risk	26.5%a	30.6%a	Medium dangerous	31.1% _a	24.8% _b	
very) High risk	5.0%a	7.5%a	Quite/very dangerous	53.5%a	58.7% _a	
1	1,448	314	п	1,413	315	
Cramer's V	0.0	60	Cramer's V	0.0	54	
1	0.0	48	þ	0.0	87	

TABLE 2 Perception of and experience with the coronavirus.

Р	0.048	p	0.082
	COVID-19 infection in the pas	st until summer 2021 (SCSS20 + SCSS	521)
	Non-poor	Poor	
No	95.1% _a	95.3% _a	
Yes	4.9% _a	4.7% _a	
n	1,525	337	
Cramer's V		0.054	
p		0.082	

The lower-case letters in the tables show the result of the z-test. aa = no significant difference between poor and non-poor; ab = significant difference between categories. We recommend interpreting the z-test only if the respective chi² test in the table is significant (when p < 0.05). *Cramer's V* measures the strength of the relationship between variables, n = sample size, SCSS20 = SHARE Corona Survey – summer 2020, SCSS21 = SHARE Corona Survey – summer 2021. SCSAT20 = SHARE Corona Special Austria Survey – winter 2020.

TABLE 3 Vaccination willingness.

Vaccination willingness winter 2020 (SCSAT20)			Vaccination willingness summer 2021 (SCSS21)			
Non-poor	Poor	Total		Non-poor	Poor	Total
58.9% _a	37.7% _b	55.1%	Vaccinated, ready to be vaccinated	91.5% _a	80.8% _b	89.6%
19.9% _a	34.7% _b	22.6%	Refusal	4.9% _a	14.7% _b	6.6%
21.2% _a	27.6% _b	22.4%	Unsure	3.6% _a	4.5% _a	3.8%
1,524	337	1,861	n	1,522	334	1,856
	0.171		Cramer's V		0.154	
	< 0.001		p		< 0.001	
	Non-poor 58.9% _a 19.9% _a 21.2% _a	Non-poor Poor 58.9%a 37.7%b 19.9%a 34.7%b 21.2%a 27.6%b 1,524 337 0.171	Non-poor Poor Total 58.9%a 37.7%b 55.1% 19.9%a 34.7%b 22.6% 21.2%a 27.6%b 22.4% 1,524 337 1,861 0.171	Non-poor Poor Total 58.9%a 37.7%b 55.1% Vaccinated, ready to be vaccinated 19.9%a 34.7%b 22.6% Refusal 21.2%a 27.6%b 22.4% Unsure 1,524 337 1,861 n 0.171 Cramer's V	Non-poor Poor Total Non-poor 58.9%a 37.7%b 55.1% Vaccinated, ready to be vaccinated 91.5%a 19.9%a 34.7%b 22.6% Refusal 4.9%a 21.2%a 27.6%b 22.4% Unsure 3.6%a 1,524 337 1,861 n 1,522 0.171 Cramer's V Cramer's V Cramer's V	Non-poor Poor Total Non-poor Poor 58.9%a 37.7%b 55.1% Vaccinated, ready to be vaccinated 91.5%a 80.8%b 19.9%a 34.7%b 22.6% Refusal 4.9%a 14.7%b 21.2%a 27.6%b 22.4% Unsure 3.6%a 4.5%a 1,524 337 1,861 n 1,522 334 0.171 Cramer's V 0.154

The lower-case letters in the tables show the result of the z-test. aa = no significant difference between poor and non-poor; ab = significant difference between categories. We recommend interpreting the z-test only if the respective chi² test in the table is significant (when p < 0.05). *Cramer's V* measures the strength of the relationship between variables, n = sample size, SCSAT20 = SHARE Corona Special Austria Survey- winter 2020, SCSS21 = SHARE Corona Survey - summer 2021.

the two groups showed a disadvantage for poor older people before and during the pandemic. Persons classed in this category were significantly less likely to assess their current health as "excellent/very good" (21 vs. 35%) and were more likely to report "fair/poor" health (36%–23% in non-poor group) prior to the outbreak (*Cramer's* V = 0.141, p < 0.001). They were also more likely to report fair/poor health in the pandemic (summer 2021) with 41% as compared to 30% (*Cramer's* V = 0.010, p < 0.001).

Mental health was approximated with information on depression (Euro-D) (76) and anxiety (GAD-7) (77). Using the cut-off for the Euro-D scale used in the majority of SHARE studies (<4 "not depressed," 4–12 "case of depression"), 72% of all participants were classified as "not depressed" during the

pandemic. Comparison of the two groups showed a significantly higher mean among the income poor (2.06) vs. the nonpoor group (1.80). Since statistical requirements for parametric testing were not fulfilled, a Mann–Whitney-*U*-test was carried out to test statistical significance. This showed a small but significant difference between poor vs. non-poor persons: U =223,434.000, p < 0.001, r = 0.089. In addition, most participants report few symptoms of anxiety: Using the GAD-7 scoring system 85% of the sample were classed as having "no or minimal anxiety," 13% could be classed as having "slight anxiety." Comparing both groups, a small effect (*Cramer's V* = 0.086, p< 0.001) can be stated: significant more older people above the poverty line reported "no or minimal anxiety" (86 vs. 78%).



Health care utilization

Examining limitations to the health care services during the pandemic showed that older people could partly not make use of health services (data taken from the summer 2020 survey): 14% of all participants reported forgoing, 27% postponing treatment due to COVID-19 and 5% reported having been denied an appointment. In the 2021 summer survey, the number of participants reporting health care difficulties was lower: 8% forwent an appointment, 11% postponed an appointment and 3% were denied an appointment in the second year of the pandemic. In addition, 28% of the sample were treated in hospital over the course of the pandemic, 82% confirmed having gone to a doctors practice or another medical facility outside of a hospital. Since there were no significant differences between poor/non-poor persons in any of the tested variables the corresponding Supplementary Table A.2 has been moved to the Appendix. In short, limitations in health care use were independent of economic status in Austria among the older population.

Social contact and support

Information on social contacts is summarized in the Appendix as well (Supplementary Table A.3), as no significant differences between the groups were found in this block of variables. Most participants reported having had face to face contact with children (69%), grandchildren (53%) or friends/neighbors/colleagues (59%) at least once a week in summer 2021. Electronic contact was found to be even

higher with 87% of all participants with children reportedly having electronic contact with them at least once a week. Friends/neighbors/ colleagues were the second most frequent contact group – 75% reported a contact frequency of once a week or higher with this group. Social contact (face to face and electronically) did not differ significantly between poor and non-poor older persons in Austria.

Focussing on social support, 42% of the sample reported having been helped by their children, 15% reportedly leaned on friends/neighbors of colleagues for help obtaining necessities in the pandemic, 8% were helped by other relatives. Differences between poor and non-poor could be seen in the data (Table 6), whereby older people below the poverty line were more likely to receive support from children (49.4 vs. 39.4% non-poor, *Cramer's V* = 0.078, p < 0.05) and other relatives (14.9 vs. 7.7% non-poor, *Cramer's V* = 0.10, p < 0.001), social support by friends/neighbors/ colleagues did not differ according to economic status.

ICT use

Fifty-six percent of all participants reported using the internet, however, with significant differences between the two groups as shown in Table 7 (*Cramer's V* = 0.175, p < 0.001). Only 37.2% of older people in poverty use the Internet, indicating a significant digital gap which persisted during the pandemic.

It should be noted that the next results refer only to people who reported using the internet in both groups (see n in

Summer 2020 (SCSS20)	Wore a face mask in public			Kept distance from others in public			
		Non-poor	Poor		Non-poor	Poor	
	Always	72.0% _a	74.7% _a	Always	80.5% _a	80.1% _a	
	Often	22.7% _a	18.2% _a	Often	16.8% _a	15.2%a	
	Sometimes	4.8%a	5.7%a	Sometimes	2.2%a	4.4%b	
	Never	0.4% _a	1.4% _a	Never	0.5% _a	0.3% _a	
	n	1,433	296	n	1,432	296	
	Cramer's V	0.0	62	Cramer's V	0.0)53	
	P	0.03	85	P	0.1	181	
	Washe	ed hands more th	an usual	Hand	sanitizer or disinfe	ection more than usual	
		Non-poor	Poor		Non-poor	Poor	
	Yes	89.4% _a	86.1% _a	yes	84.3% _a	77.0% _b	
	No	10.6%a	13.9% _a	по	15.7% _a	23.0%b	
	n	1,525	337	n	1,525	335	
	Cramer's V	0.04	41	Cramer's V	0.0)75	
	Р	0.0	74	Р	0.0	001	
Vinter 2020 (SCSAT20)				Currently red	uce your social con	tacts	
]	Non-poor	Poor	
		Yes			94.9% _a	92.6% _a	
		No			5.1% _a	7.4% _a	
		п			1,521	337	
		Cramer's V				0.040	
		Р				0.086	
Summer 2021 (SCSS21)			Number of times tested for COVID-19				
				1	Non-poor	Poor	
		Not at all			6.6% _a	12.0% _b	
		Only once			7.6% _a	13.5% _b	
		2–5 times			36.2% _a	38.7% _a	
		6–10 times			20.0%a	23.4%a	
		More than	10 times		29.5%a	12.3%b	
		n			1,522	333	
		Cramer's V				0.17	
		Р				< 0.001	

TABLE 4 Compliance.

The lower-case letters in the tables show the result of the z-test. aa = no significant difference between poor and non-poor; ab = significant difference between categories. We recommend interpreting the z-test only if the respective chi² test in the table is significant (when p < 0.05). *Cramer's V* measures the strength of the relationship between variables, n = sample size, SCSS20 = SHARE Corona Survey – summer 2020, SCSAT20 = SHARE Corona Special Austria Survey- winter 2020, SCSS21 = SHARE Corona Survey – summer 2021.

Table 7). Findings revealed that poor and non-poor old internet users differed significantly in use of the internet particularly for the purpose of "managing finances": 58.6% of non-poor users acknowledge using the internet for this purpose while only 49.2% of all income poor users do (*Cramer's V* = 0.061, p = 0.048). Similarly, the latter group were less likely to acknowledge

using the internet "to buy/sell goods or services" (41.9 vs. 53.7%, *Cramer's* V = 0.077, p = 0.014). Although no significant differences were found, it is interesting to note that only about 30% of users report using the Internet for health-related issues, which, in light of the pandemic, seems quite low. In addition, all older respondents (see *n* in Table 7) were asked whether they

Subjective health before the outbreak (SCSS20)			Subjectiv	Subjective health in summer 2021 (SCSS21)			
	Non-poor	Poor	Total		Non-poor	Poor	Total
Excellent/very good	35.1% _a	20.8% _b	32.5%	Excellent/very good	31.9% _a	22.0% _b	30.1%
Good	42.2%a	43.3%a	42.4%	Good	38.4%a	37.1%a	38.1%
Fair/poor	22.7% _a	35.9% _b	25.1%	Fair/poor	29.8% _a	40.9% _b	31.8%
n	1,525	337	1,862	п	1,525	337	1,862
Cramer's V		0.141		Cramer's V		0.104	
p		< 0.001		P		< 0.001	

TABLE 5 Reported health.

The lower-case letters in the tables show the result of the z-test. aa = no significant difference between poor and non-poor; ab = significant difference between categories. We recommend interpreting the z-test only if the respective chi² test in the table is significant (when p < 0.05). *Cramer's V* measures the strength of the relationship between variables, n = sample size, SCSS20 = SHARE Corona Survey – summer 2020, SCSS21 = SHARE Corona Survey – summer 2021.

TABLE 6 Social support.

Help received from own children (SCSSS21)			Help received from other relatives (SCSSS21)		
	Non-poor	Poor		Non-poor	Poor
Yes	39.4% _a	49.4% _b	Yes	7.7% _a	14.9% _b
No	60.6% _a	50.6% _b	No	92.3% _a	85.1% _b
1	1,399	310	n	1,453	322
Cramer's V	V 0.078		Cramer's V	0.0)97
5	0.001		р	<0	.001

	Help received from helghbors	Thends/colleagues (SC	.33321)
	Non-poor		Poor
Yes	14.2% _a		16.8% _a
No	85.8% _a		83.2% _a
n	1,494		333
Cramer's V		0.029	
Þ		0.221	

The lower-case letters in the tables show the result of the z-test, aa = no significant difference between poor and non-poor; ab = significant difference between categories. We recommend interpreting the z-test only if the respective chi² test in the table is significant (when p < 0.05). *Cramer's V* measures the strength of the relationship between variables, n = sample size, SCSS21 = SHARE Corona Survey – summer 2021.

used telemedical services during the pandemic. Telemedical care was used sparsely in the sample - 8% of all participants stated that they had used remote medical services at least once during the pandemic. A comparison between both groups yielded no significant result.

Discussion

The results show that there are no significant or marginal differences in perception of and experience with the coronavirus between older people below and above the poverty threshold. A possible explanation could be that the topic of COVID-19 was strongly represented in the Austrian media with older people, especially at the beginning, being generally addressed as

a risk group. This is likely to have influenced the perceptions of the respondents independent of economic status. Looking at experience with the virus, it is noteworthy that positive testing (evidenced COVID-19 infections) was found not to differ between the two groups indicating similar familiarity with the virus. This result however, does not inform on possible differences in mortality or severity of disease, which has been shown to differ between the poor and non-poor in other studies (45–47). Additionally, it must be kept in mind that older people living in poverty reported having undergone significantly less COVID-19 testing up until summer 2021. It is therefore quite possible that some respondents had experienced an undetected infection (without or with mild symptoms). All in all, the result of the different test frequencies provides food for thought: even though Austria has established a generous (and largely free)

TABLE 7 ICT use.

	Usage of internet since the outbreak (SCSS21)			
	Non-poor		Poor	
Yes	59.8% _a		37.2% _b	
No	40.2%a		62.8% _b	
n	1,525		336	
Cramer's V		0.175		
p		<0.001		

c •

. .1

health-related issues (SCSS21)			0	government servic		
	Non-poor	Poor		Non-poor	Poor	
Yes	69.3% _a	72.0% _a	Yes	39.1% _a	31.5% _a	
No	30.7% _a	28.0% _a	No	60.9% _a	68.5% _a	
n	912	125	п	908	124	
Cramer's V	0.019		Cramer's V	0.	051	
P	0.538		р	().1	

Usage of internet in order to manage finances (SCSS21)

Usage of internet in order to find information on

Usage of internet in order to buy/sell goods/services (SCSS21)

Usage of internet in order to gain information about

1 (000001)

.1

				(000021)		
	Non-poor	Poor		Non-poor	Poor	
Yes	58.6%a	49.2%b	Yes	53.7% _a	41.9% _b	
No	41.4% _a	50.8% _b	No	46.3% _a	58.1% _b	
п	912	124	п	912	124	
Cramer's V	0.061		Cramer's V	0	.077	
Р	0.048		P	0	.014	
			Remote med	ical consultation (S	SCSS21)	

Non-poor		Poor
7.9% _a		6.3% _a
92.1%a		93.8% _a
1,525		336
	0.024	
	0.31	
	7.9% _a 92.1% _a	7.9% _a 92.1% _a 1,525 0.024

The lower-case letters in the tables show the result of the z-test. aa = no significant difference between poor and non-poor; ab = significant difference between categories. We recommend interpreting the z-test only if the respective chi² test in the table is significant (when p < 0.05). *Cramer's V* measures the strength of the relationship between variables, n = sample size, SCSS21 = SHARE Corona Survey – summer 2021.

testing programme, persons living in poverty seem to have been less attainable and or persuadable for this effort. This may be an artifact carried over from the early days of the pandemic when testing was more difficult to access and (often) costly (75, 77). However more research is needed to determine whether the differences are due to continuing barriers to access for older people in poverty. Results regarding compliance show that most of older population strictly adhered to the mitigation measures set forth to decrease viral spread with no differences between older persons of higher or lower social status. With respect to the use of hand sanitizer or disinfectant minor significant differences could be seen with poor persons reporting lower adherence to this mitigation measure. A probable explanation for this difference could be the disparate financial means of the groups: persons living below the poverty threshold may not be able to afford sanitizer or disinfectant products.

Examining health in the pandemic, we see that older people in poverty show a less favorable state of health (55, 56). This is

evident in the pre-existing differences on subjective health which also extend into the pandemic. Although the effect size decreased from 0.141 to 0.104, the difference in share of persons classed in the lowest category (fair/poor health) when comparing poor to non-poor persons remained largely unchanged (before outbreak 13.2% points difference vs. 11.1% points difference in summer 2021). A deterioration of subjective health has nevertheless been apparent in the pandemic (78). Although age effects are likely to play a role here, pandemic effects cannot be ignored, which have been shown in previous studies (79-81). Considering mental health indicators, only minor (albeit significant) results emerge with poorer persons exhibiting higher likelihood to report symptoms of depression. No significant differences were found between groups in the limitations to health services of older people in Austria. In other words, cancellations and refusals of appointments were independent of the older person's financial background. This sets Austria apart from other countries in Europe, where the use of the health care system was shown to be more dependent on socioeconomic inequalities (60, 62). This is probably due to the fact that the health care system in Austria remains relatively egalitarian: according to official figures, 99.9% of the Austrian resident population is covered by health insurance (82).

Another positive aspect to note is that older people in Austria were able to stay in touch with their children, grandchildren or friends and neighbors during the pandemic, regardless of income poverty. This may be somewhat surprising in the case of electronic contact, when considering the ongoing costs of use. However, compared to many other European countries, the cost of mobile telephony in Austria is relatively low and usually comes with minute credit² which may have helped poorer individuals stay in touch with their social network. However, older people below the at-risk-of-poverty threshold were significantly more likely to depend on social support to obtain necessities since outbreak, this finding is consistent with previous findings on low income populations (31, 83). Older people reported primarily relying on their children during the pandemic, this is consistent with findings of as studies conducted prior to the pandemic. In addition, the aged poor were significantly more likely to be helped by other relatives, whereas this was not the case with friends. Interestingly, the support of friends plays a considerable role at 15%. All in all, it can be said that the pandemic with its mitigation measures meant that a not unremarkable proportion of older people were dependent on external support. The question must be asked whether the lost autonomy can be regained, especially since a definite end to the pandemic is not foreseeable at this time. An improvement was achieved with the roll out of the vaccination however, which lead to a significant reduction in severe courses of illness and hospital admissions.

Most importantly, these results show how important social support is for older people below the poverty line (31, 34), as low financial means limit alternative actions (be it ordering goods or using a car when public transport appears unsafe due to the pandemic). Further analyses are necessary to examine the ways older persons without social support coped with the challenges posed by the pandemic.

The results regarding ICT use continue the pre-pandemic trends (84) showing that internet use among older and poor people significantly lags behind the non-poor older persons also in the time of the pandemic. Although the pandemic must be seen as a strong driver of change, limited financial resources are likely to continue preventing increased ICT utilization (84, 85). Another possibility is that older people living in poverty have not yet recognized the benefits of ICT use, although it must be pointed out that financial resources also counteract simple trial and error. This is underlined by the finding that the few poor respondents who report using the internet during the pandemic use it in much the same way as the non-poor, except for managing finances and online shopping, which seems logical. In summary, the results should draw attention to the importance of continuing to study ICT use among older people with low income or below the poverty line as a lag in these groups continues to exist. We must therefore ask how ICT can be brought closer to these vulnerable groups as the risk of digital exclusion is not only a possibility but a reality in many of their members.

Conclusion

Overall, the analysis of the life situation of older people below the poverty threshold in Austria presents both light and shadows. In some areas, older people in poverty were able to keep pace with non-poor people during the pandemic, such as in the upkeep of social contact and access to the health care system. It should also be emphasized that older people were very compliant with the majority of mitigation measures. However, findings on vaccination willingness paint a concerning picture with older people below the poverty line being more likely to refuse vaccination despite, as seen in some cases higher health risks due to poorer general health (86). Although many older people had chosen to become vaccinated by summer 2021, continuing deficits were noted among the poor group. As a recent study shows, differences in Austria along financial resources persist even after controlling for education and other factors (53). A mix of factors is probably responsible for this: although vaccinations are free of charge in Austria, they are and have been accessible to varying degrees (e.g., distance to the nearest vaccination center, etc.). From an economic perspective, these varying accessibilities are also associated with varying costs (e.g., travel costs) and may have disadvantaged older people in poverty. In addition, willingness to vaccinate is influenced, for

² Contracts with 1,000 free minutes and several GB of data volume per month are available for 10 euros or even less in Austria.

example, by trust in government or proneness to conspiracy theories. Further work is needed to examine how poorer people (and thus often groups with lower education) can be more appropriately addressed and motivated for health measures. Furthermore, central differences between poor and non-poor older persons were evident in the need for social support and ICT use. In both areas, the limited financial resources - which on the one hand necessitate support and on the other hand limit ICT use - are relevant factors.

Finally, some limitations of the study must be acknowledged, the most prominent being that the description of the life situation of the older income poor during the pandemic only included particular variables and therefore cannot be seen as a thorough description of said life situation. Variables were selected according to previous scientific findings as well as data availability. Furthermore, information used for analyses were collected in three sperate surveys (aka three timepoints), limiting generalizability across the span of the pandemic. As the surveys included different variables at different timepoints, no longitudinal analyses could be calculated. Whenever possible (inclusion of the same variable at two timepoints into the survey), change coefficients were calculated to inform on temporal differences (see vaccination willingness). Additionally, this study forwent multivariate analyses overall opting to describe the life situation of the sampled persons as well as comparing poor vs. non-poor individuals in a rich country such as Austria. Against this background, it must also be pointed out that a causal direction between the tested variables and the group membership (poor/non-poor) cannot be assumed apart from logical and theoretical considerations. For example, poor health may have led to poverty and poverty may have led to poor health - studies point to both phenomena or an interaction. For the present study, however, the relevant result is whether there are differences between the groups.

The aim of this study was to give first insights into a sparsely studied field in order to incite interest and possibly initiate further research into better understanding the living situation of a group that is, at least partially, considered vulnerable, during the pandemic and beyond. Study results showed, that while vulnerability of income poor older persons can be seen in a certain share, particularly in some areas, not every poor person was affected by precarisation during the pandemic with many people having learned to cope with limited resources and overcoming crises. However, this should not distract us from continuing to address the issue of old age poverty and to intervene in a socio-politically supportive manner.

Data availability statement

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This paper uses data from SHARE Waves 8 and 9

(https://doi.org/10.6103/share.w8.800, https://doi.org/10.6103/ share.w8ca.800, and https://doi.org/10.6103/share.w9ca.800), see Börsch-Supan et al. (70) for methodological details.

Author contributions

LR was the primary author of this manuscript. Analysis and writing were done in collaboration with TH. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Under the terms of the Austria Open Access Publishing Framework Agreement, the St. Pölten University of Applied Sciences (Fachhochschule St. Pölten/FH St. Pölten) will cover Article Publishing Fees for eligible authors in any of the Frontiers journals. The SHARE data collection has been funded by the European Commission, DG RTD through FP5 (QLK6-CT-2001-00360), FP6 (SHARE-I3: RII-CT-2006-062193, COMPARE: CIT5-CT-2005-028857, and SHARELIFE: CIT4-CT-2006-028812), FP7 (SHARE-PREP: GA No. 211909, SHARE-LEAP: GA No. 227822, SHARE M4: GA No. 261982, and DASISH: GA No. 283646), and Horizon 2020 (SHARE-DEV3: GA No. 676536, SHARE-COHESION: GA No. 870628, SERISS: GA No. 654221, and SSHOC: GA No. 823782) and by the DG Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion through VS 2015/0195, VS 2016/0135, VS 2018/0285, VS 2019/0332, and VS 2020/0313. Additional funding from the German Ministry of Education and Research, the Max Planck Society for the Advancement of Science, the United States National Institute on Aging (U01 AG09740-13S2, P01 AG005842, P01 AG08291, P30_AG12815, R21_AG025169, Y1-AG-4553-01, IAG_BSR06-11, OGHA_04-064, HHSN271201300071C, and RAG052527A) and from various national funding sources is gratefully acknowledged (see www.share-project.org).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those

of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Zhang J, Dong X, Liu G, Gao Y. Risk and protective factors for COVID-19 morbidity, severity, and mortality. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* (2022) 1–18. doi: 10.1007/s12016-022-08921-5

2. Péterfi A, Mészáros Á, Szarvas Z, Pénzes M, Fekete M, Fehér Á, et al. Comorbidities and increased mortality of COVID-19 among the elderly: a systematic review. *Physiol Int.* (2022) 109:163–176. doi: 10.1556/2060.2022.00206

3. Aaron Guest M, Peckham A. Identifying better communication practices for older adults during the next pandemic: recommendations from the COVID-19 experience. *J Commun Healthc.* (2022) 15:11-4. doi:10.1080/17538068.2022.2029104

4. Richter L, Heidinger T. Caught between two fronts: successful aging in the time of COVID-19. *Work Older People.* (2020) 24:273-80. doi: 10.1108/WWOP-06-2020-0031

5. Wunsch K, Kienberger K, Niessner C. Changes in physical activity patterns due to the covid-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:2250. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19042250

 Zaninotto P, Iob E, Demakakos P, Steptoe A. Immediate and longerterm changes in the mental health and well-being of older adults in England during the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2022) 79:151. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.3749

7. Richardson DL, Tallis J, Duncan MJ, Clarke ND, Myers TD. The ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on perceived physical activity, physical function and mood of older adults in the U.K: a follow-up study (March 2020–June 2021). *Exp Gerontol.* (2022) 165:111838. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2022. 111838

8. Su Y, Rao W, Li M, Caron G, D'Arcy C, Meng X. Prevalence of loneliness and social isolation among older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2022) 1–13. doi: 10.1017/S1041610222000199

9. Ayalon L, Chasteen A, Diehl M, Levy BR, Neupert SD, Rothermund K, et al. Aging in times of the COVID-19 pandemic: avoiding ageism and fostering intergenerational solidarity. *J Gerontol Ser B.* (2021) 76:e49–52. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbaa051

10. Seifert A. Older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic - forgotten and stigmatized? Int Soc Work. (2021) 64:275-8. doi: 10.1177/0020872820969779

11. Whitehead BR, Torossian E. Older adults' experience of the COVID-19 pandemic: a mixed-methods analysis of stresses and joys. *Gerontologist.* (2021) 61:36–47. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnaa126

12. Cohen MA, Tavares J. Who are the most at-risk older adults in the COVID-19 era? It's not just those in nursing homes. *J Aging Soc Policy*. (2020) 32:380–6. doi: 10.1080/08959420.2020.1764310

13. Cox C. Older adults and Covid 19: social justice, disparities, and social work practice. *J Gerontol Soc Work*. (2020) 63:611–24. doi: 10.1080/01634372.2020.1808141

14. Lee YJ. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on vulnerable older adults in the United States. J Gerontol Soc Work. (2020) 63:559-64. doi: 10.1080/01634372.2020.1777240

15. Eurostat. *At-risk-of-poverty rate of older people by detailed age group - EU-SILC survey*. Data Brows. (2022). Available online at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/product/view/ILC_LI02 (accessed January 25, 2020).

16. Valtorta NK, Hanratty B. Socioeconomic variation in the financial consequences of ill health for older people with chronic diseases: a systematic review. *Maturitas.* (2013) 74:313–33. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2013. 01.015

17. Berthoud R, Blekesaune M, Hancock R. Ageing, income and living standards: evidence from the British Household Panel Survey. *Ageing Soc.* (2009) 29:1105–22. doi: 10.1017/S0144686X09008605

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.972076/full#supplementary-material

18. Kotecha M, Arthur S, Coutinho S. Understanding the Relationship between Pensioner Poverty and Material Deprivation. London: Department for Work and Pensions. (2013). Available online at: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/ system/uploads/attachment_data/file/197675/rrep827.pdf (accessed January 25, 2022).

19. Eurostat. *Glossary:At-risk-of-poverty rate*. Stat Explain. (2022). Available online at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Glossary:At-risk-of-poverty_rate (accessed January 25, 2022).

20. Ilmakunnas I. The magnitude and direction of changes in age-specific atrisk-of-poverty rates: an analysis of patterns of poverty trends in Europe in the mid-2010s. J Int Comp Soc Policy. (2022) 38, 71–91. doi: 10.1017/ics.2022.2

21. Ebbinghaus B. Inequalities and poverty risks in old age across Europe: the double-edged income effect of pension systems. *Soc Policy Adm.* (2021) 55:440–55. doi: 10.1111/spol.12683

22. Stolz E, Mayerl H, Waxenegger A, Freidl W. Explaining the impact of poverty on old-age frailty in Europe: material, psychosocial and behavioural factors. *Eur J Public Health.* (2017) 27:1003–9. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckx079

23. Lamson Lin S. Intersectionality and inequalities in medical risk for severe COVID-19 in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. *Gerontologist.* (2020) 61:e245. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnaa143

24. Haan P, Kemptner D, Lüthen H. The rising longevity gap by lifetime earnings – distributional implications for the pension system. *J Econ Ageing*. (2020) 17:100199. doi: 10.1016/j.jecoa.2019.100199

25. Cheung KC-K, Chou K-L. Poverty, deprivation and life satisfaction among Hong Kong older persons. *Ageing Soc.* (2019) 39:703–21. doi: 10.1017/S0144686X17001143

26. Hajek A, König H-H. Does the beginning and the end of income poverty affect psychosocial factors among middle-aged and older adults? Findings based on nationally representative longitudinal data. *Aging Ment Health*. (2020) 25, 906–912. doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1732001

27. Arendt JN. Income and "outcomes" for elderly: do the poor have a poorer life? Soc Indic Res. (2005) 70:327–47. doi: 10.1007/s11205-004-1545-8

28. Franzese F. Slipping into poverty: effects on mental and physical health. In: Börsch-Supan A, Kneip T, Litwin H, Myck M, Weber G, editors. *Ageing in Europe - Supporting Policies for an Inclusive Society*. Berlin, München, Boston: DE GRUYTER. (2015). Available online at: https://www.degruyter.com/view/books/ 9783110444414/9783110444414-014/9783110444414-014.xml (accessed August 1, 2018).

29. Lee S, Chou K. Assessing the relative contribution of social exclusion, income-poverty, and financial strain on depressive symptoms among older people in Hong Kong. *Aging Ment Health.* (2019) 23:1487–95. doi:10.1080/13607863.2018.1506740

30. Barnes M, Blom A, Cox K, Lessof C. The social exclusion of older people: evidence from the first wave of the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA): Final Report. London: Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2006). Available online at: http://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/3551 (accessed January 25, 2022).

31. Dominy N, Kempson E. Understanding Older People's Experiences of Poverty and Material Deprivation. London: Department for Work and Pensions. (2006).

32. Jensen L, Mclaughlin DK. The escape from poverty among rural and urban elders. *Gerontologist.* (1997) 37:462–8. doi: 10.1093/geront/37.4.462

33. Statistik Austria. Tabellenband EU-SILC 2019 - Einkommen, Armut und Lebensbedingungen. [List of tables EU-SILC 2019- Income, Poverty and Living Condition]. Vienna: Statistik Austria (2020).

34. Richter L. Lebenslagen unter Altersarmut: Über die Lebenssituation von als arm und alt Adressierten Menschen. [Life Situation in Old Age Poverty: About the Living Situation of People Addressed as Poor and Old]. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden (2019). doi: 10.1007/978-3-658-27622-5 35. Butler SS. Low-income, rural elders' perceptions of financial security and health care costs. J Poverty. (2006) 10:25–43. doi: 10.1300/J134v10n01_02

36. Argyle E. Poverty, disability and the role of older carers. *Disabil Soc.* (2001) 16:585–95. doi: 10.1080/09687590120059559

37. Adena M, Myck M. Poverty and transitions in health in later life. *Soc Sci Med.* (2014) 116:202–10. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.06.045

38. Belot M, Choi S, Tripodi E, Broek-Altenburg E. van den, Jamison JC, Papageorge NW. Unequal consequences of Covid 19: representative evidence from six countries. *Rev Econ Househ.* (2021) 19:769–83. doi:10.1007/s11150-021-09560-z

39. Choi K, Giridharan N, Cartmell A, Lum D, Signal L, Puloka V, et al. Life during lockdown: a qualitative study of low-income New Zealanders' experience during the COVID-19 pandemic. *N Z Med J.* (2021) 134:52–67.

40. Krumer-Nevo M, Refaeli T. COVID-19: a poverty-aware perspective. Am J Orthopsychiatry. (2021) 91:423–31. doi: 10.1037/ort0000566

41. Brakefield WS, Olusanya OA, White B, Shaban-Nejad A. Social determinants and indicators of COVID-19 among marginalized communities: a scientific review and call to action for pandemic response and recovery. *Disaster Med Public Health Prep.* (2022) 1–28. doi: 10.1017/dmp.2022.104

42. Khanijahani A, Iezadi S, Gholipour K, Azami-Aghdash S, Naghibi D. A systematic review of racial/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities in COVID-19. *Int J Equity Health.* (2021) 20:248. doi: 10.1186/s12939-021-01582-4

43. Wolf MS, Serper M, Opsasnick L, O'Conor RM, Curtis L, Benavente JY, et al. Awareness, attitudes, and actions related to COVID-19 among adults with chronic conditions at the onset of the US outbreak: a cross-sectional survey. *Ann Intern Med.* (2020) 173:100–9. doi: 10.7326/M20-1239

44. Bailey SC, Serper M, Opsasnick L, Persell SD, O'Conor R, Curtis LM, et al. Changes in COVID-19 knowledge, beliefs, behaviors, and preparedness among high-risk adults from the onset to the acceleration phase of the US outbreak. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2020) 35:3285–92. doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-05980-2

45. Drefahl S, Wallace M, Mussino E, Ardhya S, Kolk M, Branden M, et al. A population-based cohort study of socio-demographic risk factors for COVID-19 deaths in Sweden. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:1–17. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18926-3

46. Decoster A, Minten T, Spinnewijn J. The income gradient in mortality during the covid-19 crisis: evidence from Belgium. *J Econ Inequal.* (2021) 19:551–70. doi: 10.1007/s10888-021-09505-7

47. Arceo-Gomez EO, Campos-Vazquez RM, Esquivel G, Alcaraz E, Martinez LA, Lopez NG. The income gradient in COVID-19 mortality and hospitalisation: an observational study with social security administrative records in Mexico. *Lancet Reg Health - Am.* (2022) 6:100115. doi: 10.1016/j.lana.2021. 100115

48. Matos AD, de Paiva AF, Cunha C, Voss G. Precautionary behaviours of individuals with multimorbidity during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Eur J Ageing*. (2022) 1–9. doi: 10.1007/s10433-021-00632-8. [Epub ahead of print].

49. Litwin H, Levinsky M. Network-exposure severity and self-protective behaviors: the case of COVID-19. *Innov Aging.* (2021) 5:igab015. doi: 10.1093/geroni/igab015

50. Angelova M. Factors affection the active life of people aged 50 and over in Europe before and during the Pandemic. *Rev Inclusiones.* (2021) 8:62–90.

51. Portacolone E, Chodos A, Halpern J, Covinsky KE, Keiser S, Fung J, et al. The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the lived experience of diverse older adults living alone with cognitive impairment. *Gerontologist.* (2021) 61:251–61. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnaa201

52. Bergmann M, Hannemann T-V, Bethmann A, Schumacher AT. Determinants of SARS-CoV-2 vaccinations in the 50+ population. *SSRN Electron J*. (2021) 1–19. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3938975

53. Richter L, Schreml S, Heidinger T. Ready for vaccination? COVID-19 vaccination willingness of older people in Austria. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:859024. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.859024

54. Atzendorf J, Gruber S. Depression and loneliness of older adults in Europe and Israel after the first wave of covid-19. *Eur J Ageing*. (2021) 1–13. doi: 10.1007/s10433-021-00640-8

55. Litwin H, Levinsky M. Social networks and mental health change in older adults after the Covid-19 outbreak. *Aging Ment Health*. (2021) 1–6. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2021.1902468

56. Richter L, Heidinger T. Entwicklung des Einsamkeitsempfindens im Alter in Zeiten von COVID-19 - Gruppenvergleiche älterer Menschen vor und in der ersten Welle der Pandemie. [Development of subjective loneliness in old age during COVID-19- group comparisons of older persons prior to and during the first wave of the pandemic]. *Österr Z Soziol.* (2021) 46, 443–455. doi: 10.1007/s11614-021-00461-0

57. Heidinger T, Richter L. Examining the impact of COVID-19 experiences on reported psychological burden increase in older persons: the effects of illness severity and social proximity. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:884729. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.884729

58. Mendez-Lopez A, Stuckler D, McKee M, Semenza JC, Lazarus JV. The mental health crisis during the COVID-19 pandemic in older adults and the role of physical distancing interventions and social protection measures in 26 European countries. *SSM - Popul Health*. (2022) 17:101017. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.101017

59. Arnault L, Jusot F, Renaud T. Economic vulnerability and unmet healthcare needs among the population aged 50 + years during the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe. *Eur J Ageing.* (2021) 1–15. doi: 10.1007/s10433-021-00645-3

60. Smolić Š, Cipin I, Medimurec P. Access to healthcare for people aged 50+ in Europe during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Eur J Ageing*. (2021) 1-17. doi: 10.1007/s10433-021-00631-9

61. Tavares AI. Older Europeans' experience of unmet health care during the COVID-19 pandemic (first wave). *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2022) 22:182. doi: 10.1186/s12913-022-07563-9

62. González-Touya M, Stoyanova A, Urbanos-Garrido RM. COVID-19 and unmet healthcare needs of older people: did inequity arise in Europe? *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:9177. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18179177

63. Chłoń-Domińczak A, Holzer-Zelazewska D. Economic stress of people 50 + in European countries in the Covid-19 pandemic–do country policies matter? *Eur J Ageing*, (2021) 1–20. doi: 10.1007/s10433-021-00662-2

64. Ksinan G, Bobák M, Pikhart H, Ksinan AJ. Job loss and lower healthcare utilisation due to COVID-19 among older adults across 27 European countries. J Epidemiol Community Health. (2021) 75:1078–83. doi: 10.1136/jech-2021-216715

65. Tavares AI. Working more and less hours, profiling old European workers during first wave of COVID-19 pandemic, evidence from SHARE data. *MPRA Pap. No. 111263*. (2021) 28. Available online at: https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/111263/ (accessed January 25, 2022).

66. Börsch-Supan A. Survey of health, ageing and retirement in Europe (SHARE) wave 8. COVID-19 survey 1 release version: 800 SHARE-ERIC. *Data set.* (2022). doi: 10.6103/SHARE.W8CA.800

67. Börsch-Supan A. Survey of health, ageing and retirement in Europe (SHARE) wave 9. COVID-19 survey 2 release version: 800 SHARE-ERIC. *Data set.* (2022). doi: 10.6103/SHARE.W9CA.800

68. Scherpenzeel A, Axt K, Bergmann M, Douhou S, Oepen A, Sand G, et al. Collecting survey data among the 50+ population during the COVID-19 outbreak: the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE). *Surv Res Methods*. (2020) 14:217–221. doi: 10.18148/SRM/2020.V14I2.7738

69. Börsch-Supan A. Survey of health, ageing and retirement in Europe (SHARE) wave 8. Release version: 800 SHARE-ERIC. *Data Set.* (2022). doi: 10.6103/SHARE.W8.800

70. Börsch-Supan A, Brandt M, Hunkler C, Kneip T, Korbmacher J, Malter F, et al. Data resource profile: the survey of health, ageing and retirement in Europe (SHARE). *Int J Epidemiol.* (2013) 42:992–1001. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt088

71. Statistik Austria. Tabellenband EU-SILC 2020 - Einkommen, Armut und Lebensbedingungen [List of tables EU-SILC 2010- Income, Poverty and Living Condition]. Vienna: Statistik Austria (2021).

72. Prince MJ, Reischies F, Beekman AT, Fuhrer R, Jonker C, Kivela SL, et al. Development of the EURO-D scale–a European, Union initiative to compare symptoms of depression in 14 European centres. *Br J Psychiatry*. (1999) 174:330–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.174.4.330

73. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med.* (2006) 166:1092. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092

74. AGES. Current Situation. AGES COVID19 Dashboard. (2022). Available online at: https://covid19-dashboard.ages.at/?l=en (accessed June 16, 2022).

75. Pollak M, Kowarz N, Partheymüller J. Chronology of the Corona Crisis in Austria - Part 4: Lockdowns, Mass Testing and the Launch of the Vaccination Campaign. Corona-Blog Univ Vienna (2021). Available online at: https:// viecer.univie.ac.at/en/projects-and-cooperations/austrian-corona-panel-project/ corona-blog/corona-blog-beitraege/blog100-en/ (accessed December 6, 2021).

76. Pollak M, Kowarz N, Partheymüller J. Chronology of the Corona Crisis in Austria - Part 5: Third Wave, Regional Lockdowns and the Vaccination Campaign. Corona-Blog Univ Vienna (2021). Available online at: https://viecer.univie.ac. at/en/projects-and-cooperations/austrian-corona-panel-project/corona-blog/ corona-blog-beitraege/blog112-en/ [Accessed December 6, 2021]

77. Pollak M, Kowarz N, Partheymüller J. Chronology of the Corona Crisis in Austria - Part 6: A "Summer Like it Used to be", the Way to the Fourth Wave, Another Lockdown and a Vaccine Mandate. Corona-Blog Univ Vienna (2021). Available online at: https://viecer.univie.ac.at/en/projects-and-cooperations/ austrian-corona-panel-project/corona-blog/corona-blog-beitraege/blog135-en/ (accessed February 2, 2022).

78. Zhong S, Huisingh-Scheetz M, Huang ES. Delayed medical care and its perceived health impact among US older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2022) 70:1620-8. doi: 10.1111/jgs. 17805

79. Ohlbrecht H, Jellen J. Unequal tensions: the effects of the coronavirus pandemic in light of subjective health and social inequality dimensions in Germany. *Eur Soc.* (2021) 23:S905-22. doi: 10.1080/14616696.2020.18 52440

80. Eder SJ, Steyrl D, Stefanczyk MM, Pieniak M, Martínez Molina J, Pešout O, et al. Predicting fear and perceived health during the COVID-19 pandemic using machine learning: a cross-national longitudinal study. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0247997. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0247997

81. Colucci E, Nadeau S, Higgins J, Kehayia E, Poldma T, Saj A, et al. COVID-19 lockdowns' effects on the quality of life, perceived health and well-being of healthy elderly individuals: a longitudinal comparison of pre-lockdown and lockdown states of well-being. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* (2022) 99:104606. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2021.104606

82. Bachner F, Bobek J, Habimana K, Ladurner J, Lepuschutz L, Ostermann H, et al. Austria: Health system review. *Health Syst Transit.* (2018) 20:1-254.

83. Bassoli E, Brugiavini A, Ferrari I. Care provision at the time of the covid-19: who suffers most? SSRN Electron J. (2021) 1–26. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3807762

84. Friemel TN, Frey T, Seifert A. Multidimensional digital inequalities. Weizenbaum J Digit Soc. (2021) 1 doi: 10.34669/wi.wjds/1.1.3

85. Seifert A, Charness N. Digital transformation of everyday lives of older Swiss adults: use of and attitudes toward current and future digital services. *Eur J Ageing.* (2022) 19:729–39. doi: 10.1007/s10433-021-00677-9

86. Aw J, Seng JJB, Seah SSY, Low LL. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy—a scoping review of literature in high-income countries. *Vaccines*. (2021) 9:900. doi: 10.3390/vaccines9080900

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Echu Liu, Saint Louis University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Joana R. Zózimo, Pordata, FFMS; SOCIUS/ISEG, Portugal Cheng-Chia Chen, University of Illinois at Springfield, United States Kathleen Gillespie, Saint Louis University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Tino Plümecke tino.pluemecke@soziologie.uni-freiburg.de

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 12 July 2022 ACCEPTED 31 October 2022 PUBLISHED 18 November 2022

CITATION

Plümecke T, Mikosch H, Mohrenberg S, Supik L, Bartram I, Ellebrecht N, zur Nieden A, Schnieder L, Schönberger H, Schulze-Marmeling C and Gutzeit A (2022) Differences in mortality in Switzerland by citizenship during the first and second COVID-19 waves: Analysis of death statistics. *Front. Public Health* 10:992122. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.992122

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Plümecke, Mikosch, Mohrenberg, Supik, Bartram, Ellebrecht, zur Nieden, Schnieder, Schönberger, Schulze-Marmeling and Gutzeit. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the **Creative Commons Attribution License** (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Differences in mortality in Switzerland by citizenship during the first and second COVID-19 waves: Analysis of death statistics

Tino Plümecke^{1,2*}, Heiner Mikosch³, Steffen Mohrenberg⁴, Linda Supik⁵, Isabelle Bartram¹, Nils Ellebrecht¹, Andrea zur Nieden¹, Laura Schnieder¹, Hannah Schönberger¹, Charlotte Schulze-Marmeling¹ and Andreas Gutzeit²

¹Independent Research Group SoSciBio, Institute of Sociology, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ²Department of Health Sciences and Medicine, University of Lucerne, Lucerne, Switzerland, ³KOF Swiss Economic Institute, ETH Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland, ⁴Demo SCOPE AG, Adligenswil, Switzerland, ⁵Otto Suhr Institute of Political Science, Free University of Berlin, Berlin, Germany

Background: Early in the COVID-19 pandemic, it became apparent that members of marginalized populations and immigrants were also at risk of being hospitalized and dying more frequently from COVID-19. To examine how the pandemic affected underserved and marginalized populations, we analyzed data on changes in the number of deaths among people with and without Swiss citizenship during the first and second SARS-CoV-2 waves.

Method: We analyzed the annual number of deaths from the Swiss Federal Statistical Office from 2015 to 2020, and weekly data from January 2020 to May 2021 on deaths of permanent residents with and without Swiss citizenship, and we differentiated the data through subdivision into age groups.

Results: People without Swiss citizenship show a higher increase in the number of deaths in 2020 than those who were Swiss citizens. The increase in deaths compared to the previous year was almost twice as high for people without Swiss citizenship (21.8%) as for those with it (11.4%). The breakdown by age group indicates that among people between the ages of 64 and 75, those without Swiss citizenship exhibited an increase in mortality (21.6%) that was four times higher than that for people with Swiss citizenship (4.7%).

Conclusion: This study confirms that a highly specialized health care system, as is found in Switzerland, does not sufficiently guarantee that all parts of the population will be equally protected in a health crisis such as COVID-19.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, migration, Switzerland, death rates, vulnerable groups, age groups

10.3389/fpubh.2022.992122

Introduction

COVID-19 has caused a sizeable global outbreak and a fundamental public health issue but the pandemic did not affect everyone to the same extent. Early on, it became apparent in many studies that various socioeconomic factors cause people to be affected very differently (1–8).

A recent systematic review of 52 studies found moderate to solid evidence that in the US, especially African American/Black and Hispanic populations experience a disproportionate burden of SARS-CoV-2 infections and COVID-19-related mortality (9). However, analyses in the United States always face the problem that the health care system is considered particularly expensive and inefficient and that, unlike in most European countries, there is no guaranteed care for the entire population (10).

Switzerland is considered to have one of the best health care systems in the world, which reaches the entire population in essentially the same manner and scope (11). A major study has shown that Switzerland ranks among the top three healthcare systems in the world regarding access to healthcare and successful treatment of diseases (12). The life expectancy in Switzerland (82.8 years) is the highest in Europe after Iceland, and healthy life expectancy is several years above the EU average (11).

Despite this good health care system, it is difficult in Switzerland to uncover differences in the impact of COVID-19 on marginalized populations and to compare them to data from the United States or other countries. This is because data on hospitalized patients' ethnic or racial identity or immigrant status are not recorded regularly in Switzerland. However, in Switzerland death data can be linked to citizenship data, allowing a subdivision into people with and without Swiss passports. People without Swiss citizenship make up about 26% of the permanent resident population in Switzerland (27% of men and 24% of women), with Italy, Germany, Portugal, France, Kosovo, Spain, and Turkey as the main countries of origin. They include immigrants and—due to high naturalization barriers the children and grandchildren of immigrants who are born in Switzerland.

If one considers only the effectiveness of the health care system, the risk of dying from COVID-19 in Switzerland could be expected to be better managed than in countries without guaranteed access to health care services. Furthermore, differences between various segments of the population in infection rates, hospitalization, and mortality should be small. To address how the pandemic affects the two population segments of people with and without Swiss citizenship, we compared the increase in the number of deaths in the first year of the pandemic. With the data provided by the death statistics, only limited conclusions can be drawn about the effects of social inequality and discrimination on health variables. Nevertheless, the differences in the number of deaths make it possible to spotlight one area of concern.

Methods

We analyzed the death statistics of people with and without Swiss citizenship provided by the Swiss Federal Statistical Office. We used weekly deaths from January 2020 to May 2021 (the first two infection waves where general vaccination was not yet available) as well as annual death numbers from 2015 to 2020 (1969-2020 in the Supplementary material), disaggregated by age groups and citizenship status. The number of deaths without Swiss citizenship is calculated as the difference between the total number of deaths and the number of deaths with Swiss citizenship. Hence, the deaths among those without Swiss citizenship also include persons who died without any citizenship (stateless persons) and deaths with status "unknown" regarding their citizenship. Swiss authorities record data such as citizenship for all residents of Switzerland who have a residence title based on the Ordinance on Civil Status of the Federal Council (Zivilstandsverordnung). In the event of a death, these data are checked by the authorities, which makes it practically impossible-according to the Swiss Federal Statistical Officefor a person with Swiss citizenship to be listed in the official death statistics with the citizenship status "unknown." In 2019 and 2020, only one deceased person was "stateless," and 27 (2019) and 73 (2020) deaths were recorded as "unknown" regarding their citizenship status.

In this article, we first analyze the total number of deaths (13) in a year-to-year comparison (see also Supplementary Figure 1) as well as weekly data from 2020 and the first weeks of 2021 relative to the death data in 2019. Second, we compare the increase in mortality (deaths per 100,000 persons) for all deaths in 2020 and for the age groups for both segments of the



population (14). This separate mortality calculation is necessary, since in Switzerland demographic changes are mainly caused by younger people added through births and immigration, while it is mainly older people who die from COVID-19. In order to compare the increase in mortality in different age groups, we show the difference between the measured value for 2020 relative to the mortality that would have been expected for 2020 based on the extrapolation of a citizenship and age group-specific linear trend (using linear regression, the confidence level was set at 95%). We consider that a linear trend based on the last 5 years describes relatively well the development of the observed data of the number of deaths for most age groups, both with and without Swiss citizenship. Therefore, we believe that a linear trend can also provide a realistic expected value for 2020 and offers an advantage over the repeatedly used method of setting the expected mortality for a year to the average mortality of the previous 5 years. In particular, the method we use accounts for the group-specific trends in mortality over time, which is especially relevant for age groups without Swiss citizenship, as can be inferred from Supplementary Figure 1.

Results

Increase in the number of deaths in 2020

In 2020, the overall number of deaths in Switzerland increased by 12.4% compared to the previous year. The increase in deaths in the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic is thus

the highest annual increase since 1918 and more than double the highest annual growth measured in the previous 10 years (15). Of course, the number of deaths varies yearly, mainly due to severe influenza epidemics or heat waves during the summer. Nevertheless, the number of 8,415 additional deaths in 2020 compared to the previous year is close to the 9,294 COVID-19-related deaths documented by the Federal Statistical Office (16).

Figure 1 shows the differences in the increase in the number of deaths among people with Swiss and without Swiss citizenship. In 2020, the increase in the total number of deaths compared to the previous year was almost twice as high for people without Swiss citizenship (21.8%) as for those who were Swiss citizenship grew by 0.45% compared to 1.6% for people without. However, a correction to the population growth should be made with caution (see material and methods section).

It is essential to note that among people living in Switzerland without Swiss citizenship, the proportion of elderly people is lower than among people with Swiss citizenship. For example, people aged 80 and older account for 6.4% of people with a Swiss passport, while the proportion of those without Swiss citizenship among those 80 or older is only 2.1% (17). This means that one should suppose that during the pandemic under otherwise identical conditions—the increase in deaths among persons with Swiss citizenship would exceed that among persons without Swiss citizenship. Our data analysis, by contrast, shows the opposite.



Differences during waves of COVID-19

Figure 2 compares the weekly data on deaths in the two population segments during the first and second infection waves. The level differences are plotted based on the ratio to the respective number of deaths in 2019. The number of deaths of people without Swiss citizenship showed a greater increase in both waves than for those with Swiss citizenship.

At the peaks of both waves, about twice as many people without Swiss citizenship died than would have been expected based on the data before the COVID-19 pandemic (first wave: week 14, 245 deaths; second wave: week 52, 269 deaths). In addition, the number of people who died without Swiss citizenship increased in the first wave even before the increase in deaths in the total population.

Different mortalities across age groups

Further differences in the increase become apparent in Figure 3, where we differentiate by age group. The figure shows, for each population segment, the percentage increase in mortality in 2020 relative to the mortality that would have been expected for 2020 based on the extrapolation of a linear trend over the years 2015-2019 (see Supplementary material for more details). The upper bound of the confidence interval for each group is shown in the small bars as the percent change in the distribution relative to the mean expected number of deaths for 2020. As can be seen from the figure, this percentage change is positive for all considered groups, i.e., the mortality in the year 2020 shows a greater increase than expected in all groups. For persons without Swiss citizenship, however, the increase is much more substantial than for those with Swiss citizenship (+17.5 vs. +12.3%).

When distinguishing between the three age groups of those over 64, further differences between persons with and without Swiss citizenship become visible. For example, the actual number of deaths in 2020 in the age group of 65-74 without Swiss citizenship is significantly higher than the expected mortality for the year 2020 and more than four times higher than for persons with Swiss citizenship (+21.6 vs. +4.7%). This is noteworthy because, among persons with Swiss citizenship, an increase was observed particularly in the age group of 75-84 years old and even more strongly in the age group of 85 years and older. Not presented are the years from 0 to 44, since they are not regarded as highly affected by increased mortality associated with COVID-19 (19). In our analysis, these age groups (0-44) also do not differ significantly in mortality. In addition, because of the small number of deaths in these age groups, the results that can be obtained have only limited statistical validity. These difficulties with small death numbers are still visible in the graph for the age group of 45-64. This group's annual number of deaths is comparatively low, while the variations are relatively high. Nevertheless, there was an increase of mortality in both groups in 2020 compared to the mortality expected in the same year.

Discussion

This analysis of the death statistics during the first two waves of the COVID-19 pandemic revealed a substantial increase



respective group-specific linear trend over the years 2015-2019. Data source: Death statistics of the Swiss Federal Statistical Office (18).

in the number of deaths among people with and without Swiss citizenship in Switzerland. Among people with Swiss citizenship, an increase in deaths of 11.4% over the year before the pandemic was recorded, whereas the proportion of deaths among people without Swiss citizenship increased by 21.8% in the same period. Further differentiation-by weekly data and by age groups-shows that the increased number of deaths among people without Swiss citizenship started 1 week before that of people with Swiss citizenship and shows a much larger increase compared to the year before. In addition, the comparison of the mortality of age groups shows a particular vulnerability of people without Swiss citizenship in early retirement age (65-74). However, our findings from the analysis of the death statistics of people with and without Swiss citizenship should not be understood as limited to these segments of the population. Instead, they point to a broader area of concern.

Numerous studies worldwide have shown an increased risk for members of marginalized and underserved communities and immigrants dying from COVID-19 compared to the majority population. This is usually interpreted as resulting from inadequate medical care in the respective health systems, a generally high level of inequality in society that also leads to differing comorbidities, and differences in the level of trust in the medical profession and the health sector in general (9, 20, 21). The question that arises is whether these reasons are also the cause of the differences in mortality between people with and without Swiss citizenship presented in this study.

The Swiss healthcare system is considered to be one of the best healthcare systems in the world, with a high degree of specialization and low-threshold access to health care for the entire population (12). It is necessary to mention that the cost of this effort is relatively high. In 2019, Switzerland invested 11.3% of gross domestic product (GDP) in healthcare spending as a percentage of national income, whereas the average of all OECD states was nearly 9% in the same year (22). Despite the high quality of the health care infrastructure, our analyses show that the COVID-19 pandemic affected people without Swiss citizenship substantially more.

Based on international research on health inequities, differences in the increases in deaths associated with citizenship can be expected to correlate with socioeconomic disparities (23, 24). Income and wealth inequalities, household crowding, occupations with direct customer contact or in labor-intensive or physically demanding areas, and reliance on public transport may all increase the risk of infection (25, 26). Socioeconomic status also correlates with a higher risk for a wide range of diseases, such as hypertension, hyperlipidemia, brain ischemia, alcoholism, nicotine addiction, and obesity (27) that are also associated with severe disease progression in COVID-19 infection. In addition, economic segregation and experiences of discrimination can significantly affect health status and disease risks (28–30).

The measured disparity in the effect of COVID-19 on different segments of the population in Switzerland can be attributed to comparatively high inequality in income, besides the factors just mentioned. Mortality from COVID-19 is closely related to income inequality, for example, as quantified in the Gini coefficient (31, 32). When considering economic equality, Switzerland performs relatively poorly compared to other European countries. The prevailing paradigm that highly specialized medicine and high total spending lead to better care for the entire population must be questioned in light of the data presented here. Social equity may be more relevant than the degree of specialization and overall health care spending (33). This means that in addition to classic risk factors, social determinants should be considered as the more relevant factors for improving and maintaining health (34). We advocate for closer cooperation between public health and prevention efforts, in addition to a good health care infrastructure, as the most vulnerable parts of society will again be at high risk of insufficient protection and support during future health crises.

Limitations

The health data available in Switzerland to date do not adequately reflect the impact of social inequality and structural disadvantages, with the consequence that health inequity and support needs may be difficult to identify. It should be noted that it is not the possession or non-possession of citizenship that causes the differences in death rates. It is not migrants *per se* who die at a higher rate; what is significant here is that social and health inequalities have different effects on different segments of the population.

To determine health inequity, the differentiation between people with or without Swiss citizenship can only serve as an imprecise proxy for identifying severe mortality differences in underserved or marginalized populations. It is also important to note that we cannot use the relatively crude category of citizenship to represent diversity within individual population groups. This is because people with a migration history who hold a Swiss passport yet may be particularly vulnerable are not included in the category of people without Swiss citizenship, while foreign professionals and managers, for example, are included, even though most of them do not face increased vulnerability. In the future, it would be useful to look at how socioeconomic differences affect mortality. Unfortunately, this data is not systematically recorded in death statistics in Switzerland.

In addition, only data on all deaths, that is, without differentiating causes of death, are available for Switzerland. Therefore, processes unrelated to the COVID-19 pandemic but affecting different segments of the population differently could also play a role. The Swiss Federal Office of Public Health (FOPH) has made an additional record of COVID-19-related deaths that also asks about the "nationality" of those who died. However, in 51% of the cases, no information was given on nationality. A valid analysis is therefore not possible with these incomplete data.

Additional possible limitations exist in our choice of the prediction method for the expected number of deaths in the respective age groups and the possession and non-possession of Swiss citizenship. The 5-year period chosen for the trend calculation seemed to us to be the most reasonable based on the developments since 1969 (see Supplementary material). Since the differences between predicted and observed values were highly significant, the choice of a slightly different period (e.g., 3 or 7 years) would also not produce serious deviations in the results.

Biases in the analysis are also to be expected due to the different age structures of the population segments with or without Swiss citizenship. The healthy migrant effect can also lead to a potential distortion. However, both of these factors are likely to result in a lower number of deaths among persons without Swiss citizenship, and thus to have reduced rather than increased the differences in death rates presented here.

Conclusion

Switzerland is considered to have one of the highest quality healthcare systems in the world, providing a broad access to health care for the whole population. Nonetheless, in the first two COVID-19 waves, there were significant differences in the death rates of people with or without Swiss citizenship. In addition to the known risk factors of age and preexisting conditions, further vulnerabilities are also associated with an increased risk and indicate a corresponding need for social protection and support. To reduce health risks and increased mortality in the future, socioeconomic risks and social equity should be given much greater consideration than they are now.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

Material preparation, data collection, and analysis were performed by TP, LS, SM, and HM. Those responsible for the first draft of the manuscript and editing the manuscript were TP and AG. The data analysis and presentation were conducted by TP, SM, HM, HS, NE, and CS-M. All authors contributed to the study conception and design, commented multiple times on previous manuscript versions, read, and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The Independent Research Group SoSciBio was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research, FKZ 01GP1790.

Acknowledgments

We thank Prof. Dr. Rolf Weitkunat, Erwin K. Wüest, and Stefan Baumgartner from the Swiss Federal Statistical Office for kindly providing the unpublished data. Furthermore, we thank Christiane Stöter, Felix Fink, Paula Steinbrenner, Dr. Thomas Kemper, Dr. Ulrike Klöppel, Dr. Anne-Kathrin Will, Dr. Christoph Schiessl, Dr. Mehmet Ata, Fabio Ghelli, Dr. Céline Miani Vial, Dr. Odile Sauzet, and Prof. Dr. Oliver Razum for their support as well as very helpful comments to previous versions of the manuscript. Finally, we would also like to thank the three reviewers who provided helpful comments and suggestions for improvement.

Conflict of interest

Author SM was employed by Demo SCOPE AG.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.992122/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

Observed annual number of deaths from 1969 to 2020 broken down by citizenship status and age groups (1969–2020 in black, blue dots for 2020). For each of the subpopulations, we calculated a linear trend based on the annual numbers of deaths from 2015 to 2019 (red lines) and, by extrapolating this trend 1 year into future, a mean expected

number of deaths for 2020 (red dots) together with a probability range (vertical red lines). For the calculation of the probability range for each subpopulation, we assume that the number of deaths of each year t (e.g., the year 2020) follows a Poisson distribution, with the rate parameter being equal to the respective mean expected death number

 of deaths of each year t
 distribution, respectively. It should be note

 bution, with the rate
 different ranges of observed y-values across

 can expected death number
 scaling and a shortening of the y-axes wa

References

1. Millett GA, Jones AT, Benkeser D, Baral S, Mercer L, Beyrer C, et al. Assessing differential impacts of COVID-19 on black communities. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2020) 47:37–44. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2020.05.003

2. McCarthy N. COVID-19's Devastating Impact on African Americans. (2020). Available online at: https://www.statista.com/chart/21364/african-americanshare-of-covid-19-deaths/ (accessed July 4, 2022).

3. White C, Nafilyan V. Coronavirus (COVID-19) Related Deaths by Ethnic Group, England and Wales. (2020). Available online at: https:// www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ deaths/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/ 2march2020to10april2020/pdf (accessed July 4, 2022).

4. Mude W, Oguoma VM, Nyanhanda T, Mwanri L, Njue C. Racial disparities in COVID-19 pandemic cases, hospitalisations, and deaths: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Glob Health.* (2021) 11:5015. doi: 10.7189/jogh.11.05015

5. Smith MD, Wesselbaum D. COVID-19, food insecurity, and migration. *J Nutr.* (2020) 150:2855–8. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxaa270

6. Pereira M, Oliveira AM. Poverty and food insecurity may increase as the threat of COVID-19 spreads. *Public Health Nutr.* (2020) 23:3236-40. doi: 10.1017/S1368980020003493

7. Platt L, Warwick R. Are Some Ethnic Groups More Vulnerable to COVID-19 than Others? London: The Institute for Fiscal Studies (2020).

8. Laurencin CT, McClinton A. The COVID-19 Pandemic: a call to action to identify and address racial and ethnic disparities. *J Racial Ethn Health Disparities*. (2020) 7:398–402. doi: 10.1007/s40615-020-00756-0

9. Mackey K, Ayers CK, Kondo KK, Saha S, Advani SM, Young S, et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in COVID-19-related infections, hospitalizations, and deaths a systematic review. *Ann Intern Med.* (2021) 174:362–73. doi: 10.7326/M20-6306

10. Chernew M, Mintz H. Administrative expenses in the US health care system: why so high? *JAMA*. (2021) 326:1679–80. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.17318

11. Pietro C, de Camenzind P, Sturny I, Crivelli L, Edwards-Garavoglia S, Spranger Anne, et al. Switzerland: health system review. *Health Syst Transit.* (2015) 17:1-288.

12. GBD 2015. Healthcare access and quality index based on mortality from causes amenable to personal health care in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2015: a novel analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:231-66. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30818-8

13. Federal Statistical Office. *Deaths by Year, Sex, Citizenship, Marital status and Age*. (2022). Available online at: https://www.pxweb.bfs.admin.ch/pxweb/en/px-x-0102020206_103/px-x-0102020206_103/px-x-0102020206_103.px/ (accessed July 4, 2022).

14. Federal Statistical Office. Permanent and Non permanent Resident Population by Year, Canton, Population type, Residence permit, Sex, Age class and Citizenship. (2022). Available online at: https://www.pxweb.bfs.admin.ch/pxweb/en/px-x-0103010000_101/px-x-0103010000_101/px-x-0103010000_101.px/ (accessed July 4, 2022).

15. Staub K, Panczak R, Matthes KL, Floris J, Berlin C, Junker C, et al. Pandemic Excess Mortality in Spain, Sweden, and Switzerland During the COVID-19 Pandemic in 2020 was at its Highest Since 1918. (2021). Available online at: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.08.12.21261825v1 (accessed July 4, 2022)

16. Federal Statistical Office. *Specific Causes of Death* (2020). Available online at: https://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/en/home/statistics/health/state-health/ mortality-causes-death/specific.html (accessed October 24, 2022).

17. Federal Statistical Office. Age Structure of the Population by Gender and Nationality – 2020 (Altersaufbau der Bevölkerung nach Geschlecht und Staatsangehörigkeit – 2020). (2021). Available online at: https://www.bfs.admin. ch/bfs/en/home/statistics/population/effectif-change.assetdetail.18264537.html (accessed July 4, 2022). for year t. The lower bound and the upper bound of the probability range are the 2.5th percentile and the 97.5th percentile of the Poisson distribution, respectively. It should be noted that due to the very different ranges of observed y-values across the subfigures, different scaling and a shortening of the y-axes was necessary.

18. Federal Statistical Office. *Deaths by Sex, Citizenship, Marital Status and Age* - 1969-2020. (2021). Available online at: https://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/en/home/ statistics/population/births-deaths/deaths.assetdetail.17664400.html (accessed July 4, 2022).

19. Federal Statistical Office. Laboratory-Confirmed Deaths, Switzerland and Liechtenstein. (2022). Available online at: https://www.covid19.admin.ch/en/epidemiologic/death/d/demography?time=total&sum=cumulative&epiRelDev=abs&demoView=graph (accessed July 5, 2022).

20. Benjamins MR, Silva A, Saiyed NS, Maio FG. Comparison of allcause mortality rates and inequities between black and white populations across the 30 most populous US cities. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2021) 4:e2032086. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.32086

21. Mena GE, Martinez PP, Mahmud AS, Marquet PA, Buckee CO, Santillana M. Socioeconomic status determines COVID-19 incidence and related mortality in Santiago, Chile. *Science*. (2021) 372:eabg5298. doi: 10.1126/science.abg5298

22. OECD. Health Expenditure in Relation to GDP. (2022). Available online at: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/ae3016b9-en/ 1/3/7/1/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/ae3016b9-en&_csp_= ca413da5d44587bc56446341952c275e&itemIGO=oecd&itemContentType= book (accessed July 4, 2022).

23. Riou J, Panczak R, Althaus CL, Junker C, Perisa D, Schneider K, et al. Socioeconomic position and the COVID-19 care cascade from testing to mortality in Switzerland: a population-based analysis. *Lancet Public Health.* (2021) 6:e683–91. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(21)00160-2

24. Hoebel J, Michalski N, Diercke M, Hamouda O, Wahrendorf M, Dragano N, et al. Emerging socio-economic disparities in COVID-19-related deaths during the second pandemic wave in Germany. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2021) 113:344–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2021.10.037

25. Shah M, Sachdeva M, Dodiuk-Gad RP. COVID-19 and racial disparities. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2020) 83:e35. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2020.04.046

26. zur Nieden A, Fink F, Schön I. Corona, Biopolitik und Rassismus. *GID* (2020) 254:16–18.

27. Marshall JJ, Wang Y, Crichton S, McKevitt C, Rudd AG, Wolfe CD. The effects of socioeconomic status on stroke risk and outcomes. *Lancet Neurol.* (2015) 14:1206–18. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00200-8

28. Krieger N, Waterman PD, Chen JT. COVID-19 and overall mortality inequities in the surge in death rates by zip code characteristics: Massachusetts, January 1 to May 19, 2020. *Am J Public Health.* (2020) 110:1850–2. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305913

29. Bailey ZD, Krieger N, Agénor M, Graves J, Linos N, Bassett MT. Structural racism and health inequities in the USA: evidence and interventions. *Lancet*. (2017) 389:1453–63. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30569-X

30. Aikins MA, Bremberger T, Aikins JK, Gyamerah D, Yildirim-Caliman D. Afrozensus 2020: Perspektiven, Anti-Schwarze Rassismuserfahrungen und Engagement Schwarzer, afrikanischer und afrodiasporischer Menschen in Deutschland. Berlin (2021). Available online at: www.afrozensus.de (accessed November 9, 2022).

31. Sepulveda ER, Brooker A-S. Income inequality and COVID-19 mortality: age-stratified analysis of 22 OECD countries. *SSM Popul Health.* (2021) 16:100904. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.100904

32. Su D, Alshehri K, Pagán J. Income inequality and the disease burden of COVID-19: survival analysis of data from 74 countries. *Prev Med Rep.* (2022) 27:101828. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2022.101828

33. Parolin Z, Lee EK. The role of poverty and racial discrimination in exacerbating the health consequences of COVID-19. *Lancet Reg Health Am.* (2022) 7:100178. doi: 10.1016/j.lana.2021.100178

34. Hahn RA, Truman BI. Education improves public health and promotes health equity. Int J Health Serv. (2015) 45:657–78. doi: 10.1177/0020731415585986

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Echu Liu, Saint Louis University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Lanlan Chu, St. Catherine University, United States Hsin-Ling Hsieh, Northern Michigan University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Jessica Y. Islam jessica.islam@moffitt.org

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 17 May 2022 ACCEPTED 02 November 2022 PUBLISHED 22 November 2022

CITATION

Islam JY, Turner K, Saeb H, Powell M, Dean LT and Camacho-Rivera M (2022) Financial hardship and mental health among cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic: An analysis of the US COVID-19 Household Impact Survey. *Front. Public Health* 10:946721.

doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.946721

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Islam, Turner, Saeb, Powell, Dean and Camacho-Rivera. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Financial hardship and mental health among cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic: An analysis of the US COVID-19 Household Impact Survey

Jessica Y. Islam^{1,2*}, Kea Turner^{2,3,4}, Huda Saeb⁵, Margaux Powell⁵, Lorraine T. Dean^{6,7} and Marlene Camacho-Rivera⁸

¹Cancer Epidemiology Program, H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center and Research Institute, Tampa, FL, United States, ²Department of Oncological Sciences, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, United States, ³Health Outcomes and Behavior Department, H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center and Research Institute, Tampa, FL, United States, ⁴Department of Gastrointestinal Oncology, H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center and Research Institute, Tampa, FL, United States, ⁵Morehouse School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, United States, ⁶Department of Epidemiology, Bloomberg School of Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁸Department of Oncology, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁸Department of Community Health Sciences, SUNY Downstate Health Sciences University, Brooklyn, NY, United States

Purpose: Our objective was to (1) identify associated characteristics of financial hardship (FH), and (2) evaluate associations of FH with mental health symptoms among cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: Using data from the nationally representative COVID-19 Impact Survey, we defined cancer survivors as those with a self-reported diagnosis of cancer (n = 854, 7.6%). We defined FH using the following question: "Based on your current financial situation, how would you pay for an unexpected \$400 expense?" Multivariable Poisson regression was used to estimate adjusted prevalence ratios (aPR) with 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) to identify associated characteristics of FH and associations of FH with mental health symptoms among cancer survivors overall and by age (18–59 years/60+ years).

Results: Forty-one percent of cancer survivors reported FH, with 58% in 18–59 and 33% in 60+ year old respondents. Compared to cancer survivors aged 60+ years, those aged 30–44 (aPR:1.74,95% CI:1.35–2.24), and 45–59 years (aPR:1.60,95% CI:1.27–1.99) were more likely to report FH. Compared to non–Hispanic(NH)–White cancer survivors, NH–Black cancer survivors had a 56% higher prevalence of FH (aPR:1.56; 95% CI: 1.23–1.97). Among 60+ years aged cancer survivors (aPR:10.70,95% CI:5.6–20.7) were more likely to experience FH compared to their NH–Black (aPR:1.80; 95% CI: 1.32–2.45) and NH–Asian cancer survivors (aPR:10.70,95% CI:5.6–20.7) were more likely to experience FH compared to their NH–White counterparts. FH was associated with feeling anxious (aPR:1.51,95% CI:1.11–2.05), depressed (aPR:1.66,95% CI:1.25–2.22), and hopeless (aPR:1.84,95% CI:1.38–2.44).

Conclusion: Minoritized communities, younger adults, and cancer survivors with low socioeconomic status had a higher burden of FH, which was associated with feelings of anxiety, depression, and hopelessness.

KEYWORDS

cancer survivors, COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, pandemic, financial hardship, mental health, depression, anxiety

Introduction

In the United States, as of November 2022, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in over one million deaths and over 97 million cases of SARS-CoV-2, the infection that leads to COVID-19, since early 2020 (1). The pandemic led to significant changes in everyday life, including behavioral changes to curb the spread of SARS-CoV-2, such as social distancing, wearing of face masks, and quarantining (2-4), particularly among adults with chronic conditions, such as cancer survivors, due to their increased risk of COVID-19 associated morbidity. In addition to these social changes, the US has experienced a significant economic impact, including the highest unemployment rates since World War II (5, 6). Almost half of US adults have reported either they or someone in their household has experienced a loss of employment or experienced a reduction in salary due to the pandemic (7). Cancer patients may be particularly vulnerable to financial hardship during the pandemic from both costs of cancer care and financial strains imposed by the pandemic. In fact, a recent study found that 50% of gynecological cancer patients treated at a hospital in New York City (NY) reported feeling more financial stress since the start of the pandemic (8).

Financial strain or hardship among cancer survivors is of particular concern given the high costs associated with cancer treatment, including survivorship care. Engagement in high quality cancer survivorship care is vital to extending survival, improving quality of life, and surveillance for recurrence detection or progression of diagnosed cancers. One of the major barriers to engagement in survivorship care is cost, specifically lack of reimbursement structures/insurance coverage for survivorship care services (9). Prior research focused on cancer costs associated with active treatment in the US demonstrate that cancer care spending is projected to grow from \$183 billion in 2015 to \$246 billion by 2030, an increase by over one-third (10). The average monthly out-of-pocket spending of patients undergoing active cancer treatment range from \$180 to \$2,600 per month in the US (11), and costs continue beyond the active treatment phase (12). In addition to high out-of-pocket spending, cancer survivors are at risk for productivity losses due to employment disruption (13).

As a consequence, cancer survivors are at risk for medical debt, bankruptcy, and financial distress (14, 15), with longterm impacts on consumer credit (16). A systematic review illustrated that approximately half of US cancer patients reported experiencing financial distress and psychologic stress during the pre-pandemic period, with 47-49% of survivors reporting some form of financial distress (17). Recent work based on the 2013-2018 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) demonstrates that cancer survivors frequently report financial worry, which was also associated with psychological distress (18). Financial hardship among cancer survivors may have been exacerbated during the COVID-19 pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic led to increased healthcare costs [e.g., COVID-related care costs (19)] and additional financial strain (e.g., pandemic-related unemployment, productivity losses, and health insurance coverage disruption) for many US adults (20). Given the extent to which the pandemic affected the US economy, research is needed to better understand how COVID-19 has affected financial hardship among cancer survivors in the US. Research during the pandemic period suggests that cancer survivors may have been disproportionately affected by rising unemployment (20) potentially leading to loss of insurance and income. Additionally, the economic impact of the pandemic on vulnerable populations of cancer survivors, specifically adolescent or young adult cancer survivors (21, 22) and those with low-income (8), has been evaluated in the pandemic period. However, to our knowledge, limited prior research (20) has been conducted nationally among a representative sample of cancer survivors to evaluate financial hardship and the potential impacts on mental health during the pandemic, particularly among older cancer survivors.

To address this gap, this study will evaluate (1) the prevalence and associated characteristics of financial hardship and (2) the association between financial hardship and self-reported mental health symptoms among younger (<60 years) and older (\geq 60 years) US cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic. Information from this study may inform future policies and interventions to address financial hardships and poor mental health among cancer survivors in the context of the ongoing public health crisis in the US.

10.3389/fpubh.2022.946721

Methods

COVID-19 impact survey

Data for these analyses were obtained from the publicly available COVID-19 Household Impact Survey, conducted by the nonpartisan and objective research organization NORC at the University of Chicago (23). The COVID-19 Household Impact Survey provides national and regional statistics about physical health, mental health, economic security, and social dynamics in the US (24). The pooled cross-sectional survey is designed to provide estimates of the US adult (ages 18 and older) household population nationwide and for 18 regional areas including 10 states (CA, CO, FL, LA, MN, MO, MT, NY, OR TX) and 8 Metropolitan Statistical Areas (Atlanta, Baltimore, Birmingham, Chicago, Cleveland, Columbus, Phoenix, Pittsburgh). For these analyses, we pooled cross-sectional national data collected during Week 1 (April 20-26, 2020), Week 2 (May 4-10, 2020), and Week 3 (May 30th-June 8th, 2020), based on data availability. Details regarding the dataset and data collection methods have been previously published (25, 26).

Study population

The COVID-19 Impact Survey was administered through the AmeriSpeak[®] panel, which is designed to be representative of the US population. The sampling frame covers ~97% of US households. The sampling strategy includes random selection of US households using area probability and address-based sampling from the NORC National Sample Frame. The sampled households were contacted by US mail, and telephone to allow for multiple modalities for survey participation (e.g., if a participant does not have internet). The surveys are conducted in English and Spanish. In households with more than one adult, only one was selected at random for the sample. The average survey response rate across weeks 1–3 was 21.8%.

Cancer survivors

We defined cancer survivors as those participants with a selfreported cancer diagnosis. Participants were asked the following question: "Has a doctor or other health care provider ever told you that you have any of the following: Diabetes; High blood pressure or hypertension; Heart disease, heart attack or stroke; Asthma; Chronic lung disease or COPD; Bronchitis or emphysema; Allergies; a Mental health condition; Cystic fibrosis; Liver disease or end-stage liver disease; Cancer; a Compromised immune system; or Overweight or obesity." We defined those who selected "Cancer" as a cancer survivor, similar to our previously published work (26).

Primary measures

Our primary measures for this analysis were financial hardship and mental health symptoms. We defined financial hardship using the following question: "Suppose you have an unexpected expense that costs \$400. Based on your current financial situation, how would you pay for this expense?" The following options were provided to respondents and they were able to select all that apply: (1) put it on my credit card and pay it off in full at the next statement; (2) put in on my credit card and pay it off over time; (3) use money currently in my checking or savings account or with cash; (4) use money from a bank loan or line of credit; (5) borrow from a friend or family member; (6) use a payday loan, deposit advance or overdraft; (7) sell something; and (8) I would not be able to pay for it right now. Respondents were categorized as experiencing financial hardship if they only chose any of the following options: put it on my credit card and pay if off over time; use money from a bank loan or line of credit; I wouldn't be able to pay for it right now; sell something; use a payday loan, deposit advance or overdraft; borrow from a friend or family member. We used this definition based on prior research conducted by the U.S. Federal Reserve in the general population (27).

Next, to evaluate mental health symptoms, participants were asked: "In the past 7 days, how often have you? (1) Felt nervous anxious or on edge, (2) Felt depressed, (3) Felt lonely, and (4) Felt hopeless about the future." Participants were able to choose from the following list of options for each mental health symptom: (1) Not at all or less than 1 day; (2) 1–2 days, (3) 3–4 days, and (4) 5–7 days. For multivariable analyses stratified by age group, we recategorized self-reported mental health symptoms to either not at all or <1 day or 1–7 days per week due to sample size concerns and to avoid small cell sizes to effectively conduct regression modeling.

Covariates

Prior studies suggest that factors such as household income and education level are associated with financial hardship among cancer survivors (28-31). Therefore, we selected covariates that have demonstrated a prior relationship with financial hardship, including: age (18-59, 60+), gender (male/female), marital status (married/living with a partner, widowed/divorced/separated, never married), race/ethnicity categories [non-Hispanic (NH) White, NH-Black, Hispanic, NH-Asian, NH-Other], education categories (no high school diploma, HS graduate or equivalent, some college, baccalaureate degree or above), household (<\$30,000;\$30,000-<\$50,000;\$50,000-<\$75,000; income \$75,000-<\$100,000;>\$100,000), population density (rural, suburban, urban), census region (Northeast, Midwest, South, West), any comorbid chronic conditions, (yes/no),

and insurance type (purchased plan/employer-sponsored /TRICARE/Medicaid/Medicare/Dually-eligible/VA/uninsured). Detailed information regarding employment status was available to delineate the following employment categories: employed in the last 7 days, retired, or not interested in working at this time, or under/unemployed due to COVID-19 or unable to find employment.

Data analyses

Descriptive statistics were summarized, by cancer survivorship status and age categories, in percentages among all respondents with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). We present the study results stratified by age group as prior research conducted in the pre-pandemic period has demonstrated that the prevalence and associated characteristics of financial hardship experienced by cancer survivors vary by age category due to social and behavioral factors (e.g., insurance status, employment status) (17, 32). To identify demographic groups that may be more likely to report financial hardship, we estimated associated characteristics of financial hardship among cancer survivors. We computed prevalence ratios with Poisson regression using robust estimation of standard errors (33-35). Potential variables for inclusion in the model were assessed using available sociodemographic variables and unadjusted Poisson regression analysis. Due to the exploratory nature of this analysis using a predictive framework, a p < 0.10 was used as criteria for variable selection in the multivariable Poisson regression model. For multivariable Poisson regression models, adjusted prevalence ratios (aPR), and 95% CIs for each independent variable were calculated.

Next, we used multivariable Poisson regression to assess associations between financial hardship and self-reported mental health symptoms experienced at least 1 day in the last week. We adjusted for survey week, age (when appropriate excluding age-stratified models), sex, race/ethnicity, annual household income, education, insurance status, employment status, and area of residence (urban/rural). To address concerns regarding existing mental health symptoms before the COVID-19 pandemic, we conducted a sensitivity analysis to evaluate mental health symptoms among those without a history of a mental health condition based on self-report. We were able to assess the history of a mental health condition through the following question: "Has a doctor or healthcare provider ever told you that you have any of the following?", which includes a response option for mental health condition. Based on the exploratory nature of this analysis, we did not include an adjustment for multiple comparisons (36, 37). Missing data were minimal (<3% of observations), and we used a complete case approach. All statistical analyses were conducted using Stata IC 15 (StataCorp LLC, College Station, TX). Sampling weights were applied to provide results that were nationally

sensitivity analysis and repeated our analyses using fixed-effects multivariable logistic regression modeling and have included those results in the Appendix. The analytic sample includes 10,760 adults nationwide.

representative of the U.S. adult population. We conducted a

Results

Table 1 summarizes characteristics of the overall sample and our study population of interest, cancer survivors, stratified by age categories 18-59 years and 60+years. We provide sample characteristics of all adults and cancer survivors overall in Supplementary Table 1. Sixty percent of cancer survivors were over the age of 60 years. Sixty percent of cancer survivors aged 18-59 years were female, whereas 48% of those aged 60+ years were female. Cancer survivors aged 18-59 years and 60+ years were most frequently married or living with a partner (54, 59%), NH-White (70, 76%), at least some college education (64, 63%), and resided in urban areas (71, 64%). One-quarter of cancer survivors 18-59 years were unemployed due to COVID-19 or unable to find employment, and 72% of 60+ cancer survivors were retired or not interested in working at this time. Over one-third of 18-59 cancer survivors had a household income \$100,000 or greater. Seventy percent of 60+ cancer survivors had a comorbid cardiometabolic condition. Twenty-one percent of 18-59 cancer survivors had an existing diagnosed mental health condition as compared to 9% among 60+ cancer survivors. Most 18-59 cancer survivors had either employer sponsored health insurance (62%) or Medicaid (33%). Seventy-seven percent of 60+ cancer survivors were Medicare insured. Twenty-one percent of 18-59 cancer survivors reported they would not be able to cover a \$400 unexpected expense based on their current financial situation, compared to 10% among 60+ cancer survivors. About half of both 18-59 (49%) and 60+(54%) cancer survivors reported they would be able to use money currently in their checking or savings account.

Prevalence and associated characteristics of financial hardship among cancer survivors

Overall, forty-two percent of cancer survivors reported financial hardship. By age group, 58% of 18–59 years and 33% of 60+ cancer survivors reported financial hardship. Table 2 summarizes comparisons of prevalence of financial hardship by cancer survivorship status and age group. We also summarize financial hardship prevalence estimates for the overall study sample in Supplementary Table 2. Overall, across age groups certain demographic groups of cancer survivors experienced high (significantly greater than overall prevalence i.e., <58% in 18–59 & <33% in 60+) burden of financial hardship. Among TABLE 1 Characteristics of COVID Impact Survey respondents (n = 10,760), a nationally representative survey of the US, stratified by cancer diagnosis (April-June 2020).

		Total (<i>n</i> =	= 10,760)		Cancer survivors $(n = 854)^*$					
	18-59	9 years	60+ years		18-59 years		60+	years		
	Col %	95% CI	Col %	95% CI	Col %	95% CI	Col %	95% CI		
Sex										
Male	48.5	46.9, 50.2	48.0	45.7,50.2	39.9	32.7,47.6	51.7	46.4,57.0		
Female	51.5	49.8, 53.1	52.0	49.8,54.3	60.1	52.4,67.3	48.3	43.0,53.6		
Marital status										
Married/living with partner	57.7	56.1, 59.4	56.2	54.0,58.5	53.5	45.6,61.3	58.8	53.6,63.9		
Widowed/divorced/separated	11.7	10.7, 12.6	34.5	32.3,36.6	27.6	21.1,35.4	33.1	28.5,38.2		
Never married	30.6	29.0, 32.3	9.3	8.1,10.7	18.8	13.0,26.5	8.0	5.6,11.4		
Race/ethnicity										
White, NH	57.9	56.2, 59.5	72.0	69.8,74.1	70.4	62.7,77.1	76.4	71.2,80.9		
Black, NH	11.6	10.6, 12.6	11.6	10.2,13.3	10.9	6.6,17.6	12.0	8.4,16.9		
Hispanic	6.3	5.4, 7.3	1.7	1.2,2.4	11.6	7.3,18.0	5.6	3.6,8.8		
Asian, NH	19.3	17.9, 20.8	9.5	8.1,11.1	3.0	1.5, 6.1	0.6	0.1, 4.1		
Other, NH	3.6	3.1, 4.1	3.5	2.8,4.4	1.5	0.7, 3.3	3.2	2.2, 4.7		
Employment status										
Employed in the last 7 days	61.3	59.7, 62.9	22.0	20.3,23.9	57.7	49.8,65.3	17.2	13.8,21.2		
Retired/not interested in working at this time	12.2	11.2, 13.3	68.6	66.5,70.6	17.3	12.4,23.7	71.9	66.9,76.5		
Unemployed due to covid-19 or unable to find employment [†]	26.5	25.0, 28.0	9.3	8.1,10.7	24.9	18.3,33.0	10.9	7.7,15.2		
Education		,								
No HS diploma	10.8	9.5, 12.1	7.0	5.7,8.6	8.3	4.6,14.4	5.4	3.2,8.7		
Hs graduate	27.6	26.0, 29.2	29.5	27.4,31.7	27.4	20.3,35.9	31.9	26.8,37.4		
Some college	27.5	26.2, 28.7	28.4	26.7,30.1	26.2	20.8,32.5	28.8	24.9,33.1		
Baccalaureate or above	34.2	32.8, 35.7	35.2	33.0,37.4	38.1	30.9,45.8	33.9	29.1,39.1		
Household income						,		_,,		
<\$30,000	26.5	25.0, 28.1	27.4	25.4,29.5	23.5	17.1,31.3	28.8	24.0,34.1		
\$30,000-<\$50,000	17.1	16.0, 18.3	22.5	20.7,24.4	18.5	13.4,25.0	23.4	19.2,28.1		
\$50,000 < \$75,000	19.2	18.0, 20.5	17.1	15.6,18.8	13.3	9.4,18.5	19.0	15.3,23.5		
\$75,000 <\$100,000	13.7	12.7, 14.8	13.1	11.7,14.8	8.1	5.1,12.4	10.9	8.2,14.4		
≥\$100,000	23.5	22.1, 24.9	19.8	18.1,21.6	36.7	29.4,44.7	17.9	14.5,21.9		
Region	25.5	22.1, 24.9	19.0	10.1,21.0	30.7	29.4,44.7	17.9	14.3,21.9		
Northeast	17.2	15.9, 18.5	17.9	16.1,19.8	18.9	12.8,26.9	16.3	12.7,20.6		
Midwest	20.5	19.3, 21.7	21.5	19.9,23.3	23.7	17.9,30.7	21.7	17.9,26.2		
South	37.8	36.2, 39.4	38.0	35.8,40.3	27.5	21.4,34.6	38.9	33.7,44.3		
West	24.6	23.2, 26.0	22.5	20.8,24.3	29.9	23.3,37.5	23.1	19.2,27.5		
	24.0	23.2, 20.0	22.3	20.0,24.5	29.9	23.3,37.3	23.1	19.2,27.3		
Population density	0	72.00	11.5	10 1 12 1	7.2	47110	167	125210		
Rural	8	7.2, 8.9	11.5	10.1,13.1	7.3	4.7,11.2	16.7	12.5,21.9		
Suburban	17.6	16.4, 18.8	21.3	19.6,23.1	21.7	16.2,28.4	19.1	15.4,23.3		
Urban	74.4	73.0, 75.8	67.2	65.1,69.2	70.9	63.9,77.1	64.3	58.9,69.3		
Comorbid conditions	262	24.0.25.6	(5.0	(20)(51)	41.0	24.2.40.4	70.0	<5 4 5 4 °		
Cardiometabolic diseases [‡]	26.2	24.8, 27.6	65.0	62.9,67.1	41.8	34.3,49.6	70.3	65.4,74.8		
Respiratory diseases [§]	23.3	21.9, 24.7	24.0	22.2,26.0	36.9	29.6,44.8	25.2	21.0,29.9		
Overweight/obesity	32.3	30.8, 33.8	35.7	33.6,37.8	47.1	39.4,54.9	38.6	33.5,43.8		
Mental health conditions	18.7	17.5, 20.0	7.5	6.4,8.7	21.7	15.8,29.2	8.7	6.1,12.2		
Insurance type or health coverage plans										
Purchased plan	12.5	11.4, 13.7	28.3	26.3,30.5	10.4	6.6,16.0	25.6	21.3,30.3		

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

	Total ($n = 10,760$)					Cancer survivors $(n = 854)^*$				
	18-59	9 years	60+ years		18-59 years		60+ years			
	Col %	95% CI	Col %	95% CI	Col %	95% CI	Col %	95% CI		
Employer-sponsored	58.8	57.2, 60.5	35.4	33.3,37.6	62.1	54.1,69.5	38.5	33.5,43.8		
Tricare	4	3.5, 4.7	6.8	5.8,7.9	1.9	1.0,3.8	9.5	6.6,13.5		
Medicaid	22	20.7, 23.4	26.9	24.8,29.0	32.5	25.2,40.7	29.0	24.2,34.4		
Medicare	5.7	5.0, 6.5	71.7	69.7,73.6	18.7	13.5,25.4	76.5	71.7,80.7		
Dually eligible (medicare & medicaid)	4.5	4.0, 5.2	22.3	20.4,24.3	15.4	10.6,21.9	26.0	21.3,31.4		
VA	3	2.5, 3.5	8.0	6.9,9.2	2.7	1.3,5.4	12.3	9.1,16.4		
Indian health service	1.6	1.2, 2.2	0.2	0.1,0.5	0.7	0.2,2.2	0.1	0.0,0.3		
No insurance	11.4	10.3, 12.5	2.6	2.0,3.3	3.8	2.0,7.1	2.5	1.1,5.4		
Financial hardship measure										
Suppose that you have an unexpected expense that costs										
\$400. Based on your current financial situation, how would										
you pay for this expense? If you would use more than one										
method to cover this expense, please select all that apply										
Put it on my credit card and pay it off in full at the next	29.1	27.7, 30.6	46.1	43.9,48.3	19.3	14.0,25.9	50.4	45.1,55.7		
statement										
Put it on my credit card and pay it off over time	19	17.8, 20.3	17.6	16.0,19.4	20.4	14.9,27.3	16.3	13.1,20.2		
Use money currently in my checking or savings account or	48.5	46.9, 50.2	57.0	54.7,59.2	48.8	41.1,56.5	53.7	48.4,59.0		
with cash										
Use money from a bank loan or line of credit	2.9	2.4, 3.4	3.2	2.6,4.1	4.3	2.2,8.2	5.6	3.5,9.0		
Borrow from a friend or family member	11.4	10.3, 12.5	4.4	3.5,5.6	14.1	9.0,21.5	2.7	1.7,4.2		
Use a payday loan, deposit advance or overdraft	2.2	1.8, 2.8	1.1	0.7,1.5	1.9	0.8,4.7	0.4	0.2,1.2		
Sell something	8.4	7.5, 9.4	3.8	3.0,4.8	6.3	3.7,10.4	3.3	1.9,5.7		
I would not be able to pay for it right now	17.7	16.4, 19.1	9.9	8.6,11.5	20.6	14.6,28.4	10.2	6.7,15.1		

*2.46% of participants either chose: not sure, skipped or refused, when asked about their chronic conditions including cancer.

† Response Options: I was laid-off temporarily or furloughed, I was not at my usual jobs because I was caring for children not in school, I was not at my usual jobs because I was caring for an elderly person, I was not at my usual jobs because I was caring for someone with COVID-19, I was not at my usual jobs because I was recovering from COVID-19 or isolating due to exposure to COVID-19, I was unemployed but looking for work since March 1st, 2020 when COVID-19 began spreading in the US, I was unemployed and began looking for work after March 1, 2020 when COVID-19 began spreading in the US.

[‡] Cardiometabolic conditions: diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, liver disease or end stage liver disease.

§ Respiratory conditions: Asthma, chronic lung disease or COPD, bronchitis, or emphysema.

18–59 cancer survivors, those who were never married (85%), NH-Black (82%), unemployed due to COVID-19 or unable to find employment (81%), those without a high school diploma (93%) or high school graduates (92%), those with a household income <\$30,000 (91%), those living in rural areas (68%), and with an existing mental health condition (76%) had a high prevalence of financial hardship. Cancer survivors aged 18–59 on Medicaid (91%), Medicare (84%), dually insured with Medicaid + Medicare (95%), insured through the Indian Health Service (100%) or uninsured (87%) also had a high burden of financial hardship.

Among cancer survivors aged 60 + years, we observed a similar trend in terms of key demographics with a higher burden of financial hardship. Women (41%), those who are widowed, divorced, or separated (43%), NH-Black (79.2%), NH-Asian

(100%), without a high school diploma (76%), with a household income <\$30,000 (60%), and living in rural areas (51%) who were 60+ cancer survivors had a high burden of financial hardship. Cancer survivors over 60+ years of age with mental health conditions (48%), Medicaid insured (52%) or uninsured (58%) also had a high burden of financial hardship.

Table 3 summarizes associated characteristics of financial hardship among cancer survivors. In the overall model, compared to cancer survivors aged 60+ years, those aged 30–44 (aPR:1.74, 95% CI:1.35–2.24), and 45–59 years (aPR:1.60, 95% CI:1.27–1.99) were more likely to experience financial hardship. Adult cancer survivors below the age of 60 who were never married (aPR: 1.32; 95% CI: 1.01–1.73) and Medicare insured (aPR: 1.33; 95% CI: 1.04–1.71) or uninsured (aPR: 2.13; 95% CI: 1.23–3.71) were more likely to report

TABLE 2 Prevalence of financial hardship overall and among cancer survivors stratified by age groups among COVID Impact Survey respondents (n = 10,760), a nationally representative survey of the US (April-June 2020).

18-59 y	ل ا م مسمع						
	60+	years	18-59 y	ears old	60+ years		
Row %	95% CI	Row %	95% CI	Row %	95% CI	Row %	95% CI
48.9		32.4		57.6		33.2	
44.0	41.6, 46.4	27.5	24.8, 30.5	52.8	41.5, 63.9	25.6	19.9, 32.2
53.4	51.3, 55.6	36.9	33.9, 40.0	60.8	50.6, 70.1	41.4	33.6, 49.6
42.3	40.3, 44.4	24.2	21.7, 26.9	44.5	34.9, 54.4	29.2	22.7, 36.7
61.8	57.6, 65.8	43.2	39.4, 47.1	64.5	49.6, 77.0	42.8	34.4, 51.6
56.3	53.1, 59.4	42.0	35.0, 49.4	84.8	71.6, 92.5	22.8	12.7, 37.4
42.0	40.0, 44.0	25.8	23.6, 28.0	53.2	44.1, 62.1	26.3	21.4, 31.9
67.4	63.3, 71.3	64.6	57.7, 71.0	81.7	57.4, 93.7	79.2	61.7, 90.1
63.9	59.9, 67.8	37.3	29.8, 45.6	62.2	39.4, 80.6	17.4	8.5, 32.4
31.3	24.3, 39.2	35.6	19.9, 55.2	63.6	28.7, 88.3	100.0	
44.5		42.8	32.3, 53.9	34.4	10.8, 69.5	45.6	28.0, 64.3
40.0	38.0, 42.0	29.4	25.4, 33.8	45.8	36.2, 55.8	28.0	19.7, 38.1
							28.0, 40.3
							21.0, 56.1
	,		,				
75.9	70.0, 80.9	59.6	48.4, 69.9	93.0	74.2, 98.4	76.0	53.6, 89.7
60.7	57.1, 64.3	40.4	36.0, 44.9	92.0	82.5, 96.6	41.1	30.7, 52.3
52.1	49.8, 54.4	34.0	31.0, 37.1	49.2	37.9, 60.6	32.0	25.6, 39.1
27.8	25.6, 30.0	19.2	16.6, 22.2	30.9	20.6, 43.5	20.0	13.8, 28.3
70.3	66.9, 73.4	55.6	51.1, 59.9	91.0	81.9, 95.8	59.6	49.0, 69.4
59.4	55.8, 62.9	35.0	30.7, 39.6	61.4	44.7, 75.8	34.1	24.8, 45.0
44.0	40.5, 47.6	24.8	20.7, 29.4	50.7	33.8, 67.5	22.5	13.7, 34.8
37.3	33.4, 41.4	21.5	16.6, 27.4	39.7	21.8, 60.7	19.1	10.1, 33.3
27.2	24.2, 30.6	11.2	8.8, 14.3	40.7	27.9, 54.9	9.5	5.1, 17.0
45.3	41.0, 49.6	35.5	30.1, 41.3	63.1	43.4, 79.2	31.0	19.7, 45.3
44.8	41.7, 47.9	30.4	26.4, 34.6	56.3	41.5, 70.1	29.9	21.2, 40.3
52.7						39.2	30.3, 48.7
							20.0, 37.2
	-						-
49.1	43.8, 54.3	38.9	32.3, 45.9	67.5	44.8, 84.1	51.2	35.8, 66.4
			-				11.6, 28.7
							27.2, 39.0
1011	, 00.1		, 0010	- 30			, 00.00
55 3	523 583	36.5	338 30 3	59.8	48 0 70 5	37 4	31.1, 44.0
							32.0, 52.1
	 44.0 53.4 42.3 61.8 56.3 42.0 67.4 63.9 31.3 44.5 40.0 54.1 66.6 75.9 60.7 52.1 27.8 70.3 59.4 44.0 37.3 27.2 45.3 44.8 	44.041.6, 46.453.451.3, 55.642.340.3, 44.461.857.6, 65.856.353.1, 59.442.040.0, 44.067.463.3, 71.363.959.9, 67.831.324.3, 39.244.537.8, 51.440.038.0, 42.054.149.5, 58.666.663.4, 69.675.970.0, 80.960.757.1, 64.352.149.8, 54.427.825.6, 30.070.366.9, 73.459.455.8, 62.944.040.5, 47.637.333.4, 41.427.224.2, 30.645.341.0, 49.644.841.7, 47.952.749.9, 55.449.045.8, 52.249.143.8, 54.350.647.1, 54.248.446.5, 50.455.352.3, 58.3	44.0 $41.6, 46.4$ 27.5 53.4 $51.3, 55.6$ 36.9 42.3 $40.3, 44.4$ 24.2 61.8 $57.6, 65.8$ 43.2 56.3 $53.1, 59.4$ 42.0 42.0 $40.0, 44.0$ 25.8 67.4 $63.3, 71.3$ 64.6 63.9 $59.9, 67.8$ 37.3 31.3 $24.3, 39.2$ 35.6 44.5 $37.8, 51.4$ 42.8 40.0 $38.0, 42.0$ 29.4 54.1 $49.5, 58.6$ 30.8 66.6 $63.4, 69.6$ 50.8 75.9 $70.0, 80.9$ 59.6 60.7 $57.1, 64.3$ 40.4 52.1 $49.8, 54.4$ 34.0 27.8 $25.6, 30.0$ 19.2 70.3 $66.9, 73.4$ 55.6 59.4 $55.8, 62.9$ 35.0 44.0 $40.5, 47.6$ 24.8 37.3 $33.4, 41.4$ 21.5 27.2 $24.2, 30.6$ 11.2 45.3 $41.0, 49.6$ 35.5 44.8 $41.7, 47.9$ 30.4 52.7 $49.9, 55.4$ 33.9 49.0 $45.8, 52.2$ 29.4 49.1 $43.8, 54.3$ 38.9 50.6 $47.1, 54.2$ 25.1 48.4 $46.5, 50.4$ 33.7	44.0 $41.6, 46.4$ 27.5 $24.8, 30.5$ 53.4 $51.3, 55.6$ 36.9 $33.9, 40.0$ 42.3 $40.3, 44.4$ 24.2 $21.7, 26.9$ 61.8 $57.6, 65.8$ 43.2 $39.4, 47.1$ 56.3 $53.1, 59.4$ 42.0 $35.0, 49.4$ 42.0 $40.0, 44.0$ 25.8 $23.6, 28.0$ 67.4 $63.3, 71.3$ 64.6 $57.7, 71.0$ 63.9 $59.9, 67.8$ 37.3 $29.8, 45.6$ 31.3 $24.3, 39.2$ 35.6 $19.9, 55.2$ 44.5 $37.8, 51.4$ 42.8 $32.3, 53.9$ 40.0 $38.0, 42.0$ 29.4 $25.4, 33.8$ 54.1 $49.5, 58.6$ 30.8 $28.3, 33.4$ 66.6 $63.4, 69.6$ 50.8 $43.6, 58.0$ 75.9 $70.0, 80.9$ 59.6 $48.4, 69.9$ 60.7 $57.1, 64.3$ 40.4 $36.0, 44.9$ 52.1 $49.8, 54.4$ 34.0 $31.0, 37.1$ 27.8 $25.6, 30.0$ 19.2 $16.6, 22.2$ 70.3 $66.9, 73.4$ 55.6 $51.1, 59.9$ 59.4 $55.8, 62.9$ 35.0 $30.7, 39.6$ 44.0 $40.5, 47.6$ 24.8 $20.7, 29.4$ 37.3 $33.4, 41.4$ 21.5 $16.6, 27.4$ 27.2 $24.2, 30.6$ 11.2 $8.8, 14.3$ 45.3 $41.0, 49.6$ 35.5 $30.1, 41.3$ 44.8 $41.7, 47.9$ 30.4 $26.4, 34.6$ 52.7 $49.9, 55.4$ 33.9 $32.3, 45.9$ 50.6	44.0 $41.6, 46.4$ 27.5 $24.8, 30.5$ 52.8 53.4 $51.3, 55.6$ 36.9 $33.9, 40.0$ 60.8 42.3 $40.3, 44.4$ 24.2 $21.7, 26.9$ 44.5 61.8 $57.6, 65.8$ 43.2 $39.4, 47.1$ 64.5 56.3 $53.1, 59.4$ 42.0 $35.0, 49.4$ 84.8 42.0 $40.0, 44.0$ 25.8 $23.6, 28.0$ 53.2 67.4 $63.3, 71.3$ 64.6 $57.7, 71.0$ 81.7 63.9 $59.9, 67.8$ 37.3 $29.8, 45.6$ 62.2 31.3 $24.3, 39.2$ 35.6 $19.9, 55.2$ 63.6 44.5 $37.8, 51.4$ 42.8 $32.3, 53.9$ 34.4 40.0 $38.0, 42.0$ 29.4 $25.4, 33.8$ 45.8 54.1 $49.5, 58.6$ 30.8 $28.3, 33.4$ 62.7 66.6 $63.4, 69.6$ 50.8 $43.6, 58.0$ 81.3 75.9 $70.0, 80.9$ 59.6 $48.4, 69.9$ 93.0 52.1 $49.8, 54.4$ 34.0 $31.0, 37.1$ 49.2 27.8 $25.6, 30.0$ 19.2 $16.6, 22.2$ 30.9 70.3 $66.9, 73.4$ 55.6 $51.1, 59.9$ 91.0 59.4 $53.8, 62.9$ 35.0 $30.7, 39.6$ 61.4 44.0 $40.5, 47.6$ 24.8 $20.7, 29.4$ 50.7 37.3 $33.4, 41.4$ 21.5 $16.6, 27.4$ 39.7 27.2 $24.2, 30.6$ 11.2 $8.8, 14.3$ 40.7 49.4 <td< td=""><td>44.041.6, 46.427.524.8, 30.552.841.5, 63.953.451.3, 55.636.933.9, 40.060.850.6, 70.142.340.3, 44.424.221.7, 26.944.534.9, 54.461.857.6, 65.843.239.4, 47.164.549.6, 77.056.353.1, 59.442.035.0, 49.484.871.6, 92.542.040.0, 44.025.823.6, 28.053.244.1, 62.167.463.3, 71.364.657.7, 71.081.757.4, 93.763.959.9, 67.837.329.8, 45.662.239.4, 80.631.324.3, 39.235.619.9, 55.263.628.7, 88.344.537.8, 51.442.832.3, 53.934.4108, 69.540.038.0, 42.029.425.4, 33.845.8362, 55.854.149.5, 58.630.828.3, 33.462.7455, 77.166.663.4, 69.650.848.4, 69.993.074.2, 98.460.757.1, 64.340.436.0, 44.992.082.5, 96.652.149.8, 54.434.031.0, 37.149.237.9, 60.627.825.6, 30.019.216.6, 22.230.920.6, 43.570.366.9, 73.455.651.1, 59.991.081.9, 95.859.455.8, 62.935.030.7, 39.661.444.7, 75.844.040.5, 47.624.820.7, 29.450.733.8, 67.537.333.4, 41.421.5<</td><td>44.0 41.6, 46.4 27.5 24.8, 30.5 52.8 41.5, 63.9 25.6 53.4 51.3, 55.6 36.9 33.9, 40.0 60.8 50.6, 70.1 41.4 42.3 40.3, 44.4 24.2 21.7, 26.9 44.5 34.9, 54.4 29.2 61.8 57.6, 65.8 43.2 39.4, 47.1 64.5 49.6, 77.0 42.8 56.3 53.1, 59.4 42.0 35.0, 49.4 84.8 71.6, 92.5 22.8 67.4 63.3, 71.3 64.6 57.7, 71.0 81.7 57.4, 93.7 79.2 63.9 59.9, 67.8 37.3 29.8, 45.6 62.2 39.4, 80.6 17.4 31.3 24.3, 39.2 35.6 19.9, 55.2 63.6 28.7, 88.3 100.0 44.5 37.8, 51.4 42.8 32.3, 53.9 34.4 10.8, 69.5 45.6 40.0 38.0, 42.0 29.4 25.4, 33.8 45.8 362, 55.8 28.0 54.1 49.5, 58.6 30.8 28.3, 33.4 62.7 45.5, 77.1 33.9 60.7 57.1, 64.3 40.4 36</td></td<>	44.041.6, 46.427.524.8, 30.552.841.5, 63.953.451.3, 55.636.933.9, 40.060.850.6, 70.142.340.3, 44.424.221.7, 26.944.534.9, 54.461.857.6, 65.843.239.4, 47.164.549.6, 77.056.353.1, 59.442.035.0, 49.484.871.6, 92.542.040.0, 44.025.823.6, 28.053.244.1, 62.167.463.3, 71.364.657.7, 71.081.757.4, 93.763.959.9, 67.837.329.8, 45.662.239.4, 80.631.324.3, 39.235.619.9, 55.263.628.7, 88.344.537.8, 51.442.832.3, 53.934.4108, 69.540.038.0, 42.029.425.4, 33.845.8362, 55.854.149.5, 58.630.828.3, 33.462.7455, 77.166.663.4, 69.650.848.4, 69.993.074.2, 98.460.757.1, 64.340.436.0, 44.992.082.5, 96.652.149.8, 54.434.031.0, 37.149.237.9, 60.627.825.6, 30.019.216.6, 22.230.920.6, 43.570.366.9, 73.455.651.1, 59.991.081.9, 95.859.455.8, 62.935.030.7, 39.661.444.7, 75.844.040.5, 47.624.820.7, 29.450.733.8, 67.537.333.4, 41.421.5<	44.0 41.6, 46.4 27.5 24.8, 30.5 52.8 41.5, 63.9 25.6 53.4 51.3, 55.6 36.9 33.9, 40.0 60.8 50.6, 70.1 41.4 42.3 40.3, 44.4 24.2 21.7, 26.9 44.5 34.9, 54.4 29.2 61.8 57.6, 65.8 43.2 39.4, 47.1 64.5 49.6, 77.0 42.8 56.3 53.1, 59.4 42.0 35.0, 49.4 84.8 71.6, 92.5 22.8 67.4 63.3, 71.3 64.6 57.7, 71.0 81.7 57.4, 93.7 79.2 63.9 59.9, 67.8 37.3 29.8, 45.6 62.2 39.4, 80.6 17.4 31.3 24.3, 39.2 35.6 19.9, 55.2 63.6 28.7, 88.3 100.0 44.5 37.8, 51.4 42.8 32.3, 53.9 34.4 10.8, 69.5 45.6 40.0 38.0, 42.0 29.4 25.4, 33.8 45.8 362, 55.8 28.0 54.1 49.5, 58.6 30.8 28.3, 33.4 62.7 45.5, 77.1 33.9 60.7 57.1, 64.3 40.4 36

(Continued)

TABLE 2 (Continued)

		Total (n :	= 10,760)	Cancer survivors $(n = 854)^*$					
	18-59 years old		60+ years		18-59 years old		60+	years	
	Row %	95% CI	Row %	95% CI	Row %	95% CI	Row %	95% CI	
Overweight/obesity	54.6	51.9, 57.2	37.7	34.1, 41.4	60.9	49.5, 71.2	36.5	28.3, 45.5	
Mental health conditions	59.8	56.2, 63.3	46.3	38.6, 54.1	76.3	59.6, 87.5	47.6	30.4, 65.3	
Insurance type or health coverage plans									
Purchased plan	52.6	47.6, 57.6	28.5	24.8, 32.5	55.5	33.0, 75.9	26.4	18.5, 36.0	
Employer-sponsored	37.0	35.0, 39.1	28.2	24.9, 31.8	45.1	35.8, 54.8	28.4	21.3, 36.7	
Tricare	41.8	34.9, 49.0	20.6	15.2, 27.4	37.3	12.6, 70.9	19.9	8.9, 38.6	
Medicaid	74.9	72.0, 77.7	51.6	47.0, 56.1	91.4	82.7, 95.9	52.3	41.7, 62.7	
Medicare	66.6	59.9, 72.6	31.6	29.1, 34.2	83.9	68.3, 92.7	34.1	28.4, 40.3	
Dually eligible (medicare and medicaid)	74.8	68.1, 80.5	50.9	45.9, 55.9	95.2	83.6, 98.7	55.5	44.0, 66.3	
VA	39.9	32.0, 48.4	31.3	24.8, 38.6	26.4	7.8, 60.3	30.6	18.4, 46.2	
Indian health service	73.9	60.2, 84.1	32.1	9.8, 67.3	100.0		0.0		
No insurance	67.4	62.6, 71.9	44.2	32.0, 57.2	86.6	57.6, 96.8	58.2	21.2, 87.8	

*2.46% of participants either chose: not sure, skipped or refused, when asked about their chronic conditions including cancer.

† Response Options: I was laid-off temporarily or furloughed, I was not at my usual jobs because I was caring for children not in school, I was not at my usual jobs because I was caring for an elderly person, I was not at my usual jobs because I was caring for someone with COVID-19, I was not at my usual jobs because I was recovering from COVID-19 or isolating due to exposure to COVID-19, I was unemployed but looking for work since March 1st, 2020 when COVID-19 began spreading in the US, I was unemployed and began looking for work after March 1, 2020 when COVID-19 began spreading in the US.

‡ Cardiometabolic conditions: diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, liver disease or end stage liver disease.

§ Respiratory conditions: Asthma, chronic lung disease or COPD, bronchitis, or emphysema.

financial hardship compared to their counterparts. Among older (60+) cancer survivors, women had a 35% higher prevalence of financial hardship compared to men (aPR: 1.35; 95% CI: 1.02-1.78). Racial disparities exist in financial hardship among older cancer survivors: Compared to NH-White cancer survivors, NH-Black (aPR: 1.80; 95% CI: 1.32-2.45) and NH-Asian (aPR: 10.70; 95% CI: 5.55-20.66) had higher prevalenceof financial hardship. Lower income in cancer survivors aged 60+ led to higher prevalence of financial hardship with those earning <\$30,000 over three times the prevalence of financial hardship compared to those earning over \$100,000 (aPR: 3.63; 95% CI: 1.74-7.57). Like younger cancer survivors, older cancer survivors insured through Medicaid were more likely to experience financial hardship (aPR: 1.45; 95% CI: 1.03-2.06). Higher educational level decreased the prevalence of financial hardship among cancer survivors aged 18-59 and 60+ years. Supplementary Table 3 summarizes the associated characteristics of financial hardship among the general population overall and stratified by age demonstrating similar trends in risk factors, particularly in the 60+ years age group, excluding associations with sex, suggesting that women with cancer may be a particularly vulnerable group to financial hardship. Supplementary Table 4 summarizes estimates using logistic regression and demonstrates similar results to our main findings.

Mental health and financial hardship among cancer survivors

Figure 1 summarizes the prevalence of mental health symptoms at least 1 day a week of financial hardship with mental health symptoms among cancer survivors. Cancer survivors 18-59 years were more likely to report feeling anxious (45 vs. 32%, p = 0.004), depressed (54 vs. 31%, p < 0.001), lonely (50 vs. 28%, p < 0.001), and hopeless about the future (49% vs. 33%, p = 0.001). Among cancer survivors without a self-reported diagnosed mental health condition, we observed similar differences across age group. Table 4 summarizes the associations of financial hardship with mental health symptoms overall and stratified by age group. Overall, among cancer patients without a history of mental health conditions, financial hardship was associated with feelings of anxiety (aPR:1.51; 95% CI:1.11-2.05), depression (aPR:1.66; 95%CI:1.25-2.22), and hopelessness about the future (aPR:1.84; 95% CI:1.38-2.44). Specifically, among 18-59 cancer survivors, financial hardship was associated with feelings of depression (aPR: 2.09; 95% CI: 1.45-3.02). And among 60+ cancer survivors, financial hardship was associated with feeling hopeless about the future (aPR: 1.76; 95% CI: 1.19-2.59). Supplementary Table 5 summarizes our estimates using logistic regression and demonstrates the same findings as our main analyses.

TABLE 3 Associated characteristics of financial hardship among cancer survivors in the COVID Impact Survey, a nationally representative survey of US (n = 854) (April–June 2020).

	Overall					18-59 years				60+ years				
	PR	95% CI	aPR	95% CI	PR	95% CI	aPR	95% CI	PR	95% CI	aPR	95% CI		
Age					_									
18-29	1.51	0.88-2.59	1.32	0.90-1.95										
30-44	2.24	1.79-2.81	1.74	1.35-2.24										
45-49	1.56	1.22-1.98	1.60	1.27-1.99										
60+	Ref.		Ref.											
Sex														
Male	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		-		Ref.		Ref.			
Female	1.46	1.18-1.82	1.10	0.89-1.35	1.15	0.88-1.51			1.61	1.19-2.20	1.35	1.02-1.78		
Marital status														
Married/Living with partner	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.			
Widowed/divorced/separated	1.45	1.15-1.82	1.16	0.94-1.42	1.45	1.06-1.98	1.14	0.77-1.68	1.47	1.07-2.01	1.28	0.94-1.74		
Never married	1.68	1.26-2.24	1.13	0.85-1.50	1.91	1.48-2.46	1.32	1.01-1.73	0.78	0.43-1.42	0.86	0.46-1.60		
Race/ethnicity														
White, NH	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.			
Black, NH	1.89	1.21-2.94	1.56	1.23-1.97	1.54	1.16-2.03	1.36	0.90-1.07	3.01	2.30-3.93	1.80	1.32-2.45		
Hispanic	0.92	0.44-1.94	0.89	0.64-1.24	1.17	0.79-1.73	1.07	0.77-1.50	0.66	0.33-1.34	0.58	0.27-1.22		
Asian, NH	1.23	0.36-4.21	1.81	0.79-4.14	1.19	0.68-2.10	1.29	0.77-2.18	3.80	3.11-4.64	10.70	5.55-20.66		
Other, NH	1.37	0.79-2.37	1.29	0.97-1.72	0.65	0.24-1.73	0.59	0.34-1.02	1.73	1.09-2.75	1.16	0.79-1.69		
Insurance type*														
Purchased plan	0.70	0.52-0.94	1.05	0.76-1.45	0.95	0.61-1.47	-		0.72	0.49-1.06	1.45	0.94-2.22		
Employer-sponsored	0.77	0.62-0.96	1.38	0.98-1.93	0.58	0.45-0.74	1.19	0.76-1.85	0.78	0.56-1.08	-			
Tricare	0.49	0.26-0.94	0.61	0.30.1.29	0.62	0.25-1.54	-		0.58	0.27-1.25	-			
Medicaid	2.19	1.80-2.66	1.61	1.19-2.18	2.15	1.71-2.70	1.48	0.94-2.32	2.14	1.59-2.89	1.45	1.03-2.06		
Medicare	0.91	0.73-1.12	-		1.63	1.30-2.03	1.33	1.04 - 1.71	1.14	0.78-1.66	-			
VA	0.69	0.44-1.08	0.87	0.54-1.39	0.45	0.15-1.32	-		0.89	0.54-1.46	-			
No insurance	1.73	1.20-2.51	1.63	0.99-2.68	1.53	1.19-1.97	2.13	1.23-3.71	1.79	0.88-3.62	-			
Any comorbid conditions	1.53	1.13-2.06	1.09	0.84-1.41	1.24	0.86-1.78	-		1.77	1.16-2.69	1.29	0.81-2.06		
Employment status														
Not employed	Ref.		-		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		-			
Employed/self-employed	0.93	0.74-1.17			0.62	0.48-0.80	0.98	0.75-1.29	0.83	0.57-1.21				

(Continued)

10.3389/fpubh.2022.946721
TABLE 3 (Continued)

		Ove	erall		18-59 years				60+	years		
	PR	95% CI	aPR	95% CI	PR	95% CI	aPR	95% CI	PR	95% CI	aPR	95% CI
Education												
No HS diploma	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref		Ref.		Ref.	
Hs graduate	0.68	0.56-0.84	1.03	0.77-1.39	0.99	0.87-1.13	1.43	0.99-1.91	0.54	0.38-0.77	0.78	0.51-1.19
Some college	0.45	0,37-0.55	0.79	0.51-0.96	0.53	0.41-0.69	0.76	0.56-1.04	0.42	0.30-0.58	0.83	0.56-1.22
Baccalaureate or above	0.29	0.21-0.39	0.52	0.35-0.77	0.33	0.22-0.49	0.61	0.38-0.97	0.26	0.17-0.41	0.49	0.28-0.88
Household income												
<\$30,000	2.67	1.87-3.80	1.59	1.10-2.28	2.24	1.58-3.17	1.03	0.73-1.45	6.26	3.34-11.75	3.63	1.74-7.57
\$30,000-<\$50,000	1.63	1.09-2.43	1.18	0.83-1.69	1.51	0.98-2.33	0.96	0.62-1.48	3.59	1.83-7.04	2.61	1.26-5.42
\$50,000-<\$75,000	1.17	0.74 - 1.84	1.04	0.72-1.51	1.25	0.76-2.03	0.87	0.58-1.30	2.37	1.10-5.10	1.78	0.82-3.86
\$75,000-<\$100,000	0.96	0.57-1.62	1.09	0.72-1.67	0.97	0.52-1.81	0.87	0.53-1.44	2.01	0.85 - 4.74	1.93	0.88-4.26
≥\$100,000	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.	
Region												
Northeast	Ref.		-		Ref.		-		Ref.		-	
Midwest	0.91	0.64-1.30			0.89	0.60-1.33			0.96	0.57-1.64		
South	1.01	0.73-1.41			0.90	0.62-1.32			1.26	0.78-2.05		
West	0.91	0.64-1.28			0.88	0.60-1.30			0.90	0.53-1.51		
Population density												
Rural	1.27	0.97-1.68	0.99	0.77-1.27	1.14	0.81-1.62	-		1.56	1.09-2.23	1.09	0.75-1.60
Suburban	0.72	0.53-0.98	0.76	0.58-0.99	0.85	0.60-1.20			0.57	0.35-0.93	0.71	0.41-1.22
Urban	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.				Ref.		Ref.	

PR, Unadjusted prevalence ratio; aPR, Adjusted prevalence ratio; CI, Confidence intervals; Ref, Reference.

- : This variable was not included in the final full model due to specifications outlined in the method section (p < 0.10).

 * Insurance variables modeled as binary (i.e., those with the specific insurance type vs. not).

All models are adjusted for survey week.

10.3389/fpubh.2022.946721



Discussion

Overall, our study demonstrated that over four in 10 cancer survivors reported financial hardship during the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. Cancer survivors of younger age groups (<60 years), lower educational attainment, lower income, Medicaid-insured, and racial/ethnic minoritized cancer survivors had a higher burden of financial hardship during the COVID-19 pandemic. Financial hardship was associated with mental health symptoms, including depression, anxiety, and hopelessness, among cancer survivors, even amongst those without an existing mental health condition. Findings from our analyses are consistent with prior studies focused on financial hardship among cancer survivors (28, 31, 38, 39). Our analyses underscore the potential impact of the pandemic on mental health given that associations between adverse mental health symptoms was associated with financial hardship, even amongst those without a history of a mental health condition.

In our study we found that financial hardship among cancer survivors is most common among those of younger age, racial/ethnic minoritized communities, and those with markers of lower socioeconomic status, including Medicaid insurance, lower income, and lower educational attainment.

	Overall			18-59 years			60+ years		
All cancer patients ($n = 854$)	aPR	95%	% CI	aPR	959	% CI	aPR	95%	% CI
Felt nervous, anxious, on edge	1.76	1.37	2.25	1.63	1.13	2.35	1.58	1.11	2.26
Felt depressed	1.83	1.44	2.31	2.00	1.46	2.75	1.24	0.87	1.77
Felt lonely	1.48	1.18	1.84	1.13	0.83	1.54	1.38	1.00	1.91
Felt hopeless about the future	1.95	1.53	2.47	1.42	0.99	2.04	1.73	1.22	2.46
		Overall		1	8–59 yea	rs	(60+ year	s
Cancer patients without a self-reported diagnosed mental health condition $(n = 737)$	aPR	95%	% CI	aPR	959	% CI	aPR	95%	% CI
Felt nervous, anxious, on edge	1.51	1.11	2.05	1.38	0.84	2.28	1.36	0.89	2.10
Felt depressed	1.66	1.25	2.22	2.09	1.45	3.02	1.02	0.66	1.57
Felt lonely	1.31	0.99	1.73	1.12	0.75	1.66	1.21	0.81	1.80
Felt hopeless about the future	1.84	1.38	2.44	1.23	0.80	1.89	1.76	1.19	2.59

TABLE 4 Associations of financial hardship with mental health symptoms experienced at least 1 day in the past week among cancer survivors by age groups among COVID Impact Survey cancer survivors, a nationally representative survey of the US (April–June 2020).

Models were adjusted for: age (when appropriate), survey week, sex, race/ethnicity, annual household income, education, insurance status, employment status, and area of residence (urban/rural).

Our findings are consistent with research focused on financial hardship among cancer survivors prior to the pandemic, which has shown that certain demographic groups are more vulnerable to financial toxicity, a phenomenon coined to underscore the detrimental impact of the costs of cancer care in the U.S. (40). Sociodemographic associated characteristics of financial toxicity among cancer patients identified prior to the pandemic include female sex, non-partnered marital status, Black and Hispanic race and ethnicity, low income, loss of income, younger age, and being uninsured (41, 42). While we observed a similar prevalence in financial hardship across cancer survivorship status among all ages, younger (18-59 years) cancer survivors experienced a significantly higher burden of financial hardship compared to their counterparts in the total population. In fact, one in five younger cancer survivors reported they would not be able to cover a sudden \$400 expense based on their current situation. Younger age (<65 years) has been positively associated with financial hardship among cancer patients, including a dose-response relationship across the age spectrum (43). Younger cancer survivors, particularly those of working age, may be more likely to report financial hardship due to employment interruptions or reduced hours due to limitations in the ability to work leading to potential concerns regarding health insurance coverage (44). In fact, we observed that one-quarter of cancer survivors aged 18-59 reported they were either under- or unemployed due to COVID-19 or unable to find employment; Financial hardship was very high amongst this group with 81% experiencing economic precarity. As employment is closely tied to health insurance coverage in the U.S., these cancer survivors are particularly vulnerable to toxic financial shocks associated with both active and survivorship care even after their cancer may be in remission. Older adults over the age 65 years are covered through Medicare, and other benefits such as Social Security, which may alleviate the financial burdens associated with a cancer diagnosis. In addition to younger age, lower income and lower education have been associated with financial hardship among cancer survivors (44–48). Prior research has also demonstrated Medicare (49, 50), supplemental (51), and commercial insurance (52) coverage are associated with decreased financial burdens compared with patients covered with Medicaid. Insurance coverage plays a pivotal role in financial hardships among cancer survivors due to the associated out-of-pocket spending based on type of insurance plan, premiums, and deductibles.

Racial/ethnic disparities in financial toxicity among cancer survivors have been previously demonstrated, with NH-Black or African American and Hispanic/Latinx cancer patients frequently cited as experiencing higher odds of financial toxicity (41, 42). In our study population of cancer survivors, racial/ethnic inequities in financial hardship were particularly prominent among cancer survivors aged 60+ years as demonstrated in Table 3. We observed that NH-Black or African American cancer survivors as well as NH-Asian American cancer survivors had the highest burden of financial hardship. While our sample of Asian American cancer survivors was small, it is a striking finding and should be explored further given the novelty of this finding. Although limited prior work has evaluated financial toxicity among this group specifically, research focused on Asian American cancer patients suggests

that cost of cancer treatment and care contribute to poor outcomes in this demographic group (53). Qualitative work conducted among Chinese American cancer patients residing in an urban area of California suggest that up to 80%, or a large majority, were interested in culturally-tailored educational programs regarding financial and social assistance during their cancer treatment (53). Another survey of Asian American cancer patients to identify their unmet needs during cancer treatment found that almost one-third of respondents indicated they have difficulties meeting basic living expenses and almost half reported they have some type of financial difficulty (54). Future research to further investigate the financial wellbeing of Asian American cancer patients, and the population in general, should be prioritized, particularly after the COVID-19 pandemic during the rise of anti-Asian hate in the United States and the associated job security experienced by this group (55).

Financial hardship was measured in the COVID-19 Impact Survey using a question developed by the US Federal Reserve and included in the Economic Wellbeing of U.S. Households (SHED) survey, which is implemented to "share the wide range of financial challenges and opportunities facing individuals and households in the United States (56)." In 2018, the latest year of data available, the SHED survey results suggested that 40% of adults would experience hardship covering a \$400, which was a 2% point increase from the prior year (27). We similarly observed the prevalence of financial hardship was 44%. Our study was unable to specify whether financial hardships experienced by cancer survivors were directly due to costs associated with cancer treatment; however, cancer is a chronic disease that often involves long-term adjuvant care and management of long-term adverse effects that continue to elevate medical costs over the patient's life (57). The inability to cover an unexpected \$400 expense, however, is telling of the financial precarity of cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic (58). In our definition of financial hardship, we included those who reported they would have to resort to one of the following options: put it on my credit card and pay if off over time; use money from a bank loan or line of credit; I wouldn't be able to pay for it right now; sell something; use a payday loan, deposit advance or overdraft; borrow from a friend or family member. Given the high costs associated with cancer survivorship care, these options for covering a sudden \$400 expense may be unsustainable and suggests that additional health care associated costs may not be prioritized. Based on data from SEER-Medicare, average cancer survivorship annualized costs for those aged 65 years or above can range from \$5,300-105,000 for medical care and \$1,100-4,200 for oral prescription drugs depending on the phase across the cancer care continuum (59). Based on a 2018 review, annual out-of-pocket costs to recently diagnosed cancer survivors were more than \$1,000 for medical care and time costs (i.e., patient time associated with cancer treatment such as round-trip travel time, waiting for care, and receiving care), approximately \$2,000 for productivity

losses, and from \$2,500 to >\$4,000 for employment disability, depending on age. For longer term survivors, the cost of medical care was approximately \$1,500 for older survivors and \$747 for younger survivors, time costs ranged from \$831- \$955 for older survivors and \$459-\$630 for younger survivors, and productivity losses were approximately \$800 (12). Strategies to mitigate the financial hardships experienced by cancer survivors, particularly in the context of the negative economic downstream effects of COVID-19 in the US (20, 60), should be prioritized.

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to increased mental health symptoms among cancer survivors, even among those without an existing mental health condition (61). Reports from early in the pandemic demonstrate that US cancer survivors are more likely to report frequently feeling nervous anxious or on edge, depressed, lonely, and hopeless during the week, particularly those with limited social interaction with friends or family (61). Similarly, among older breast cancer survivors in the US, increased loneliness during the COVID-19 pandemic was associated with worsening depression symptoms and higher stress (62). Stressors contributing to poor mental health outcomes among cancer survivors during the pandemic include uncertainty regarding future cancer care, fears about in-person appointments, cancer recurrence due to care delays, and distress about untreated symptoms including mental health issues (63). Indeed, cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic resorted to canceling or delaying care (26), which presents barriers to cancer survivor's ability to discuss their concerns and worries with their health care team. Our study demonstrates the potential role of financial stressors, including financial hardship, on the mental health outcomes of cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic. As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to disproportionately impact patients with chronic conditions including cancer survivors, providers or care teams may consider prioritizing conversations or assessments of mental health during opportunistic care visits.

There are several limitations that should be considered when interpreting the results of our analyses. First, data leveraged for this analysis are cross-sectional in nature and may lead to reverse causality when evaluating associations of mental health with financial hardship. Second, our main outcome of financial hardship was based on a questionnaire item that has not been previously used in studies evaluating financial hardship or toxicity among cancer survivors. The questionnaire is generally used in economic US surveys such as the annual Survey of Household Economics and Decision-making (SHED) (64). We were unable to assess if the survey respondent's financial situation has changed since the COVID-19 pandemic began or were these financial constrains already in existence. Further, data collection occurred early in the pandemic period (April-June 2020), however, financial hardship and mental health may have worsened in later periods of the pandemic given the persistent adverse economic impact of the pandemic. Next, the definition of our study population of cancer survivors was based on

self-report leading to the potential for measurement error in our definition of a cancer survivor. Similarly, we relied on selfreport of mental health symptoms reported in the seven days before survey administration. Data on psychological distress measured using validated scales, such as the General Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7), were not available. We were unable to measure and account for important cancer-related variables such as cancer site, stage, time since diagnosis, type of treatment (surgery/chemo/radiation), and whether the respondents were currently in active treatment. Patients with very aggressive cancers and potentially expensive treatment may have been unlikely to be reached or may not have survived long enough to be part of the survey; thus, our analysis may underestimate financial hardship and its impact. Further it is important to note that about one in five adults offered the survey provided a response, which may have led to a non-response bias given those who are experiencing adverse social issues may be less likely to respond. Nevertheless, a notable strength of our analysis is we utilized nationally representative survey data and therefore, obtained a representative sample of cancer survivors in the US. Through this analysis we were able to provide preliminary insights into the financial impact of cancer survivors in the U.S. during the COVID-19 pandemic and potentially identify demographic groups that may be most affected.

In conclusion, our study demonstrates that four out of ten cancer survivors are experiencing financial hardship during the COVID-19 pandemic, with the most vulnerable being younger adults, those with low income, racial/ethnic minorities, and the Medicaid-insured. Given the negative impact the COVID-19 pandemic has had on the US economy, considering financial strife in the context of cancer survivorship care should be prioritized among US oncologists when discussing future care plans. Additionally, plans to alleviate or address mental health outcomes among cancer survivors during the pandemic should also be addressed. As poor mental health outcomes have been associated with adverse health consequences including forgoing or delaying necessary medical health, as well as poor adherence to treatment (17), strategies to address cost barriers to accessing high-quality survivorship care are needed to alleviate the negative impacts on quality of life of cancer survivors.

Data availability statement

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: https://www.covid-impact.org/.

References

1. CDC COVID Data Tracker. Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

JI and MC-R conceived the study idea, developed the analysis plan, and drafted the first version of the manuscript. JI conducted all data analyses. All authors contributed to the interpretation of results and the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledge NORC at the University of Chicago for the Data Foundation for their efforts in data collection and making the COVID Impact Survey data publicly available.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.946721/full#supplementary-material

2. Jacobson NC, Lekkas D, Price G, Heinz MV, Song M, O'Malley AJ, et al. Flattening the mental health curve: COVID-19 stay-at-home orders are associated

148

with alterations in mental health search behavior in the United States. *JMIR Ment Health*. (2020) 7:e19347. doi: 10.2196/19347

3. Liu X-J, Mesch GS. The adoption of preventive behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic in China and Israel. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:7170. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17197170

4. Aquino EML, Silveira IH, Pescarini JM, Aquino R, Souza-Filho JA de, Rocha A. dos S, et al. Social distancing measures to control the COVID-19 pandemic: potential impacts and challenges in Brazil. *Cien Saude Colet.* (2020) 25:2423–46.

5. The Impact Of Covid-19 On U.S. Economy And Financial Markets. Available online at: https://www.forbes.com/sites/mikepatton/2020/10/12/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-us-economy-and-financial-markets/?sh=5db9ae22d206 (accessed January 20, 2021).

6. Ten Facts about COVID-19 and the U.S. Economy. Available online at: https:// www.brookings.edu/research/ten-facts-about-covid-19-and-the-u-s-economy/ (accessed October 7, 2021).

7. About half of employed adults who took a pay cut since the pandemic began are still earning less than before. Pew Research Center. Available online at: https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2021/03/05/a-year-into-the-pandemic-long-term-financial-impact-weighs-heavily-on-many-americans/psdt_03-05-21_covid-financial-impact-10/

 Chen YS, Zhou ZN, Glynn SM, Frey MK, Balogun OD, Kanis M, et al. Financial toxicity, mental health, and gynecologic cancer treatment: the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic among low-income women in New York City. *Cancer.* (2021) 127:2399–408. doi: 10.1002/cncr.35537

9. Halpern MT, McCabe MS, Burg MA. The cancer survivorship journey: models of care, disparities, barriers, and future directions. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book.* (2016) 35:231–9. doi: 10.1200/EDBK_156039

10. The Costs of Cancer. *American Cancer Society*. (2020). Available online at: https://www.fightcancer.org/sites/default/files/National%20Documents/Costs-of-Cancer-2020-10222020.pdf

11. Iragorri N, de Oliveira C, Fitzgerald N, Essue B. The out-of-pocket cost burden of cancer care-a systematic literature review. *Curr Oncol.* (2021) 28:1216–48. doi: 10.3390/curroncol28020117

12. Pisu M, Henrikson NB, Banegas MP, Yabroff KR. Costs of cancer along the care continuum: What we can expect based on recent literature. *Cancer.* (2018) 124:4181–91. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31643

13. Ekwueme DU, Yabroff KR, Guy GP, Banegas MP, de Moor JS Li C, et al. Medical costs and productivity losses of cancer survivors–United States, 2008-2011. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* (2014) 63:505–10.

14. Jagsi R, Pottow JAE, Griffith KA, Bradley C, Hamilton AS, Graff J, et al. Long-term financial burden of breast cancer: experiences of a diverse cohort of survivors identified through population-based registries. *J Clin Oncol.* (2014) 32:1269–76. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.53.0956

15. Guy GP, Ekwueme DU, Yabroff KR, Dowling EC Li C, Rodriguez JL, et al. Economic burden of cancer survivorship among adults in the United States. *J Clin Oncol.* (2013) 31:3749–57. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.49.1241

16. Dean LT, Schmitz KH, Frick KD, Nicholas LH, Zhang Y, Subramanian SV, et al. Consumer credit as a novel marker for economic burden and health after cancer in a diverse population of breast cancer survivors in the USA. *J Cancer Surviv.* (2018) 12:306–15. doi: 10.1007/s11764-017-0669-1

17. Altice CK, Banegas MP, Tucker-Seeley RD, Yabroff KR. Financial hardships experienced by cancer survivors: a systematic review. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2017) 109. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djw205

18. Dee EC, Nipp RD, Muralidhar V, Yu Z, Butler SS, Mahal BA, et al. Financial worry and psychological distress among cancer survivors in the United States, 2013-2018. *Support Care Cancer.* (2021) 29:5523–35. doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06084-1

19. Tsai Y, Vogt TM, Zhou F. Patient characteristics and costs associated with COVID-19-related medical care among medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries. *Ann Intern Med.* (2021) 174:1101–9. doi: 10.7326/M21-1102

20. Baddour K, Kudrick LD, Neopaney A, Sabik LM, Peddada SD, Nilsen ML, et al. Potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on financial toxicity in cancer survivors. *Head Neck*. (2020) 42:1332–8. doi: 10.1002/hed.26187

21. Thom B, Benedict C, Friedman DN, Watson SE, Zeitler MS, Chino F. Economic distress, financial toxicity, and medical cost-coping in young adult cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic: Findings from an online sample. *Cancer*. (2021) 127:4481–91. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33823

22. Waters AR, Bybee S, Warner EL, Kaddas HK, Kent EE, Kirchhoff AC. Financial burden and mental health among LGBTQIA+ adolescent and young adult cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Oncol.* (2022) 12:832635. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.832635

23. COVID-19 Household Impact Survey. Available online at: https://www.covid-impact.org/

24. COVID Impact Survey. Available online at: https://www.covid-impact.org/

25. Wozniak A, Willey J, Benz J, Hart N. *The COVID Impact Survey: Methodological Approach*. National Opinion Research Center. (2020). Available online at: http://static1.squarespace.com/static/5e8769b34812765cff8111f7/t/ 5ee116321eed0b743254564c/1591809593661/COVIDImpact_MethodsStatement_ wk3_web.pdf

26. Islam JY, Camacho-Rivera M, Vidot DC. Examining COVID-19 preventive behaviors among cancer survivors in the United States: an analysis of the COVID-19 impact survey. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2020) 29:2583–90. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-20-0801

27. The Fed - Dealing with Unexpected Expenses. Available online at: https:// www.federalreserve.gov/publications/2019-economic-well-being-of-ushouseholds-in-2018-dealing-with-unexpected-expenses.htm

28. Gordon LG, Merollini KMD, Lowe A, Chan RJ. A systematic review of financial toxicity among cancer survivors: we can't pay the co-pay. *Patient.* (2017) 10:295–309. doi: 10.1007/s40271-016-0204-x

29. Mols F, Tomalin B, Pearce A, Kaambwa B, Koczwara B. Financial toxicity and employment status in cancer survivors. A systematic literature review. *Support Care Cancer.* (2020) 28:5693–708. doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05719-z

30. Zheng Z, Jemal A, Han X, Guy GP Li C, Davidoff AJ, et al. Medical financial hardship among cancer survivors in the United States. *Cancer.* (2019) 125:1737-47. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31913

31. Yabroff KR, Zhao J, Zheng Z, Rai A, Han X. Medical financial hardship among cancer survivors in the united states: What do we know? What do we need to know? *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2018) 27:1389–97. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-18-0617

32. Firkins J, Hansen L, Driessnack M, Dieckmann N. Quality of life in "chronic" cancer survivors: a meta-analysis. *J Cancer Surviv.* (2020) 14:504–17. doi: 10.1007/s11764-020-00869-9

33. Barros AJD, Hirakata VN. Alternatives for logistic regression in cross-sectional studies: an empirical comparison of models that directly estimate the prevalence ratio. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2003) 3:21. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-3-21

34. Behrens T, Taeger D, Wellmann J, Keil U. Different methods to calculate effect estimates in cross-sectional studies. A comparison between prevalence odds ratio and prevalence ratio. *Methods Inf Med.* (2004) 43:505–9. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1633907

35. Coutinho LMS, Scazufca M, Menezes PR. Methods for estimating prevalence ratios in cross-sectional studies. *Rev Saude Publica*. (2008) 42:992-8. doi: 10.1590/S0034-89102008000600003

36. Althouse AD. Adjust for multiple comparisons? It's not that simple. Ann Thorac Surg. (2016) 101:1644–5. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015.11.024

37. No Adjustments Are Needed for Multiple Comparisons : Epidemiology. Available online at: https://journals.lww.com/epidem/Abstract/1990/01000/No_ Adjustments_Are_Needed_for_Multiple_Comparisons.10.aspx

38. Yabroff KR, Zhao J, Han X, Zheng Z. Prevalence and correlates of medical financial hardship in the USA. J Gen Intern Med. (2019) 34:1494–502. doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-05002-w

39. Lu L, O'Sullivan E, Sharp L. Cancer-related financial hardship among head and neck cancer survivors: Risk factors and associations with health-related quality of life. *Psychooncology*. (2019) 28:863–71. doi: 10.1002/pon.5034

40. Definition of financial toxicity. *NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms - National Cancer Institute*. Available online at: https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/financial-toxicity

41. Carrera PM, Kantarjian HM, Blinder VS. The financial burden and distress of patients with cancer: understanding and stepping-up action on the financial toxicity of cancer treatment. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2018) 68:153–65. doi:10.3322/caac.21443

42. Aviki EM, Manning-Geist BL, Sokolowski SS. Risk factors for financial toxicity in patients with gynecologic cancer. American Journal of (2021) 226:817.e1-817.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2021.12.012

43. Yabroff KR, Dowling EC, Guy GP, Banegas MP, Davidoff A, Han X, et al. Financial hardship associated with cancer in the United States: findings from a population-based sample of adult cancer survivors. *J Clin Oncol.* (2016) 34:259–67. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.62.0468

44. Banegas MP, Guy GP, de Moor JS, Ekwueme DU, Virgo KS, Kent EE, et al. For working-age cancer survivors, medical debt and bankruptcy create financial hardships. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. (2016) 35:54–61. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0830 45. Veenstra CM, Regenbogen SE, Hawley ST, Griggs JJ, Banerjee M, Kato I, et al. A composite measure of personal financial burden among patients with stage III colorectal cancer. *Med Care.* (2014) 52:957–62. doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000241

46. Shankaran V, Jolly S, Blough D, Ramsey SD. Risk factors for financial hardship in patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer: a population-based exploratory analysis. *J Clin Oncol.* (2012) 30:1608–14. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.37.9511

47. Regenbogen SE, Veenstra CM, Hawley ST, Banerjee M, Ward KC, Kato I, et al. The personal financial burden of complications after colorectal cancer surgery. *Cancer*. (2014) 120:3074–81. doi: 10.1002/cncr.28812

48. Whitney RL, Bell JF, Reed SC, Lash R, Bold RJ, Kim KK, et al. Predictors of financial difficulties and work modifications among cancer survivors in the United States. J Cancer Surviv. (2016) 10:241–50. doi: 10.1007/s11764-015-0470-y

49. Fenn KM, Evans SB, McCorkle R, DiGiovanna MP, Pusztai L, Sanft T, et al. Impact of financial burden of cancer on survivors' quality of life. *J Oncol Pract.* (2014) 10:332–8. doi: 10.1200/JOP.2013.001322

50. Kircher SM, Johansen ME, Nimeiri HS, Richardson CR, Davis MM. Impact of medicare part D on out-of-pocket drug costs and medical use for patients with cancer. *Cancer*. (2014) 120:3378–84. doi: 10.1002/cncr.28898

51. Davidoff AJ, Erten M, Shaffer T, Shoemaker JS, Zuckerman IH, Pandya N, et al. Out-of-pocket health care expenditure burden for Medicare beneficiaries with cancer. *Cancer*. (2013) 119:1257–65. doi: 10.1002/cncr.27848

52. Streeter SB, Schwartzberg L, Husain N, Johnsrud M. Patient and plan characteristics affecting abandonment of oral oncolytic prescriptions. *J Oncol Pract.* (2011) 7:46s–51s. doi: 10.1200/JOP.2011. 000316

53. Leng J, Lee T, Li Y, Stern C, Chen MH, Winkel G, et al. Support needs of Chinese immigrant cancer patients. *Support Care Cancer.* (2014) 22:33–42. doi: 10.1007/s00520-013-1950-0

54. Le M-N, Nguyen GT, Pan Z, Maglalang DD, Butt F, Bautista R, et al. Unmet needs of Asian American and pacific islander cancer survivors. *J Cancer Educ.* (2015) 32:374–81. doi: 10.1007/s13187-015-0952-7

55. The Impact of COVID-19 on Asian Americans Jobs | Accountability in Action. Available online at: https://projects.iq.harvard.edu/aia/news/impact-covid-19-asian-americans-jobs

56. The Fed - Executive Summary. Available online at: https://www. federalreserve.gov/publications/2019-economic-well-being-of-us-householdsin-2018-executive-summary.htm

57. Dean LT, Moss SL, Ransome Y, Frasso-Jaramillo L, Zhang Y, Visvanathan K, et al. It still affects our economic situation": long-term economic burden of breast cancer and lymphedema. *Support Care Cancer*. (2019) 27:1697–708. doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4418-4

58. What a \$400 emergency expense tells us about the economy. *Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis*. Available online at: https://www.minneapolisfed.org/article/2021/what-a-400-dollar-emergency-expense-tells-us-about-the-economy

59. Mariotto AB, Enewold L, Zhao J, Zeruto CA, Yabroff KR. Medical care costs associated with cancer survivorship in the United States. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2020) 29:1304–12. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-19-1534

60. Walmsley T, Rose A, Wei D. The impacts of the coronavirus on the economy of the united states. *EconDisCliCha*. (2020) 10:1–52. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3678835

61. Islam JY, Vidot DC, Camacho-Rivera M. Evaluating mental healthrelated symptoms among cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic: an analysis of the COVID impact survey. *JCO Oncol Pract.* (2021) 17:e1258-69. doi: 10.1200/OP.20.00752

62. Rentscher KE, Zhou X, Small BJ, Cohen HJ, Dilawari AA, Patel SK, et al. Loneliness and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic in older breast cancer survivors and noncancer controls. *Cancer.* (2021) 127:3671-9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33687

63. Leach CR, Kirkland EG, Masters M, Sloan K, Rees-Punia E, Patel AV, et al. Cancer survivor worries about treatment disruption and detrimental health outcomes due to the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Psychosoc Oncol.* (2021) 39:347–65. doi: 10.1080/07347332.2021.1888184

64. The Fed - Report on the Economic Well-Being of U.S. Households in 2020. (2020). Available online at: https://www.federalreserve.gov/publications/2021-economic-well-being-of-us-households-in-2020-executive-summary.htm

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Elham Hatef, Johns Hopkins Medicine, United States

REVIEWED BY Dhirendra Nath, Pokhara University, Nepal George N. Chidimbah Munthali, Yangtze University, China

*correspondence Echu Liu ⊠ echu.liu@slu.edu

[†]These authors share first authorship

RECEIVED 11 January 2023 ACCEPTED 16 June 2023 PUBLISHED 07 July 2023

CITATION

Dean CA, Liu E, Enard KR, Qian Z and Elder KT (2023) Factors associated with food insecurity among the chronically ill population during the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. *Front. Public Health* 11:1142603. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1142603

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Dean, Liu, Enard, Qian and Elder. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Factors associated with food insecurity among the chronically ill population during the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States

Caress A. Dean^{1†}, Echu Liu^{2*†}, Kimberly R. Enard², Zhengmin Qian³ and Keith T. Elder⁴

¹School of Health Sciences, Oakland University, Rochester, MI, United States, ²Department of Health Management and Policy, College for Public Health and Social Justice, Saint Louis University, Saint Louis, MO, United States, ³Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, College for Public Health and Social Justice, Saint Louis University, Saint Louis, MO, United States, ⁴Mississippi College, Clinton, MS, United States

Introduction: Little is known about food insecurity among Americans with chronic diseases, one of the vulnerable groups in health care. Factors influencing food insecurity among this population group are especially poorly understood.

Methods: Using data from the COVID Impact Survey, this cross-sectional study sought to examine food insecurity among adults with chronic diseases in the United States and to identify factors associated with their risks for food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Results: Nearly 28% of the national and 32% of the regional samples from the COVID Impact Survey were at risk for food insecurity. The logistic regressions show that chronically ill US adults with one of the following characteristics have higher odds of being at risk for food insecurity: younger than 60 years, having financial stress, unemployed, having received food from a food pantry, without health insurance, having a household income lower than \$100,000, and without a college degree.

Discussion: Targeted policies and programs are warranted to address underlying determinants of food insecurity that adults with chronic illnesses experience.

KEYWORDS

food insecurity, chronically ill, COVID-19, pandemic, United States

Introduction

A growing body of literature has identified a relationship between food insecurity and chronic conditions (1–5). For example, Gundersen and Ziliak's study indicated that decreased nutrient intake is associated with fair or poor health and chronic illnesses such as diabetes, depression, and hypertension among non-senior adults (5). The literature has also shown lower food security related to the number of reported chronic conditions among working-age adults (2). Research has ascertained underlying factors of food insecurity among the chronically ill, in which the receipt of Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) beneficiaries had a higher mortality rate for chronic conditions, such as cardiovascular disease and diabetes, compared to their non-SNAP

counterparts (6–8). Their employment status may play a role in decreasing their food insecurity and accessing disease management services that may affect their mortality rate. However, research suggests that many SNAP recipients experience unstable employment (9). Specifically, a longitudinal study examining employment patterns among SNAP recipients determined that about two thirds of non-disabled SNAP recipients had unemployment periods within the study's 3.5-year timeframe (9). Several studies have documented that SNAP beneficiaries who were not working reported their health, such as chronic conditions, as the reason (9, 10). These studies demonstrate the vulnerability of SNAP recipients with chronic diseases and food insecurity.

Unemployment and food insecurity have also been associated with being chronically ill among non-SNAP recipients (11). Previous research has identified the highest prevalence of chronic conditions among working-age adults who cannot work, followed by those who have been unemployed for at least 1 year, and then those unemployed for less than 12 months (12). Unemployment, along with the presence of chronic conditions, may create financial stress, which may affect adults' health behaviors (13, 14). Multiple studies have reported that US adults with chronic illnesses have delayed care or do not adhere to their medication regimen due to cost concerns (15, 16). Their financial stress may also affect their dietary behavior, such as decreasing the consumption of healthy foods (13) and increasing the use of food pantries. A substantially high number of chronically ill US adults have been reported to utilize food pantries (17-20), with individuals having a high prevalence of modifiable conditions, including obesity, diabetes, hypertension, high cholesterol, heart disease, and stroke (20). With the increased use of food pantries among the chronically ill, disease management interventions have been implemented in food pantries to reach this population (19, 20). However, the COVID-19 pandemic may have affected this population's use of these pantries.

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, food insecurity was one of the leading public health issues, with nearly 820 million people worldwide being food insecure in 2018 (21). The pandemic amplified this burden, as the United Nations reported in 2020 that 928 million people were severely food insecure (22), which may affect the diet and health outcomes of those with chronic conditions. Chronically ill individuals who experience food insecurity are a high-risk population, and the COVID-19 pandemic may have exacerbated their food insecurity. However, this relationship is understudied. Moreover, the pandemic has affected employment, SNAP benefits, and food pantry use, identified as factors associated with chronic condition status and food insecurity. Therefore, this study sought to address these gaps in the literature by examining food insecurity among adults with chronic diseases in the United States and identifying factors associated with their risks for food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Materials and methods

Data source

This cross-sectional study used data from the COVID Impact Survey (23). The COVID Impact Survey was fielded by the National Opinion Research Center (NORC) at the University of Chicago over 3 weeks (April 20–26, 2020; May 4–10, 2020; and May 30–June 8, 2020). Data collected from these weeks are available for download on the survey's website (23). We merged these three data sets for the analysis in this work.

One of the COVID Impact Survey's critical aims was to generate national and regional statistics about various aspects of Americans' lives during the pandemic; therefore, it surveyed a subset of the national and regional population to reflect accurately the larger group's characteristics (4). The subset of the national population, the national sample hereafter, is from the NORC's AmeriSpeak Panel (23), a panel of individuals selected from a 48-strata sampling based on age, race/ Hispanic ethnicity, education, and gender (24). The subset of the regional population, the regional sample hereafter, includes adults from 18 regional areas, including 10 states (CA, CO, FL, LA, MN, MO, MT, NY, OR, and TX) and eight metropolitan statistical areas (Atlanta, Baltimore, Birmingham, Chicago, Cleveland, Columbus, Phoenix, and Pittsburgh) (23). These individuals were contacted via a U.S. Postal Service delivery-sequence file encompassing approximately 97% of US households (24).

The COVID Impact Survey was conducted in English and Spanish among US adults 18 years and older to examine their physical and mental health, economic status, and social systems (23). A total of 25,269 individuals completed the study. All participants in this survey received a monetary incentive (23). Additional details on the methodological approach of the COVID Impact Survey can be found on the Data Foundation's website (25).

Study sample

Our analysis focuses on those participants of all three waves of the COVID Impact Survey with at least one of the following chronic conditions: (1) diabetes; (2) high blood pressure or hypertension; (3) heart disease, heart attack, or stroke; (4) asthma; (5) chronic lung disease and COPD; (6) bronchitis and emphysema; (7) allergies; (8) a mental health condition; (9) cystic fibrosis; (10) liver disease or end-stage liver disease; (11) cancer; (12) a compromised immune system; or (13) overweight or obese. As a result, 4,964 of the national sample and 14,530 of the regional sample remained valid for analysis. After excluding those observations with missing responses to the survey questions used as the basis for constructing dependent and independent variables in this study, 4,809 of the national sample and 13,486 of the regional sample are used for the analysis.

Measures

Dependent variable

The dependent variable of interest is a binary indicator constructed according to participants' responses to the following two questions in the COVID Impact Survey: (1) "Please indicate whether the following statement was often true (=1), sometimes true (=2), or never true (=3) for you or your household in the past 30 days: We worried our food would run out before we got money to buy more." (2) "Please indicate whether the following statement was often true (=1), sometimes true (=2), or never true (=3) for you or your household in the past 30 days: The food we bought did not last, and we did not have money to get more." If a participant's answer to the above two questions is "often true" or "sometimes true," their

households are at risk for food insecurity, and the dependent variable equals 1. Otherwise, the dependent variable equals 0 (26).

Independent variables

The following variables, created in line with the demographics or characteristics reported in the COVID Impact Survey, were considered as the potential predictors of being at risk for food insecurity: (1) age, (2) whether an individual respondent has financial stress, (3) whether an individual respondent has worked in the past 7 days, (4) whether an individual respondent has received SNAP or Food Stamps, (5) whether an individual respondent has received food from a food pantry, (6) whether an individual respondent has received food from a food pantry, (6) whether an individual respondent is a female), (8) race (whether an individual respondent is a minority), (9) household income, (10) educational attainment, (11) household size, (12) census region, and (13) area of residence. Given that the responses to the COVID Impact Survey's age, household income, and household size questions were recorded on an ordinal scale, age, household income, and household size are categorical variables.

Age is a variable with four categories: 18–29, 30–44, 45–59, and 60 or older. Financial stress is a binary indicator that equals 1 if a participant said they would need to cover an unexpected \$400 expense by relying on one or more of the following outlets: (1) putting it on a credit card and paying it off over time; (2) money from a bank loan or line of credit; (3) borrowing from a friend or family member; (4) using a payday loan, deposit advance, or overdraft; (5) selling something, or (6) would not be able to pay for it right now.

Whether an individual respondent has received SNAP or Food Stamps is a binary indicator that equals 1 if they have received SNAP or Food Stamps when being interviewed. Whether an individual respondent has worked in the past 7 days, whether an individual respondent has received food from a food pantry, whether an individual respondent has health insurance, and gender are defined similarly. The COVID Impact Survey asks and solicits information about its respondents' racial backgrounds by categorizing them into (1) White, non-Hispanic; (2) Black, non-Hispanic; (3) Hispanic; and (4) Other, non-Hispanic. Because non-White respondents account for a smaller percentage (less than 30%) of the national sample, we created a binary indicator of a minority that equals 1 if an individual respondent is non-white and 0 otherwise.

Based on the survey responses, we used five binary indicators to categorize our sample's household income: less than \$10,000; \$10,000 to \$29,999; \$30,000 to \$49,999; \$50,000 to \$99,999; and higher than \$100,000. Because educational attainment critically determines income, we also considered the respondent's highest level of education by including the following four dichotomous variables in our analysis: less than high school, high school, some college, and a bachelor's degree or higher. Household size is also associated with household income; therefore, we used six dummy variables to categorize our study sample's household size according to data the COVID Impact Survey collected: one, two, three, four, five, and six or more.

Income levels reportedly varied across regions (27), so the four dummies, equal to 1 if a survey respondent's household is in the Northeast, Midwest, South, or West region, were included in our analysis as potentially independent variables. People living in some urban and rural areas may have limited access to full-service supermarkets or grocery stores (28); therefore, a variable defining area of residence (urban, suburban, and rural) was also included.

Statistical analysis

Our statistical analysis consists of three steps. First, we summarize our data by creating a frequency table (Table 1). Second, we summarize the characteristics of our study sample by their food insecurity status and test whether the features are independent of food insecurity status (Tables 2, 3). Third, multivariate logistic regressions were used to estimate the odds of being at risk for food insecurity. Any variable having a significant univariate test at a 5% level in the previous step was selected as potential independent variables for the multivariate analysis. The variance inflation factor (VIF) was computed for these predictors chosen before they were included in the regressions to ensure the non-existence of multicollinearity. Sampling weights from the COVID Impact Survey were considered when performing the regressions, and a p < 0.05 was considered the significant level for statistical tests. All analyses were conducted using STATA 15.1.

Results

Approximately 29% of the national sample in our analysis reported being at risk for food insecurity (Table 1). This percentage was slightly higher among the regional sample, with over 31% reporting being at risk for food insecurity. The age distributions of the national and regional samples included in this study are similar, but the national sample has a slightly higher percentage of individuals over 45 years old. A more significant portion of the regional sample (51.87%) reported experiencing financial stress than the national sample (45.87%) did. A higher percentage of the regional sample, compared to the national sample, reported receiving SNAP or Food Stamps (13.90% vs. 11.29%). The same conclusion is applied to food pantry assistance (8.50% vs. 7.60%).

Table 1 also reports that most national and regional samples included in this study have health insurance coverage (92.82 and 89.60%, respectively). Additionally, the regional sample has more minorities than the national sample (40.26% vs. 34.81%) does. Both national and regional samples, as Table 1 indicates, have a similar household income distribution; most households have income between \$50,000 and \$99,999. Table 1 also shows that most national and regional samples included in this study have a high school or above degrees and live in the south and urban areas. The household size distributions for national and regional samples differ, as Table 1 indicates. For the national sample, households with a single person have the highest frequency, while two-people households have the highest frequency for the regional sample.

As Table 2 demonstrates, whether an individual in the national sample included in this study is at risk for food insecurity differs according to their ages, financial stress status, working status, the status of receiving public assistance (SNAP or Food Stamps), the status of receiving food assistance (food pantry), health insurance status, gender, race, household income, educational attainment, and household size. Table 3 shows whether an individual in the regional sample included in our analysis is at risk for food insecurity, which differs by the same set of variables and the US census region. The VIF value for these variables ranges between 1.04 and 3.10 for the national sample and 1.05 and 3.53 for the regional sample. Therefore, multicollinearity does not seem to be a concern for including these variables as predictors in the logistic regressions.

TABLE 1 Frequency of characteristics: national and regional samples.

Variables	National	sample*	Regional sample [†]			
	n	% [‡]	n	%‡		
Being at risk for food insecurity				ł		
les .	1,305	28.72	2,484	31.68		
No	3,504	71.28	11,002	68.32		
Age						
8-29	566	17.51	1,464	18.35		
30-44	1,346	23.86	2,854	25.68		
15-59	1,153	25.05	3,238	23.46		
50+	1,744	33.58	5,930	32.51		
Having financial stress		47.07				
<i>Tes</i>	2,097	45.87	4.947	51.87		
No	2,712	54.13	8,539	48.13		
Working in the past 7 days						
<i>T</i> es	2,296	46.84	6,692	46.12		
No	2,513	53.16	6,794	53.88		
Having received SNAP or food stamps		1	1	1		
7es	581	11.29	1,043	13.90		
lo	4,228	88.71	12,443	86.10		
laving received food from a food pantry						
<i>T</i> es	358	7.60	644	8.50		
Jo	4,451	92.40	12,842	91.50		
Covered by health insurance						
les	4,480	92.82	12,834	89.60		
No	329	7.18	652	10.40		
Being a female	,	, 	'	'		
<i>T</i> es	2,538	53.36	7,889	52.75		
No	2,271	46.64	5,597	47.25		
Being a minority						
les	1,633	34.81	2,947	40.26		
No	3,176	65.19	10,539	59.74		
Household income						
Less than \$10,000	256	5.65	664	9.03		
Between \$10,000 and \$29,999	1,013	21.14	2,114	22.63		
Between \$30,000 and \$49,999	962	19.52	2,199	17.54		
Between \$50,000 and \$99,999	1,587	31.56	4,427	28.18		
More than \$100,000	991	22.12	4,082	22.63		
Education	<i>771</i>	22.12	1,002	22.03		
	240	0.72	257	0 5/		
Less than high school	240	9.73	357	8.56		
High school	865	27.15	1,407	27.66		
come college	2,045	28.98	3,832	31.59		
College or above	1,659	34.13	7,890	32.19		
Household size						
Dne	1,516	35.20	4,183	28.01		
Гwo	1,346	25.67	5,200	33.03		
Three	688	13.72	1,862	16.04		

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Variables	National	sample*	Regional sample [†]		
	n	% [‡]	n	% [‡]	
Four	479	9.64	1,340	11.63	
Five	308	5.96	584	6.67	
Six or more	472	9.82	317	4.63	
Census region			·		
Northeast	709	18.01	1,534	14.76	
Midwest	1,212	21.03	3,889	18.67	
South	1,695	38.47	4,210	36.94	
West	1,193	22.49	3,853	29.62	
Are of residence	,	'	·	'	
Urban	3,474	70.39	10,816	81.78	
Suburban	935	20.19	2,001	13.72	
Rural	400	9.42	669	4.51	

*N=4,809.

[†]N=13,486.

[‡]Weighted percentages.

TABLE 2 Characteristics of the national sample $\ensuremath{^*}$ by the risk status of food insecurity.

Variables	Being at risk for food insecurity	Not being at risk for food insecurity	<i>p</i> value
Age (% [*])			0.00
18-29	212 (25.87)	354 (14.14)	
30-44	475 (32.52)	871 (20.37)	
45-59	325 (22.64)	828 (26.02)	
60+	293 (18.97)	1,451 (39.47)	
Having financial stress (% [‡])			0.00
Yes	1,050 (82.03)	1,047 (31.29)	
No	255 (17.97)	2,457 (68.71)	
Working in the past 7 days (% [‡])			0.00
Yes	502 (38.92)	1,794 (50.04)	
No	803 (61.08)	1,710 (49.96)	
Having received SNAP or Food Stamps			0.00
(% [‡])			
Yes	353 (25.80)	228 (5.45)	
No	952 (74.20)	3,276 (94.55)	
Having received food from a food pantry (% [‡])			0.00
Yes	245 (18.99)	113 (3.01)	
No	1,060 (81.01)	3,391 (96.99)	
Covered by health insurance (% [‡])			0.00
Yes	1,139 (87.39)	3,341 (95.01)	
No	166 (12.61)	163 (4.99)	
Being a female (% [‡])			0.00
Yes	774 (59.99)	1,764 (50.68)	
No	531 (40.01)	1,740 (49.32)	
Being a minority (% [‡])			0.00

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Variables	Being at risk for food insecurity	Not being at risk for food insecurity	<i>p</i> value
Yes	665 (46.30)	968 (30.17)	
No	640 (53.70)	2,536 (69.83)	
Household income (% [‡])			0.00
Less than \$10,000	156 (13.46)	100 (2.51)	
Between \$10,000 and \$29,999	459 (34.08)	554 (15.93)	
Between \$30,000 and \$49,999	301 (20.89)	661 (18.97)	
Between \$50,000 and \$99,999	301 (24.17)	1,286 (34.54)	
More than \$100,000	88 (7.40)	903 (28.05)	
Education (% [*])			0.00
Less than high school	128 (18.87)	112 (6.05)	
High school	317 (34.76)	548 (24.09)	
Some college	606 (30.10)	1,439 (28.53)	
College or above	254 (16.27)	1,405 (41.33)	
Household size (% [‡])			0.00
One	356 (30.92)	1,160 (36.93)	
Two	258 (17.98)	1,088 (28.76)	
Three	199 (15.00)	489 (13.20)	
Four	155 (11.53)	324 (8.88)	
Five	126 (7.59)	182 (5.30)	
Six or more	211 (16.98)	261 (6.93)	
Census region (% [‡])			0.48
Northeast	183 (19.25)	526 (17.51)	
Midwest	300 (19.59)	912 (21.61)	
South	516 (39.67)	1,179 (37.98)	
West	306 (21.48)	887 (22.90)	
Are of residence (% [‡])			0.47
Urban	926 (69.00)	2,548 (70.95)	
Suburban	249 (20.48)	686 (20.08)	
Rural	130 (10.53)	270 (8.98)	

*N = 4,809.

*Weighted percentages.

Table 4 depicts the association between those predictor variables identified from Table 2 and the odds of being the risk for food insecurity among the national sample included in our study. According to this table, the odds for the national sample aged at least 60 years old to be at risk of having food shortage is 0.41 times that of those who are under 60 (odds ratio [OR] = 0.41, 95% Confidence Interval [CI]: 0.28–0.61). In addition, financially stressed respondents' odds of experiencing food shortage are 5.54 times that of those who are not economically stressed (OR=5.54, 95% CI: 4.37–7.03). Compared to those who did not work in the past 7 days, respondents who worked in the past 7 days had lower odds of being at risk of running out of food (OR=0.72, 95% CI: 0.56–0.93). Regarding the use of food assistance services, the national sample in our study who reported receiving SNAP or Food Stamps (OR=1.49, 95% CI:1.08–2.06) or receiving food at a food pantry (OR=3.26,

95% CI:2.13–5.00) had significantly higher odds of being at risk for food insecurity.

Table 4 also shows that for national samples with health insurance coverage in our study, their odds of being at risk for food insecurity is 0.66 times that of those without (OR=0.66, 95% CI: 0.46–0.96). Compared to survey respondents with a household income of more than \$100,000, the odds of being at risk for food insecurity are significantly higher for those with less household income, as Table 4 indicates. In general, respondents with less educational attainment and a larger household size were estimated to have higher odds of being at risk of running out of food, based on the estimated ORs reported in Table 4.

Similar to the results from the analysis of the national sample reported in Tables 4, 5 shows being at risk of food insecurity is more common among those who are financially stressed (OR = 5.25, 95% CI:

TABLE 3 Characteristics of the regional sample \ast by the risk status of food insecurity.

Variables	Being at risk for food insecurity	Not being at risk for food insecurity	<i>p</i> value
Age (% [‡])			0.00
18–29	492 (28.26)	972 (13.76)	
30-44	735 (31.51)	2,119 (22.98)	
45-59	676 (22.10)	2,562 (24.08)	
60+	581 (18.12)	5,349 (39.18)	
Having financial stress (%*)			0.00
Yes	2,115 (88.78)	2,832 (34.75)	
No	369 (11.22)	8,170 (65.25)	
Working in the past 7 days (% [‡])			0.00
Yes	943 (33.48)	5,749 (51.99)	
No	1,541 (66.52)	5,253 (48.01)	
Having received SNAP or Food Stamps (% [‡])			0.00
Yes	676 (31.12)	367 (5.92)	
No	1,808 (68.88)	10,635 (94.08)	
Having received food from a food pantry (% [*])			0.00
Yes	441 (20.76)	203 (2.81)	
No	2,043 (79.24)	10,799 (97.19)	
Covered by health insurance (%*)			0.00
Yes	2,145 (79.53)	10,689 (94.28)	
No	339 (20.47)	313 (5.72)	
Being a female (% [‡])			0.00
Yes	1,784 (64.23)	6,105 (47.43)	
No	700 (35.77)	4,897 (52.57)	
Being a minority (% [‡])			0.00
Yes	1,070 (57.83)	1,877 (32.11)	
No	1,414 (42.17)	9,125 (67.89)	
Household income (% [‡])			0.00
Less than \$10,000	434 (21.57)	230 (3.21)	
Between \$10,000 and \$29,999	903 (40.60)	1,211 (14.30)	
Between \$30,000 and \$49,999	539 (19.00)	1,660 (16.86)	
Between \$50,000 and \$99,999	483 (15.52)	3,944 (34.04)	
More than \$100,000	125 (3.31)	3,957 (31.58)	
Education (% [‡])			0.00
Less than high school	233 (19.15)	124 (3.65)	
High school	548 (38.36)	859 (22.70)	
Some college	1,016 (32.27)	2,816 (31.28)	
College or above	687 (10.22)	7,203 (42.38)	
Household size (% [‡])			0.00
One	761 (23.80)	3,422 (29.96)	
Тwo	650 (22.76)	4,550 (37.79)	
Three	425 (19.96)	1,437 (14.22)	
Four	293 (12.26)	1,047 (11.34)	
Five	205 (12.20)	379 (4.28)	

157

TABLE 3 (Continued)

Variables	Being at risk for food insecurity	Not being at risk for food insecurity	<i>p</i> value
Six or more	150 (9.40)	167 (2.41)	
Census region (% [‡])			0.01
Northeast	291 (16.14)	1,243 (14.12)	
Midwest	626 (15.97)	3,263 (19.93)	
South	943 (39.56)	3,267 (35.73)	
West	624 (28.33)	3,229 (30.22)	
Are of residence (% [‡])			0.07
Urban	1,931 (79.52)	8,885 (82.84)	
Suburban	393 (15.47)	1,608 (12.89)	
Rural	160 (5.01)	509 (4.27)	

*N = 13,486.

[‡]Weighted percentages.

TABLE 4 Estimated odds ratios from the logistic regression using the national sample.*

Characteristics	Estimate	SE [†]	95%	p	
			LL [§]	UL	
Age					
18–29 (reference)					
30-44	1.24	0.22	0.88	1.75	0.23
45–59	0.75	0.14	0.52	1.08	0.12
60+	0.41	0.08	0.28	0.61	0.00
Having a financial stress					
Yes	5.54	0.67	4.37	7.03	0.00
No (reference)					
Working in the past 7 days					
Yes	0.72	0.09	0.56	0.93	0.01
No (reference)					
Having received SNAP or food stamps					
Yes	1.49	0.25	1.08	2.06	0.02
No (reference)					
Having received food from a food pantry					
Yes	3.26	0.71	2.13	5.00	0.00
No (reference)					
Covered by health insurance					
Yes	0.66	0.13	0.46	0.96	0.03
No (reference)					
Being a female	1.11	0.13	0.88	1.39	0.39
Being a minority	1.20	0.14	0.95	1.52	0.13
Household income					
Less than \$10,000	6.17	1.99	3.28	11.62	0.00
Between \$10,000 and \$29,999	3.24	0.69	2.14	4.90	0.00
Between \$30,000 and \$49,999	2.31	0.47	1.55	3.45	0.00
Between \$50,000 and \$99,999	1.91	0.36	1.32	2.76	0.00
More than \$100,000 (reference)					

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Characteristics	Estimate	SE [†]	95% Cl‡		p
			LL	UL	
Education					
Less than high school	2.23	0.56	1.36	3.66	0.00
High school	1.33	0.22	0.97	1.83	0.08
Some college	1.39	0.19	1.07	1.81	0.01
College or above (reference)					
Household size					
One (reference)					
Two	1.07	0.17	0.79	1.46	0.67
Three	1.49	0.28	1.03	2.14	0.03
Four	1.43	0.28	0.97	2.09	0.07
Five	1.41	0.33	0.88	2.24	0.15
Six or more	2.37	0.51	1.56	3.60	0.00

*N=4,809.

 $^{\dagger}\text{SE},$ standard error.

[‡]CI, confidence interval.

[§]LL, lower limit; UL, upper limit.

TABLE 5 Estimated odds ratios from the logistic regression using the regional sample.*

Characteristics	Estimate	SE [†]	955	% Cl‡	р
			LL	UL	
Age					
18–29 (reference)					
30-44	1.29	0.21	0.93	1.77	0.12
45-59	0.90	0.16	0.64	1.26	0.53
60+	0.46	0.08	0.33	0.65	0.00
Having a financial stress	'		J		
Yes	5.25	0.61	4.18	6.59	0.00
No (reference)					
Working in the past 7 days				^	
Yes	0.77	0.09	0.61	0.98	0.03
No (reference)					
Having received, applied for, or tried to apply for SNA	AP				
Yes	1.25	0.21	0.90	1.75	0.19
No (reference)					
Having received food from a food pantry					
Yes	3.47	0.66	2.38	5.04	0.00
No (reference)					
Covered by health insurance					
Yes	0.57	0.11	0.39	0.83	0.00
No (reference)					
Being a female	1.17	0.13	0.94	1.45	0.16
Being a minority	1.45	0.16	1.16	1.80	0.00
Household income					
Less than \$10,000	13.84	3.85	8.02	23.89	0.00

TABLE 5 (Continued)

Characteristics	Estimate	SE [†]	95	p	
			۲۲	UL	
Between \$10,000 and \$29,999	9.54	2.15	6.13	14.84	0.00
Between \$30,000 and \$49,999	5.66	1.22	3.71	8.63	0.00
Between \$50,000 and \$99,999	2.84	0.59	1.89	4.27	0.00
More than \$100,000 (reference)					
Education					
Less than high school	3.23	0.76	2.03	5.13	0.00
High school	1.89	0.28	1.41	2.53	0.00
Some college	1.63	0.20	1.28	2.08	0.00
College or above (reference)					
Household size					
One (reference)					
Two	1.43	0.20	1.09	1.87	0.01
Three	1.99	0.36	1.39	2.85	0.00
Four	1.49	0.29	1.01	2.20	0.04
Five	3.73	0.86	2.37	5.85	0.00
Six or more	2.54	0.74	1.44	4.48	0.00
Census region			·		
Northeast	1.16	0.21	0.82	1.64	0.41
Midwest	0.95	0.12	0.74	1.21	0.68
South (reference)					
West	0.98	0.13	0.75	1.28	0.88

*N, 13,486.

[†]SE, standard error.

[‡]CI, confidence interval.

[§]LL, lower limit; UL, upper limit.

4.18–6.59) and have food from a food pantry (OR=3.47, 95% CI: 2.38–5.64). Additionally, those aged at least 60 years old in the regional sample for our analysis have lower odds of being at risk for a food shortage (OR=0.46, 95% CI: 0.33–0.65). Furthermore, for non-White respondents in our regional sample data, the odds of being at risk of food shortage is 1.45 times that of White respondents, according to Table 4 (OR=1.45, 95% CI: 1.16–1.80). In contrast, the regional sample aged over 60 years, working in the past 7 days, having health insurance, having a household income of more than \$100,000, having a college education, or households with only one member in the household included in this study has lower odds of being at risk for food insecurity.

In summary, our logistics regression results show that, among the chronically ill US population, those who are older, work, have health insurance coverage, have higher income, or are more educated tend to have lower odds of a food shortage. Conversely, people with financial challenges or who rely on food assistance programs tend to have higher odds of a food shortage.

Discussion

The COVID-19 pandemic increased food insecurity, which may affect the diet and health outcomes of the chronically ill. This

cross-sectional study determined that, among the national sample of the COVID Impact Survey, those who were chronically sick and received SNAP benefits or food from a food pantry had a higher risk of running out of food. However, no studies have examined the relationship between SNAP benefits, chronic illnesses, and food insecurity during the pandemic nationally. One prior study found that receiving SNAP benefits significantly associated with food insecurity among adults aged 65 and older during the pandemic (11). The same study also found a high prevalence of chronic conditions among older adults who were food insecure (11). These findings highlight the importance of ensuring access to food assistance programs among the chronically ill during public health emergencies.

Note that the relationship between SNAP benefits and food security risk among the regional sample of chronically ill participants was not statistically significant. State-level differences in SNAP benefits may have influenced this relationship. Additional research should be conducted to understand the influence of geographic location on receiving SNAP benefits for the chronically ill during the pandemic.

Among the national and regional samples, the odds of reporting financial stress were five times higher among chronically ill participants at risk of food insecurity than their non-risk counterparts. These findings are disconcerting as previous studies have linked delayed care and nonadherence to treatment regimens to cost concerns (15, 16) and economic pressure to consume an unhealthy diet (13, 14). As a result, chronically ill individuals' conditions may have worsened. Further research should be performed to assess the impact of this population's financial stress during the pandemic on health behaviors and determine the implications of their financial stress on their current and future disease status.

In the national and regional samples, chronically ill participants who did work in the past 7 days had significantly lower odds of being at risk for food insecurity. Similarly, sick, chronically participants who reported having health insurance coverage had significantly lower odds of being at risk for food insecurity. No studies have examined job loss among the chronically ill during the pandemic. However, an unprecedented number of job and wage losses did occur due to the stay-at-home orders (14, 15) and may have affected those with chronic conditions. Additionally, previous research has found chronically ill US adults are more likely to have some form of health insurance (29). Therefore, the association with no coverage among chronically ill participants with food insecurity risk may stem from the high unemployment rate and loss of employer-sponsored health coverage. This theory is supported by a study that determined 2.7 million Americans lost health insurance during 12 weeks of the pandemic (30). However, this study did not focus on the chronically ill population. Therefore, future research should be conducted to ascertain health insurance loss among the sick chronically at risk of food insecurity during the pandemic.

This study has limitations to consider. The study utilized a crosssectional design; therefore, a causal relationship cannot be determined. Participants self-reported their responses, allowing for recall bias. This study is also subjected to selection bias due to online and telephone interviews. Data collection occurred from March 2020 to June 2020. It utilized different sample populations during each data collection point, which prohibits understanding food security of the chronically ill over time during the pandemic. The data do not contain information on the food insecurity risk among participants before the pandemic; therefore, this study cannot determine the direct effect of COVID-19 on food insecurity among the chronically ill.

A growing body of literature describes the complex and bidirectional relationship between food insecurity and chronic illnesses (12, 13, 19). However, little is known about the effect of

References

1. Laraia BA. Food insecurity and chronic disease. Adv Nutr. (2013) 4:203–12. doi: 10.3945/an.112.003277

2. Gregory CA, Coleman-Jensen A (2017). Food insecurity, chronic disease, and health among working-age adults. Available at: https://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/pub-details/?pubid=84466 (Accessed May 15, 2023).

3. Decker D, Flynn M. Food insecurity and chronic disease: addressing food access as a healthcare issue. *R I Med J.* (2018) 101:28–30.

4. Weaver LJ, Fasel CB. A systematic review of the literature on the relationships between chronic diseases and food insecurity. *Food Nutr Sci.* (2018) 09:519–41. doi: 10.4236/fns.2018.95040

5. Gundersen C, Ziliak JP. Food insecurity and health outcomes. *Health Aff.* (2015) 34:1830–9. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0645

6. Conrad Z, Rehm CD, Wilde P, Mozaffarian D. Cardiometabolic mortality by supplemental nutrition assistance program participation and eligibility in the United States. *Am J Public Health*. (2017) 107:466–74. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303608

7. Kinsey EW, Dupuis R, Oberle M, Cannuscio CC, Hillier A. Chronic disease selfmanagement within the monthly benefit cycle of the supplemental nutrition assistance program. *Public Health Nutr.* (2019) 22:2248–59. doi: 10.1017/S1368980019001071 COVID-19 on this relationship. This study's outcomes address this void because it identified factors associated with a risk of food insecurity among the chronically ill during the pandemic. These findings can be utilized in future research to inform targeted policies and programs to support this vulnerable population and to ensure access to food assistance programs and health insurance during future public health emergencies.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

KRE, ZQ, and KTE contributed to the study's conception and design. EL and CAD organized the database and wrote the first and second drafts of the manuscript. EL performed the statistical analysis. CAD, KRE, ZQ, and KTE reviewed and revised all manuscript sections. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

8. Kris-Etherton PM, Petersen KS, Velarde G, Barnard ND, Miller M, Ros E, et al. Barriers, opportunities, and challenges in addressing disparities in diet-related cardiovascular disease in the United States. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2020) 9:e014433. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.014433

9. Keith-Jennings B, Chaudhry R (2018). *Most working-age SNAP participants work, but often in unstable jobs.* Washington, DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. Available at: https://www.cbpp.org/research/food-assistance/most-working-age-snap-participants-work-but-often-in-unstable-jobs (Accessed May 15, 2023).

10. Bauer L, Schanzenbach DW, Shambaugh J (2018). Work requirements and safety net programs. *The Hamilton Project* Available at: https://www.brookings.edu/research/work-requirements-and-safety-net-programs/ (Accessed May 15, 2023).

11. Cai J, Bidulescu A. The association between chronic conditions, COVID-19 infection, and food insecurity among the older US adults: findings from the 2020–2021 National Health Interview Survey. *BMC Public Health*. (2023) 23:179. doi: 10.1186/s12889-023-15061-8

12. Silver SR, Li J, Quay B. Employment status, unemployment duration, and health-related metrics among US adults of prime working age: behavioral risk factor surveillance system, 2018–2019. *Am J Ind Med.* (2022) 65:59–71. doi: 10.1002/ajim.23308

13. Sharma SV, Chuang R-J, Rushing M, Naylor B, Ranjit N, Pomeroy M, et al. Social determinants of health-related needs during COVID-19 among low-income households with children. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2020) 17:E119. doi: 10.5888/pcd17.200322

14. Seligman HK, Schillinger D. Hunger and socioeconomic disparities in chronic disease. *N Engl J Med.* (2010) 363:6–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1000072

15. Smith KT, Monti D, Mir N, Peters E, Tipirneni R, Politi MC. Access is necessary but not sufficient: factors influencing delay and avoidance of health care services. *MDM Policy Pract.* (2018) 3:2381468318760298. doi: 10.1177/2381468318760298

16. Patel MR, Kruger DJ, Cupal S, Zimmerman MA. Effect of financial stress and positive financial behaviors on cost-related nonadherence to health regimens among adults in a community-based setting. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2016) 13:e46. doi: 10.5888/pcd13.160005

17. Caspi CE, Davey C, Barsness CB, Gordon N, Bohen L, Canterbury M, et al. Needs and preferences among food pantry clients. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2021) 18:e29. doi: 10.5888/pcd18.200531

18. Liu Y, Zhang Y, Remley DT, Eicher-Miller HA. Frequency of food pantry use is associated with diet quality among Indiana food pantry clients. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* (2019) 119:1703–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2019.02.015

19. Seligman HK, Lyles C, Marshall MB, Prendergast K, Smith MC, Headings A, et al. A pilot food bank intervention featuring diabetes-appropriate food improved glycemic control among clients in three states. *Health Aff.* (2015) 34:1956–63. doi: 10.1377/ hlthaff.2015.0641

20. Eicher-Miller HA. A review of the food security, diet and health outcomes of food pantry clients and the potential for their improvement through food pantry interventions in the United States. *Physiol Behav.* (2020) 220:112871. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2020.112871

21. World Health Organization (2019). The state of food security and nutrition in the world 2019: safeguarding against economic slowdowns and downturns. Available at:

https://www.wfp.org/publications/2019-state-food-security-and-nutrition-world-sofi-safeguarding-against-economic (Accessed May 20, 2023).

22. BMC Medicine. Food insecurity: a neglected public health issue requiring multisectoral action. *BMC Med.* (2023) 21:130. doi: 10.1186/s12916-023-02845-3

23. Data Foundation (2020). The COVID impact survey: methodological approach. Available at: https://apnorc.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/COVID-Impact_ Methods-Statement_v3.pdf (Accessed May 1, 2023).

24. Benz J (2020). *Field report*. Chicago, Illinois: NORC. Available at: https://www.covid-impact.org/results (Accessed September 20, 2022).

25. Data Foundation (2020). The COVID impact survey. Available at: https://www.covid-impact.org (Accessed September 1, 2022).

26. Hager E, Quigg AM, Black MM, Coleman SM, Heeren T, Rose-Jacobs R, et al. Development and validity of a 2-item screen to identify families at risk for food insecurity. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 126:e26–32. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-3146

27. Peter G. Peterson Foundation (2023). Income and wealth in the United States: an overview of resent data. Available at: https://www.pgpf.org/blog/2023/02/income-and-wealth-in-the-united-states-an-overview-of-recent-data (Accessed May 1, 2023).

28. Ploeg MV, Breneman V, Farrigan T, Hamrick K, Hopkins D, Kaufman P, et al. (2009). Access to affordable and nutritious food-measuring and understanding food deserts and their consequences: report to congress. Available at: http://www.ers.usda. gov/publications/pub-details/?pubid=42729 (Accessed May 1, 2023).

29. Boersma P, Black LI, Ward BW. Prevalence of multiple chronic conditions among US adults, 2018. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2020) 17:e106. doi: 10.5888/pcd17.200130

30. Bundorf MK, Gupta S, Kim C. Trends in US health insurance coverage during the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Health Forum*. (2021) 2:e212487. doi: 10.1001/jamahealthforum.2021.2487

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Keith Elder, Mississippi College, United States

REVIEWED BY Maria Eugenia Jimenez-Corona, National Institute of Cardiology Ignacio Chavez, Mexico Liane S. Canas, King's College London, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Gustavo Mora-Aguilera Morag@colpos.mx

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 16 July 2022 ACCEPTED 14 July 2023 PUBLISHED 07 August 2023

CITATION

Acevedo-Sánchez G, Mora-Aguilera G, Coria-Contreras JJ and Álvarez-Maya I (2023) Were metabolic and other chronic diseases the driven onset epidemic forces of COVID-19 in Mexico? *Front. Public Health* 11:995602. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.995602

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Acevedo-Sánchez, Mora-Aguilera, Coria-Contreras and Álvarez-Maya. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Were metabolic and other chronic diseases the driven onset epidemic forces of COVID-19 in Mexico?

Gerardo Acevedo-Sánchez^{1†}, Gustavo Mora-Aguilera^{1*†}, Juan J. Coria-Contreras¹ and Ikuri Álvarez-Maya²

¹Laboratory of Epidemiological Risk Analysis (LANREF), Postgraduate College, Montecillo Campus, Texcoco, State of Mexico, Mexico, ²Center for Research and Applied Technology in Jalisco (CIATEJ), Guadalajara, Jalisco, Mexico

The underline hypothesis of this study was that SARS-CoV-2 can infect individuals regardless of health condition, sex, and age in opposition to the classical epidemiological assumption of an identifiable susceptible subpopulation for epidemic development. To address this issue, a population cohort with 24.4 million metadata associated with 226,089 official RT-qPCR positive and 283,450 negative cases, including 27,769 deceased, linked putatively to B.1. and B.1.1. SARS-CoV-2 lineages were analyzed. The analysis baseline was to determine the infection and mortality structure of the diseased cohort at the onset-exponential phase of the first epidemic wave in Mexico under the assumption of limited herd immunity. Individuals with nonchronic diseases (NOCDs) were compared with those exhibiting at least one of 10 chronic diseases (CDs) adjusted by age and sex. Risk factors for infection and mortality were estimated with classification and regression tree (CART) and cluster analysis based on Spearman's matrix of rho-values in RStudio[®], complemented with two proposed mortality indices. SARS-CoV-2 infection was independent of health condition (52.8% NOCD vs. 47.2% CDs; p = 0.001 - 0.009) but influenced by age >46 in one risk analysis scenario (p < 0.001). Sex contributed 9.7% to the overall risk. The independent effect was supported by the health structure of negative cases with a similar tendency but a higher proportion of NOCDs (61.4%, p = 0.007). The infection probability in individuals with one CD was determined by the disease type and age, which was higher in those older individuals (\geq 56 years) exhibiting diabetes (12.3%, cp = 0.0006), hypertension (10.1%, cp < 0.0001), and obesity (7.8%, cp = 0.001). In contrast, the mortality risk was heavily influenced by CD conditioned by sex and age, accounting for 72.3% of total deaths (p = 0.001 - 0.008). Significant mortality risk (48%) was comprised of women and men (w, m) aged \geq 56 years with diabetes (19% w and 27.9% m, cp < 0.0004), hypertension (11.5% w, cp = 0.0001), and CKD (3.5% w and 5.3% m, cp = 0.0009). Older people with diabetes and hypertension comorbidity increased the risk to 60.5% (p = 0.001). Based on a mortality-weighted index, women were more vulnerable to preexisting metabolic or cardiovascular diseases. These findings support our hypothesis and justify the need for surveillance systems at a communitarian level. This is the first study addressing this fundamental epidemiological question.

KEYWORDS

SARS-CoV-2, comorbidities, mortality risk, infection risk, first wave

Introduction

SARS-CoV-2, the most successful zoonotic coronavirus in human history, has caused over 668 million infection cases and more than 6.8 million deaths worldwide through several epidemic waves (1, 2). Since the Wuhan outbreak in China (3), at least 19 variants of the epidemic have emerged and spread rapidly before an effective natural immunological response (4). In infectious epidemic diseases, the classical paradigm behind the susceptible, infected, and recovered (SIR) individuals and any descriptive or predictive epidemiological model imply the preexistence of a susceptible subpopulation due to genetic, epigenetic, clinical, and environmental determinants as the driving forces for contagion (5-10). With COVID-19 epidemics, early findings supported that chronic diseases (CDs), age, and, to a less extent, sex were associated with the success and clinical outcomes of SARS-CoV-2 infection. However, most results were derived at the hospital level, from a small diagnostic dataset, or framed for descriptive epidemiological studies (3, 11, 12). More vital efforts should be addressed from the perspective of mechanistic epidemiology to enhance comprehensive prevention health systems to cope with the increasing risk of emerging and reemerging new human diseases. This study hypothesized that SARS-CoV-2 can infect individuals regardless of their health condition in opposition to the classical epidemiological assumption of an identifiable susceptible subpopulation for epidemic development. It was assumed that fast spreading, limited and unsteady immunological response toward a newly encountered pathogen, constrained clinical knowledge for treatment, and unprepared public health systems were fully expressed during the first wave of the COVID-19 outbreak, thus allowing unrestricted infection scenarios. The first epidemic wave also involved a higher global fatality rate reaching 15.2% (13). The Mexican population, with a high SARS-CoV-2 infection risk due to populated territorial clusters and high incidence of metabolic and cardiovascular chronic diseases in the world, was suitable to address this research (14-16). Previous efforts in Mexico mainly focused on demonstrating the CDs association with COVID-19 clinic course and mortality, thereby lacking a mechanistic epidemiological framework (17-20). This comprehensive study contributes to understanding the epidemiological behavior of new diseases in human populations and provides insights for surveillance and prevention of potential zoonotic outbreaks (21). Moreover, this study was based on big data associated with 509,539 official RT-qPCR test results, comprising 24.4 million metadata (22), which were putatively related to B.1. and B.1.1. SARS-CoV-2 lineages (23, 24), representing the onset-exponential phase of the first epidemic wave in Mexico (28 February to 30 June 2020). Our approach was to determine the subpopulation structure of infection in ambulatory and hospitalized cases, associated with 10 CDs and nonchronic diseases (NOCDs), considering age and sex as demographic factors in a cohort of 226,089 accumulated positive and 283,450 negative individuals, including 27,769 deaths. Therefore, the objective of this study was to establish the subpopulation attributes toward SARS-CoV-2 infection and the contribution of CDs and baseline demographic factors in shaping population vulnerability under the assumption of unrestricted immunological responses, treatments availability, and preventive constraints for contagion during the onset of the first epidemic wave.

Materials and methods

COVID-19 data source

The first step was to collect the official COVID-19 public databases (MS Excel[®], dBase-COVID) of the Mexican Ministry of Health (25), from the first positive SARS-CoV-2 reported on 28 February to 30 June 2020, selected for comprising the onset-exponential phase of the first epidemic wave in Mexico. The dBase-COVID, updated daily, had 581,580 individual records (population–N) and 35 variables (20.4 million metadata), including state and municipal locations, diagnosis results, symptoms expression date, death date, sex, age, and 10 CDs, among others (Figure 1 and Supplementary Table 1). All diagnostic tests were officially regulated and conducted with certified protocols based on real-time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR).

Metadata structure

The second step was to set up the database structure to conform the research objective. The dBase-COVID data were imported into RStudio[®] v1.4.1106 - R Project[®] v4.1.1 and performed in a workstation (HP Z1-G6. IntelCore i7 of 10th generation). Data extraction was performed with readxl, base, rattle, and dplyr functions of Rstudio[®]. Sixteen numerical variables were transformed into categories, e.g., sex 1 = "female", sex 2 = "male", or CD 1 (presence of any chronic disease) = "yes", CD 2 = "no". The geo-location variables were transformed using the official nomenclature of the National Institute of Statistics and Geography (26). Additional 13 synthetic variables were created to potentially enhance the analyses, e.g., days with symptoms at testing or days from detection to death in the hospital settings. The final structured and conform database contained a cohort A of 226,089 positive individuals including 27,769 deaths, linked to 48 variables totaling 10'852272 metadata (Figure 1). A total of 72,041 unconfirmed RT-qPCR tests were excluded from the analysis (Figure 1). In this study, the infected cohort A was conform for all positive cases, symptomatic or asymptomatic at testing, including those individuals who eventually died. Death cases were considered subcohort A' of the infected cases (Figure 1).

To properly assess the age effect on infection, this variable was grouped into five categories (age_c): <29, 30–37, 38–46, 47–56, and >56 years. Similarly, 10 CDs were independently analyzed, as well as by categories (CD_c) according to clinical typology: metabolic (diabetes, obesity, immunosuppressants, and chronic kidney disease); cardiovascular (hypertension and cardiovascular disease); respiratory (asthma, COPD, and smoking), even though smoking is not a CD, it was considered due to implications on pulmonary diseases; "other-CDs" (this general category was specified as such in original data matrix); and a nonchronic



cohort B with 283,450 negative cases.

disease (NOCD) category for the absence of any reported CD on the dataset.

Onset-exponential phase modeling

The third step was to confirm and characterize the onsetexponential epidemic phase intensity by fitting it to the exponential model and comparing 10 COVID-19 epidemics selected from an equal number of countries with the highest reported positive cases at the first wave onset (1). The significant epidemic rate- r_e estimation was fundamental to validate the fastest contagion assumption required to prove the working hypothesis. The comparison among epidemics to depict Mexico's scenario framed the study assumptions' validity. The plotting of all curves characterization was performed with *ggplot* function of RStudio[®] using cumulative daily (*x*) positive cases from onset (y_o) to the inflection curve point. The positive and death data (y) were independently fitted in SAS[®] v9.4 using the nonlinear model:

 $\hat{y} = y_o^{r_e(x)}$. The r_e-parameter and y_o estimated the exponential epidemic rate and positive cases of primary infection, respectively. The goodness-of-fit (R²) and significance level (p < 0.0001) were obtained for comparison purposes.

Probabilistic risk categorization for infection and mortality

The fourth step was to conduct an independent risk categorization analysis for the infection cohort A and mortality subcohort A' by using two approaches: the classification and regression tree (CART) and Spearman's rho correlation linked to a clustering analysis. CART allows for identifying and weighting treedecision rules to generate splitting stratified groups of similar risk toward SARS-CoV-2. These rules were fitted using rpart, rpart.plot, and prp functions and the analysis of variance (ANOVA) among groups in RStudio^(K). The *rpart* and *rpart.plot* best-fitting function for major splitting generated an overall *complexity parameter* (cp) value, cp = 0.000003 (p = 0.001) and cp = 0.000024 (p = 0.001), for infection and mortality CART, respectively. The splitting stratification process runs *n*-iterations for each encountered group until a homogeneity value lower than the *complexity parameter* (*cp*) is reached, thus providing the optimal solution. This parameter estimated and compared the variance homogeneity within groups for the final decision. Each CART was fitted as multiple regression model: $y_i = x_1 + x_2 + x_3 \dots x_n$, where y_i was the infected or death cases as dependent variables, and $x_1...x_n$ were 10 CDs, NOCD, age, and sex as variable predictors. Finally, with prp, a risk tree was built via cross-validation, thus creating stratified groups at the lowest error (27). Only nodes with statistically significant *p*-values ($p \leq$ 0.05) were plotted. Nodes per quartile of cases number were colored using a bar-scale. The CART procedure was selected because (1) it establishes rules based on multivariate criteria to explain overall variance (28); (2) it does not make any statistical distribution assumptions associated with dependent or independent variables (29, 30); and (3) it stratifies and classifies data based on weighted variables to create high- or low-risk homologous groups (30).

The second approach used was Spearman's correlation matrix based on 10 CDs, NOCD, age, and sex variables for pairings rho estimations. Furthermore, a hierarchical cluster analysis was performed using the Euclidian distance of rho-values as a dissimilarity measure among clusters and Ward's minimum variance to minimize the within-cluster variance. Independent dendrograms for the infection cohort A and mortality subcohort A' were plotted with the *tanglegram* function of RStudio^(R) for comparison purposes. In addition, per dendrogram, the infection and mortality relative risk (r) for tree clusters were estimated with $r = [y_{1} \sum y]$ 100, where y is the total infected or death cases and $\sum y$ is the total infected cohort A or mortality subcohort A' (Figure 1). Spearman's correlation matrix and clustering were selected because 1) it standardize data based on the variables' association level, reducing the effect of sample size and 2) it allow estimating a statistical significance ($p \le 0.05$).

The fifth step was to perform analogous analyses with cohort B comprising 283,450 negative cases, assuming individual exposure to the SARS-CoV-2 virus by social contact with positive cases.

The purpose was to analyze the whole population–N' structure toward SARS-CoV-2 infection risk. The overall analyses included 509,539 individuals and 24.4 million metadata (population–N', Figure 1).

A deterministic risk categorization for mortality

To further explain the implication of CD categories on COVID-19 mortality subcohort A' (Figure 1), two relative epidemiological indices were developed to estimate the mortality stratified by age_c and sex. A *mortality index* (MoI) was calculated with the following equation:

$$MoI = \frac{\sum_{ij}^{n} Deaths_{ij}}{\sum_{j}^{n} Cases_{ij}}$$

where $Cases_j$ is the number of positive individuals in *j*; *i* represents the age_c category from n =1 to 5; *j* is the CD_c category from n =1 to 4; and NOCD.

A *mortality-weighted index* (MWI), weighted by the average (\bar{x}) of age in each category, was calculated with the next equation:

$$MWI = \frac{\sum_{ij}^{n} Deaths_{ij} * \bar{x}_{ij}}{\sum Deaths}$$

where *i* and *j* are described as beforehand.

Results

SARS-CoV-2 metadata structure

A total of 226,089 individuals infected with SARS-CoV-2 during the onset-exponential phase of the first COVID-19 epidemic wave in Mexico were included in the study (cohort A; Figure 1 and Supplementary Table 1). The mean age was 45.7 years (range: 10-98 years), with 54.7% male cases. The overall positivity was 44.4% [(infected individuals/total individuals tested) x 100], with an official lethality rate of 12.3%. Hospitalized individuals accounted for 30.8% (62.2% of whom were men), with fatalities reaching 35.5% (65.1% of whom were men). The outpatient mortality was 1.8%. The data represented 32 Mexican states, of which 36% was associated with the metropolitan area of Mexico City and Mexico State with a combined 23.1 million habitants and a density of 6,163.3 and 760.2 residents by square kilometer, respectively. The data comprised a well-conform exponential phase as in selected comparative epidemics but with a relatively lower epidemic rate $(r_e = 0.040 \text{ units } day^1)$, in contrast to Spain, USA, Italy, Russia, the UK, and Peru, which ranged from 0.15 to 0.17 (Figure 2A). In all cases, the exponential model fitted with $R^2 > 0.96$ (Figure 2B). The lethality rate of Mexico was among the highest, in conjunction with Italy, Spain, UK, and Peru.

The infected cohort A, i.e., the total number of positive individuals regardless of the COVID-19 outcome, included 52.8% with NOCDs (53.9% of whom were men). The remaining 47.2%



exhibited at least one CD (55.5% of whom were men), representing 27.1, 13.1, and 7% of single CD, comorbidity, and multimorbidity, respectively. The most reported chronic diseases were obesity (20,539 cases, 52.3% men) and hypertension (14,048 cases, 54.1% men). Grouped into categories, metabolic diseases (i.e., diabetes, obesity, immunosuppressants, and CKD) represented 39.7% of CD cases (Table 1). Diabetes–hypertension (4.5%) and diabetes–hypertension–obesity (2%) were the most prevalent comorbidity and multimorbidity, respectively. The control dataset (cohort B), with 283,450 RT-qPCR negative cases (Figure 1), had similar age, gender, and CD structure to cohort A.

Probabilistic risk categorization for SARS-CoV-2 infection and mortality

As the first probabilistic classificatory approach applied to the infected cohort A (226,089 individuals), tree risk categorization significantly selected age as the primary factor of infection risk, with 46.9% of the explained variance (*cp*-value = 0.000003) (Figure 3A). The age cutoff onto two main probabilistic branches, from which a significant classificatory risk node was derived, was 46 years, which

represented 123,047 (p = 0.001-0.009) and 103,042 (p = 0.001-0.002) for younger and older than the significant age cutoff, respectively. Furthermore, age (29 years) and sex were the second most significant subordinated factors toward infection (p = 0.001). Notably, NOCD represented only 6.4% of the explained variance due to restricted probabilistic combinations only within age and sex toward infection. This restricted determination resulted in 58,679 and 28,204 infection cases associated with NOCD in the root branches determined by sex and age (29–46 years), respectively.

A similar low variance contribution was found on infection associated with CDs. The type of disease determined the probability of infection in individuals with one CD, conditioned by age, being higher in those individuals exhibiting diabetes (12.3%, cp = 0.0006), hypertension (10.1%, cp = 0.0001), and obesity (7.8%, cp = 0.001) accounting for a total of 30.2%. Sex contributed 9.7% of the overall infection risk, mainly associated with ages older than 46 years. For instance, for women younger and older than 46 years threshold, 12,829 and 28,702 had SARS-CoV-2 infection, respectively, and exhibited at least one chronic disease (Figure 3A). For the same contrasting risk scenario considering only diabetic women, there were 2,918 and 13,293 positive cases for younger and older than the 46-year cutoff, respectively. Notably, this combinatory effect was even higher in men, with 2,481 and 42,117 cases, indicating a higher infection probability in diabetic older men TABLE 1 Structure of 226,089 SARS-CoV-2 infected cohort A, including the subcohort A' with 27,769 mortality cases, and MoI and MWI epidemiological relative indices adjusted by age and sex.

Category	Age	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ age	Men			Women			Total	
			Death	Cases	Mol ^x	Death	Cases	Mol	Deaths/cases	Mol
Metabolic	<29	24.6	124	3,077	0.040	126	3,077	0.041	250/6,154	0.041
(diabetes, obesity, Imm, and CKD)	29-37	33.7	438	5,381	0.081	195	4,746	0.041	633/10,127	0.063
	37-46	42.3	1,243	9,001	0.138	601	7,534	0.080	1,844/16,535	0.112
	46-56	51.4	2,730	12,267	0.223	1,549	10,589	0.146	4,279/22,856	0.187
	> 56	67	7,004	18,038	0.388	5,137	16,089	0.319	12,141/34,127	0.356
Subtotal			11,539	47,764	0.242	7,608	42,035	0.181	19,147/89,799	0.213
MWI ^Y			37.22			48.47			25.36	
Cardiovascular	<29	23.9	44	689	0.064	46	504	0.091	90/1,193	0.075
(hypertension and CVD)	29-37	33.9	118	1,506	0.078	62	1,004	0.062	180/2,510	0.072
	37-46	42.6	504	3,569	0.141	260	2,812	0.092	764/6,381	0.120
	46-56	51.6	1,421	6,675	0.213	843	5,760	0.146	2,264/12,435	0.182
	>56	70	5,771	15,045	0.384	4,114	12,991	0.317	9,885/28,036	0.353
Subtotal			7,858	27,484	0.286	5,325	23,071	0.231	13,183/50,555	0.261
MWI			27.49			36.39			18.85	
Respiratory	<29	24.4	44	2,681	0.016	16	1,663	0.010	60/4,344	0.014
(COPD, asthma, and smoking)	29-37	33.5	129	3,102	0.042	35	1,994	0.018	164/5,096	0.032
	37-46	41.6	312	3,292	0.095	95	2,204	0.043	407/5,496	0.074
	46-56	51	569	3,194	0.178	223	2,071	0.108	792/5,265	0.150
	>56	68	2,224	5,705	0.390	976	3,117	0.313	3,200/8,822	0.363
Subtotal			3,278	17,974	0.182	1,345	11,049	0.122	4,623/29,023	0.159
MWI			10.88			8.80			6.28	
Other CDs	<29	20.7	16	207	0.077	10	260	0.038	26/467	0.056
	29-37	33.7	7	176	0.040	2	308	0.006	9/484	0.019
	37-46	42	19	224	0.085	19	328	0.058	38/552	0.069
	46-56	51.1	36	189	0.190	23	276	0.083	59/465	0.127
	>56	68	128	276	0.464	60	220	0.273	188/496	0.379
Subtotal			206	1,072	0.192	114	1,392	0.082	320/2,464	0.130
MWI			0.65			0.67			0.41	
Nonchronic disease	<29	22.9	117	13,554	0.009	58	14,070	0.004	175/27,624	0.006
	29-37	33.5	275	13,678	0.020	96	12,917	0.007	371/26,595	0.014
	37-46	41.9	721	14,262	0.051	231	12,136	0.019	952/26,398	0.036
	46-56	51.1	1,468	11,960	0.123	426	9,262	0.046	1,894/21,222	0.089
	>56	66	3,058	10,948	0.279	1,242	6,649	0.187	4,300/17,597	0.244
Subtotal			5,639	64,402	0.088	2,053	55,034	0.037	7,692/119,436	0.064
MWI			17.50			12.50			9.75	
Total			18,289	123,616		9,480	102,473		27,769/226,089	

COVID-19 data of the first onset-exponential epidemic phase in Mexico.

^X Relative mortality index (MoI) associated to CDc and age_c. ^Y Relative mortality-weighted index associated to CDc (MWI).

than in diabetic women. In individuals younger than 29 years, the infection risk associated with those exhibiting at least one CD was 25.6%. The remaining CDs cases, independent of sex, were associated with obesity (4,393 cases), smoking (596 cases),

and immunosuppressants (314 cases) with a risk of 14.5%. Other CDs, such as kidney (CKD), cardiovascular (CVD), smoking, and immunosuppressants, accounted for 6.9% of the infection risk variance. Lower risk of infection, but significant (p = 0.009),

probably due to underrepresentation in cohort A, was found to be associated with individuals with comorbidities, i.e., more than one CD, such as obesity and smoking (1,556 men); diabetesobesity-smoking (1,009 men); diabetes-CVD (953 women); and obesity-immunosuppressant (60 women) (Figure 3A).

In the restricted analyses of the mortality subcohort A' (27,769 cases), age was again the primary significant risk factor with 72.3% of the explained variance conditioned by the type of CD (cp-value < 0.000024), from which a significant tree classification risk was derived upon a 56-year cutoff (p = 0.001-0.008) (Figure 3B). NOCD accounted only for 3.7% of the variance, representing 26.9% of all death cases (cp = 0.0006, p = 0.001). A robust significant risk, representing 48% of the cases, was composed of women and men (w, m) older than the 56year cutoff who mainly exhibited diabetes (19% women, 27.9% men; cp = 0.0004), hypertension (11.5% women, nonsignificant in men, cp = 0.0001), and CKD (3.5% women, 5.3% men; cp = 0.0009). Deaths with comorbidity combinations involving diabetes were significantly associated with CKD among patients aged 56 years, regardless of sex (401 cases). Conversely, in those individuals older than 56 years, diabetes was significantly combined with hypertension (1,748 women and 2,261 men) (Figure 3B). Multimorbidity disease significant combinations, regardless of the age category, included diabetes-CKD-CVD (10 cases), diabeteshypertension-immunosuppressants (14 women), and diabeteshypertension-CVD (8 men) (Figure 3B). For individuals younger than 29 years, mortality was independent of sex and mainly associated with obesity and hypertension (60 and 32 deaths, respectively). However, this node was not significant.

The second probabilistic associative approach applied to the infected cohort A and subcohort A, based on the matrix of the Spearman's rho-values (Figures 4A1, B1), confirmed that CD, age, and sex did not fully explain infection risk toward SARS-CoV-2. NOCD, with 52.8% of infection probability and conform for 119,436 positive cases, represented a well-separated independent cluster (p = 0.05) at a Euclidean distance of 1.4 cutoff. The CDs and demographic factors formed four risk clusters with 47.2% infection probability (Figure 4A2) (p = 0.04-0.06). Age and sex conform a cluster with diabetes and hypertension, and obesity and smoking, respectively (p = 0.05). The infection risk increased to 25.4% and 15.3%, respectively, for individuals who presented the two diseases (i.e., comorbidity). Age influenced the vulnerability of older people with diabetes or hypertension to developing SARS-CoV-2 infection (p < 0.00001). Age-related associations with diabetes and hypertension had the highest positive rho-values of 0.39 and 0.33, respectively (Figure 4A1).

Contrary to the infection scenario and targeting only the subcohort, the higher probability for mortality was associated with CDs and age totaling 72.2% (Figure 4B2) (p = 0.05; rho = -0.51-0.31). NOCD and sex defined a well-distant risk cluster of 27.8% (p = 0.05). Older people with comorbidity of diabetes-hypertension (p = 0.04) had an increased risk of death at 60.5%, whereas those with a single CD accounted for only 18.8%. These conditions were more determinant over the threshold of 56 years (Figure 4B2). The comparison between infection and mortality dendrograms showed a slight displacement of risk-cluster location with an estimated 66% similarity, thus indicating

differences in influencing health factors toward SARS-CoV-2 outcome (Figures 4A2, B2).

In the negative cases of cohort B, the variance structure was similar to cohort A (Supplementary Figures 1A, 2 Supplementary Table 2). The primary and statistically significant age cutoff was also 46 years (p = 0.001-0.007) (Supplementary Figure 1A). For those older than 46 years (51,206), smokers were the first cutoff linked to obesity. Meanwhile, nonsmokers were associated with diabetes, obesity, and hypertension. For those under 46 years (58,337), obesity was the leading cutoff, but linked to diabetes and smokers. In NOCD-negative individuals (173,907), the population structure variance was determined only by sex and age as expected (Supplementary Figure 1 and Supplementary Table 2). The cluster structure was also similar to positive SARS-CoV-2 in cases of cohort A. The cross-dendrogram correlation revealed associativity of $r^2 = 0.93$ among cohorts. Notably, asthma was included in the sex-obesity-smoking cluster (Supplementary Figure 2).

SARS-CoV-2 relative mortality indices

The relative *mortality index* (MoI) stratified by age confirmed the differential effect of CD category (CD_c) and NOCD on mortality (Figure 5A). Cardiovascular and metabolic diseases represented the higher index with 0.26 and 0.21, respectively, whereas NOCD was the lowest with 0.06 (Table 1). MoI values increased by age category (age_c) and were higher, but similar, for patients older than 56 years among CD_c (0.35–0.37) compared to NOCD (0.24), thus indicating a significant conditional age effect on mortality (Figure 5A). Conversely, for ages less than 56 years, the MoI did not exhibit clear differences between CD_c and NOCD. As for sex, the MoI was consistently higher among men than women, independent of age, CD_c, or NOCD (Table 1).

The relative mortality-weighted index (MWI) showed that mortality was also influenced by CD_c and sex (Figure 5B). Again, the individuals with metabolic or cardiovascular diseases were associated with a higher mortality risk index of 25.4 and 18.9, respectively, compared to NOCD (9.8). However, contrary to MoI, women were notably the most vulnerable in metabolic and cardiovascular categories with 48.5 and 37.3, respectively. Furthermore, men had a higher risk associated with respiratory diseases and NOCD (Table 1; Figure 5B). These indices were calculated relative to each CD_c to avoid biases due to sample underrepresentation of specific chronic disease category in cohort A.

Discussion

Despite massive vaccination and lethality reduction, the recent COVID-19 pandemic, which was characterized by fast virus contagion, a dynamic prevalence of variants, and a reduction of the age threshold for infection, raises questions about our mechanistic comprehension of SARS-CoV-2 epidemiology at the communitarian level (6). Most studies continue to focus on an understanding of the infection clinical outcome,



FIGURE 3

Tree risk categorization of infection and mortality due to SARS-CoV-2 during the onset-exponential phase of the first COVID-19 epidemic wave in Mexico based on 226,089 positive cases and 10'857,272 metadata records comprising 13 variables including NOCD and CDs. Branch thickness represents the main root of significant risk. The colored bar scale represents the number range of positive cases applied to nodes. (A) The major virus infection risk implicated four main branches, highlighted by upper black boxes and vertical dotted lines, determined primarily by age, followed by sex, with a *cp*-value ≤ 0.000003 (p < 0.009). The infection risk for individuals with NOCD represented 52.5%. (B) The mortality risk was also influenced by age (*cp*-value ≤ 0.000024 ; p < 0.008) but conditioned by chronic diseases with a higher association in older to 56 years (48%) and splitting the risk by sex (women = 38.9%; men = 61.1%). NOCD accounted for 26.9% of the mortality risk. Main and secondary tree branches are highlighted in bottom black boxes and vertical dotted lines, respectively.



variables, comprising sex, age, nonchronic (NOCD), and 10 chronic (CDs) non-infectious diseases associated with 226,089 infected individuals during the onset-exponential phase of the first COVID-19 epidemic wave in Mexico. (A1, B1): correlation matrix for the infected cohort A and mortality subcohort A', respectively. The colored bar-scale represents the *rho*-value. If closer to ± 1 indicates a higher correlation between variables. (A2, B2): Dendrogram of rho, linked to cluster analyses for the infected cohort A and mortality subcohort A', shows respectively, a clear independent and dependent risk effect on CD, age, and sex, respectively. The scale at the bottom represents the dissimilarity of Euclidean distance. The dotted line represents the cutoff for risk-cluster conformation, and the percentage is the estimated risk based on positive cases associated with a specific branch (p = 0.04-0.06). Lines connecting dendrograms identify the clustering variables. Others. Other CDs.

particularly the post-COVID condition, the development of cure treatments, and the enhancement of vaccines to include children (7, 8, 11, 31–33). However, there is still a strong need for comprehensive studies associated with virus behavior at the ambulatory population level for surveillance and prevention purposes (21). Current forecasting relies on limited clinical and hospital settings data (34–38). Moreover, current data availability and quality of detection and monitoring have been strongly compromised based on the worldwide expectation of immunization coverage to cope with the disease.



The recent endemic and seasonal statement may even more discourage keeping epidemiological studies at the communitarian level (39).

This study deals with a fundamental epidemiological assumption of the preexistence of a susceptible population as a driving force for SARS-CoV-2 epidemics. Our findings challenge the presence of such a subpopulation. The analyses of 226,089 positive individuals and 10'852272 metadata records representing the specific onset-exponential first wave in Mexico (Figure 1) suggest that infection at the communitarian level relies more on infectious sources in the proximity of individuals independently of their health conditions, sex, or age as has been commonly implied (40–42). Rather than 'choosing' vulnerable subpopulation(s), this random infection was supported by the fact that baseline chronic diseases, extensively associated with COVID-19, did not condition infection. In one probability scenario, our structural risk analyses showed that individuals with NOCD have a slightly higher infection probability (52.8%) than those exhibiting any

CD, including comorbidities, without age and sex influence (p = 0.05). In a second scenario, a cutoff of 46-year individuals was conditioned to diverse risk categories of virus infection (p = 0.001-0.009). However, although age and sex have been extensively associated with COVID-19 severity and always associated with CDs under our analytical scenarios, age standalone was a significant factor in shaping the infection risk structure in the population but decreased the age threshold with respect to most reports, wherein older people appear to be more vulnerable. In such reports, the focus on the clinical evolution of inpatients may explain this discrepancy (11, 33, 38, 40, 41, 43). The independent effect of infection regarding CDs toward COVID-19 was supported by the health structure of negative cases with a similar tendency but a higher proportion of NOCDs (61.4%, p < 0.007) (Supplementary Figures 1, 2 and Supplementary Table 2).

After restricting the analysis to the mortality subcohort, the results are in agreement with extensive studies suggesting that CD, age, and sex are implicated in COVID-19 severity (33, 40, 41,

44-47). Nonetheless, severity is the outcome of the pathogenesis process beyond infection. This subpopulation included 89.5% of inpatients (age: 24-98 years; men and women 1.9:1). However, in our findings, CD risk categories were conditioned explicitly by age, with an age threshold of 56 years (p = 0.001-0.008). Moreover, an age cutoff at 46 years associated with sex was determined as a second significant risk level with some chronic diseases. Similar to other reports, mortality associated with CD increased with age (40, 44), and individuals with hypertension and diabetes, adjusted by their implication on comorbidities, had a differential increase in infection and mortality risk (44, 45, 48, 49). Moreover, sex implication for CD and COVID-19 fatality outcomes are recognized, but not a clear-cut specific association (11, 41, 49). In our results, women exhibited a higher vulnerability to death associated with metabolic diseases (i.e., diabetes, obesity, immunosuppressant, and CKD). In contrast, men showed a higher vulnerability to respiratory diseases (i.e., COPD, asthma, and smoking), even though infection in diabetic individuals was more than 3-fold concerning women.

The CD factor in our research framework was based on the suitability of the Mexican population due to the high incidence of metabolic and cardiovascular chronic diseases (14, 15). However, the analyzed metadata (N = 581,580) accounted for 16.2, 12.5, and 16.3% of obesity, diabetes, and hypertension, respectively, which is in contrast with the 40.2, 10.6, and 13.4% of the last official survey specifically designed to estimate the status of CD (n = 120,843) (50). When conceding that the slightly lower prevalence of diabetes and hypertension, and higher prevalence of obesity in the official data were the proper estimations, such values may not change our fundamental findings. Specifically, the independent SARS-CoV-2 infection probability and age are significant factors in shaping the infection risk.

These findings shape the classical paradigm of the preexistence of a specific susceptible population for the occurrence of epidemics. This may be true for diseases framed by long host-pathogen coevolutive processes and endemicity but not for pathogens encountering a new host. The SARS-CoV-2 strain diversity and mutational patterns through time and space (51, 52), as well as the parasitic fitness switch from aggressivity to spreading survival, appear to be indicators of an early evolutionary process involving a pathogen obligated to survive on the host (53). In this development, vaccination as a massive host intervention has played a minor role in comparison to host genetics and health attributes of the population itself, as inferred from this study and many clinical studies (8, 9, 51, 54, 55).

The spread of SARS-CoV-2 and pathogenicity support the rationality of these findings. The airborne virus spreading, which is the main contagious mechanism through respiratory droplets and, to a lesser extent, via aerosols (56, 57), is not host-target specific, which allows the virus acquisition by any individual upon inoculum exposure (58). Primary infection requires upper respiratory tissues for rapid multiplication before host internalization (59–61). This pathway is mediated through high angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor expression in epithelial cells lining salivary gland ducts (60, 62), and other respiratory tissues, heart, and gastrointestinal tracts but with lower expression and infectivity (8, 55, 63). The coding gene of ACE2 is constitutive to the human

genome with low protein-coding variability and no differential expression due to sex, age, or population (55, 64, 65).

Therefore, we postulate that infection with SARS-CoV-2 originates from random virus exposures rather than a specific health condition. Infection is the first stage of pathogenicity involving virus-host recognition and entry into epithelial cells to initiate virus multiplication (61). Infection may not lead to disease, as asymptomatic conditions imply (21). This scenario departs from the general usage of infection as equivalent to disease or severity [e.g., (51)]. Once the virus infection is established, health, genetics, and other determinants may play a role in the COVID-19 outcome, including asymptomatic and severe courses with acute respiratory distress syndrome, multiorgan involvement, and death (9). However, at least at the early virus replication stage, it follows an evolutionarily conserved path common to viruses, thus allowing for unrestricted multiplication (61). Current epigenetic studies have shown that ACE2 hypomethylation in the nasal epithelium can lead to increased SARS-CoV-2 infectivity and COVID-19 severity via a greater abundance of ACE2 receptors (7, 8). A meta-analysis of plasma ACE2 also demonstrated that elevated ACE2 levels had a causal relationship with COVID-19 infection, severity, and hospitalization and that a solid X-linked locus associated with ACE2 may explain sex differences in ACE2 expression across various tissues (51).

Although the framework of this extensive study was the high occurrence of obesity/overweight (33-60%), hypertension (32-45%), and diabetes (3.1-10.6%) in the Mexican population (14, 15, 50), as well as one of the highest lethality rates (12.3%), further epidemiological studies may be needed to unveil the driving question of this research. The inclusion of diverse core populations, as implied by contrasting fatalities and epidemic rates of selected countries in this study (Figure 2), may provide advanced insights when considering ethnicity and geographical disparities, coupled with significant genomic data and health determinants. However, these results encourage the imperative need for communitarian approaches to develop preventive surveillance systems. The development of algorithms to address ambulatory populations may improve COVID-19 management and cope with zoonotic threats, without assuming a specific susceptible subpopulation that is reached through clinical or hospital settings (21). Our results may also support the benefit of massive ambulatory SARS-CoV-2 testing conducted for several countries during the critical contagious stage (58), rather than using digital risk assessment or directing tests on individuals upon presumptive COVID-19 symptoms to assist disease control treatment (66-70). It is well known that asymptomatic individuals, estimated at 22.1% under lockdown conditions (58), may exhibit a comparable virus titer to those with symptoms and thus could play a significant role in transmission chains (21). A web-app surveillance platform, linked to testing at clustering labor, social, and household environments, may overcome the cost-time factors of massive testing and effectively accomplish the confinement strategy and clinical monitoring at the community level (21). Although WHO and many countries have recently declared the end of COVID-19 as public health emergency (2), the risk of new variants and emerging diseases should encourage us to continue our comprehension of this epidemic to enhance local and global preventive health systems.

Conclusion

Based on 24.4 million metadata records associated with 509,539 official RT-qPCR cases accumulated during the onset-exponential phase of the first epidemic wave in Mexico, we provided robust epidemiological evidence to support our hypothesis that SARS-CoV-2, a novel pathogen to the human population, did not encounter a susceptible subpopulation with a specific set of health condition for the infection establishment and epidemic development. However, the clinical evolution of COVID-19, such as disease severity and mortality, was associated with vulnerability factors explicitly conditioned by age and sex, as has been extensively published. The differentiation of infection, as the process of the successful virus, entering and early multiplication in the host, independent of the disease outcome, was fundamental in this research to primarily account for an ambulatory and hospitalized cohort. The specific selection of the onset-exponential phase of the first epidemic wave was also essential to assess the cohort risk structure based on the assumptions of random population exposure to the virus due to the fast spreading of the virus (lethality rate = 12.3%, R_o > 1), limited and unsteady immunological response, pathogen capabilities to evade or subvert host defense mechanisms, constrained clinical knowledge for treatment, and unprepared health systems. These findings encourage the addressing of communitarian approaches to develop preventive surveillance systems to target ambulatory populations. Such systems may complement conventional and specific surveillance platforms, such as SUIVE (https://sinave.gob.mx/) or SISVER (https://sisver.sinave. gob.mx/influenza/), respectively, that are currently in operation in Mexico. This view may effectively intervene in COVID-19, which remains a global health risk, and potential zoonotic threat without assuming a specific susceptible subpopulation targeted by new pathogens with no signals at the human coevolutive microbiological core. To our knowledge, this is the first work addressing this fundamental epidemiological question.

Limitations

The limitation of this research was derived from SARS-CoV-2 diagnostic data upon presumptive COVID-19 symptoms or associations with infected individuals. Therefore, the database does not represent an entirely random sampling of the ambulatory population. Despite the high lethality rate observed during the addressed epidemic phase, the epidemic rate was lower compared to many countries, thus restricting the sampling size and health structure of the studied population. Data on social, behavioral, and environmental determinants and cases with asymptomatic conditions were unavailable. Although confinement was not mandatory in Mexico, restricted activities limited the children and young people's movements, thus preventing data of these cohorts despite reports of less susceptibility (58).

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

GM-A was responsible for the conception, conceptualization, and design of the study. JC-C and GA-S were responsible for the data acquisition. GA-S and GM-A were responsible for the statistical analyses. GM-A, GA-S, and IÁ-M were responsible for the preparation of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Postgraduate College, Montecillo Campus, supported this research.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the team of the Laboratory of Epidemiological Risk Analysis (CP-LANREF) of Postgraduate College for their technical support and the Mexican Ministry of Health for making possible the use of official data. The authors thank Miranda Mora-Gutiérrez for proofreading the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023. 995602/full#supplementary-material

References

1. John Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center. (2023). Available online at: https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/us-map. (accessed March 10, 2023).

2. World Health Organization. (2023). Available online at: https://www.who.int/about. (accessed May 17, 2023).

3. Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. *JAMA*. (2020) 323:1061–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.1585

4. Nextstrain. (2022). *Real-Time Tracking of Pathogen Evolution*. Available online at: https://nextstrain.org/ (accessed July 2022).

5. Phuong J, Riches NO, Madlock-Brown C, Duran D, Calzoni L, Espinoza JC, et al. Social determinants of health factors for gene-environment COVID-19 research: challenges and opportunities. *Adv Genet.* (2022) 3:2100056. doi: 10.1002/ggn2.202100056

6. Moein S, Nickaeen N, Roointan A, Borhani N, Heidary Z, Javanmard SH, et al. Inefficiency of SIR models in forecasting COVID-19 epidemic: a case study of Isfahan. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-84055-6

7. Kianmehr A, Faraoni I, Kucuk O, Mahrooz A. Epigenetic alterations and genetic variations of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) as a functional receptor for SARS-CoV-2: potential clinical implications. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2021) 40:1587–98. doi: 10.1007/s10096-021-04264-9

8. Cardenas A, Rifas-Shiman SL, Sordillo JE, DeMeo DL, Baccarelli AA, Hivert M-F, et al. DNA methylation architecture of the ACE2 gene in nasal cells of children. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:7107. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-86494-7

9. Velavan TP, Pallerla SR, Rüter J, Augustin Y, Kremsner PG, Krishna S, et al. Host genetic factors determining COVID-19 susceptibility and severity. *EBioMedicine*. (2021) 72:103629. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103629

10. Alanazi SA, Kamruzzaman MM, Alruwaili M, Alshammari N, Alqahtani SA, Karime A. Measuring and preventing COVID-19 using the SIR model and machine learning in smart health care. *J Healthc Eng.* (2020) 8857346. doi: 10.1155/2020/8857346

11. Cummings MJ, Baldwin MR, Abrams D, Jacobson SD, Meyer BJ, Balough EM, et al. Epidemiology, clinical course, and outcomes of critically ill adults with COVID-19 in New York City: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1763–70. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31189-2

12. Lei S, Jiang F, Su W, Chen C, Chen J, Mei W, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of patients undergoing surgeries during the incubation period of COVID-19 infection. *EClinicalMedicine*. (2020) 21:100331. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020. 100331

13. Ritchie H, Mathieu E, Rodés-Guirao L, Appel C, Giattino C, Ortiz-Ospina E, et al. *Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID-19)*. Published online at OurWorldInData.org (2020). Available online at: https://ourworldindata.org/coronavirus (accessed July 09, 2022).

14. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2021). Available online at: www.oecd.org/health/obesity-update.htm (accessed June 13, 2021).

15. General Directorate of Epidemiology (2019). Available online at: https:// www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/attachment/file/541112/InformeDMT23erTrim2019.pdf (accessed June 13, 2021).

16. Denova-Gutiérrez E, Vargas-Chanes D, Hernández S, Muñoz-Aguirre P, Napier D, Barquera S. Linking socioeconomic inequalities and type 2 diabetes through obesity and lifestyle factors among Mexican adults: a structural equations modeling approach. *Salud Publ Mex.* (2020) 62:192–202. doi: 10.21149/10819

17. Ayón-Aguilar J, Méndez-Martínez S, Toledo-Tapia R, García-Flores MA, Mayoral-Ortiz A, Tlecuitl-Mendoza N, et al. Influence of risk factors on mortality from COVID-19. *Rev Med Inst Mex Seguro Soc.* (2022) 4:433–9.

18. Suárez V, Suarez QM, Oros RS, Ronquillo de JE. Epidemiology of COVID-19 in Mexico: from the 27th of February to the 30th of April 2020. *Rev Clin Esp.* (2021) 220:463–71. doi: 10.1016/j.rce.2020.05.007

19. Parra-Bracamonte GM, Lopez-Villalobos N, Parra-Bracamonte FE. Clinical characteristics and risk factors for mortality of patients with COVID-19 in a large data set from Mexico. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2020) 52:93–8. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2020.08.005

20. Bello-Chavolla OY, Bahena-López JP, Antonio-Villa NE, Vargas-Vázquez A, González-Díaz A, Márquez-Salinas A, et al. Predicting mortality due to SARS-CoV-2: a mechanistic score relating obesity and diabetes to COVID-19 outcomes in Mexico. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2020) 105:346. doi: 10.1101/2020.04.20.20072223

21. Mora-Aguilera G, Martínez-Bustamante V, Acevedo-Sánchez G, Coria-Contreras JJ, Guzmán-Hernández E, Flores-Colorado OE, et al. Surveillance web system and mouthwash-saliva qPCR for labor ambulatory SARS-CoV-2 detection and prevention. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:1271. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19031271

22. Ministry of Health Mexico. *Daily Technical Communication COVID-19.* (2020). Available online at: https://coronavirus.gob.mx/ (accessed June 30, 2020).

23. O'Toole Á, Hill V, Pybus OG, Watts A, Bogoch II, Khan K, et al. Tracking the international spread of SARS-CoV-2 lineages B.1.1.7 and B.1.351/501Y-V2 (version 1; peer review: 3 approved). *Wellcome Open Res.* (2021) 6:121. doi: 10.12688/wellcomeopenres.16661.1

24. Taboada B, Vazquez-Perez JA, Muñoz-Medina JE, Ramos-Cervantes P, Escalera-Zamudio M, Boukadida C, et al. Genomic analysis of early SARS-CoV-2 variants introduced in Mexico. *J Virol.* (2020) 31:e01056–20. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01056-20

25. General Directorate of Epidemiology. (2021). Available online at: https://coronavirus.gob.mx/datos/ (accessed June 13, 2021).

26. The National Institute of Statistics and Geography. (2019). Press Release No. 475/19. Available online at: https://www.inegi.org.mx/contenidos/saladeprensa/aproposito/2019/edad2019_Nal.pdf (accessed June 13, 2021).

27. Lewis JR. An Introduction to Classification and Regression Tree (CART) Analysis. Annual Meeting of the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine in San Francisco, California. (2000). Available online at: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download? doi=10.1.1.95.4103&rep=rep1&type=pdf (accessed July 09, 2022).

28. Fonarow GC, Adams KF, Abraham WT, Yancy CW, Boscardin WJ, et al. Risk stratification for in-hospital mortality in acutely decompensated heart failure: classification and regression tree analysis. *JAMA*. (2005) 293:572–80. doi: 10.1001/jama.293.5.572

29. Low M, Joy KM, Makan T. Using regression trees to predict patterns of male provisioning in the stitchbird (hihi). *Anim Behav.* (2006) 71:1057-68. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2005.07.021

30. Takahashi O, Cook EF, Nakamura T, Saito J, Ikawa F, Fukui T. Risk stratification for in-hospital mortality in spontaneous intracerebral haemorrhage: a classification and regression tree analysis. *QJM-Int J Med.* (2006) 99:743–50. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcl107

31. Subramanian A, Nirantharakumar K, Hughes S, Myles P, Williams T, Gokhale KM, et al. Symptoms and risk factors for long COVID in non-hospitalized adults. *Nat Med.* (2022) 28:1706–14. doi: 10.1038/s41591-022-01909-w

32. Alharbi A, Rabbani SI, Halim Mohamed AA, Almushayti BK, Aldhwayan NI, Almohaimeed AT, et al. Analysis of potential risk factors associated with COVID-19 and hospitalization. *Front. Public Health.* (2022) 10:921953. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.921953

33. Goodall JW, Reed TAN, Ardissino M, Bassett P, Whittington AM, Cohen DL, et al. Risk factors for severe disease in patients admitted with COVID-19 to a hospital in London, England: a retrospective cohort study. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2020) 148:1–8. doi: 10.1017/S0950268820002472

34. Khan DM, Ali M, Iqbal N, Khalil U, Aljohani HM, Alharthi AS, et al. Short-term prediction of COVID-19 using novel hybrid ensemble empirical mode decomposition and error trend seasonal model. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:922795. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.922795

35. Somyanonthanakul R, Warin K, Amasiri W, Mairiang K, Mingmalairak C, Panichkitkosolkul W, et al. Forecasting COVID-19 cases using time series modeling and association rule mining. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2022) 22:281. doi: 10.1186/s12874-022-01755-x

36. European Covid-19 Forecast Hub. *Forescats*. (2022). Available online at: https:// covid19forecasthub.eu/visualisation.html (accessed July 09, 2022).

37. Bartolomeo N, Trerotoli P, Serio P. Short-term forecast in the early stage of the COVID-19 outbreak in Italy. Application of a weighted and cumulative average daily growth rate to an exponential decay model. *Infect Dis Model.* (2021) 6:212–21. doi: 10.1016/j.idm.2020.12.007

38. Jain V, Yuan JM. Predictive symptoms and comorbidities for severe COVID-19 and intensive care unit admission: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Public Health*. (2020) 65:533–46. doi: 10.1007/s00038-020-01390-7

39. World Health Organization. (2023). Available online at: https://www.who.int/ news/item/05-05-2023-statement-on-the-fifteenth-meeting-of-the-internationalhealth-regulations-(2005)-emergency-committee-regarding-the-coronavirusdisease-(covid-19)-pandemic (accessed May 10, 2023).

40. Kim J, Blaum C, Ferris R, Arcila-Mesa M, Do H, Pulgarin C, et al. Factors associated with hospital admission and severe outcomes for older patients with COVID-19. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2022) 1:12. doi: 10.1111/jgs.17718

41. Covino M, De Matteis G, Burzo ML, Russo A, Forte E, Carnicelli A, et al. Predicting in-hospital mortality in COVID-19 older patients with specifically developed scores. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2021) 69:37–43. doi: 10.1111/jgs.16956

42. Shahid Z, Kalayanamitra R, McClafferty B, Kepko D, Ramgobin D, Patel R, et al. COVID-19 and older adults: what we know. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2020) 68:926–9. doi: 10.1111/jgs.16472

43. Wu C, Chen X, Cai Y, Xia J, Zhou X, Xu S, et al. Risk factors associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome and death in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 pneumonia in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2020) 180:934–43. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020. 0994

44. Asai Y, Nomoto H, Hayakawa K, Matsunaga N, Tsuzuki S, Terada M, et al. Comorbidities as risk factors for severe disease in hospitalized elderly COVID-19 patients by different age-groups in Japan. *Gerontology.* (2022) 68:1027-37. doi: 10.1159/000521000

45. Guan WJ, Liang WH, Zhao Y, Liang H, Chen Z, Li Y, et al. Comorbidity and its impact on 1590 patients with COVID-19 in China: a nationwide analysis. *Eur Respir J.* (2020) 55:2000547. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01227-2020

46. Jordan RE, Adab P, Cheng KK. COVID-19: risk factors for severe disease and death. *BMJ.* (2020) 368:m1198. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1198

47. Li B, Yang J, Zhao F, Zhi L, Wang X, Liu L, et al. Prevalence and impact of cardiovascular metabolic diseases on COVID-19 in China. *Clin Res Cardiol.* (2020) 109:531–8. doi: 10.1007/s00392-020-01626-9

48. Terada M, Ohtsu H, Saito S, Hayakawa K, Tsuzuki S, Asai Y, et al. Risk factors for severity on admission and the disease progression during hospitalisation in a large cohort of patients with COVID-19 in Japan. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e047007. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-047007

49. Yang J, Zheng Y, Gou X, Pu K, Chen C, Guo Q, et al. Prevalence of comorbidities and its effects in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2020) 94:91–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.03.017

 Shamah-Levy T, Romero-Martínez M, Barrientos-Gutiérrez T, Cuevas-Nasu L, Bautista-Arredondo S, Colchero MA, et al. Encuesta Nacional de Salud y Nutrición 2020 sobre Covid-19. Resultados nacionales. Cuernavaca: Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública (2021). ISBN 978-607-511-212-1.

51. Yang Z, Macdonald-Dunlop E, Chen J, Zhai R, Li T, Richmond A, et al. Genetic landscape of the ACE2 coronavirus receptor. *Circulation 3;145*. (2022) 1398–411.

52. Lythgoe KA, Hall M, Ferretti L, de Cesare M, MacIntyre-Cockett G, Trebes A, et al. SARS-CoV-2 within-host diversity and transmission. *Science.* (2021) 16:eabg0821. doi: 10.1126/science.abg0821

53. Mora-Aguilera G, Acevedo-Sánchez G. A retrospective analysis of plant and human epidemics for COVID-19 comprehension. *Mex J Phytopathol.* (2021) 39:1–91. doi: 10.18781/R.MEX.FIT.2021-27

54. Xia X. Extreme genomic CpG deficiency in SARS-CoV-2 and evasion of host antiviral defense. *Mol Biol Evol.* (2020) 37:2699–705. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msaa094

55. Li MY, Li L, Zhang Y, Wang XS. Expression of the SARS-CoV-2 cell receptor gene ACE2 in a wide variety of human tissues. *Infect Dis Poverty.* (2020) 9:45. doi: 10.1186/s40249-020-00662-x

56. Meyerowitz EA, Richterman A, Gandhi RT, Sax PE. Transmission of SARS-CoV-2: a review of viral, host, and environmental factors. *Ann Intern Med.* (2021) 174:69–79. doi: 10.7326/M20-5008

57. Zhou L, Ayeh SK, Chidambaram V, Karakousis CP. Modes of transmission of SARS-CoV-2 and evidence for preventive behavioral interventions. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2021) 21:496. doi: 10.1186/s12879-021-06222-4

58. Sun K, Wang W, Gao L, Wang Y, Luo K, Ren L, et al. Transmission heterogeneities, kinetics, and controllability of SARS-CoV-2. *Science*. (2021) 371:eabe2424. doi: 10.1126/science.abe2424

59. To KK-W, Tsang OT-Y, Yip CC-Y, Chan K-H, Wu T-C, Chan JM-C, et al. Consistent detection of 2019 novel coronavirus in saliva. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 71:841-3. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa149

60. Wang W-K, Chen S-Y, Liu I-J, Chen Y-C, Chen H-L, Yang C-F, et al. Detection of SARS-associated coronavirus in throat wash and saliva in early diagnosis. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2004) 10:1213–9. doi: 10.3201/eid1007.031113

61. Sanyal S. How SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) spreads within infected hosts - what we know so far. *Emerg Top Life Sci.* (2020) 4:371–8. doi: 10.1042/ETLS20200165

62. Güçlü E, Koroglu M, Yürümez Y, Toptan H, Kose E, Güneysu F, et al. Comparison of saliva and oro-nasopharyngeal swab sample in the molecular diagnosis of COVID-19. *Rev Assoc Med Bras.* (2020) 66:1116–21. doi: 10.1590/1806-9282.66.8.1116

63. Zou L, Ruan F, Huang M, Liang L, Huang H, Hong Z, et al. SARS-CoV-2 viral load in upper respiratory specimens of infected patients. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:1177–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2001737

64. Cao Y, Li L, Feng Z, Wan S, Huang P, Sun X, et al. Comparative genetic analysis of the novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV/SARS-CoV-2) receptor ACE2 in different populations. *Cell Discov.* (2020) 6:11. doi: 10.1038/s41421-020-0147-1

65. Stawiski EW, Diwanji D, Suryamohan K, Gupta R, Fellouse FA, et al. Human ACE2 receptor polymorphisms predict SARS-CoV-2 susceptibility. *Commun Biol.* (2020) 4:475. doi: 10.1101/2020.04.07.024752

66. Canas LS, Sudre CH, Capdevila-Pujol J, Polidori L, Murray B, Molteni E, et al. Early detection of COVID-19 in the UK using self-reported symptoms: a large-scale, prospective, epidemiological surveillance study. *Lancet Digit Heal.* (2021) 3:e587–98. doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(21)00131-X

67. Drew DA, Nguyen LH, Steves CJ, Menni C, Freydin M, Varsavsky T, et al. Rapid implementation of mobile technology for real-time epidemiology of COVID-19. *Science.* (2020) 368:1362–7. doi: 10.1101/2020.04.02.20051334

68. Menni C, Valdes AM, Freidin MB, et al. Real-time tracking of self-reported symptoms to predict potential COVID-19. *Nat Med.* (2020) 26:1037-40. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0916-2

69. Khaloufi H, Abouelmehdi K, Rustam F, Jurcut AD, Lee E, Ashraf I. Deep learning based early detection framework for preliminary diagnosis of COVID-19 via onboard smartphone sensors. *Sensors.* (2021) 21:6853. doi: 10.3390/s212 06853

70. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1054–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 30566-3

Frontiers in **Public Health**

Explores and addresses today's fast-moving healthcare challenges

One of the most cited journals in its field, which promotes discussion around inter-sectoral public climate change, transportation, environmental change and even species diversity.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



